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A wide range of exhibits offer clear examples
of accounting practice and methodology.

chapter

4 The issue of shares and debentures

Learning objectives

After you have studied this chapter, you should be able to:

@ explain the terminology relating to the issue of shares and debentures

@ describe the steps in the process of issuing of shares and debentures

@ record the accounting entries relating to the issue of shares and debentures
@ make the necessary entries in the ledger accounts when shares are forfeited

Introduction

In this chapter, you'll learn about the alternatives available to companies when they
wish to issue shares and of the various entries to be made in the ledger accounts.
You'll learn about how to record thy of shares at a price greater than their
nominal value and how to record the issue of shares to existing shareholders,
rather than to non-shareholders wishing to purchase them. You o learn
about the difference in accounting entries made when debentures (a form of loan
capitall rather than shares, are issued.

0 The issue of shares

h cost o suing shares can be vy bighAs el the mumber of shatsissued must be s
cient doi dtothe

When shaes are s he may be payabie, cahe (o) mmedioely on applation, o Lh) by
instalments. Issues of shares may take place on the following terms connected with the price of
the shares;

1 Shares issued at par. This would mean that a share of £1 nominal value would be issued for

each.

2 Shares issued at a premium. In this case a share of £1 nominal value would be issued for more
than £1 each, say for £3 each.

Note: At one time, shares could be issued at a discount. Thus, shares each of £5 nominal value

might have been issued for £3 each. However, this was expressly forbidden in the Companies Act

1980.

you think companies avoid being in this position?
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— Learning objectives
outline what you will
need to have
learned by the end
of the chapter.

Chapter 36 ® Absorption and marginal costing
Using marginal costs

Levs test what you're just learnt in another example. A company produces five products and has
\he following cost and sales data. It can sell exactly 100 of each product it manufactures. Total

ed costs are £4,800, apportioned: A £5 (100}, B £7 (100), C £11 (100}, D £15 (100, E £10
(), ie. £4,800 toal. Exhibit 36.9 presents this in a table.

Exhibit 36.9
Violet Ltd products
A |ls | c|o e

Cost £ £

Directabour and matrial 8 9

Variable manu costs 2| 8
Marginal cost T
Fixed cos 5| 2
Full cost n | »
Selling price per unit

On the full cost basis, only A and D appear to be profitable. Should production of B, C and E.
be discontinued? You know that production should cease only when the selling price is less than
marginal cost. In Exhibit 36.10, you can see if following this brings more profit than following
the resul of the full cost calculation. You can also see what would have happened if production
levels of all products continued as before.

Exhibit 36.10
(1) @) )
Following using marginal | lgnorecosing
full-cost pricing, | costing, cease | altogether and
cocce producing | proBMngE produce all
B, Cand £ only
£
Sales: A 100x £30 3,000
£21
€100 £31
D 100 x £80 8,000
E 100 £20

Total revenue

Direct labour and materials:

00 x cost per product (£33)3,300 (£58) 5,800 (£69) 6,900
Variable manufacturing costs: (£20)2,000 (£38) 3,800 (£52) 5,200
Fixed costs (do not change) 4,800 4,800 4,800
Total cost ([400 (1500
Net profit 1,800
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Chapter 8 @ Provisions, reserves and liabilties

should ever et a situation where it would suffer loss because of foreign currency exchange rate
movements; or it could that could be use ¥ purp

See Section 8.3 for a further look at general reserves.

Such transfers are an indication to the shareholders that it would be unwise at the time of the
transfer 1o pay out all the available profits as dividends. The resources represented by this part of
the profits should be retained, at least for the time being, Revenue reserves can be called upon in
future years to help swell the profits shown in the profit and loss appropriation account as being
availabl for dividend purposes. This i cffected quite simply by debitng the paricular reserve
account profit and loss

@ ‘Why do you think special revenue reserves are used, rather than simply leaving
everything in the profit and loss account (which i, itself, a revenue reserve)?

@ General reserve

A general reserve is one that can be used for any purpose. For example, it may be neelbecause
of the effect of inflation: assume a company needs £4,000 working capital in 20X3 and Ty the
volume of trade remains the same for the next three years but that during that time, the gen
level of prices increases by 25 per cent: the working capital requirement will now be £5,000. I
all the profis are distributed, the company will still have only £4,000 working capital which
cannot possibly finance the same volume of trade as it did in 20X3. Transferring annual
amounts of profits to a general reserve instead of paying them out as dividends is one way to
help overcome this problem.

_—
@ In terms of the amount of worki
this and leaving the amount transferred in pvom ‘and loss?

On the other hand, it may just be the conservatism convention asserting itself, with a philo-
Sophy of its better to be safe than sorry’, in this case to restrict dividends because the funds they
would withdraw from the business may be needed in a moment of crisis. This is sometimes over-
done, with the result that a business has excessive amounts of liquid funds being inefficiently
used when, if they were paid ou to the shareholders, who are, after all, the owners of the busi-
ness, the shareholders could put the funds to better use themselves.

“This then leaves the question of the balance on the profit and loss appropriation account. If it
is a credit balance, is it a revenue reserve? Yes. I profits are not distributed by way of dividend,
they are revenue reserves until such time as they are converted into share capital or transfered to
other reserves.

o Capital reserves

A capital reserve is a reserve which is ot available for transfer to the profic and loss appropri-
ation account to swell the profits shown as available for cash dividend purposes. Most capital
reserves can never be utilised for cash dividend purposes — notice the use of the word ‘cash’, as it
will be seen later that bonus shares may be issued as a ‘non-cash dividend.

Let us look at the ways in which capital reserves are created.

131

Activities occur
frequently

— throughout the
book to test your
understanding of
new concepts.




A number of worked examples are provided Learning outcomes revisit and reinforce

to guide you through more difficult concepts.

\

the major topics covered in the chapter.

Chapter 23 @ Consolidation of the financial statements of a vertical group of comp:

Profit and Loss
000 £000
Mirkty interest 51 5| e
Min 2 w | s 5
Cost o\control . pre-aca i s 3
Costof pre 5
Costof ytrol: goodwilwritten o 2
Balance t\consolidated balance sheet _60 _
o ™

General Reserve

000 7000
% x 10 8 | stbalancebid 10

Winorty eret 0% 410 2 _
10 i

Now, let's look a\the same example but, this time, with the addition of proposed dividends.

@ A worked example with proposed dividends

Taking the same companies as in Example 1 but in this case the companies have proposed
dends at 31 Decembor 20K of b 1A £16,000, 51 Ltd £5,000; 2 L1d £20,000. The balance sheets
would have appeared:

Balance Sheets as at 31 December 20X5.

L stid s21d
2000 £000 000
Fixed assets ) 4 27
Investments
Shares n 1 a
Shares in 2
Net current assets (as before) 19 6 28
Dividends to be received (80% of S1) _4 (5% ofs2) 15 _
04 50 S
£000 £000 000
Share capital 40 10 20
ofit and loss as at 31.12.20%4 2 5 15
Retained rois for 2065
(see below) 2 20 =
- 15

General reserve.

Proposed dividends
’ st 52

Nu profits 2065 36 10 20
roposed dividends a6 (&) @

20 5 -

Add Dividends receivable
80% of S1x5 a
5175% of 52x 20

361

Part3 o\ Groups.

@ \Teaching method

Ihis topic can be taught and learnt using cither of two methods. One is to focus on the journal
e\tries required; this is quite abstract and, many feel, more difficult to understand than the other
mhthod. Accordingly, the method used in this book for eaching consolidated financial state-
s is that of showing the adjustments needed on the face of the consolidated

cher with any workings required to explain the amounts included. This approach is adopted

and comlcated aspects of the subject.

Learning outcomes

You should now have learnt:

1 Ordinary shareholders generally have voting rights, a right in the net assets of
the company, and a right to an interest in profits earned

2 Preference shareholders do not usually have any voting rights.

3 Ordinary shareholders receive copies of the financial statements for the
company whose shares they hold, but not for any company whose shares are
owned by the company they hold thir shares in.

ial statements provide n p:
‘with financial statements incorporating the relevant datafor all. companies in
the group - not just the parent company’s own accounts data

5 The status of ‘subsidiary undertaking' is dependent upon the existence of control
over that undertaking by another entity.

6 “Control’ is determined by whether ‘dominant influence’ can be exerted,
not simply by the level of investment in the company.

Answers to activities

161 Preerence sharshlders have fa e ik In ekt Invesment than orinary sharsholders n
greater risk they experience, the ordinary shareholders get voting rights that
e e t nfuencethe decon aking o he compay:
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Chapter 19 ®

Review

Not dicated, the share capital of the companies in these review questions
Comprises ardinay share of £1 aach.

19.1 Prepare a consolidated balance sheet from the following details as at 31 March 20X6.

Parent Balance Sheet as at 31 March 20X6

£ £

in subsidi 313.20% 105,000

Fixed assets 140,000

245,000
stock 26,000
Debtors 30,000
Bank 4,000
50,000
Less: Creditors (3,000

57,000

302000

Share capital 200,000

Profit and loss:

Asat313.20X5 45,000
Profit for 20X6 50,000

95,000

General reserve 7,000

302,000

Subsidiary Balance Sheet as at 31 March 20X6

£ £
Fixed assets 104,000
Stock 19,000
Debtors 14,000
Bank 6,000
733,000
Less: Creditors (7,000
136,000
Share capital 50,000
Profit and loss:
s at 31.3.20X5 35,000
Profit for 20X6 51,000
86,000

o et g T R
goods had been sold by the balance sheet
A he baance dheet dot Perent mes Subsdiary £2,000
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Each chapter ends with a selection of
practice questions to prepare you for
your examinations.



Guided tour of the companion website

Business Accounting is supported by a fully interactive Companion Website, available
at www.pearsoned.co.uk/wood, that contains a range of additional learning material.

Business Accounting - - -

TENTH EDITION FRANKWOOD ALAN SANGSTER

[ vrodudien to deuble asing =] 5o Site Search: ’ﬂ_'__,a-l
art 11 to antry =] 5o I (7]
prrem — desble » bl ; =

HMultiple chaice
questions

This activity contains 2 questions.

EHint ]
Stock: £350
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Multiple choice questions

Try the following multipbe choice questions to test your knowledge of this chapter, Once you have answered the
questions, click on ‘Submit Angwers for Grading’ to get your results.

you send your results, please complete the routing information found at the

[ 1_] Given the following data, calculate the value of the firm's capital.

Fixed assets: £4,000

Cash at bank: E650

[ 15 [ neeent

Multiple choice questions
test your learning and
provide helpful feedback
to improve your results.

Review questions and
answers provide practice
at answering examination
questions.
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Review Questions: Chapter 1

1. Complete the gaps in the following table.

Assets

Liabilities
£

26,500

3.670

14333

7

7

54,337

4450
T

29,001

2

5,360

38

2. Classify the following items into assets and lisbilities.

(a) Fixtures and fittings
{t) What we owe our bank

{c) Trade creditors
(d) Cash in nill

{e) Mator car

() Stocks of goods
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Xii

Notes for teachers and lecturers

This textbook has been written so that a very thorough introduction to accounting is covered in
two volumes. The split into two volumes is a recognition of the fact that many students new to
accounting will find all that they require in Volume 1. This second volume takes students who
have completed their first accounting course to a more advanced stage.

It completes the coverage of the financial accounting part of quite a few examinations in
accounting. As examination syllabuses are constantly being revised, it would not make sense to
be too specific as to which chapters would be needed by students taking each of the various
examinations. In particular, it can be said to be very suitable for students who are studying
the subject for A-level, Scottish Higher Grade, or General Certificate of Secondary Education
examinations, the Open University Certificate in Accounting, and for those studying with the
Association of Accounting Technicians, the Institute of Secretaries and Administrators, or any of
the six UK and Irish Chartered Accountancy bodies.

This volume examines all current UK accounting standards (both Statements of Standard
Accounting Practice — SSAPs — and Financial Reporting Standards — FRSs) and, new to this
edition, the equivalent international accounting standards (both International Accounting
Standards — 1ASs — and International Financial Reporting Standards — IFRSs) in as much detail
as is needed by most students at this level. However, where an entire examination paper is
devoted to this topic, students may need a much more detailed knowledge of accounting stand-
ards than a textbook of this kind can provide. In this case, students would be well advised to
refer to a specialist textbook on the topic, or to the standards themselves.

The pedagogical devices used in this book include:

1 Each chapter:

(a) starts with Learning Objectives;

(b) contains Activities designed to broaden and reinforce students’ understanding of the con-
cepts being covered and, in some cases, to introduce new concepts in such a way that they
do not come as a surprise when introduced formally later in the book;

(c) ends with Learning Outcomes that can be mapped back to the Learning Objectives, so
reinforcing the major topics and concepts covered in the chapter;

(d) contains answers to all the Activities immediately after the Learning Outcomes.

2 The book has an alphabetical Glossary (in Appendix 3) of all the significant terms introduced.

Each entry is referenced back to the chapter in which it appeared.

3 A set of Notes for Students appears at the front of the book. This covers how to use this book,
how to tackle the end-of-chapter Review Questions, and how to study for and sit examinations.

It should be read by students before they start working through the main text.

4 Additional colours have been introduced to enhance readability and bring out key points in
the text.

Some changes have been made to the content of the book in order to make it more relevant to
today’s accounting environment:

® Chapter 10, Accounting Standards and Related Documents has been updated to incorporate
UK and international standards in issue in December 2004.

® Chapter 14, Cash Flow Statements, has been renamed and updated to include material and
review questions on IAS 7 as well as FRS 1.



Notes for teachers and lecturers

® In order that values used in the book more appropriately reflect the 21st century, there are
now 364 Review Questions, of which 140 are new (130 from the ninth edition have been
removed), and many of the examples in the text have been amended.

® Two new chapters have been added: Chapter 32, Corporate Governance and Chapter 33,
Public Sector Accounting.

® Some examples and Review Questions reflect the change brought about as a result of FRS21
(IAS 10) whereby dividends declared after the balance sheet are no longer to be treated as a
liability in the balance sheet.

In addition, in response to requests from reviewers, Exhibit 5.11, which shows the t-account
entries for a sinking fund established in order to redeem debentures, has been amended to show
the entries in a more complete and so more meaningful way.

We hope that you find these changes helpful and appropriate and would welcome comments
on these and any other changes you feel ought to be made in future editions. You can contact
Alan Sangster by email at a.j.a.sangster@rgu.ac.uk or by letter via the publishers.

Three chapters from the eighth edition (3, Container Accounts; 17, Value Added Statements,
and 18, Investment Accounts) can be found on the Frank Wood website.

We would like to thank all those teachers and lecturers who gave us their advice as to
the changes they would like to see incorporated in this edition.

We also wish to acknowledge the contribution of Mike Rogers, Basingstoke College of
Technology, for Chapter 32, Corporate Governance and Chapter 33, Public Sector Accounting.

A Solutions Manual giving suggested solutions to those questions with the suffix A in
the book (e.g. 5.8A) is available from the publishers free of charge to teachers and lecturers
adopting this book on their course, or can be downloaded from the lecturers’ section of the website
for Business Accounting 1 and Business Accounting 2 at www.pearsoned.co.uk/wood

Frank Wood and Alan Sangster
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Notes for students

This textbook is organised to provide you with what has been found to be the most appropriate
sequencing of topics as you build upon the foundations of accounting knowledge that you developed
when you studied Business Accounting 1. You will find that a number of features of the book,
properly used, will enhance your understanding and extend your ability to cope with what will
possibly appear, at first, to be a mystifying array of rules and procedures.

While a lot, but by no means all, of what follows was written in Business Accounting 1, all of
the advice given to you in that book will apply to you throughout your studies of accounting,
whatever the level. We therefore offer no apologies for repeating some of it here along with new
advice appropriate to the level of Business Accounting 2.

In order to make best use of this resource, you should consider the following as being a
proven path to success:

® At the start of each chapter, read the Learning Objectives. Then, while you work through the
material, try to detect when you have achieved each of these objectives.

® At the end of each chapter check what you have learnt against the Learning Outcomes that
follow the main text.

® If you find that you cannot say ‘yes, I have achieved this’ to any of the Learning Outcomes,
look back through the chapter and reread the topic you have not yet learnt.

® Learn the meaning of each new term as it appears. Do not leave learning what terms mean
until you are revising for an exam. Accounting is best learnt as a series of building blocks.
If you don’t remember what terms mean, your knowledge and ability to ‘do’ accounting will
be very seriously undermined, in much the same way as a wall built without mortar is likely
to collapse the first time someone leans against it.

@ Attempt each of the Activities in the book at the point at which they appear. This is very
important. The Activities will reinforce your learning and help set in context some of the
material that may otherwise appear very artificial and distant from the world you live in. The
answers are at the end of each chapter. Do not look at the answers before you attempt the ques-
tions; you’ll just be cheating yourself. Once you have answered one, check your answer
against the one in the book and be sure you understand it before moving on.

® Above all, remember that accounting is a vehicle for providing financial information in a form
that assists decision making. Work hard at presenting your work as neatly as possible and
remember that pictures (in this case, financial figures) only carry half the message. When
you are asked for them, words of explanation and insight are essential in order to make an
examiner appreciate what you know and that you actually understand what the figures mean.

There are two subjects we would like you to consider very carefully: making best use of the
end-of-chapter Review Questions and your examination technique.

Review questions: the best approach

As we did in Business Accounting 1, we have set Review Questions at the end of most chapters for
you to gauge how well you understand and can apply what you have learnt. If you simply read
the text without attempting the questions, then we can tell you now that you will not pass your
examinations. You should first of all attempt the question, and then check it fully against the
answers at the back of the book.



Notes for students

What you should not do is perform a ‘ticking’ exercise. By this we mean that you should not
simply compare the question with the answer and tick off the bits of the answer which relate to
each part of the question. No one ever learnt to do accounting properly that way. It is tempting
to save time in so doing but, believe us, you will regret it eventually. We have deliberately had the
answers printed using a different page layout to try to stop you indulging in a ‘ticking’ exercise.

Need for practice

You should also try to find the time to answer as many Review Questions as possible. Our
reasons for saying this are as follows:

1 Even though you may think you understand the text, when you come to answer the questions
you may often find your understanding incomplete. The true test of understanding is whether
or not you can tackle the questions competently.

2 It is often said that practice makes perfect, a sentiment we don’t fully agree with. There is
enough sense in it, however, in that if you don’t do quite a lot of accounting questions you
will almost certainly not become good at accounting.

3 You simply have got to get up to a good speed in answering questions: you will always fail
accounting examinations if you are a very slow worker. The history of accountancy examina-
tions so far has always been that a ridiculously large amount of work has been expected from
a student during a short time. However, examining boards maintain that the examination
could be completed in the time by an adequately prepared student. You can take it for granted
that adequately prepared students are those who not only have the knowledge, but have also
been trained to work quickly and at the same time maintain accuracy and neatness.

4 Speed itself is not enough; you also have to be neat and tidy, and follow all the proper
practices and procedures while working at speed. Fast but really scruffy work can also mean
failing the exam. Why is this so? At this level the examiner is very much concerned with your
practical ability in the subject. Accounting is a practical subject, and your practical com-
petence is about to be tested. The examiner will therefore expect the answers to be neat and
well set out. Untidy work with figures spread over the page in a haphazard way, badly written
figures, and columns of figures in which the vertical columns are not set down in straight
lines, will incur the examiner’s displeasure.

5 Appropriate presentation of information is important. Learn how to present the various
financial statements you may need to produce in an examination. Examiners expect to see the
items in trading and profit and loss accounts, balance sheets and cash flow statements in
the correct order and will probably deduct marks if you don’t do so. Practise by writing down
examples of these statements without any numbers until you always get the layout correct.
One exam trick most students overlook is that the layout of a financial statement is often
included in an examination paper as part of one question while another question asks you to
produce the same financial statement. The one you need to produce will contain different
numbers but the general layout should be very similar.

Need for headings
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The next thing is that work should not only be neat and well laid out. Headings should always be
given, and any dates needed should be inserted. The test you should apply is to imagine that you
are a partner in a firm of professional accountants and you are away on holiday for a few weeks.
During that time your assistants have completed all sorts of work including reports, drafting
final accounts, various forms of other computations and so on. All of this work is deposited on
your desk while you are away. When you return you look at each item in the pile awaiting your
attention.
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Suppose the first item looks like a balance sheet as at 31 December in respect of one of your
clients. When you looked at it you could see that it was a balance sheet, but you didn’t know
for which client, neither did you know which year it was for. Would you be annoyed with your
staff? Of course you would. So therefore in an examination why should the examiner accept as a
piece of your work a balance sheet answer without either the date or the name of the business or
the fact that it is a balance sheet written clearly across the top? If proper headings are not given
you may lose a lot of marks. Don’t wait until your examination to start this correct practice.
Always put in the headings properly. Similar attention should be paid to sub-totals which need
showing, e.g. for Fixed assets, Current assets.

We will be looking at examination technique in the next section.

The examiner

Really, what you should say to yourself is: ‘Suppose I were in charge of an office, doing this type
of accounting work, what would I say if one of my assistants put on my desk a sheet of paper
with accounting entries on it written in the same manner as my own efforts in attempting this
question?’ Just look at some of the work you have done in the past. Would you have told your
assistant to go back and do the work again because it is untidy? If you say that about your own
work, why should the examiner think any differently?

Anyone who works in accounting knows well that untidy work leads to completely unnecessary
errors. Therefore the examiner’s insistence on clear, tidy, well laid out work is not an outdated
approach; they want to ensure that you are not going to mess up the work of an accounting
department. Imagine going to the savings bank and the manager says to you: ‘We don’t know
whether you’ve got £5 in the account or £5,000. You see, the work of our clerks is so untidy that
we can never sort out exactly how much is in anybody’s account.” We would guess that you
would not want to put a lot of money into an account at that bank. How would you feel if some-
one took you to court for not paying a debt of £100 when in fact you owed them nothing? This
sort of thing would happen all the time if we simply allowed people to keep untidy accounts. The
examiner is there to ensure that the person to whom they give a certificate will be worthy of it,
and will not continually mess up the work of any firm at which they may work in the future.

We can imagine quite a few of you groaning at all this, and if you do not want to pass the
examination please give up reading here. If you do want to pass, and your work is untidy,
what can you do about it? The answer is simple enough: start right now to be neat and orderly in
your work.

Quite a lot of students have said to us over the years: ‘I may be giving you untidy work now,
but when I actually get in the exam room I will then do my work neatly enough.” This is as near
impossible as anything can be. You cannot suddenly become able to do accounting work neatly,
and certainly not when you are under the stress and strain of an examination. Even the neatest
worker may well find in an examination that their work may not be of its usual standard as
nervousness will cause them to make mistakes. If this is true, then if you are an untidy worker
now, your work in an examination is likely to be even more untidy. Have we convinced you yet?
Present your work neatly.

The structure of the questions

We have tried to build up the Review Questions in a structured way, starting with the easiest and
then going on to more difficult ones. We would have liked to omit all the difficult questions, on
the basis that you may well spend a lot of time doing them without adding very much to your
knowledge about accounting. However, if all the questions were straightforward, the shock of
meeting more complicated questions for the first time in an examination could lead you to fail it.
We have therefore tried to include a mixture of straightforward and complicated questions to
give you the maximum benefit.
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The answers
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At the back of the book, you will find answers to approximately half of the Review Questions. The
answers to the other Review Questions (indicated by the letter ‘A’ after the question number)
are only available to you from your teacher or lecturer. Don’t worry if you are studying this sub-
ject on your own. There are still more than sufficient Review Questions with answers in this
book to ensure you know and can confirm that you understand the material.

Examination technique

If you were completely devoid of examination technique you would probably not have advanced
to this stage of your accounting studies. A lot of what follows was written in Business Account-
ing 1. Don’t avoid reading it just because you read it when you were studying the material in
that book.

In your first accounting examination you were competing with people who had probably
never sat an accounting examination before. A lot of them will not get past Stage 1. In Stage 2 you
are competing against people who have already proved they have a certain degree of competence in
the subject. You might have got away with a certain amount of poor examination technique at
Stage 1, but that will not be as easy at Stage 2.

Here we want to concentrate on the main deficiencies noted by examiners. These have never
changed during the past 50 years. Students really should read examiners’ reports — they will
learn a lot from them.

Students do not read the questions properly
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A large number of students do not answer the questions as set by the examiner, because they
have not read the question properly. They answer what they think the examiner wants, not what
the examiner is asking for.

Let us take a simple example. Suppose the examiner sets the following question: ‘Describe the
use of accounting ratios in assessing the performance of businesses.’

A lot of students will immediately start to describe how to calculate various accounting ratios.
Marks which will be obtained — nil. The question asked for the use of accounting ratios, not how
to calculate them.

Many other students will have concentrated on the word use. They will then write their
answer based on comparing this year’s accounting ratios in a business with those of last year.
They may well even mention trend ratios which will earn them some extra marks. If they keep
their discussion to comparing ratios in a business in the year with other years, however, they
cannot get top marks, no matter how well they have written their answers.

Why not? Well, they picked up the word use, but from then on they stopped reading properly.
The question does not in any way limit itself to the ratios of one business only. First of all you
can compare the performance of a business with its own performance in the past. Secondly,
you may be able to compare one business with another business of a similar kind. In addition,
if you miss out mentioning interfirm comparisons you will lose marks.

Therefore, (a) read the question carefully, (b) underline the key words to get to the meaning of
the question, (c) think carefully about how widespread your answer should be.

On the other hand, there is no point in widening the question more than is needed. It is for the
use of accounting ratios, not the use of all types of ratios. Besides accounting ratios there are
marketing ratios — e.g. size of share of market, how long it takes to supply orders, ratios of
defective goods etc. The question does not ask for all of these. If you give them, you will not get
any extra marks.
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Poor time management

Using time well to gain the highest possible marks is essential. Examiners constantly report that
examinees are very poor in this aspect of tackling an examination. How, then, can you avoid the
usual pitfalls?

First of all, read the rubric carefully. These are the instructions at the top of the paper, e.g.
‘Attempt four questions only: the three questions in Section A and one from Section B. Begin
each answer on a separate page.’

You would be surprised to know that a lot of students would try to answer more than one
question from Section B. If you tackle two questions from Section B, you will get marks for only
one of your answers. Few examiners will mark both and then give you the marks for your high-
est marked answer. Many will simply mark the first of the optional questions answered and
ignore the next, unnecessary answer.

Secondly, start each answer on a new page. You’ll only annoy the examiner if you don’t. It is
your job to make the examiner’s work as easy as possible. Examiners are only human, and it
would be surprising if their annoyance did not result in its influencing the marking of your
paper.

You really must attempt each and every question you are required to answer according to the
rubric of the examination. If you have to answer five questions then you must avoid attempting
only four questions.

Students often feel that they would be better off by handing in the complete answers to only
four questions, instead of five incomplete answers. In accounting examinations this is not true.
Why is this so?

1 Examiners use positive marking in accounting examinations. If you have done 80 per cent of
an answer worth 20 marks in total, and you have got it absolutely correct, then you get 80%
of 20 = 16 marks.

2 The first marks in a question are the easiest to obtain. Thus it is easier to get the first
10 marks out of 20 than it is to get the second lot of marks to get full marks. By ensuring that
you get the easiest marks on every question it therefore makes your task easier.

To ensure that you tackle (not necessarily finish) each question you should mark the number of
minutes to be allowed by yourself for each question. Thus a 20-mark question, in a 100-mark
examination, should be given 20 per cent of the time, i.e. 20% of 3 hours = 36 minutes. When 36
minutes have passed, stop answering the question unless it is the last question to be attempted,
and go on to the next question.

If you don’t know the answer, or part of an answer, you should guess. You don’t lose marks
for guessing, and if you guess correctly you get the marks. Intuition will often give the correct
answer. Very often if you don’t guess on part of a computational question you will be unable to
go on to the remainder of the question which you can answer.

Workings

You may wonder why we have put this under a separate heading. We cannot emphasise enough
how important it is that you should:

(a) submit all your workings, and
(b) ensure that the workings are set out so that the examiner can follow them.

A very high percentage of candidates in an examination are near the pass mark, within either a
few percentage points above it or below it. If you are one of these candidates, and, as we have
said, there are a lot of them, handing in workings which can be understood by the examiner will
often ensure you a pass mark. Conversely, no workings, or completely unintelligible workings
may well ensure your failing the examination.
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This last point is important. Some students think that putting down a set of random jottings and
calling them ‘workings’ will gain marks. It won’t. Examiners won’t waste time searching through
random jottings for something relevant. Treat your workings as if they, themselves, are part of
your answer. Insert titles and headings to indicate what a particular working is about.

Tackle the easiest questions first

Never start off your examination by tackling a difficult question. You must be able to settle down
properly and not let your nerves get out of control. Starting off on the easiest question is the best
way to enable you to get off to a good start. Much more about this was written in Business
Accounting 1.

State your assumptions

It does happen that sometimes a question can contain ambiguities. Examination bodies try to
prevent it happening, but it does occur occasionally. Unfortunately, questions do sometimes
contain errors.

In both of these cases you must point out the ambiguity/error. You should then make an
assumption, based on what you thought the examiner meant, and carry on with your answer. You
must, however, state what your assumption is. Try to make your assumption as sensible as pos-
sible. The examiner will then mark your answer accordingly. If you make a ridiculous assumption,
it is unlikely that you will be given any marks for that part of your answer. Don’t be sarcastic in
your comments or complain about inefficiency — there are other times and places for that.

Answering essay questions
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The problem

Unlike computational-type answers, you will not know whether your written answers are up to
the mark until you receive your examination result. Likewise, written questions lack the certainty
and precision of accounting problems and it is often difficult to fathom out exactly what the
examiners require of you. For this reason, sound examination technique is absolutely essential
together with precise knowledge of relevant law and regulations.

There are several major aspects to success in written papers. Plan your answer, answer the
question as set, pay attention to good layout, and explain in clear and simple terms what you are
doing. Remember you can only be marked on what you write down. You have no opportunity
to explain some ambiguity or other and if what you write is unclear you will not get the benefit
of the doubt.

Plan

First read the question and jot down the key verb, i.e. your instructions; this may be to discuss,
explain, advise, set out, list, draft an audit programme, write a letter, etc.

If the question requires a discussion or an explanation it should be written in proper para-
graph form. Each paragraph should be self-contained and explain the point it makes. Sentences
should be short and to the point. The ideal length for a paragraph is three sentences with four as a
maximum. Over four and you are probably making more than one point and should have gone
into two paragraphs.

Plan how many points you are going to make and what the answer is. This is essential as
otherwise your answer will ‘drift’ as you struggle to come to some conclusion. The plan should
consist of arrows connecting points to each other so that the answer will flow and be logical. The
plan need not be too extensive; it is silly to waste time on a ‘mini-answer’. It should consist of the
headings you are going to use.
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Layout

Whenever examiners meet to discuss results, or write down their commentary on students’ per-
formance, they all agree on the importance of good layout; yet students generally tend to take no
notice. The range of marks between good papers and poor papers tends to be quite small.
Anything you can do to put the examiner on your side will pay off in those few extra marks.

The main areas for good layout are:

1 Tabulate in numbered points, unless you are writing an essay-type question (as explained
above).

2 Leave at least a clear line between each point or paragraph.

3 Use headings whenever possible to indicate what major point or series of points you are about
to make. Make it easy for the examiner to read your work and follow what you are doing. A
solid mass of material is difficult to read, provides no respite for the eye and shows a lack of
discipline. Remember that you are taking a professional examination and there is no room for
academic licence.

4 Take care with your language. Be objective and avoid the use of the words ‘I’ or ‘we’ at too
frequent intervals. Be direct and concise, say what you mean, do not use pompous termino-
logy, and use technical words with their correct meaning.

Short sentences are far more effective and punchy than long ones. An accounting pro-
gramme or evaluation of an internal control system could well start with a series of verbs.
Good ones are: test, examine, inspect, calculate, reconcile, compare, summarise, inquire,
investigate. These key words will help you to construct answers to these types of questions
much more direct and to the point. If you start with them you are bound to avoid falling into
the trap of being long-winded, or of padding out your answer. You only have a limited time
and everything you write down must earn you marks.

5 Think while you are writing out your answer to make sure you are answering the question as
set. Keep on reading the instructions and make sure you are following them. Use the question
to help you to get the answer and, while this should be tackled at the planning stage, it is
always possible that inspiration will strike while you are writing out your answer. In which
case jot the point down on your plan, otherwise you might forget it and that can cause frus-
tration. What you say should be relevant, but if you are in doubt about the relevance but sure
about the accuracy — include it in your answer. You cannot lose and it may be one of the key
points the examiner was looking for.

Key points

Do try to find a couple of key points to each question. These are points which you feel are vital to
answer the question. You may well be right, and anyway, jotting them down after you have read
the question carefully can help to give your answer much needed direction.

Practice

You will need to practise the above routine. Written answers in fact need more practice than
computational ones. Have a go at the question. Write out the answer as you would in the exam-
ination. Compare with the suggested answers.

Write out at the foot of your answer what you left out and what you got wrong. Learn from
the answers and from the work you do, so that when you see a similar question you will produce
a better answer.

Time pressure

You will experience a lot of pressure of time as you progress with written questions. Do not
worry; this is a good sign.

In the examination, spread your time sensibly. Start with the questions you like the look of
most and, if you have to go slightly over the time you allotted for those, do so. End with the



Notes for students

question you think you cannot answer or will be hardest to answer, but do give yourself time to
have a reasonable go at it.

If a written question is included in a computational paper do not go over the time on it but do
spend the allocated time. Examiners pay great attention to the written parts of computational
papers, so do not skimp this part.

All this sounds formidable and, of course, it is. It requires skill, application and, above all,
confidence. Practice makes perfect and once the skill is acquired then, like riding a bicycle, it will
not be forgotten. Take pride in your work and be critical of your own efforts, but do not ima-
gine your answers will have to be perfect to pass the examination. Suggested answers tend to be
too long because tutors are afraid to reveal any signs of weakness or ignorance.

Go for the main points and make them well. That is the secret of success.

..................

Remember:

1 Read the rubric, i.e. the instructions.

2 Plan your time before you start.

3 Tackle the easiest questions first.

4 Finish off answering each question when your time allocation for the question is up.

5 Hand in all your workings.

6 Do remember to be neat, also include all proper headings, dates, sub-totals, etc. A lot of marks
can be lost if you don't.

7 Only answer as many questions as you are asked to tackle by the examiner. Extra answers will
not normally be marked.

8 Underline the key words in each question to ensure that you answer the question set, and not
the question you wrongly take it to be.

9 Never write out the text of essay questions.

Best of luck with your examination. We hope you get the rewards you deserve!

Frank Wood and Alan Sangster
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SPECIAL ACCOUNTS

Introduction

This part is concerned with two items that are treated in a similar
way, irrespective of the form of business involved.

1 Accounting for branches 3
2 Hire purchase accounts 29







Accounting for branches

Learning objectives

After you have studied this chapter, you should be able to:
® explain two methods of recording the entries relating to branches

® describe how double column trading and profit and loss accounts can be used in
order to monitor any unexpected losses

® explain the difference between using a memoranda columns approach and an
integrated stock monitoring system for stock control

® explain the issues relating to maintaining branch accounts for foreign branches

Introduction
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In this chapter, you’ll learn about two methods of recording branch transactions
and of the issues that arise when items are in transit between branches. You'll also
learn about how to record the entries in the books when branches are located in
different countries.

° Accounting records and branches

When we look at accounting records to show transactions at the branches of an organisation, we
have a choice of two main methods. These are:

(a) the head office keeps all the accounting records, or
(b) each branch has its own full accounting system.

It is easier to understand accounting for branches if these two main methods are dealt with
separately.

0 If the head office maintains all the ledgers

The ledgers are used for three main purposes:

(a) to record transactions showing changes in assets, liabilities and capital;
(b) to ascertain the profitability of each branch; and, if possible,
(¢) to check whether anyone at the branches is stealing goods or cash.

This third purpose is very important for firms that have many branches. The people who manage
or work in these branches are receiving and paying out large sums of money. In addition they

3
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may be handling large amounts of stocks of goods. The branch or branches may be a considerable
distance away from the head office. This may mean that the manager, or any of the staff, may
think that they can steal things without being caught.

Q Methods for checking stock and cash

If a firm with only a few branches sells only very expensive cars, it would be easy to check on
purchases and sales of the cars. The number of cars sold would not be very great. Checking
that cars or money have not been stolen would be easy. However, a firm such as a store with
branches selling many thousands of cheap items could not be checked so easily. To keep a check
on each carton of salt or bag of flour sold would be almost impossible. Even if it could be done,
such checking would cost too much.

The accounting answer to this problem is to record all transactions at the branch in terms of
selling prices. Then for each accounting period, it should be possible to check whether the clos-
ing stock is as it should be. For a small branch, for example, you may be given the following

figures:

f
Stock on hand at 1 January - at selling price 5,000
January — Goods sent to the branch by the head office — at selling price 20,000
January — Sales by the branch — obviously at selling price 18,000
The calculation of the closing stock becomes:

f
Opening Stock 1 January (selling price) 5,000
Add Goods sent to the branch (selling price) 20,000
Goods which the branch had available for sale (selling price) 25,000
Less Goods sold (selling price) 18,000
Closing stock at 31 January should therefore be (selling price) 7,000

Q Allowances for deficiencies

In every business there will be:

(a) wastage of goods for some reason — goods may be damaged or broken, or they may be kept
too long or somehow waste away;

(b) stealing by customers, especially in the retail business;

(c) thefts by employees.

No one can be certain how much stock is wasted or stolen during a period. Only experience will
enable a firm to make a good estimate of these losses.

@ The double column system

At regular intervals, obviously at least once a year but usually more frequently now that
accounting for branches is virtually always computerised, the head office may draft a trading
and profit and loss account for each branch. The trading account can be shown with two
columns, one in which goods sent to the branch or in stock are shown at cost price, i.e. the
normal basis for any business. This column is therefore part of a normal trading account for
the branch.
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The other column will show all trading account items at selling price. This column allows
deficiencies in trading to be compared with the normal deficiency allowed for wastages, etc. It is
not a part of the double entry recording; it is a memorandum column for control purposes only.
When such a system is in place, it is easy for head office to tell if the branch is operating as
expected; and, of course, easy for the branch itself to assess its own operations against company
norms.

Exhibit 1.1
Branch Trading and Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31.12.20X8
At At
selling selling
price price
f f £ £
Stock 1 Jan 20X8 1,600 1,200 Sales 7,428 7,428
Goods from head office 8,000 6,000 Deficiency (difference) 172
9,600 7,200
Less Stock 31 Dec 20X8 2,000 1,500
7,600 5,700
Gross profit ¢/d 1,728
7,600 7,428 7,600 7,428
Expenses 1,000 Gross profit b/d 1,728
Net profit 728
1,728 1,728

Exhibit 1.1 is drafted from the following details for a business which sells goods at a uniform mark-
up of 33'/3 per cent on cost price:

f
Stock 1 Jan 20X8 (at cost) 1,200
Goods sent to the branch during the year (at cost) 6,000
Sales (selling price) 7,428
Stock 31 Dec 20X8 (at cost) 1,500
Expenses 1,000

Allowances for wastage, etc., 1 per cent of sales.

As the actual deficiency of £172 exceeds the amount expected, i.e. 1 per cent of £7,428 = £74, an
investigation will be made.

This method is suitable where all the sales are for cash, there being no sales on credit, or when
debtors make their payments to the branch where the sale took place.

Why should it make any difference if debtors make payment to a branch other
than the one where the sale took place?

The stock and debtors system

Further adjustments are needed when there are credit sales as well as cash sales. There are two
ways of making the entries. These are:
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(@) using memoranda columns only to keep a check on stock, as shown in Section 1.5;
(b) integrating stock control into the double entry system. This is often called an ‘integrated
system’.

Under both these approaches, information is kept relating to stock and debtors. Let’s look at
both these approaches.

Using the following data, Exhibit 1.2 shows the records in the Head Office books when (a),
the memoranda method, is used. Exhibit 1.3 shows (b) the records when the integrated method
is in used.

Data: A branch sells all its goods at a uniform mark-up of 50 per cent on cost price. Credit
customers are to pay their accounts directly to the head office.

£

First day of the period:

Stock (at cost) (A) 2,000

Debtors (B) 400
During the period:

Goods sent to the branch (at cost) Q) 7,000

Sales — cash (D) 6,000

Sales — credit (E) 4,800

Cash remitted by debtors to head office (F) 4,500
At the close of the last day of the period:

Stock (at cost) (G) 1,800

Debtors (H) 700

Note: The letters A to H beside the figures have been inserted to identify the entries in Exhibits
1.2 and 1.3.

(a) Memoranda columns method

..........................................................

Exhibit 1.2
Branch Stock
Selling Selling
price price
(memo (memo
only) only)
f f £ f
Stock b/d (A) 3,000 2,000 Sales: Cash (D) 6,000 6,000
Goods sent (@) 10,500 7,000 Credit (E) 4,800 4,800
Gross profit to Stock c/d (Q) 2,700 1,800
profit and loss 3,600
13,500 12,600 13,500 12,600
Stock b/d (G) 2,700 1,800
Branch Debtors
£ £
Balances b/d (B) 400 Cash (F) 4,500
Branch stock (E) 4,800 Balance c/d (H) 700
5,200 5,200
Balance b/d 700
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Goods Sent to Branches

f {2
Transfer to head office
trading account 7,000 Branch stock (© 7,000
Cash Book
£
Branch stock — cash sales (D) 6,000
Branch debtors (E) 4,500

The branch stock account is thus, in effect, a trading account, and is identical to the type used
in the double column system. In addition, however, a branch debtors account is in use.

The balance of the goods sent to the branches account is shown as being transferred to the
head office trading account. This figure is deducted from the purchases in the head office trading
account, so that goods bought for the branch can be disregarded when the gross profit earned by
the head office is calculated.

(b) The integrated system

The integrated system introduces the idea that gross profit can be calculated by reference to
profit margins. It relies upon all selling prices being set strictly on the basis of the profit margins
adopted by the business. For example, assume that a self-employed travelling salesman sells
all his goods at cost price plus 25 per cent. At the start of a week he has £80 stock at cost,
he buys goods costing £800, he sells goods for £900 (selling price) and he has goods left in
stock at the end of the week which have cost him £160. A trading account based on this data is
shown below.

Trading Account for the week ended . . .

f £
Sales 900
Less: Cost of good sold 80
Opening stock 800
Add: Purchases 880
Less: Closing stock (160)
(720)
Gross profit 180
This could, however, also be shown as:
f
Profit made when opening stock is sold 20
Profit made when purchases are sold 200
Profit made when all goods are sold 210
But he still has left unsold goods (cost £160) on which the profit still has to be realised (_40)
Therefore profit realised 180
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This could be expressed in account form as:

Salesman’s Adjustment

£ £
Gross profit realised 180 Unrealised profit b/d 20
Unrealised profit c/d _40 Unrealised profit when goods were bought 200
220 220

The integrated system uses an adjustment account which is needed because goods sent to the
branch are shown at cost price in a ‘goods sent to branches account’. (This is the same as under
the memoranda column method.) In the branch stock account, these goods are shown at selling
price. Obviously, if one entry is made at cost price and the other at selling price, the accounts
would not balance. As the integrated system does not use memoranda columns, to correct this an
extra account called a ‘branch adjustment account’ is opened. The entries in this account are in
respect of the profit content only of goods.

The branch stock account acts as a check upon stock deficiencies. The branch adjustment
account shows the amount of gross profit realised (i.e. earned) and unrealised during the period.

Exhibit 1.3 shows the ledger accounts needed for the integrated system from the same informa-
tion given at the beginning of Section 1.6 that was used to complete Exhibit 1.2. In this example
a stock deficiency does not exist. The letters A to H in Exhibit 1.3 conform to the letters A to H
shown against the information.

Exhibit 1.3
Branch Stock (Selling Price)
£ £
Balance b/d (A) 3,000 Sales: Cash (D) 6,000
Goods sent to branch (@) 10,500 Credit (E) 4,800
Balance c/d (Q) 2,700
13,500 13,500
Balance b/d (G) 2,700
Branch Debtors (Selling Price)
£ £
Balances b/d (B) 400 Cash (F) 4,500
Branch stock (E) 4,800 Balances c/d (H) 700
5,200 5,200
Balances b/d (H) 700

Goods Sent to Branches (Cost Price)

£ £
Transfer to head office
trading account 7,000 Branch stock (@) 7,000

Branch Adjustment (Profit Content)

£
Gross profit to profit Unrealised profit b/d (A) 1,000
and loss 3,600 Branch stock — goods sent (@) 3,500
Unrealised profit ¢/d (G) 900
4,500 4,500
Unrealised profit b/d (Q) 900
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The opening and closing stocks are shown in the branch stock account at selling price.
However, the balance sheet should show the stock at cost price. The previous balance sheet
should therefore have shown stock at cost £2,000. This is achieved by having a compensating
£1,000 credit balance brought forward in the branch adjustment account so that the debit bal-
ance of £3,000 in the branch stock account, when it comes to being shown in the balance sheet,
has the £1,000 credit balance deducted to show a net figure of £2,000. Similarly, at the close of
the period the balance sheet will show stock at £1,800 (branch stock debit balance £2,700 less
branch adjustment credit balance £900).

Compare the entries in the branch adjustment account to the differences between the memor-
anda and ‘real’ column figure in the branch account shown in Exhibit 1.2. You should be able
to see how both methods show the same information, one (the memoranda columns method)
using gross amounts as the basis for presentation while the other (the integrated method) pre-
sents the gross profits as separate amounts.

The stock and debtors integrated system - further points

Returns

...............

Goods may be returned:

(@) from the branch stock to the head office
(b) from the branch debtors to the branch stock
(c¢) from the branch debtors to the head office.

Exhibit 1.4

To examine the entries needed, suppose a firm sells goods at cost plus 25 per cent profit, and,
according to the categories stated, goods sold at the following prices were returned: (a) £90, (b)
£150, (c) £30. The entries needed are:

Branch Stock (Selling Price)

£ £
Returns from debtors (b) 150 Returns to head office (a) 90

Branch Adjustment (Profit Loading)

Returns from branch (a) 18
Returns from debtors (0 6

Goods Sent to Branches (Cost Price)

i
Returns from branch (a) 72
Returns from debtors (o) 24

Branch Debtors (Selling Price)

£
Returns to branch (b) 150
Returns to head office (o) 30

Entries (b), both being in accounts shown at selling price, were two in number, i.e. £150 Dr and
£150 Cr; entries (a) and (c) each needed entries in three accounts, (a) being £45 Cr and £18 Dr
and £72 Dr, (c) being £30 Cr and £24 Dr and £6 Dr.
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@ If each branch maintains full accounting records

10

Branches rarely maintain full accounting records. When they do, it is usually in a business with
just a few branches, and is normally done only when a branch is large enough to warrant
employing its own accounting staff.

A branch cannot operate on its own without resources, and it is the business as a whole which
provides these in the first instance. It will want to know how much money it has invested in each
branch, and from this arises the concept of branch and head office current accounts. The rela-
tionship between the branch and the head office is seen as that of a debtor/creditor. The current
account shows the branch as a debtor in the head office records, while the head office is shown
as a creditor in the branch records. (This may seem similar to what you learnt about joint ven-
ture accounting in Business Accounting 1.)

The current accounts are used for transactions concerned with supplying resources to the
branch or in taking back resources. For such transactions, full double entry records are needed,
both in the branch records and in the head office records, i.e. each item will be recorded twice in
each set of records. Some transactions will, however, concern the branch only, and these will
merely need two entries in the branch records and none in the head office records. Exhibit 1.5
shows several transactions and the records needed.

Exhibit 1.5

A firm with its head office in London opened a branch in Manchester. The following transactions
took place in the first month:

(A) Opened a bank account at Manchester by transferring £10,000 from the London bank account.

(B) Bought premises in Manchester, paying by cheque drawn on the London bank account,
£50,000.

(C) Manchester bought a motor van, paying by cheque £6,000 from its own bank account.

(D) Manchester bought fixtures on credit from A B Equipment Ltd, £2,900.

(E) London supplied a machine valued at £2,500 from its own machinery.

(F) Manchester bought goods from suppliers, paying by cheque on its own account, £2,700.

(G) Manchester’s cash sales banked immediately in its own bank account, £30,000.

(H) Goods invoiced at cost to Manchester during the month by London (no cash or cheques being
paid specifically for these goods by Manchester), £28,000.

() A cheque is paid to London by Manchester as general return of funds, £18,000.

(J) Goods returned to London by Manchester — at cost price, £1,000.

The exact dates have been deliberately omitted. It will be seen later that complications arise
because of differences in the timing of transactions. Each transaction has been identified by a
capital letter. The relevant letter will be shown against each entry in the accounts.

Head Office Records (in London)
Manchester Branch Current Account

£ £
Bank (A) 10,000 Bank () 18,000
Bank — premises (B) 50,000 Returns from Branch () 1,000
Machinery (E) 2,500
Goods sent to Branch (H) 28,000
Bank
£ £
Manchester Branch () 18,000 Manchester Branch (A) 10,000
Manchester premises (B) 50,000



Chapter 1 ® Accounting for branches

Machinery
‘ £
Manchester Branch (E) 2,500
Goods Sent to Branch
£ ‘ £
Returns from Branch ) 1,000 Manchester Branch (H) 28,000
Branch Records (in Manchester)
Head Office Current Account
£ £
Bank (1) 18,000 Bank (A) 10,000
Returns ) 1,000 Premises (B) 50,000
Machinery (E) 2,500
Goods from Head Office (H) 28,000
Bank
£ f
Head Office (A) 10,000 Motor van (@) 6,000
Cash sales (G) 30,000 Purchases (F) 2,700
Head Office n 18,000
Premises
£
Head Office (B) 50,000
Motor Van
£
Bank (© 6,000
Fixtures
£
A B Equipment Ltd (D) 2,900
A B Equipment Ltd
f
Fixtures (D) 2,900
Machinery
fa
Head Office (E) 2,500
Purchases
£
Bank (F) 2,700

1"
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B 2

12

Sales
‘ £
Bank (G) 30,000
Goods from Head Office
£ ‘ £
Head Office (H) 28,000 Head Office - returns ) 1,000

Note: It can be seen that items C, D, F and G are entered only in the Manchester records. This is
because these items are purely internal transactions and are not concerned with resources
flowing between London and Manchester.

Profit or loss and current accounts

The profit earned by the branch (or loss incurred by it) does not belong to the branch. It belongs
to the firm and must therefore be shown as such. The head office represents the central authority
of the firm and profit of the branch should be credited to the Head Office Current Account, any
loss being debited.

The branch will therefore draw up its own trading and profit and loss account. After agree-
ment with the head office the net profit will then be transferred to the credit of the Head Office
Current Account. The head office will then debit the Branch Current Account in its own records
and credit its own profit and loss account. Taking the net profit earned in Exhibit 1.5 as £7,000,
the two sets of books would appear thus:

Head Office Records (in London)
London Profit and Loss Account

£
Net profit earned by the
Manchester Branch 7,000
Manchester Branch Current Account
£ £
Bank 10,000 Bank 18,000
Bank: premises 50,000 Returns from Branch 1,000
Machinery 2,500
Goods sent to Branch 28,000
Net profit to main profit
and loss account 7,000 Balance c/d 78,500
97,500 97,500
Balance b/d 78,500

Branch Records (in Manchester)
Manchester Profit and Loss Account

£

Net profit carried to the Head
Office Current Account 7,000
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Head Office Current Account

£ £

Returns to Head Office 1,000 Bank 10,000
Bank 18,000 Premises 50,000
Machinery 2,500

Goods from Head Office 28,000

Balance c/d 78,500 Profit and loss account 7,000
97,500 97,500

Balance b/d 78,500

The combined balance sheet

After the trading and profit and loss accounts have been drawn up a balance sheet is required for
the whole firm. The branch will send its trial balance to the head office which will add the assets
in its own trial balance to those in the branch trial balance to give the total for each type of asset
to be shown in the balance sheet, and a similar procedure will be carried out for the liabilities.

In the trial balances, the Head Office Current Account will be a debit balance while the
Branch Current Account will be a credit balance, e.g. the figures of £78,500 in the London books
and Manchester books. These therefore cancel each other out and are not shown in the com-
bined balance sheet. It is correct not to show them, as the two balances do not, in fact, represent
assets or liabilities of the business.

If the current account balances do not represent assets or liabilities, what do they
represent?

Items in transit

Earlier in this chapter, it was mentioned that the timing of transactions could raise complica-
tions. These are similar to those that give rise to the need for bank reconciliations, which you
learnt about in Business Accounting 1. Obviously, a cheque sent by post by a Manchester branch
would probably arrive in London the next day, while goods sent from London to Manchester, or
returned from Manchester to London, could arrive on the same day or anything up to several
days later.

Both the head office and the branch will have entered the transactions at the dates of remit-
tance or receipt and, as the remittance from one place will occur on one day and the receipt may
occur at the other place on another day, items which are in transit at the end of a financial period
may not be recorded in both sets of books. That is, the two sets of books will not contain identical
figures. As a result, the balances on the current accounts will not be equal to one another.

Not surprisingly, this is not acceptable. Both current accounts must have the same balance so
that they will cancel out when the combined balance sheet is prepared. As the two sets of records
contain some figures which are different from each other they must somehow be reconciled so
that the balances carried down are the same.

When preparing a bank reconciliation, permanent adjustments are made to the bank account
balance recorded in the books. In contrast, when dealing with reconciliations of branch and
head office current accounts, adjustments are made that are then carried down as balances to the
next period. Which set of figures is to be altered? The amendments are all made in the head office
books. Otherwise, when several branches are involved, things could get very confusing indeed.

13
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Exhibit 1.6 is for a second month of the business shown in Exhibit 1.5. However, whereas
there were no items in transit at the end of the first month, this does not hold true at the conclu-
sion of the second month.

Exhibit 1.6

Head Office records (showing current accounts only) £
Goods sent to Branch 37,000
Cheques received from Branch 29,500
Returns received from Branch 4,400
Branch records

Goods received from Head Office 35,000
Cheques sent to Head Office 30,300
Returns sent to Head Office 5,000

It may be assumed that the net profit as shown by the profit and loss account of the branch is
£8,000.

Branch Records (in Manchester)
Head Office Current Account

f £
Bank 30,300 Balance b/d 78,500
Returns to Head Office 5,000 Goods from Head Office 35,000
Balance c/d 86,200 Net profit 8,000
121,500 121,500
Balance b/d 86,200

Head Office Records (in London)
Manchester Branch Current Account

f £
Balance b/d 78,500 Bank (B) 29,500
Goods sent to Branch (A) 37,000 Returns received Q) 4,400
Net profit 8,000

At this point, the following items are observed to be in transit at the end of the period (these
should be confirmed to ensure that they are not merely errors in accounting records):

(A) Goods sent to the branch amounting to £2,000 (£37,000 — £35,000).
(B) Cheques sent by the branch amounting to £800 (£30,300 — £29,500).
(C) Returns from the branch amounting to £600 (£5,000 — £4,400).

(A) needs amending to £35,000. This is done by crediting the account with £2,000.
(B) needs amending to £30,300. This is done by crediting the account with £800.
(C) needs amending to £5,000. This is done by crediting the account with £600.

As these are items in transit, they need to be taken to the period in which they arrive, i.e. the next
month. This is effected by carrying them down as balances into the next period. The branch current
account will now be completed.

It may appear at first sight to be rather strange that all the items in transit are shown as debit
balances. However, it must be appreciated that goods (including returns) and money in transit
are assets of the firm at the end of a financial period. That they are in transit is merely stipulating
that the assets are neither at the head office nor at the branch but are somewhere else. Assets are
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always shown as debit balances and there is no reason why it should be different just because
they have not reached their destination on a certain date.

Manchester Branch Current Account

£ £

Balance b/d 78,500 Bank 29,500

Goods sent to branch 37,000 Returns received 4,400

Net profit 8,000 Goods in transit c/d 2,000

Cheques in transit c/d 800

Returns in transit c/d 600

Balance c/d 86,200

123,500 123,500
Balance b/d 86,200
Goods in transit b/d 2,000
Cheques in transit b/d 800
Returns in transit b/d 600

All of these four balances are shown in the trial balance. When the combined balance sheet is
being prepared the balance of the two current accounts (in this case £86,200) will cancel out as
it is a debit balance in one trial balance and a credit balance in the other. The goods in transit
£2,000 and the returns in transit £600, both being goods, are added to the stock in the balance
sheet. This is because at the end of the second month, stock is made up of the following items:

£
Stock at London
Add Stock at Manchester
Add Stocks in transit (£2,000 + £600) 2,600
Total stock

Similarly, the balance for cheques or remittances in transit is added to the bank balances at
London and Manchester:

£
Bank balance at London
Add Bank balance in Manchester
Add Remittances in transit 800

This is rather like a man who has £14 in one pocket and £3 in another. He takes a £5 note from
the pocket containing the larger amount and is transferring it to his other pocket when someone
asks him to stay perfectly still and calculate the total cash in his possession. He therefore has:

£
Pocket 1 (£14 — £5) 9
Pocket 2 3
Cash in transit 5

17

Items in transit and the balance sheet

Using the figures already given in Exhibit 1.6, but adding some further information, trial bal-
ances for London head office and the Manchester branch are now shown in Exhibit 1.7 after the
profit and loss accounts have been drawn up for the second month.

15
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Exhibit 1.7
Trial Balances as at 29 February 20X8
London Manchester
Head Office Branch
Dr Cr Dr Cr
f f £ £
Premises 100,000 50,000
Machinery 20,000 2,500
Fixtures 31,000 2,900
Motor vans 15,000 6,000
Closing stock 38,000 7,000
Debtors 11,000 8,000
Bank 122,000 21,600
Head Office Current Account 86,200
Branch Current Account 86,200
Goods in transit 2,000
Cheques in transit 800
Returns in transit 600
Creditors 13,000 11,800
Capital account as at 1 Jan 20X8 378,600
Net profit for the two months (Branch £15,000 +
Head Office £20,000) 35,000
426,600 | 426,600 | 98,000 98,000
The combined balance sheet can now be drawn up.
Balance Sheet as at 29 February 20X8
f £
Fixed assets
Premises 150,000
Machinery 22,500
Fixtures 33,900
Motor vans 21,000
227,400
Current assets
Stocks (Note 1) 47,600
Debtors (Note 2) 19,000
Bank 144,400
211,000
Less Current liabilities
Creditors ( 24,800)
Working capital 186,200
413,600
Capital
Balance at 1 January 20X8 378,600
Add Net profit:
London 20,000
Manchester 15,000
413,600
Notes:
£ £
(1) Stocks: London 38,000 (2) Bank: London 122,000
Manchester 7,000 Manchester 21,600
In transit (£2,000 + £600) 2,600 In transit 800
47,600 144,400
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@ Foreign branch accounts

The treatment of the accounts of foreign branches is subject to only one exception from that of
branches in your own country. This is concerned with the fact that when the trial balance is
drawn up by the branch then this will be stated in a foreign currency. To amalgamate these
figures with your own country’s figures will mean that the foreign branch figures will have to be
translated into your currency.

There are rules for general guidance as to how this can be done. These are given in SSAP 20:
Foreign currency translation. These are the ones which will be shown. (Before you read further you
should check whether or not this topic is part of your examination requirements.) The equival-
ent international standard is discussed briefly in Section 1.16 below.

The amount of a particular currency which one can obtain for another currency is known as the
exchange rate. Taking an imaginary country with a currency called chips, there might be a gen-
eral agreement that the exchange rate should stay about 5 chips to equal £1. At certain times the
exchange rate will exactly equal that figure, but due to all sorts of economic reasons it may well be
5.02 chips to £1 on one day and 4.97 chips to £1 several days later. In addition, some years ago
there may have been an act of devaluation by one of the countries involved; the exchange rate
could then have been 3 chips to £1. To understand more about exchange rates and devaluation,
the reader is advised to consult a relevant economics textbook.

It is clear, however, that all items in the trial balance should not be converted to your cur-
rency on the basis of the exchange rate ruling at the date of the trial balance. The rules in SSAP
20 have been devised in an attempt to bring about conversion into your currency so as not to
distort reported trading results.

@ SSAP 20 conversion rules

1 (a) Fixed assets at the exchange rate ruling when the assets were bought — the temporal
method. If fixed assets have been bought on different dates, then different rates will have
to be used for each separate purchase.

(b) Depreciation on the fixed assets at the same rate as the fixed assets concerned.

2 Current assets and current liabilities — at the rate ruling at the date of the trial balance. This is
known as the closing method.

3 Opening stock in the trading account — at the rate ruling at the previous balance sheet date.

4 Goods sent by the head office to the branch, or returns from the branch - at the actual figures
shown in the Goods Sent to Branches Account in the head office books.

5 Trading and profit and loss account items, other than depreciation, opening and closing
stocks, or goods sent to or returned by the branch — at the average rate for the period covered
by the accounts.

6 The Head Office Current Account — at the same figures as shown in the Branch Current
Account in the head office books.

@ Conversion of trial balance figures

When the conversion of the figures into your currency is completed, the totals of the debit and
credit sides of your currency trial balance will not normally be equal to one another. This is due
to different exchange rates being taken for conversion purposes. A balancing figure will therefore
be needed to bring about the equality of the totals. For this purpose, a difference on exchange
account will be opened in which a debit entry will be made if the lesser total is on the debit side
of the trial balance. When the head office redrafts the profit and loss account any debit balance on

17
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the difference on exchange account should be transferred to it as an expense. A credit balance on
the difference on exchange account should be transferred to the credit of the profit and loss
account as a gain.

In consolidated accounts, special rules are applied for foreign exchange conversion.

Exhibit 1.8

An example of the conversion of a trial balance into UK currency is now shown. The branch is in
Flavia, and the unit of currency is the Flavian dollar. The exchange rates needed are:

(a) On 1 January 20X3, 10 dollars = £1

(b) On 1 January 20X5, 11 dollars = £1

(c) On 1January 20X8, 17 dollars = £1

(d) On 31 December 20X8, 15 dollars = £1

(e) If no further information were given the average rate for 20X8 would have to be taken as (c) +
(d) + 2, i.e. 16 dollars = £1. This is not an advisable procedure in practice; the fact that the aver-
age has been calculated from only two readings could mean that the average calculated might
be far different from a more accurate one calculated from a larger number of readings.

Trial Balance as at 31 December 20X8

Dr (F$) Cr(F$) Exchange rates Dr(£) Cr(f)
Fixed assets:
Bought 1 Jan 20X3 10,000 10=£1 1,000
Bought 1 Jan 20X5 8,800 11=£1 800
Stock 1 Jan 20X8 6,800 17 = £1 400
Expense accounts 8,000 16 =£1 500
Sales 32,000 16=£1 2,000
Goods from Head Office 21,900 f per account in
Head Office books 1,490
Head Office current account 43,000 f per account in
Head Office books 3,380
Debtors 9,000 15=£1 600
Creditors 4,500 15=£1 300
Bank 15,000 15=£1 1,000
79,500 79,500 5,790 5,68
Difference on exchange account 110
5,790 5,790

The value of the stock at 31 December 20X8 is 12,000 Flavian dollars. When the trading account is
drawn up, this is converted at F$15 = £1, i.e. £800.

IAS 21 (The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates)

Under IAS 21, at each balance sheet date:

® closing rate is used to translate foreign currency monetary items

® non-monetary items measured using historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the transaction date exchange rate

® other non-monetary items are translated using the exchange rate at the date their fair value
was determined

® exchange rate differences on the settlement of monetary items are generally recognised in
profit or loss
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when translating a foreign operation, assets and liabilities are translated at closing rate.
Income and expenses are translated at transaction date exchange rates. All resulting exchange
differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.

Learning outcomes

You should now have learnt:

1 There are two main methods used to record transactions of the branches of an
organisation:
(a) all accounting records are kept by the head office
(b) each branch has its own full accounting system.

2 When all sales are for cash a double column trading and profit and loss account
can be used in order to monitor any unexpected losses.

3 When some sales are on credit, either memoranda columns can be used in the
branch stock account in order to monitor stock or stock control can be integrated
into the double entry system.

4 Foreign branch figures need to be translated using the principles set down in
SSAP 20: Foreign currency translation or |IAS 21: The effects of changes in foreign
exchange rates.

Answers to activities

1.1 When a second branch or head office is also involved in receiving payments from debtors of
another branch, the focus of control shifts from being purely connected with one branch. More
sophisticated methods of recording the transaction data are therefore required.

1.2 They are merely a measure of the resources at the branch. The underlying assets and liabilities they
represent are already included in the balance sheet.

Review questions

1.1 D Little Ltd has a branch in Bath at which a full set of books is kept. At the end of the year
the following summary is compiled of the transactions between the branch and the head office as
recorded in the latter’s books:

f
Balance due from branch 1 April 60,480
Cash received from branch 90,000
Goods supplied to branch 69,480
Goods returned by branch 1,200
Expenses paid on behalf of branch 11,000

At 30 September the branch profit and loss account showed a net profit of £42,000 for the six
months.

(a) Show the above items as they would appear in the ledger of the head office.
(b) How can any resulting balance from these figures be proved, and what does it indicate?

1.2 squid Ltd, whose head office is in Aberdeen, operates a branch in Dundee. All goods are pur-
chased by head office and invoiced to and sold by the branch at cost plus 50 per cent.

19
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Other than a sales ledger kept in Dundee, all transactions are recorded in the books in Aberdeen.
The following particulars are given of the transactions at the branch during the year ended
30 June 20X6.

f
Stock on hand, 1 July 20X5, at invoice price 26,400
Debtors on 1 July 20X5 23,676
Stock on hand, 30 June 20X6, at invoice price 23,688
Goods sent from Aberdeen during the year at invoice price 148,800
Credit sales 126,000
Cash sales 14,400
Returns to head office at invoice price 6,000
Invoice value of goods stolen 3,600
Bad debts written off 888
Cash from debtors 134,400
Normal loss at invoice price due to wastage 600
Cash discount allowed to debtors 2,568

You are required to write up the branch stock account and branch total debtors account for the
year ended 30 June 20X6, as they would appear in the head office books, showing clearly any
abnormal wastage.

1.3 RST Limited is a family-controlled company which operates a chain of retail outlets specialising
in motor spares and accessories.

Branch stocks are purchased by a centralised purchasing function in order to obtain the best
terms from suppliers.

A 10 per cent handling charge is applied by head office to the cost of the purchases, and
branches are expected to add 25 per cent to the resulting figure to arrive at normal selling prices,
although branch managers are authorised to reduce normal prices in special situations. The effect
of such reductions must be notified to head office.

On 1 April 20X6, a new branch was established at Derham. The following details have been
recorded for the year ended 31 March 20X7:

£
Purchase cost to head office of stock transferred to Derham 82,400
Derham branch sales: cash 89,940
credit 1,870
Stocks transferred from Derham to other branches, at normal selling prices 3,300
Authorised reductions from normal selling prices during the year 2,250

All records in respect of branch activities are maintained at head office, and the branch profit
margin is dealt with through a branch stock adjustment account.

Required:
(a) Prepare:
(i) the branch stock account (maintained at branch selling prices);
(i) the branch stock adjustment account.
The book stock should be taken for this part of the question.
(b) List four of the possible reasons for the stock difference revealed when a physical stocktaking at
the Derham branch on 31 March 20X7 showed stock valued at selling prices amounting to £14,850.
(c) State which of the following is the figure to be included in RST Limited’s balance sheet at
31 March 20X7, for Derham branch stock:
(i) £11,138
(if) £11,880
(iii) £10,800
(iv) None of these

Justify your choice with appropriate calculations.

(Chartered Institute of Management Accountants)
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1.4A Paper Products has a head office in London and a branch in Bristol. The following informa-
tion has been extracted from the head office books of account as at 31 March 20X6:

Information relating to the branch

Balances Opening Closing
£000 £000

Branch bank account (positive balance) 3 12

Branch debtors 66 81

Branch stock (at transfer price) 75 90

Transactions during the year £000

Bad debts written off 15

Branch general expenses (paid from bank branch account) 42

Cash received from credit customers and banked 390

Cash sales banked 120

Cash transferred from branch to head office bank account 459

Credit sales 437

Discounts allowed to credit customers 9

Goods returned by credit customers 8

Goods returned from branch (at transfer price from head office) 30

Goods sent to branch (at transfer price from head office) 600

Information relating to head office

Balances Opening Closing
£000 £000

Stock 180 220

Transactions during the year £000

Bad debts written off 24

Cash sales 1,500

Credit sales 2,000

Discounts allowed to credit customers 29

General expenses 410

Goods returned by credit customers 40

Purchases 2,780

Additional information:

1 Most of the accounting records relating to the branch are kept by the head office in its own
books of account.

2 All purchases are made by the head office, and goods are invoiced to the branch at selling price,
that is, at cost price plus 50 per cent.

Required:
(a) Write up the following ledger accounts for the year to 31 March 20X6, being careful to bring
down any balances as at that date:
(/) branch stock account;
(ii) goods sent to branch account;
(iii) branch stock adjustment account;
(iv) branch debtors account; and
(v) branch bank account.
(b) Compile Paper Products’ trading, and profit and loss account for the year to 31 March 20X6.
(c) Examine briefly the merits and demerits of Paper Products’ method of branch bookkeeping
including comments on the significance of the ‘balancing figure’ in the branch stock account.

(Association of Accounting Technicians)

1.5 Packer and Stringer were in partnership as retail traders sharing profits and losses: Packer
three-quarters, Stringer one-quarter. The partners were credited annually with interest at the rate
of 6 per cent per annum on their fixed capitals; no interest was charged on their drawings.
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Stringer was responsible for the buying department of the business. Packer managed the head
office and Paper was employed as the branch manager. Packer and Paper were each entitled to a
commission of 10 per cent of the net profits (after charging such commission) of the shop managed
by him.

All goods were purchased by head office and goods sent to the branch were invoiced at cost.

The following was the trial balance as on 31 December 20X4.

Head Office Books Branch Books
Dr Cr Dr Cr
£ f f f
Drawings accounts and fixed capital accounts: Packer 2,500 14,000
Stringer 1,200 4,000

Furniture and fittings, at cost 1,500 1,100
Furniture and fittings, provision for

depreciation as at 31 December 20X3 500 350
Stock on 31 December 20X3 13,000 4,400
Purchases 37,000
Goods sent to branches 18,000 17,200
Sales 39,000 26,000
Provision for doubtful debts 600 200
Branch and head office current accounts 6,800 3,600
Salaries and wages 4,500 3,200
Paper, on account of commission 240
Carriage and travelling expenses 2,200 960
Administrative expenses 2,400
Trade and general expenses 3,200 1,800
Sundry debtors 7,000 3,000
Sundry creditors 5,800 400
Bank balances 600 1,350

81,900 81,900 31,900 31,900

You are given the following additional information:

(a) Stocks on 31 December 20X4 amounted to: head office £14,440, branch £6,570.

(b) Administrative expenses are to be apportioned between head office and the branch in proportion
to sales.

(c) Depreciation is to be provided on furniture and fittings at 10 per cent of cost.

(d) The provision for doubtful debts is to be increased by £50 in respect of head office debtors and
decreased by £20 in the case of those of the branch.

(e) On 31 December 20X4 cash amounting to £2,400, in transit from the branch to head office, had
been recorded in the branch books but not in those of head office; and on that date goods
invoiced at £800, in transit from head office to the branch, had been recorded in the head
office books but not in the branch books.

Any adjustments necessary are to be made in the head office books.

You are required to:

(a) prepare trading and profit and loss accounts and the appropriation account for the year ended
31 December 20X4, showing the net profit of the head office and branch respectively;

(b) prepare the balance sheet as on that date; and

(c) show the closing entries in the branch current accounts giving the make-up of the closing
balance.

Income tax is to be ignored.

(Institute of Chartered Accountants)
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1.6A LR, a trader, commenced business on 1 January 20X9, with a head office and one branch.
All goods were purchased by the head office and goods sent to the branch were invoiced at a
fixed selling price of 25 per cent above cost. All sales, both by the head office and the branch, were
made at the fixed selling price.
The following trial balance was extracted from the books at the head office at 31 December
20X09.

Trial Balance

f f
Capital 52,000
Drawings 1,740
Purchases 123,380
Sales 83,550
Goods sent to branch (at selling price) 56,250
Branch current account 24,550
Fixed assets 33,000
Debtors and creditors 7,980 11,060
General expenses 8,470
Balance at bank 3,740

202,860 202,860

No entries had been made in the head office books for cash in transit from the branch to head
office at 31 December 20X9, £1,000.

When the balances shown below were extracted from the branch books at 31 December 20X9,
no entries had been made in the books of the branch for goods in transit on that date from head
office to branch, £920 (selling price).

In addition to the balances which can be deduced from the information given above, the follow-
ing balances appeared in the branch books on 31 December 20X9.

£
Fixed assets 6,000
General expenses 6,070
Debtors 7,040
Creditors (excluding head office) 1,630
Sales 51,700
Balance at bank 1,520

When stock was taken on 31 December 20X9, it was found that there was no shortage at the head
office, but at the branch there were shortages amounting to £300, at selling price.

You are required to: prepare trading and profit and loss accounts (a) for head office and (b) for the
branch, as they would have appeared if goods sent to the branch had been invoiced at cost, and a
balance sheet of the whole business as on 31 December 20X9.

Head office and branch stocks are to be valued at cost.

Ignore depreciation of fixed assets.

(Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators)
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1.7 Nion is a retail stock outlet operating from a head office in London and a branch in
Brighton. The following trial balances have been extracted from the books of account as at
31 October 20X1.

Head Office Books Branch Books
Dr Cr Dr Cr
f f f £
Drawings 40,000
Fixed assets: at cost 350,000 100,000
accumulated depreciation

(at 1 November 20X0) 140,000 30,000
Stock (at 1 November 20X0) 8,000 20,000
Provision for unrealised profit 4,000
Purchases 914,000
Goods sent to branch at invoiced value 380,000 375,000
Sales 850,000 437,000
Provision for doubtful debts 9,000 2,500
Head office/branch current accounts 175,000 120,000
Distribution expenses 80,500 5,000
Administrative expenses 200,000 16,500
Trade debtors 60,000 60,000
Trade creditors 50,000
Cash and bank balances 15,500 13,000
Capital 410,000

£1,843,000 £1,843,000 £589,500 £589,500

Additional information:

1 All goods are purchased by the head office. Those goods sent to the branch are invoiced at cost
plus 25 per cent.

2 Stocks were valued at 31 October 20X1 as being at head office, £12,000; and at the branch,
£15,000 at their invoiced price.

3 Depreciation is to be provided for the year on the fixed assets at a rate of 10 per cent on the
historic cost.

4 The provision for doubtful debts is to be maintained at a rate of 5 per cent of outstanding trade
debtors as at the end of the financial year.

5 As at 31 October 20X1, there was £50,000 cash in transit from the branch to the head office;
this cash was received in London on 3 November 20X1. There was also £5,000 of goods in transit
at invoice price from the head office to the branch; the branch received these goods on
10 November 20X1.

Required:
Prepare in adjacent columns: (a) the head office, and (b) the branch trading and profit and loss
accounts for the year to 31 October 20X1; and a combined balance sheet for Nion as at that date.

Notes:
(i) a combined trading and profit and loss account is NOT required; and
(ii) separate balance sheets for the head office and the branch are also NOT required.

(Association of Accounting Technicians)
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1.8A Star Stores has its head office and main store in Crewe, and a branch store in Leek. All
goods are purchased by the head office. Goods are invoiced to the branch at cost price plus a profit
loading of 20 per cent. The following trial balances have been extracted from the books of account
of both the head office and the branch as at 31 December 20X9:

Head Office Books Branch Books
Dr Cr Dr Cr
£000 £000 £000 £000
Administrative expenses 380 30
Distribution costs 157 172
Capital (at 1 January 20X9) 550
Cash and bank 25 2
Creditors and accruals 176 20
Current accounts 255 180
Debtors and prepayments 130 76
Motor vehicles:
at cost 470 230
accumulated depreciation at 31 December 20X9 280 120
Plant and equipment:
at cost 250 80
accumulated depreciation at 31 December 20X9 120 30
Proprietor’s drawings during the year 64
Provision for unrealised profit on branch stocks
at 1 January 20X9 5
Purchases 880
Sales 1,200 570
Stocks at cost/invoiced amount at 1 January 20X9 80 30
Transfer of goods to the branch/from
the head office 360 300
£2,691 £2,691 £920 £920

Additional information:
1 The stocks in hand at 31 December 20X9 were estimated to be as follows:

£000
At head office (at cost) 100
At the branch (at invoiced price) 48

In addition, £60,000 of stocks at invoiced price had been despatched to the branch on
28 December 20X9. These goods had not been received by the branch until 5 January 20X0 and
so they had not been included in the branch books of account.

2 On 31 December 20X9, the branch had transferred £15,000 of cash to the head office bank, but
this was not received in Crewe until 2 January 20XO0.

Required:

(a) Prepare in adjacent columns and using the vertical format: (i) the head office, and (ii) the branch
trading and profit and loss accounts for the year to 31 December 20X9 (note: a combined profit
and loss account is NOT required); and

(b) Prepare in the vertical format, Star Stores’ balance sheet as at 31 December 20X9 (note: separate
balance sheets for the head office and the branch are NOT required).

(Association of Accounting Technicians)

25



Part 1 Special accounts

26

1.9 EG Company Limited, a manufacturing business, exports some of its products through an
overseas branch whose currency is ‘florins’, which carries out the final assembly operations before
selling the goods.

The trial balances of the head office and branch at 30 June 20X8 were:

Head Office Branch
f f ‘FI. ‘FI.
Freehold buildings at cost 14,000 63,000
Debtors/creditors 8,900 9,500 36,000 1,560
Sales 104,000 432,000
Authorised and issued capital 40,000
Components sent to branch 35,000
Head office/branch accounts 60,100 504,260
Branch cost of sales 360,000
Depreciation provision, machinery 1,500 56,700
Head office cost of sales
(including goods to branch) 59,000

Administration costs 15,200 18,000
Stock at 30 June 20X8 28,900 11,520
Profit and loss account 2,000
Machinery at cost 6,000 126,000
Remittances 28,000 272,000
Balance at bank 4,600 79,200
Selling and distribution costs 23,300 28,800

220,000 220,000 994,520 994,520

The following adjustments are to be made:

1 The cost of sales figures include a depreciation charge of 10 per cent per annum on cost for

machinery.

A provision of £300 for unrealised profit in branch stock is to be made.

3 On 26 June 20X8 the branch remitted 16,000 ‘Fl."; these were received by the head office on
4 July and realised £1,990.

4 During May a branch customer in error paid the head office for goods supplied. The amount due
was 320 ‘FI.” which realised £36. It has been correctly dealt with by head office but not yet
entered in the branch books.

5 A provision has to be made for a commission of 5 per cent of the net profit of the branch after
charging such commission, which is due to the branch manager.

N

The rates of exchange were:

At 1 July 20X7 10 ‘FL." = £1
At 30 June 20X8 8 'FI.' = £1
Average for the year 9 'FIl." = £1

On purchase of buildings and machinery 7 'FL." = £1

You are required to prepare, for internal use:

(a) detailed operating accounts for the year ended 30 June 20X8;

(b) combined head office and branch balance sheet as at 30 June 20X8;

(c) the branch account in the head office books, in both sterling and currency, the opening balance
on 1 July 20X7 being £25,136 (189,260 ‘FI.").

Taxation is to be ignored.

(Chartered Institute of Management Accountants)

1.10 OTL Ltd commenced business on 1 January 20X0. The head office is in London and there is a
branch in Highland. The currency unit of Highland is the crown.
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The following are the trial balances of the head office and the Highland branch as at
31 December 20XO0:

Head Office Highland Branch
£ £ Crowns Crowns
Branch account 65,280
Balances at bank 10,560 66,000
Creditors 21,120 92,400
Debtors 18,480 158,400
Fixed assets (purchased 1 January 20X0) 39,600 145,200
Head office account 316,800
Profit and loss account
(net profit for year) 52,800 79,200
Issued share capital 86,400
Stocks 26,400 118,800
160,320 160,320 488,400 488,400

The trial balance of the head office was prepared before any entries had been made in respect of
any profits or losses of the branch.

Remittances from head office to branch and from branch to head office were recorded in the
books at the actual amounts paid and received.

The rates of exchange were:

On 1 January 20X0 5 crowns = £1

Average rate for year 20X0 4.4 crowns = £1

On 31 December 20X0 4 crowns = £1
Required:

(@) The trial balance of the Highland branch as at 31 December 20X0, in sterling.

(b) The closing entries, as at 31 December 20X0, in the branch account in the books of the head office.
(c) A summary of the balance sheet of OTL Ltd as at 31 December 20X0.

Ignore depreciation of fixed assets.

Ignore taxation.

(Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators)

1.11A Home Ltd is incorporated in the UK and rents mobile homes to holidaymakers in this
country and in Carea. The company has a head office in London and a branch in Carea where the
local currency is ‘Mics’. The following balances are extracted from the books of the head office and
its ‘self-accounting’ branch at 31 December 20X4.

Head Office Branch
£ Mics
Debit balances
Fixed assets at cost 450,000 900,000
Debtors and cash 17,600 36,000
Operating costs 103,700 225,000
Branch current account 42,600
613,900 1,161,000
Credit balances
Share capital 200,000 -
Retained profit, 1 January 20X4 110,800 -
Sales revenue 186,300 480,000
Creditors 9,700 25,000
Head office current account - 420,000
Accumulated depreciation 107,100 236,000
613,900 1,161,000
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The following information is provided regarding exchange rates, some of which is relevant.
The fixed assets of the branch were acquired when there were 8 Mics to the £. Exchange rates
ruling during 20X4 were:

Mics to the £

1 January 6
Average 5
31 December 4

There are no cash or goods in transit between head office and branch at the year end.

Required:

The final accounts of Home Ltd for 20X4. The accounts should be expressed in £s sterling and, for
this purpose, the conversion of Mics should be made in accordance with the temporal method of
translation as specified in SSAP 20: Foreign currency translation.

(Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators)

You can find a range of additional self-test questions, as well as material to help you with
your studies, on the website that accompanies this book at www.pearsoned.co.uk/wood



Hire purchase accounts

Learning objectives

After you have studied this chapter, you should be able to:

® explain the term ‘hire purchase’

® explain what distinguishes hire purchase from outright purchase
® explain what distinguishes hire purchase from a lease

® record the entries relating to hire purchase transactions

Introduction

eeccccccccce

In this chapter you'll learn about the nature of hire purchase; of the difference to
the cost to the buyer of paying the same amount each period as compared with pay-
ing a variable amount linked to the outstanding amount owed; and the accounting
treatment and entries required when hire purchase transactions occur. You will
also be introduced to leases and to the differences between leases and hire pur-
chase agreements.

@ Nature of hire purchase

Hire purchase is a means of buying assets that avoids the need to pay in full either at the time
of purchase or very soon thereafter. The essential differences between a hire purchase and a
‘normal’ purchase are:

1 The asset does not belong to the purchaser when it is received from the supplier. Instead it
belongs to the supplier providing the hire purchase.

2 The purchaser will pay for the item by instalments over a period of time. This may be for as
long as two or three years, or even longer.

3 The cost to the buyer will be higher than it would have been had the item been paid for at the
time of purchase. The extra money paid is for interest.

4 The asset does not legally belong to the purchaser until two things happen:
(a) the final instalment is paid, and
(b) the purchaser agrees to a legal option to buy the asset.

If the purchasers want to, they could stop paying the instalments. They would then have to give the
asset back to the seller. They would not be able to get a refund of instalments already paid.

If the purchaser is unable to continue paying the instalments, the seller could normally repossess
the asset. The seller would keep all the instalments already paid.
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Why do you think organisations purchase assets on hire purchase?

Law of hire purchase

The Hire Purchase Act 1964 governs all hire purchase transactions in the UK.

Interest payable on hire purchase

Each payment made on a hire purchase contract consists of two things:

1 Capital. Paying off some of the amount owing for the cash price of the asset;
2 Interest. Paying off some of the interest that has accrued since the last instalment was paid.

The total payment (1) + (2) made for each instalment may be the same, or may differ. Normally,
however, the same amount in total is paid each time an instalment is due.

Exhibit 2.1 Unequal instalments

1 A computer is bought from A King at the start of year 1. Cash price is £2,000.

2 Hire purchase price is £2,300.

3 Payable in two annual instalments at the end of each year. Each instalment to be £1,000 plus
interest accrued for that year.

4 Rate of interest is 10 per cent per annum.

f

Year 1: Cash price (A) 2,000
Add Interest 10% of (A) £2,000 200

2,200

Less Instalment paid (1,200)

Owing at end of year 1 (B) 1,000

Year 2: Add Interest 10% of (B) £1,000 _100
1,100

Less Instalment paid (1,100)

Owing at end of year 2 -

Exhibit 2.2 Equal instalments

The facts are the same as in Exhibit 2.1, except that each instalment is £1,152. (Each figure of interest
is rounded down to the nearest £.)

f

Year 1: Cash price (A) 2,000
Add Interest 10% of (A) £2,000 200

2,200

Less Instalment paid (1,152)

Owing at end of year 1 (B) 1,048

Year 2: Add Interest 10% of (B) £1,048 104
1,152

Less Instalment paid (1,152)

Owing at end of year 2 -

Note: The interest for year 1 is the same for both equal and unequal instalments, as the whole of
the cash price is owed in both cases for a full year.
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Why is the amount paid in Year 2 in Exhibit 2.2 different from the amount paid
in Year 2 in Exhibit 2.1?

@ Accounting for hire purchase

Accounting treats assets bought on hire purchase as though they belonged immediately to the
purchaser.

This is because businesses normally buy assets on hire purchase with the intention of paying all
the instalments, so that the asset finally will belong to them. As they mean to keep the asset and
legally own it on the final payment, accounting enters it as though legal ownership occurred on
purchase.

This is an illustration of the use of the ‘substance over form’ concept. Legally the firm does not
yet own the asset (form) yet it does own it from an economic perspective (substance).

The total purchase price is split into two parts for the financial statements:

1 Cash price. This is the amount to be debited to the fixed asset account.
2 Interest. This is an expense of borrowing money and needs charging to an expense account,
i.e. hire purchase interest account.

As interest accrues over time, each period should be charged only with the interest accrued for
that period. This is shown in Exhibit 2.3.

Exhibit 2.3
How treated in accounts
IYn:aerre;st ———————> Expense in year 1
TOTAL
HIRE Interest .
————————> Expense in year 2
PURCHASE Year 2 & U
PRICE
. Entered in fixed asset account
Cash price on purchase date in year 1

@ Illustrations of purchaser’s accounts

The double entry needed is:

(A) Cash price:
(B) Hire purchase interest (for each
period’s interest):

(C) Hire purchase instalments:

(D) Charge interest to profit and loss:

Debit fixed asset
Credit supplier
Debit hire purchase interest
Credit supplier
Debit supplier
Credit cash book
Debit profit and loss
Credit hire purchase interest

31



Part 1 ® Special accounts

32

We can now look at the ledger accounts which would have been used to enter the facts as in
Exhibit 2.1. (For simplicity, depreciation has been omitted from the example.) Letters entered
against the entries refer to the double entries given above.

Computer
£

Year 1

Jan 1 AKing (A) 2,000

Hire Purchase Interest

£ £
Year 1 Year 1
Dec 31 AKing (B) 200 Dec 31 Profit and loss (D) 200
Year 2 - Year 2 -
Dec 31 AKing (B) 100 Dec 31 Profit and loss (D) 100
A King
£
Year 1 Year 1
Dec 31 Bank Q) 1,200 Jan 1 Computer (A) 2,000
Dec 31 Balance c/d 1,000 Dec 31 HPinterest (B) 200
2,200 2,200
Year 2 Year 2
Dec 31 Bank Q) 1,100 Jan 1 Balance b/d 1,000
Dec 31 HP interest (B) 100
1,100 1,100
Cash Book
f
Year 1
Dec 31 AKing (@] 1,200
Year 2
Dec 31 AKing © 1,100

Profit and Loss Account (Extracts)

Year 1 Hire purchase interest
Year 2 Hire purchase interest

£
(D) 200
(D) 100

Depreciation and assets bought on hire purchase

Depreciation is based on the cash price. Hire purchase interest is an expense in the profit and loss
account and so does not enter depreciation calculations.

Balance sheets and assets bought on hire purchase

In the balance sheet for a sole trader or partnership, fixed assets being bought on hire purchase

can be shown as follows:
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Fixed assets f £
Machinery at cost™ 20,000
Less Owing on hire purchase® 6,000
Depreciation to date 10,000
(16,000)
4,000
Notes

(1) This is the cash price of the machinery.
(2) This is the amount of the original cash price still unpaid.

In Exhibit 2.1 above, if the computer had been depreciated using the straight line method at
25 per cent, the balance sheet entries would have been:

Balance Sheet (end of year 1)

Fixed assets £ £
Computer at cost 2,000
Less Owing on hire purchase* 1,000
Depreciation to date 500
(1,500)
500

*This is the balance of A King’s account and does not include interest.

Balance Sheet (end of year 2)

Fixed assets f f

Computer at cost 2,000

Less Depreciation to date (1,000)
1,000

Note: At the end of year 2 there was nothing owing to A King for hire purchase.

However, in company balance sheets this is not allowed. The Companies Acts do not permit
an amount owing on a hire purchase contract to be deducted from the value of the asset in the
balance sheet.

In a company’s balance sheet, the entries relating to Exhibit 2.1 would be:

Balance Sheet (end of year 1)

Fixed assets £ £

Computer at cost 2,000

Less Depreciation to date (_500)
1,500

Liabilities

Creditors (Owing on hire purchase)* 1,000

*This is the balance of A King’s account and does not include interest.

Balance Sheet (end of year 2)

Fixed assets £

Computer at cost 2,000

Less Depreciation to date (1,000)
1,000
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@ A fully worked example

Exhibit 2.4 illustrates hire purchase more fully. It covers three years of hire purchase and shows
the balance sheet figures that would appear if sole traders and partnerships adopted the first
approach shown in Section 2.7.

Exhibit 2.4

1 A machine is bought by K Thomas for £3,618, hire purchase price, from Suppliers Ltd on

1 January 20X3.

2 It is paid by 3 instalments of £1,206 on 31 December of 20X3, 20X4 and 20X5.

3 The cash price is £3,000.

4 Rate of interest is 10 per cent.
5 Straight line depreciation of 20 per cent per annum is to be provided.

Note: The letters (A) to (F) refer to the description of entries following the account.

Machinery
20X3 £
Jan 1 Suppliers Ltd (A) 3,000
Suppliers Ltd
20X3 £ 20X3 f
Dec 31 Bank (B) 1,206 Jan 1 Machinery (A) 3,000
Dec 31 Balance c/d (D) 2,094 Dec 31 HPinterest (@) 300
3,300 3,300
20X4 20X4
Dec 31 Bank (B) 1,206 Jan 1 Balance b/d (D) 2,094
Dec 31 Balance c/d (D) 1,097 Dec 31 HPinterest (@) 209
2,303 2,303
20X5 20X5
Dec 31 Bank (B) 1,206 Jan 1 Balance b/d (D) 1,097
Dec 31 HPinterest (@) 109
1,206 1,206
Hire Purchase Interest
20X3 £ 20X3 £
Dec 31 Suppliers Ltd (@] 300 Dec 31 Profit and loss (E) 300
20X4 T 20X4 o
Dec 31 Suppliers Ltd © 209 Dec 31 Profit and loss (E) 209
20X5 T 20X5 T
Dec 31 Suppliers Ltd (@] 109 Dec 31 Profit and loss (E) 109
Provision for Depreciation: Machinery
20X3 £
Dec 31 Profit and loss (F) 600
20X4
Dec 31 Profit and loss (F) 600
20X5
Dec 31 Profit and loss (F) 600
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Balance Sheets as at 31 December

f f f
20X3 Machinery (at cost) 3,000
Less Depreciation 600
Owing on hire purchase agreement 2,094
(2,694)
306
20X4 Machinery (at cost) 3,000
Less Depreciation to date 1,200
Owing on hire purchase agreement 1,097
(2.297)
703
20X5 Machinery (at cost) 3,000
Less Depreciation to date (1,800)
1,200

Description of entries:

(A) When the asset is acquired the cash price is debited to the asset account and the credit is in the
supplier’s account.

(B) The instalments paid are credited to the bank account and debited to the supplier’s account.

(C) The interest is credited to the supplier’s account for each period as it accrues, and it is debited
to the expense account, later to be transferred to the profit and loss account for the period (E).

(D) The balance carried down each year is the amount of the cash price still owing.

(F) Depreciation provisions are calculated on the full cash price, as the depreciation of an asset is
in no way affected by whether or not it has been fully paid for.

The balance sheet consists of balance (A), the cash price, less balance (F), the amount of the cash
price apportioned as depreciation. Balance (D), the amount of the cash price still owing at each
balance sheet date, is shown separately under creditors.

The seller’s books: apportionment of profits

There are many ways of drawing up the final accounts of a business which sells goods on hire
purchase. The method used should be the one most suitable for the business.
The total profit for the seller of goods on hire purchase breaks down as follows:

f
Profit on item sold: Cash price /ess cost XXX
Profit made because of interest charged XXX

XXX

In Exhibit 2.4, Suppliers Ltd sold a machine to K Thomas. Assume that the machine had cost
Suppliers Ltd £2,100. The total profit upon the final instalment being paid is:

£ f

Profit on sale of machine: Cash price 3,000
Cost (2,100)

900
Profit earned by charging interest: 20X3 300
20X4 209
20X5 109

618

Total profit over 3 years 1,518
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Apportionment of profit on sale

........................................................

There are two main methods of dealing with the problem of how to split the £900 profit on sale
of the machine:

1 It is considered profit in the period in which it was first sold to the purchaser. In this case the
£900 would all be shown as profit for 20X3.

2 The profit is divided among the three years.

The ratio is calculated as follows:

Cash received in period « Profit

Total cash to be received

In this case the profits will be shown as:

_£1,206 x £900 = /3 x £900 = £300
£1,206 % 3
_£1,206 x £900 = /3 x £900 = £300
£1,206 x 3
& x £900 = /3 x £900 = £300
£1,206 x 3

Total profit on sale for three years £900

This case shows equal profits because equal instalments were paid each year. Unequal payments
would result in unequal profits.

Apportionment of interest to profit and loss account

The interest accrued for each period should be taken into profit calculations. As the amount
owed reduces, so does the interest:

f
Year 20X3 300
Year 20X4 209
Year 20X5 109
Total interest for the three years 618

The seller’s books: accounts needed

We can now look at Exhibit 2.5 taking the details from Exhibit 2.4 as it would appear in the
seller’s books. Items (A) to (C) have already been shown in Exhibit 2.4.

Exhibit 2.5

(A) The machine was sold on 1 January 20X3 to K Thomas on hire purchase terms. Cash price was
£3,000 plus hire purchase interest.

(B) Hire purchase interest was at a rate of 10 per cent.

(C) There are to be three instalments of £1,206 each, receivable on 31 December of 20X3, 20X4
and 20X5. These were paid by K Thomas on the correct dates.

(D) This was the only hire purchase sale during the three years.

(E) The profit on the cash price is to be shown as profits for 20X3, the year in which the sale was made.

(F) The cost of the machine to Suppliers Ltd was £2,100.
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Hire Purchase Sales

20X3 £ 20X3 f
Dec 31 Trading 3,000 Jan 1 K Thomas (A) 3,000
K Thomas
20X3 £ 20X3 f
Jan 1 Sales (A) 3,000 Dec 31 Bank (@) 1,206
Dec 31 HPinterest (B) 300 Dec 31 Balance c/d ,094

3,300 3,300
20X4 20X4
Jan 1 Balance b/d 2,094 Dec 31 Bank (@) ,206
Dec 31 HPinterest (B) 209 Dec 31 Balance c/d ,097
2,303 2,303
20X5 20X5
Jan 1 Balance b/d 1,097 Dec 31 Bank (@) 1,206
Dec 31 HPinterest (B) 109
1,206 1,206
Hire Purchase Interest
20X3 3 20X3 3
Dec 31 Trading 300 Dec 31 K Thomas (B) 300
20X4 20X4
Dec 31 Trading 209 Dec 31 KThomas (B) 209
20X5 o 20X5 o
Dec 31 Trading 109 Dec 31 K Thomas (B) 109
Cost of Hire Purchase Goods
20X3 72 20X3 3
Jan 1 Bank (F) 2,100 Dec 31 Trading 2,100
Cash Book
20X3 72 20X3 3
Dec 31 KThomas (@) 1,206 Jan 1 Hire purchase goods (F) 2,100
20X4
Dec 31 K Thomas (© 1,206
20X5
Dec 31 KThomas Q) 1,206
Trading Accounts
Year ended 31 December 20X3
£ £
Cost of goods sold 2,100 Hire purchase sales 3,000
Hire purchase interest 300
Year ended 31 December 20X4
f
Hire purchase interest 209
Year ended 31 December 20X5
£
Hire purchase interest 109
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In Exhibit 2.5 all the profit was taken as being earned in 20X3. If we decided to take the
profit as being earned when the instalments are received, then the only account which would be
altered would be the trading account. All the other accounts would be exactly the same as in

Exhibit 2.5.

The amendments needed are shown as Exhibit 2.6.

Exhibit 2.6

Trading Accounts

Year ended 31 December 20X3

£ £
Cost of goods sold 2,100 Hire purchase sales 3,000
Hire purchase profit suspense Hire purchase interest 300
profit not yet earned (GQ) 600
Year ended 31 December 20X4
£
Hire purchase profit suspense
profit for 20X4 (H) 300
Hire purchase interest 209
Year ended 31 December 20X5
£
Hire purchase profit suspense
profit for 20X5 (H) 300
Hire purchase interest 109
Hire Purchase Profit Suspense
20X3 f 20X3 £
Dec 31 Trading (H) 300 Dec 31 Trading (Q) 600
Dec 31 Balance c/d 300 -
600 600
20X5 T 20X5 T
Dec 31 Trading (H) 300 Jan 1 Balance b/d 300

The double entry needed was:

(G) In year of sale:

Debit trading account with profits carried to future years

Credit hire purchase profit suspense

(H) In following years:

The entries for hire purchase interest have not changed.

Repossessions

Debit hire purchase profit suspense with profits earned in each year
Credit trading account

When customers stop paying their instalments before they should do, the goods can be taken
away from them. This is called repossession. The amounts already paid by the customers will be

kept by the seller.

The repossessed items should be entered in the books of the seller, as they are now part of his
stock, but they will not be valued as new stock. The items must be valued as used goods.
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Exhibit 2.7 shows how the accounts must be changed.

On 1 January 20X4 we buy 135 electronic agendas for £300 each.

On 1 January 20X4 we sell 12 of them for a cash price of £480 plus £120 interest to be paid =
£600 total.

24 monthly instalments are to be paid of £25 each = £600.

Because of the difficulties of apportioning interest, each instalment is taken to include £5
interest, i.e. 24 X £5 = £120 interest.

On 1 November 20X4, after 10 instalments have been received, a customer who bought 2 of
the agendas cannot pay any more instalments. Both of them are returned by him. We do not
have to repay the instalments paid by him.

The 2 agendas returned are valued at £140 each. Also in stock on 31 December 20X4 are 3 of
the agendas bought on 1 January 20X4 for £300 each and still valued at that.

7 Profit is to be calculated based on the number of instalments paid.
Exhibit 2.7
Trading Account for the year ended 31 December 20X4
f f
Purchases (a) 4,500 Sales at cash price (b) 4,800
Less Stock (e) (1,180) Hire purchase interest (o) 600
Cost of goods sold 3,320 Instalments received
on repossessions (d) 500
Provision for unrealised
profit (f) 900
Gross profit (9) 1,680
5,900 5,900

Notes

Calculations are made as follows:

(a) 15 x £300 each = £4,500.

(b) 10 were sold (and not returned) at cash price of £480 each.

(c) Interest on 10 sold (and not returned) x £5 x 12 months = £600.

(d) 10 instalments paid (including interest) on 2 agendas = 10 x £25 x 2 = £500.

f
(e) Stock = new items 3 x £300 = 900
repossessed items 2 x £140 = 280
1,180
£
(f) Profit per agenda = cash price £480 — cost £300 = 180
To be paid: 12 instalments out of 24 = '/> profit = 90
Number sold and not returned, 10 x £90 = 900
(g9) Gross profit can be checked:
Earned to date 10 x £90 = 900
Interest earned to date £5 x 10 x 12 months = 600
Profit on repossessions: f
Instalments received 500
Loss of value on repossessions £
Cost 2 x £300 600
Value taken back (280) = (320)
180
1,680
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In August 1984, when SSAP 21 was issued, the reason for its introduction was described as
follows.

Leasing and hire purchase contracts are means by which companies acquire the right to use
(lease) or purchase (hire purchase) fixed assets. In the UK there is normally no provision in a
lease contract for legal title to the leased asset to pass to the lessee during the term of a lease. In
contrast, under a hire purchase contract the hirer may acquire legal title by exercising an option to
purchase the asset upon fulfilment of certain conditions (normally the payment of an agreed
number of instalments).

Lessors fall into three broad categories: (i) companies, including banks and finance houses,
which provide finance under lease contracts to enable a single customer to acquire the use of an
asset for the greater part of its useful life; (ii) they may operate a business which involves
the renting out of assets for varying periods of time probably to more than one customer; or,
(iii) they may be manufacturer or dealer lessors who use leasing as a means of marketing their
products, which may involve leasing a product to one customer or to several customers.

As a lessor and lessee are both parties to the same transaction it is appropriate that the same
definitions should be used and the accounting treatment recommended should ideally be com-
plementary. However, because the pattern of cash flows and the taxation consequences will be
different, this will not mean that the recorded balances in both sets of financial statements will
be the same.

There are two types of leases: finance leases and operating leases. The distinction between
a finance lease and an operating lease will usually be evident from the contract between the
lessor and the lessee. A finance lease usually involves repayment to a lessor by a lessee of the full
cost of the asset together with a return on the finance provided by the lessor. As such, a lease of
this type is normally non-cancellable or cancellable only under certain conditions, and the lessee
enjoys substantially all the risks and rewards associated with the ownership of an asset, other
than the legal title. (This is very similar to a hire purchase contract.)

An operating lease involves the lessee paying a rental for the hire of an asset for a period of
time which is normally substantially less than its useful economic life. The lessor retains the risks
and rewards of ownership of an asset in an operating lease and normally assumes responsibility
for repairs, maintenance and insurance.

SSAP 21 requires that a finance lease should be accounted for by the lessee as if it were the
purchase of the proprietory rights in an asset with simultaneous recognition of the obligation to
make future payments, in the same way that a hire purchase is normally accounted for. Under an
operating lease, only the rental will be taken into account by the lessee. The asset involved does
not appear in the balance sheet of the operating lease lessee. The standard recognises that the
substance of a transaction rather than its legal form should govern the accounting treatment.

The international standard on this topic, IAS 17 (Leases) has virtually the same requirements
as SSAP 20.
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Learning outcomes

You should now have learnt:

1 Hire purchase is a means of buying assets where:
(a) the asset does not belong to the purchaser until the final instalment is paid
and the purchaser agrees to a legal option to buy the asset; but
(b) for accounting purposes, the asset is treated immediately as if it belonged
to the purchaser.

2 Each payment made on a hire purchase contract is part interest and part
payment of the cash price of the asset.

3 How to record the various entries relating to hire purchase.

4 How to treat hire purchase transactions in the trading and profit and loss
account and balance sheet.

5 The difference between hire purchase and leasing.
6 The difference between a finance lease and an operating lease.

Answers to activities

2.1 An organisation may have a shortage of cash, or may prefer to use its cash for other purposes.
It may not wish to keep the asset permanently and may buy it on hire purchase so that after a
couple of years it can stop paying the instalments. Sometimes, hire purchase is offered at zero
interest so it is actually cheaper to purchase an item on hire purchase (because interest can be
earned by the buyer on the amount not yet paid).

2.2 Because £48 less was paid in Exhibit 2.2 at the end of Year 1. Interest was charged at 10% on
that £48, resulting in an additional £4 having to be paid in Year 2 as well as the £48 that was not
paid in Year 1. Overall, this meant that the Year 2 payment in Exhibit 2.2 was £52 greater than in
Exhibit 2.1. However, over the two years, the difference in cost to the buyer was the £4 interest
that arose as a result of the first-year payment having been slightly lower in Exhibit 2.2.

Review questions

2.1 A printing company purchased a machine on hire purchase over a period of three years, pay-
ing £1,308 on 1 January 20X6, and further annual payments of £4,000 due on 31 December 20X6,
20X7 and 20X8.

The cash price of the machine was £12,000, the vendor company charging interest at 6 per cent
per annum on outstanding balances.

Show the appropriate ledger accounts in the purchaser’s books for the three years and how the
items would appear in the balance sheet at 31 December 20X6; depreciation at 20 per cent per
annum straight-line is to be charged and interest calculated to the nearest £.

2.2A On 1 January 20X5 P Wriggle bought a computer (cash price £1,046) from Dowe Ltd on the
following hire purchase terms. Wriggle was to make an immediate payment of £300 and three
annual payments of £300 on 31 December in each year. The rate of interest chargeable is 10 per
cent per annum on the balance at the start of the year.
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P Wriggle depreciates this computer by 40 per cent reducing balance each year.

(a) Make the entries relating to this computer in Wriggle's ledger for the years 20X5, 20X6 and
20X7. (All calculations are to be made to the nearest £.)
(b) Show how the item ‘computer’ would appear in the balance sheet as at 31 December 20X5.

2.3 Bulwell Aggregates Ltd wish to expand their transport fleet and have purchased three heavy
lorries with a list price of £18,000 each. Robert Bulwell has negotiated hire purchase finance to
fund this expansion, and the company has entered into a hire purchase agreement with Granby
Garages plc on 1 January 20X 1. The agreement states that Bulwell Aggregates will pay a deposit of
£9,000 on 1 January 20X1, and two annual instalments of £24,000 on 31 December 20X1, 20X2 and
a final instalment of £20,391 on 31 December 20X3.

Interest is to be calculated at 25 per cent on the balance outstanding on 1 January each year
and paid on 31 December each year.

The depreciation policy of Bulwell Aggregates Ltd is to write off the vehicles over a four-year
period using the straight line method and assuming a scrap value of £1,333 for each vehicle at the
end of its useful life.

The cost of the vehicles to Granby Garages is £14,400 each.

Required:

(@) Account for the above transactions in the books of Bulwell Aggregates Ltd, showing the
entries in the profit and loss account and balance sheet for the years 20X1, 20X2, 20X3 and
20XA4.

(b) Account for the above transactions in the books of Granby Garages plc, showing the entries in
the hire purchase trading account for the years 20X1, 20X2, 20X3. This is the only hire purchase
transaction undertaken by this company.

Calculations to the nearest £.

(Association of Accounting Technicians)

2.4A D Lane purchased two cars for his business under hire purchase agreements:

Registration number DL 1 DL 2
Date of purchase 31 July 20X2 30 November 20X2
Cash price £27,000 £36,000
Deposit £4,680 £7,200
Interest (deemed to accrue evenly

over the period of the agreement) £2,880 £3,600

Both agreements provided for payment to be made in 24 monthly instalments commencing on the
last day of the month following purchase.

On 1 September 20X3, vehicle DL 1 was involved in a crash and was declared a write-off. In full
settlement on 20 September 20X3:

(a) the motor insurers paid out £18,750, and
(b) the hire purchase company accepted £10,700 for the termination of the agreement.

The firm prepares its financial statements to 31 December and provides depreciation on a
straight line basis at a rate of 25 per cent per annum for motor vehicles, apportioned as from the
date of purchase and up to the date of disposal.

All instalments were paid on the due dates.

The remaining balance on the hire purchase company account in respect of vehicle DL 1 is to be
written off.

Required:
Record these transactions in the following accounts, carrying down the balances as on
31 December 20X2 and 31 December 20X3:
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(a) Motor vehicles

(b) Depreciation

(c) Hire purchase company
(d) Assets disposal.

2.5 On 31 March 20X4, D Biggs, who prepares his financial statements to 31 March, bought a
lorry on hire purchase from Truck Fleet Ltd. The cash price of the lorry was £61,620. Under the
terms of the hire purchase agreement, Biggs paid a deposit of £20,000 on 31 March 20X4, and two
instalments of £23,981 on 31 March 20X5 and 20X6. The hire vendor charged interest at 10 per
cent per annum on the balance outstanding on 1 April each year. All payments were made on the
due dates.

Biggs maintained the motor lorry account at cost and accumulated the annual provision for
depreciation, at 40 per cent on the reducing balance method, in a separate account. A full year’s
depreciation is charged in the year of purchase, irrespective of the date acquired.

Required:
(a) Prepare the following accounts as they would appear in the ledger of D Biggs for the period of
the contract:
(/) Truck Fleet Ltd
(i) Motor lorry on hire purchase
(iii) Provision for depreciation of motor lorry
(iv) Hire purchase interest payable
(b) Show how the above matters would appear in the balance sheet of D Biggs at 31 March 20X5.

Truck Fleet Ltd prepares its financial statements to 31 March, on which date it charges D Biggs
with the interest due.
Make calculations to the nearest £.

2.6 ) Wild started business on 1 April 20X2 selling one model of digital cameras on hire purchase.
During the year to 31 March 20X3 he purchased 2,000 cameras at a uniform price of £90 and sold
1,900 cameras at a total selling price under hire purchase agreements of £150 per camera, payable
by an initial deposit of £45 and 10 quarterly instalments of £10.50p.

The following trial balance was extracted from Wild’s books as at 31 March 20X3.

£ £
Capital 136,026
Drawings 40,000
Fixed assets 9,500
Purchases 180,000
Cash collected from customers 125,400
Rent, business rates and insurance 5,000
Wages 27,000
General expenses 5,100
Balance at bank 7,246
Sundry trade creditors 12,600
274,026 274,026

The personal accounts of customers are memorandum records (i.e. they are not part of the double
entry system).

Wild prepares his financial statements on the basis of taking credit for profit (including interest)
in proportion to cash collected from customers.

Prepare Wild’s hire purchase trading account and a profit and loss account for the year ended
31 March 20X3 and a balance sheet as at that date.

Ignore depreciation of fixed assets.
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2.7 RJcommenced business on 1 January 20X8. He sells refrigerators, all of one standard type, on
hire purchase terms. The total amount, including interest, payable for each refrigerator, is £300.
Customers are required to pay an initial deposit of £60, followed by eight quarterly instalments of
£30 each. The cost of each refrigerator to RJ is £200.

The following trial balance was extracted from RJ’s books as on 31 December 20X8.

Trial Balance

f f

Capital 100,000
Fixed assets 10,000
Drawings 4,000
Bank overdraft 19,600
Creditors 16,600
Purchases 180,000
Cash collected from customers 76,500
Bank interest 400
Wages and salaries 12,800
General expenses 5,500

£212,700 £212,700

850 machines were sold on hire purchase terms during 20X8.
The annual accounts are prepared on the basis of taking credit for profit (including interest) in
proportion to the cash collected from customers.

You are required to prepare the hire purchase trading account, and the profit and loss account for
the year 20X8 and balance sheet as on 31 December 20X8.

Ignore depreciation of fixed assets.

Show your calculations.

(Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators)
2.8A Object Limited is a retail outlet selling word processing equipment both for cash and on

hire purchase terms. The following information has been extracted from the books of account as at
31 August 20X6:

Dr Cr
£ £
Authorised, issued and fully paid share capital
(ordinary shares of £1 each) 75,000
Administration and shop expenses 130,000
Cash at bank and in hand 6,208
Cash received from hire purchase customers 315,468
Cash sales 71,000
Depreciation of premises and equipment (at 1 September 20X5) 45,000
Hire purchase debtors (at 1 September 20X5) 2,268
Premises and equipment at cost 100,000
Profit and loss account (at 1 September 20X5) 8,000
Provision for unrealised profit (at 1 September 20X5) 1,008
Purchases 342,000
Stock (at 1 September 20X5) 15,000
Trade creditors 80,000
£595,476 £595,476

Additional information:

1 The company’s policy is to take credit for gross profit (including interest) for hire purchase sales
in proportion to the instalments collected. It does this by raising a provision against the profit
included in hire purchase debtors not yet due.
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2 The cash selling price is fixed at 50 per cent and the hire purchase selling price at 80 per cent
respectively above the cost of goods purchased.

3 The hire purchase contract requires an initial deposit of 20 per cent of the hire purchase selling
price, the balance to be paid in four equal instalments at quarterly intervals. The first instalment
is due three months after the agreement is signed.

4 Hire purchase sales for the year amounted to £540,000 (including interest).

5 In February 20X6 the company repossessed some goods which had been sold earlier in the year.
These goods had been purchased for £3,000, and the unpaid instalments on them amounted
to £3,240. They were then taken back into stock at a value of £2,500. Later on in the year they
were sold on cash terms for £3,500.

6 Depreciation is charged on premises and equipment at a rate of 15 per cent per annum on cost.

Required:
Prepare Object Limited's trading, and profit and loss account for the year to 31 August 20X6, and a
balance sheet as at that date.

Your workings should be submitted.

(Association of Accounting Technicians)

2.9A On 1 January 20X6, F Limited commenced business selling goods on hire purchase. Under
the terms of the agreements, an initial deposit of 20 per cent is payable on delivery, followed by
four equal quarterly instalments, the first being due three months after the date of sale. During
the year sales were made as follows:

Cost price HP sales price

£ f
10 January 150 225
8 March 350 525
12 May 90 135
6 July 200 300
20 September 70 105
15 October 190 285
21 November 160 240

The goods sold in July were returned in September and eventually sold in November for £187 cash.
All other instalments are paid on the due dates.

It may be assumed that:

(a) gross profit and interest are credited to profit and loss account in the proportion that deposits
and instalments received bear to hire purchase price; or
(b) the cost is deemed to be paid in full before any credit is taken for gross profit and interest.

You are to prepare for the first year of trading, a hire purchase trading account compiled firstly on
assumption (a) and secondly on assumption (b) and give the relevant balance sheet entries under
each assumption.

Workings should be clearly shown.

(Chartered Institute of Management Accountants)

2.10A 0On 1 January 20X7, Carver bought a machine costing £20,000 on hire purchase. He paid a
deposit of £6,000 on 1 January 20X7 and he also agreed to pay two annual instalments of £5,828
on 31 December in each year, and a final instalment of £5,831 on 31 December 20X9.

The implied rate of interest in the agreement was 12 per cent. This rate of interest is to be
applied to the amount outstanding in the hire purchase loan account as at the beginning of the
year.

The machine is to be depreciated on a straight line basis over five years on the assumption that
the machine will have no residual value at the end of that time.
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Required:
(a) Write up the following accounts for each of the three years to 31 December 20X7, 20X8 and
20X9 respectively:
(/) machine account;
(ii) accumulated depreciation on machine account; and
(iii) hire purchase loan account; and
(b) Show the balance sheet extracts for the year as at 31 December 20X7, 20X8 and 20X9 respectively
for the following items:
(i) machine at cost;
(i) accumulated depreciation on the machine;
(iii) long-term liabilities: obligations under hire purchase contract; and
(iv) current liabilities: obligations under hire purchase contract.

(Association of Accounting Technicians)

2.11 Dundas Limited purchased a machine under a hire purchase agreement on 1 January 20X8.
The agreement provided for an immediate payment of £2,000, followed by five equal instalments
of £3,056, each instalment to be paid on 30 June and 31 December respectively.

The cash price of the machine was £10,000. Dundas estimated that it would have a useful economic
life of five years, and its residual value would then be £1,000.

In apportioning interest to respective accounting periods, the company uses the ‘sum of
digits™°** method.

Required:

(a) Write up the following ledger accounts for each of the three years to 31 December 20X8, 20X9
and 20XO0 respectively:
(/) machine hire purchase loan account; and
(ii) machine hire purchase interest account; and

(b) Show the following balance sheet extracts relating to the machine as at 31 December 20X8,
20X9 and 20XO0 respectively:
(i) fixed assets: machine at net book value;
(i) creditors: amounts payable within one year - obligation under hire purchase contract; and
(iii) creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year — obligation under hire purchase

contract.

Authors’ note — Sum of digits

This is very similar to the ‘rule of 78’, explained in Section 45.12. It is explained in detail in Sec-
tion 37.15 of the tenth edition of Business Accounting 1. In brief, if a machine is expected to last
4 years, you write off the cost by weighting year 1 as 4, year 2 as 3, year 3 as 2 and year 4 as 1.
The total of these weights is used as the denominator. Thus, year 1 depreciation would be 4/10
of the amount to be written off; year 2 would be 3/10, year 3 would be 2/10 and year 4 would
be 1/10.

(Association of Accounting Technicians)

You can find a range of additional self-test questions, as well as material to help you with
your studies, on the website that accompanies this book at www.pearsoned.co.uk/wood
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Limited companies:
general background

Learning objectives

After you have studied this chapter, you should be able to:

® explain the legal nature of limited companies

® explain the importance of the concept of limited liability

® describe the statutory framework governing limited companies
® describe some of the major characteristics of limited companies

® explain the difference between the Memorandum of Association and the Articles
of Association

Introduction

In this chapter, you'll learn about the legislation that governs how companies are
formed and lays out the rules within which companies operate. You'll learn about
the importance of limited liability and of the relationship between companies, their
shares and the stock exchange.

@ Preliminary study

An introduction was made to the financial statements of limited companies in Business
Accounting 1. It was intended to show some of the basic outlines of the financial statements of
limited companies to those people who would be finishing their studies of accounting with the
completion of Business Accounting 1. This volume now carries the study of limited companies
accounting to a more advanced stage.

e The Companies Acts

The Acts of Parliament governing limited companies in the UK are the Companies Acts 1985
and 1989. The 1989 Act both adds to and amends the 1985 Act, so that both Acts have to be
read together. In this volume, we cannot deal with many of the complicated issues arising from
the Companies Acts. These are better left until readers have reached a more advanced stage in
their studies.

The Companies Acts are the descendants of modern limited liability company legislation
which can be traced back to the passing of the Companies Act 1862. This Act was a triumph
for the development of the limited liability principle which had been severely restricted since
the ‘Bubble Act’ of 1720, which was introduced to address a multitude of spectacular frauds
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perpetrated behind the cloak of limited liability. Not until 1862 was prejudice against the prin-
ciple of limited liability overcome, and the way paved for the general use of the limited liability
principle which is now commonplace. Company law consists of the Companies Acts 1985 and
1989, together with a considerable body of case law which has been built up over the years.
It must be borne in mind that there are still a number of chartered companies in existence which
were incorporated either by Royal Charter, such as the Hudson’s Bay Company, or by special
Acts of Parliament.

Changes in company law

Company law has changed considerably since the mid-1960s. This has been brought about
largely because of the obligation to observe the company law directives issued by the Council of
the European Community. Such changes have not completely eliminated the differences in com-
pany law throughout the European Union, but they have considerably reduced such differences
and have provided a set of minimum common standards to be observed.

The 1985 and 1989 Companies Acts lay down detailed rules of the format of the financial
statements of limited companies. These will be considered later.

Banks and insurance companies do not come under the same legislation as that which applies to
other companies. A separate part of the 1989 Act deals with banks, while insurance companies
are the subject of a special directive.

Other forms of company

The Companies Acts also cover companies with unlimited liability, of which there are very few.
They also cover companies limited by guarantee, which may or may not have share capital,
though the Companies Act 1985 forbids the future formation of such companies unless they do
have share capital. Both of these types of limited company and chartered companies are rela-
tively unimportant, so any future reference in this book to ‘a limited company’ or ‘a company’
will be concerned with limited liability companies.

Separate legal entity

The outstanding feature of a limited company is that, no matter how many individuals have
bought shares in it, it is treated in its dealings with the outside world as if it were a person in its
own right: it is said to be a separate ‘legal entity’. A prime example of its identity as a separate
legal entity is that it may sue other business entities, people — even its own shareholders - or, in
turn, be sued by them.

Just as the law can create this separate legal person, it can also eliminate it, but only by using
the proper legal procedures. The identity of the shareholders in a large company may change
daily as shares are bought and sold by different people but this, itself, has no immediate impact
upon the existence or nature of the company.

On the other hand, a small private company may have the same shareholders from the day it
is incorporated (when it legally came into being), until the date when liquidation is completed
(the cessation of the company, often known also as ‘winding up’ or being ‘wound up’).

Why would it be advantageous for a company to be able to sue other business
entities, rather than for the directors or an employee to do so?
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The legal formalities by which the company comes into existence can be found in any text-
book on company law. It is not the purpose of this book to discuss company law in any great
detail; this is far better left to a later stage of your studies. As companies must, however, comply
with the law, the essential company law concerning accounting matters will be dealt with in this
book as far as is necessary.

What is important is that the basic principles connected with company accounts can be seen
in operation. So that you are not unduly confused, points which rarely occur, or on which the
legal arguments are extremely involved and may not yet have been finally settled, will be left out
completely or merely mentioned in passing. This means that some generalisations made in this
book will need to be expanded upon when your accounting studies reach a more advanced stage.

Memorandum and Articles of Association

Each company is governed by two documents, known as the Memorandum of Association and
the Articles of Association, generally referred to as the memorandum and the articles. The
memorandum consists of five clauses for private companies, and six for public companies
containing the following details:

The name of the company.

The part of the UK where the registered office will be situated.

The objects of the company.

A statement (if a limited liability company) that the liability of its members is limited.

Details of the share capital which the company is authorised to issue.

A public limited company will also have a clause stating that the company is a public limited
company.

A N WN =

The memorandum is said to be the document which discloses the conditions which govern the
company’s relationship with the outside world.

Limited liability

The principle of limited liability underlying clause 4 has been of the utmost importance in
industry and commerce. Without it, it is inconceivable that large business units, such as
GlaxoSmithKline plc or Marks and Spencer ple, could have existed. The investor in a limited
company, i.e. someone who owns shares in the company, is a shareholder. The most he or she
can lose is the money paid for the shares although, where they are only partly paid, the share-
holder is also liable for the unpaid part. With public companies, whose shares are traded on a
stock exchange, shares can be sold easily whenever a shareholder wishes. Selling shares in a pri-
vate company is normally far more difficult.

Why is it unlikely that many large companies could have existed if limited liability
did not exist?

Classes of shares

The main types or classes of shares are ordinary shares and preference shares. Unless clearly
stated in the Memorandum or Articles, preference shares are assumed to be of the cumulative
variety already described in Business Accounting 1.
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There are also a variety of other shares. The rights attaching to these shares are purely depend-
ent on the skill and ingenuity of the person who prepares the Memorandum and Articles. An
entirely new type of share may be created provided it does not contravene the law.

The shares which carry the right to the whole of the profits remaining after dividends have
been paid on any preference shares (and any other fixed dividend shares) are often known as the
equity share capital or as equities.

Until 1981, the only type of share which could be bought from the shareholders by the com-
pany itself were redeemable preference shares. This has changed completely, and is considered in
detail in Chapter 5.

Distributable profits

The calculation of dividends from profits available for distribution was described in Business
Accounting 1. Clearly, in order to do this, there needs to be some way of knowing what the
amount of distributable profits is.

In the Companies Acts, there is a definition of realised profits and realised losses. A company’s
realised profits and losses are defined as ‘those profits and losses which are treated as realised in
the financial statements, in accordance with principles generally accepted with respect to the
determination of realised profits and losses for accounting purposes at the time when those
accounts are prepared’. In accounting, the realisation concept recognises profit or loss at the
point when a contract is made in the market to buy or sell assets. The definition of realised pro-
fits and realised losses also applies for the purpose of calculating a company’s distributable profits.

Table A

Besides the Memorandum of Association, every company must also have Articles of Association.
Just as the memorandum governs the company’s dealings with the outside world, the articles
govern the relationships which exist between the members and the company, between one mem-
ber and the other members, and other necessary regulations. The Companies Act has a model set
of articles known as Table A. A company may, if it so wishes, have articles that are exactly the
same as those in Table A, commonly known as ‘adopting Table A’. Alternatively, it can adopt part
of Table A and alter some of the sections. The adoption of the major part of Table A is normal
for most private companies. In accounting textbooks, unless stated to the contrary, the account-
ing examples shown are usually based on the assumption that Table A has been adopted.

Table A lays down regulations concerning the powers of the directors of a company. These
may be adopted or a company may draft its own regulations for the powers of its directors. Any
such regulations are of the utmost importance when it is realised that the legal owners of the
business, the shareholders, have entrusted the running of the company to the directors.

The shareholders’ rights are largely limited to attending meetings, such as the annual general
meeting, where they have the right to vote. However, some shares do not carry voting rights and
the holders of these shares may attend but not vote at such meetings.

The Companies Acts make the keeping of proper sets of accounting records and the prepara-
tion of Final Accounts (financial statements) compulsory for every company. In addition, the
financial statements for large companies must be audited, this being quite different from the situ-
ation in a partnership or a sole trader’s business where an audit is not compulsory.

Companies with limited liability, whether they are private or public companies, have to send a
copy of their Final Accounts (i.e. their financial statements), drawn up in a prescribed manner, to
the Registrar of Companies. Public companies must submit them within seven months of their
financial year end; private companies within ten months of their year end.

Look at Chapters 11-13 for the accounting requirements of the Companies Acts.
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@ Public companies and the Stock Exchange

Dealings in the shares of most public companies are conducted on one or other of the recognised
stock exchanges. The shares of private companies cannot be bought or sold on any stock
exchange, as this would contravene the requirements for the company being recognised as a
‘private’ company.

The only entry made in the company’s books when a shareholder sells all, or some, of his
shares to someone else, is to record the change of identity of the shareholders. The price at which
the shares were sold on the stock exchange is not entered into the company’s books.

Although no accounting entries are made, the price of the shares on the Stock Exchange does
have repercussions upon the financial policy of the company.

Why?

It must be recognised that stock exchanges are the ‘second-hand markets’ for a company’s
shares. The company does not actually sell (normally called issue) its shares in a stock exchange.
The company issues new shares directly to the people who make application to it for the shares
at the time when the company has shares available for issue. Shares of a public company sold
and bought on stock exchanges are passing from one shareholder to another person who will
then become a shareholder. So far as the company is concerned, the number of shares in issue is
unchanged.

@ Stocks and shares

Later in this book you will learn about the procedure whereby the shares of a company may be
made into stock. Thus 500 ordinary shares of £1 each may be made into £500 stock. The
dividends paid on the shares or the stock would be the same, and the voting powers would also
be the same. Apart from administrative convenience there is really no difference between shares
and stock.

Learning outcomes

eecccccccccccce

You should now have learnt:
1 Limited companies are governed by the Companies Acts.
2 Limited companies are each a separate legal entity.

3 Each company is governed by two documents:
(a) the Memorandum of Association, and
(b) the Articles of Association.

4 What is meant by ‘limited liability’.

5 Investors in limited companies can only lose the amount they paid (plus any
amount still unpaid if the shares are only part-paid) when they acquired their
investment in the company, i.e. they have ‘limited liability’.
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Answers to activities

3.1

3.2

3.3

If a director sued another business entity on behalf of a company, the director would be liable for
any legal costs incurred were the case unsuccessful. Perhaps more meaningfully, if companies could
not be sued, directors and employees could be exposed to the risk of being sued for actions taken
by the company, even when they were not personally involved in what had occurred. In effect,
granting companies a legal identity separate from their owners makes it possible to operate limited
liability effectively.

Without limited liability, investors would be very unwilling to buy shares in companies. They would
fear that they may lose everything they owned if the company failed. Companies would, therefore,
find it very difficult to raise funds other than from banks and other financial institutions. Such
funds would carry interest costs that would have to be paid irrespective of how well the companies
were doing. In the early years of a new business, it can take quite a long time to become profitable
and the reliance upon loan funding would increase the possibility that the company will fail. As a
result, in an economic environment where there was no limited liability, the investors in the failed
company could lose everything they own. It is unlikely that many would be willing to take this risk.
Hence, it is unlikely that many large companies would exist were it not for limited liability.

If some new shares are to be issued, the price they are to be issued at will be largely dependent on
the stock exchange valuation. If another firm is to be taken over by the company, part of the pur-
chase price being paid using some of the company’s shares, then the stock exchange value will also
affect the value placed upon the shares being given. A takeover bid from another firm may well be
caused because the stock exchange value of the shares has made a takeover seem worthwhile.

You can find a range of additional self-test questions, as well as material to help you with
your studies, on the website that accompanies this book at www.pearsoned.co.uk/wood



The issue of shares and debentures

Learning objectives

After you have studied this chapter, you should be able to:

® explain the terminology relating to the issue of shares and debentures

® describe the steps in the process of issuing of shares and debentures

® record the accounting entries relating to the issue of shares and debentures
® make the necessary entries in the ledger accounts when shares are forfeited

Introduction

eeccccccccce

In this chapter, you'll learn about the alternatives available to companies when they
wish to issue shares and of the various entries to be made in the ledger accounts.
You'll learn about how to record the issue of shares at a price greater than their
nominal value and how to record the issue of shares to existing shareholders,
rather than to non-shareholders wishing to purchase them. You will also learn
about the difference in accounting entries made when debentures (a form of loan
capital) rather than shares, are issued.

@ The issue of shares

The cost of issuing shares can be very high. As a result, the number of shares issued must be suffi-
cient to ensure the cost of doing so is relatively insignificant compared to the amounts received.

When shares are issued, they may be payable, either (2) immediately on application, or (b) by
instalments. Issues of shares may take place on the following terms connected with the price of
the shares:

1 Shares issued at par. This would mean that a share of £1 nominal value would be issued for
£1 each.

2 Shares issued at a premium. In this case a share of £1 nominal value would be issued for more
than £1 each, say for £3 each.

Note: At one time, shares could be issued at a discount. Thus, shares each of £5 nominal value
might have been issued for £3 each. However, this was expressly forbidden in the Companies Act
1980.

@ Why do you think companies may wish to issue shares at a discount and how do
you think companies avoid being in this position?
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This will all seem rather strange at first. How can a share with a nominal value of 10p, which
states that value on the face of it, be issued for £3, and who would be foolish enough to buy it?
The reasons for this apparently strange state of affairs stem from the Companies Act require-
ment that the share capital accounts always show shares at their nominal value, irrespective of
how much the shares are worth or how much they were issued for. To illustrate this, the
progress of two companies, A Ltd and B Ltd, can be looked at. Both started in business on
1 January 20X1 and issued 1 million ordinary shares each of 10p nominal value at par. Ignoring
any issue expenses, each of the balance sheets on that date would be identical:

Balance Sheet as at 1 January 20X1

£
Bank 100,000
Capital 100,000

Five years later, on 31 December 20X35, the balance sheets show that the companies have fared
quite differently. It is to be assumed here, for purposes of illustration, that the balance sheet
values and any other interpretation of values happen to be identical.

A Ltd needs £100,000 more capital, and this is to be met by issuing more ordinary shares.
Suppose that another 1 million ordinary shares of 10p nominal value each are issued at par.
Column (a) below shows the balance sheet before the issue, and column (b) shows the balance
sheet after the issue has taken place.

Exhibit 4.1
A Ltd Balance Sheets (Solution 1) as at 31 December 20X5
(a) (b)
£ fa
Fixed and current assets (other than bank) 225,000 225,000
Bank 25,000 125,000
250,000 350,000
Financed by:
Ordinary share capital 100,000 200,000
Profit and loss 150,000 150,000

250,000 350,000

Share premiums

Now the effect of what has happened can be appreciated. Before the new issue there were 1 mil-
lion shares. As there were £250,000 of assets and no liabilities, each share was worth 25p. After
the issue, there are 2 million shares and £350,000 of assets, so each share is now worth 17.5p.
This would be extremely disconcerting to the original shareholders who have seen the value of
each of their shares fall by 30 per cent (7.5p).

On the other hand, the new shareholder who has just bought shares for 10p each saw them
rise in value immediately by 75 per cent to be worth 17.5p each. Only in one specific case would
this be fair, and that is where each original shareholder buys an equivalent number of new
shares.
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What is required is a price which is equitable as far as the interests of the old shareholders are
concerned, and yet will attract sufficient applications to provide the capital required. As in this
case the balance sheet value and the real value are the same, the answer is that each old share
was worth 25p and therefore each new share should be issued at a price of 25p. If this were
done, the balance sheets would become as shown in Exhibit 4.2:

Exhibit 4.2
A Ltd Balance Sheets (Solution 2) as at 31 December 20X5
(a) (b)
f f
Fixed and current assets (other than bank) 225,000 225,000
Bank 25,000 275,000
250,000 500,000
Financed by:
Ordinary share capital (at nominal value) 100,000 200,000
Share premium (see note below) 150,000
Profit and loss 150,000 150,000

250,000 500,000

Thus in (a) above, 1 million shares own between them £250,000 of assets = 25p each, while,
in (b) 2 million shares are shown as owning £500,000 of assets = 25p each. Both the old and new
shareholders are therefore satisfied with the bargain that has been made.

Note: The share premium shown on the capital side of the balance sheet is needed because the
balance sheet would not balance without it. If shares are stated at nominal value but issued at
another price, the actual amount received increases the bank balance, but the share capital is
increased by a different figure. The share premium therefore represents the excess of the cash
received over the nominal value of the shares issued.

Share discount

The other company, B Ltd, has not fared so well. It has, in fact, lost money. The accumulated
losses are reflected in a debit balance on the profit and loss account as shown below in column
(c). There are £80,000 of assets to represent the shareholders’ stake in the firm of 1 million shares,
i.e. each share is worth 8p. If more capital was needed, 1 million more shares could be issued.
From the action taken in the previous case it will now be obvious that each new share of 10p
nominal value would be issued for its real value of 8p each, were it permitted. The balance sheets
would appear:

Exhibit 4.3
B Ltd Balance Sheets (correct solution) as at 31 December 20X5
(c) (d)

Fixed and current assets (other than bank) 55,000 55,000
Bank 25,000 105,000

80,000 160,000
Ordinary share capital 100,000 200,000
Discounts on shares (see below) (20,000)
Profit and loss — debit balance (20,000) (20,000)

80,000 160,000
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Once again, as the share capital is shown at nominal value but the shares are issued at a different
figure, the discount on the shares issued must be shown in order that the balance sheet balances.
It is, of course, a balancing figure needed because the entries already made for an increase in the
ordinary share capital and the increase in the bank balance have been at different figures. The
figure for discounts on shares therefore rectifies the double entry ‘imbalance’.

Although shares cannot now be issued at a discount, some companies still exist which issued
shares at a discount before 1980. In these cases, although not listed as an item in the balance
sheet formats per the Companies Act 19835, a separate heading will have to be inserted in the bal-
ance sheet for the discount.

A balance sheet is a historical view of the past based on records made according to the firm’s
interpretation and use of accounting concepts and conventions. When shares are being issued it
is not the view of the past that is important, but the view of the future. Therefore the actual pre-
miums and discounts on shares being issued are a matter not merely of balance sheet values, but
of the issuing company’s view of the future and its estimate of how the investing public will react
to the price at which the shares are being offered.

It is to be noted that there are no restrictions on issuing shares at par or at a premium. Let’s
now look at the double entries that need to be made when shares are issued. First we’ll consider
the case where the full amount is due in one payment made at the time of issue.

Shares payable in full on application

The issue of shares in illustrations (1) and (2) which follow are based on the balance sheets that
have just been considered. First, let’s look at the entries when shares are issued at their par value.

1 Shares issued at par

.........................................

One million ordinary shares with a nominal value of 10p each are to be issued. Applications,
together with the necessary money, are received for exactly 1 million shares. The shares are then
allotted to the applicants.

Bank

£
Ordinary share
applicants (A) 100,000

Ordinary Share Applicants

£ £
Ordinary share capital (B) 100,000 Bank (A) 100,000

Ordinary Share Capital

f
Ordinary share applicants (B) 100,000

It may appear that the ordinary share applicants account is unnecessary, and that the only
entries needed are a debit in the bank account and a credit in the ordinary share capital account.
However, applicants do not always become shareholders; this is shown later. The applicant must
make an offer for the shares being issued, accompanied by the necessary money: this is the appli-
cation. After the applications have been vetted, the allotments of shares are made by the com-
pany. This represents the acceptance of the offer by the company and it is at this point that the
applicant becomes a shareholder. Therefore (A) represents the offer by the applicant while (B)
is the acceptance by the company. No entry must be made in the share capital account until (B)



Chapter 4 ® The issue of shares and debentures

happens, for it is not until that point that the share capital is in existence. The share applicants
account is an intermediary account pending allotments being made.

Now let’s look at the entries to be made when the shares are issued at more than their par
value.

2 Shares issued at a premium

......................................................

One million ordinary shares with a nominal value of 10p each are to be issued for 25p each (see
Exhibit 4.2 A Ltd previously). Thus a premium of 15p per share has been charged. Applications
and the money are received for exactly 1 million shares.

Bank
£
Balance b/d 25,000
Ordinary share applicants 250,000

Ordinary Share Applicants

£ f
Ordinary share capital (A) 100,000 Bank 250,000
Share premium (B) 150,000
250,000 250,000

Share Premium

Ordinary share applicants (B) 150,000

Ordinary Share Capital (A Ltd)

Balance b/d 100,000
Ordinary share applicants (A) 100,000

Note: (A) is shown as £100,000 because the share capital is shown at nominal value, not total
issued value. The £150,000 share premiums (B) must therefore be credited to a share premium
account to preserve double entry balancing.

Now let’s look at the entries to be made when the number of shares applied for is not equal to
the number of shares on offer.

3 Oversubscription and undersubscription for shares

When a company invites investors to apply for its shares it is obviously rare indeed if applica-
tions for shares equal exactly the number of shares to be issued. Where more shares are applied
for than are available for issue, then the issue is said to be oversubscribed. Where fewer shares
are applied for than are available for issue, then the issue has been undersubscribed.

With a new company, an amount is set in advance as being the minimum necessary to carry on
any further with the running of the company. If the applications are less than the minimum
stated, then the application monies are returned to the senders. This does not apply to an estab-
lished company.

If 1 million shares of 10p each are available for issue, but only 875,000 shares are applied for,
then only 875,000 shares will be issued. The accounting entries will be in respect of 875,000
shares, no entries being needed for the 125,000 shares not applied for, as they do not represent a
transaction.
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The opposite occurs when shares are oversubscribed. In this case, rationing is applied so that
the issue is restricted to the shares available for issue. The process of selecting which applicants
will get how many shares depends on the policy of the company. Some, for example, prefer to
have large shareholders because this leads to lower administrative costs.

You can see why by considering the cost of calling a meeting of two companies each with
200,000 shares. H Ltd has 20 shareholders with an average holding of 10,000 shares. J Ltd has
1,000 shareholders with an average holding of 200 shares. They all have to be notified by post
and given various documents including a set of the financial statements. The cost of printing and
sending these is less for H Ltd with 20 shareholders than for J Ltd with 1,000 shareholders. This
is only one example of the costs involved, but it will also apply with equal force to many items
connected with the shares. Conversely, the directors may prefer to have more shareholders with
smaller holdings, one reason being that it decreases the amount of voting power in any one indi-
vidual’s hands.

The actual process of rationing the shares is straightforward once a policy is in place. It may
consist of scaling down applications, of drawing lots or some other chance selection, but it will
eventually bring the number of shares to be issued down to the number of shares available.
Excess application monies received will then be refunded by the company.

An issue of shares where 1 million ordinary shares of 10p nominal value each are to be issued
at par payable in full but 1.55 million shares are applied for, will be recorded as follows:

Bank

f £
Ordinary share applicants 155,000 Ordinary share applicants (refunds) 55,000

Ordinary Share Applicants

f f
Bank 55,000 Bank 155,000
Ordinary share capital 100,000
155,000 155,000

Ordinary Share Capital

f
Ordinary share applicants 100,000

Let’s now look at the entries to be made when payment for shares purchased is to be made in
instalments.

Issue of shares payable by instalments

The shares considered so far have all been issued as paid in full on application. Conversely,
many issues are made which require payment by instalments. These are probably more common
with public companies than with private companies. It should be noted that a public company is
now not allowed to allot a share (i.e. pass ownership to the subscriber) unless a sum equal to at
least one-quarter of its nominal value plus the whole of any premium has been paid on it. When
the premium is large compared to the nominal value, this clearly affects the manner in which the
instalments are divided.

The various stages, after the initial invitation has been made to the public to buy shares by
means of advertisements (if it is a public company) etc. are as follows:

(A) Applications are received together with the application monies.
(B) The applications are vetted and the shares allotted, letters of allotment being sent out.
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(C) The excess application monies from wholly unsuccessful applicants, or, where the application
monies received exceed both the application and allotment monies required, from wholly
and partly unsuccessful applicants, are returned to them. Usually, if a person has been
partly unsuccessful, his excess application monies are held by the company and will reduce
the amount needed to be paid by him on allotment.

D) Allotment monies are received.

) The next instalment, known as the first call, is requested.

) The monies are received from the first call.

G) The next instalment, known as the second call, is requested.

H) The monies are received from the second call.

This carries on until the full number of calls have been made, although there is not usually a
large number of calls to be made in an issue.

The reasons for the payments by instalments become obvious if it is realised that a company
will not necessarily require the immediate use of all the money to be raised by the issue. Suppose
a new company is to be formed: it is to buy land, erect a factory, equip it with machinery and
then go into production. This might take two years altogether. Suppose the total sum needed
was £1 million, required as follows:

Ordinary Share Capital

£
Cost of land, payable within 1 month 300,000
Cost of buildings, payable in 1 year’s time 200,000
Cost of machinery, payable in 18 months’ time 200,000
Working capital required in 2 years’ time 300,000
1,000,000

A decision may be made to match the timing of the payment of the instalments of the share issue
to the timing of the requirement for funding. If so, the share issue may be on the following terms:

Per cent
Application money per share, payable immediately 10
Allotment money per share, payable within 1 month 20
First call, money payable in 12 months’ time 20
Second call, money payable in 18 months’ time 20
Third call, money payable in 24 months’ time 30
100

The entries made in the share capital account should equal the amount of money requested to
that point in time. However, instead of one share applicants account, there are usually several
accounts each representing one of the instalments. For this purpose application and allotment
are usually joined together in one account, the application and allotment account. This cuts out
the need for transfers where excess application monies are held over and set off against allotment
monies needed. That is, instead of refunding excess application monies, they are retained and
used to meet subsequent instalments.

When allotment is made, and not until then, an entry of £300,000 (10 per cent + 20 per cent)
would be made in the share capital account. On the first call, an entry of £200,000 would
be made in the share capital account; likewise £200,000 on the second call and £300,000 on
the third call. The share capital account will therefore contain not the monies received, but the
amount of money requested. Exhibit 4.4 now shows an example of a share issue with payments
by instalments.
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Exhibit 4.4

A company is issuing 100,000 7 per cent preference shares of £1 each, payable 10 per cent on appli-
cation, 20 per cent on allotment, 40 per cent on the first call and 30 per cent on the second call.
Applications are received for 155,000 shares. A refund of the money is made in respect of 5,000
shares while, for the remaining 150,000 applied for, an allotment is to be made on the basis of 2
shares for every 3 applied for (assume that this will not involve any fractions of shares). The excess
application monies are set off against the allotment monies asked for. The remaining requested
instalments are all paid in full. The letters by the side of each entry refer to the various stages out-
lined earlier.

Bank
£ f

Application and allotment: Application and allotment refund (C) 500
Application monies (A) 15,500
Allotment monies
(£100,000 x 20% less excess

application monies £5,000) (D) 15,000
First call (F) 40,000
Second call (H) 30,000

Application and Allotment

£ £
Bank - refund of application monies (C) 500 | Bank (A) 15,500
Preference share capital (B) 30,000 | Bank (D) 15,000
30,500 30,500
First Call
£ £
Preference share capital (E) 40,000 | Bank (F) 40,000
Second Call
£ £
Preference share capital (G) 30,000 | Bank (H) 30,000

7 per cent Preference Share Capital

£ £
Balance c/d 100,000 | Application and allotment (B) 30,000
First call (E) 40,000
Second call (G) 30,000
100,000 100,000
Balance b/d 100,000

If more than one type of share is being issued at the same time, e.g. preference shares and ordin-
ary shares, then separate share capital accounts and separate application and allotment accounts
and call accounts should be opened.

Now let’s look at the entries to be made when a purchaser of the shares fails to pay the instal-
ments due.
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@ Forfeited shares

Sometimes, some shareholders fail to pay the calls requested. If drawn up with care, the Articles
of Association of the company will provide that the defaulting shareholder forfeits the shares
allocated. In this case, the shares will be cancelled. The instalments already paid by the share-
holder will be forfeited and retained by the company.

After the forfeiture, the company may or may not choose to reissue the shares (though, in
some cases, there may be a provision in the Articles of Association which prevents their reissue).
There are regulations governing the prices at which such shares can be reissued. The amount
received on reissue plus the amount received from the original shareholder should at least equal
(a) the called-up value where the shares are not fully called up, or (b) the nominal value where the
full amount has been called up. Any premium previously paid is disregarded in determining
the minimum reissue price.

Exhibit 4.5

Take the same information as that contained in Exhibit 4.4, but, instead of all the calls all being
paid in full, Allen, the holder of 10,000 shares, fails to pay the first and second calls. He had already
paid the application and allotment monies on the required dates. The directors conform to the
provisions of the Articles of Association and (A) Allen is forced to suffer the forfeiture of his shares;
(B) The amount still outstanding from Allen will be written off; (C) The directors then reissue the
shares at 75 per cent of nominal value to J. Dougan; (D) Dougan pays for the shares.

First Call

£ £
Preference share capital 40,000 Bank 36,000
Forfeited shares (B) 4,000
40,000 40,000

Second Call

£ £
Preference share capital 30,000 Bank 27,000
Forfeited shares (B) 3,000
30,000 30,000

7 per cent Preference Share Capital

£ £

Forfeited shares (A) 10,000 Application and allotment 30,000
Balance c/d 90,000 First call 40,000
Second call 30,000

100,000 100,000

Balance c/d 100,000 Balance b/d 90,000
J. Dougan (@) 10,000

100,000 100,000

Balance b/d 100,000
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Forfeited Shares

f £
First call (B) 4,000 Preference share capital (A) 10,000
Second call (B) 3,000
Balance c/d 3,000
10,000 10,000
J. Dougan* 2,500 Balance b/d 3,000
Balance c/d 500
3,000 3,000
Balance b/d 500
Bank
£
First call (£90,000 x 40%) 36,000
Second call (£90,000 x 30%) 27,000
J. Dougan (D) 7,500
J. Dougan
£ £
Preference share capital 10,000 Bank (D) 7,500
Forfeited shares (discount on
reissue)* 2,500
10,000 10,000

*The transfer of £2,500 from the forfeited shares account to J. Dougan’s account is needed
because the reissue was entered in the preference share capital account and Dougan’s account at
nominal value, i.e. following standard practice by which a share capital account is concerned with
nominal values. But Dougan was not required to pay the full nominal price. Therefore the transfer
of £2,500 is needed to close his account.

Why do you think companies make new share issues?
[Note: these are not the same as the shares issued when a company is first
formed.]

The balance of £500 on the forfeited shares account can be seen to be: cash received from
original shareholder on application and allotment £3,000 + from Dougan £7,500 = £10,500.
This is £500 over the nominal value so the £500 appears as an extra credit balance. This could
be transferred to a profit on reissue of forfeited shares account, but it would be pointless for
small amounts. More normally it would be transferred to the credit of a share premium account.

Having looked at what is done when payments are not made, let’s consider the treatment of
payments being received early or received late.

Calls in advance and in arrear and the balance sheet

At the balance sheet date some shareholders will not have paid all the calls made. These
are collectively known as calls in arrear. On the other hand, some shareholders may have
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paid amounts in respect of calls not made by the balance sheet date. These are calls in
advance.

Calls in arrear, i.e. called-up share capital not paid, is shown in the balance sheet in one of the
positions shown in the format per the Companies Act 1985 (see Chapter 12). There is no
specified place in the Companies Act format for calls in advance, so this is inserted in the balance
sheet as an extra heading.

So far, we have looked at the issue of shares to anyone, whether or not they are existing share-
holders. Now, let’s look at what happens when a company wishes to offer shares for sale to
existing shareholders.

Rights issues

The costs of making a new issue of shares can be quite high. One way to reduce the costs of rais-
ing new long-term capital in the form of issuing shares is to do so in the form of a rights issue.
To do this, the company contacts the existing shareholders, and informs them of the number of
shares which each one of them is entitled to buy of the new issue. In most cases, shareholders are
allowed to renounce their rights to the new shares in favour of someone else to whom they sell
the right to purchase the shares.

A right issue is usually pitched at a price which enables the rights to be sold. If any shareholders
do not either buy the shares or transfer their rights, the directors have the power to dispose of the
shares not taken up by issuing them in some other way. Alternatively, they may choose not to
issue them.

So far in this chapter, we have looked at the issue of shares. Companies may also raise funds by
issuing long-term loams. These are called debentures.

Debentures

A debenture is a bond acknowledging a loan to a company. It is usually issued under the com-
pany’s seal (i.e. is an official document issued by the company, similar to a share certificate) and
bears a fixed rate of interest (similar to preference shares). However, unlike shares, which norm-
ally depend on profits out of which to appropriate dividends, debenture interest is payable
whether or not profits are made.

A debenture may be redeemable, i.e. repayable at or by a specified date. Conversely it may be
irredeemable, redemption taking place only when the company is eventually liquidated, or in a
case such as when the debenture interest is not paid within a given time limit.

People lending money to companies in the form of debentures will obviously be interested in
how safe their investment will be. In the case of some debentures, the debenture holders are
given the legal right that on certain happenings they will be able to take control of specific assets,
or of the whole of the assets. They can then sell the assets and recoup the amount due under their
debentures, or deal with the assets in ways specified in the deed under which the debentures were
issued. Such debentures are known as being secured against the assets, the term mortgage
debenture often being used. Other debentures carry no prior right to control the assets under any
circumstances. These are known as simple or naked debentures.

Why do you think companies issue debentures rather than making a new share
issue?
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The issue of debentures

The entries for the issue of debentures are similar to those for shares but, nowadays, they are
normally issued at their nominal value. If the word ‘debentures’ is substituted for ‘share capital’ in
the T-accounts you saw earlier in this chapter, the entries in the ledger accounts would be identical.

Shares of no par value

You should now realise that a fixed par value for a share can be very confusing. For anyone who
has not studied accounting, it may well come as a shock to find that a share with a par value of
£1 might have been issued for £5. If the share is dealt in on the Stock Exchange, they might find
a £1 share selling at £10 or even £20 or, equally well, it may sell for only 10p.

Another problem with the use of a par value is that it can give people entirely the wrong
impression of the amount of dividend paid. If a low par value is used, the dividend (which is
declared as a percentage of the par value) can look excessive when it really isn’t.

Exhibit 4.6

Jones bought a share 40 years ago for £1. At the time, he was satisfied with a return of 5 per cent
on his money. With a 5 per cent dividend he could buy a certain amount of goods which will be
called x. Now, 40 years later, to buy that same amount of goods, he would need, say, 20 times as
much money. Where previously £5 would have bought x, now he would need £100. To keep the
dividend at the same level of purchasing power, he would need a dividend now of 100 per cent, as
compared with the 5 per cent dividend of 40 years ago.

In many countries, including the USA and Canada, no par value is attached to shares being
issued. A share is issued at whatever price is suitable at the time, and the money received is cred-
ited to a share capital account.

Why do you think companies are not allowed to issue shares at no par value in
the UK?

Learning outcomes

eecccccccccccce

You should now have learnt:

1 Shares may be issued either:

(a) at par, or nominal value - i.e. a £1 ordinary share would be issued in
exchange for payment of £1, or

(b) ata premium, i.e. if a £1 ordinary share were issued at a premium of 25p, it
would cost the buyer £1.25 (and the 25p would be put into the issuing
company’s share premium account).

How to make the accounting entries when shares are issued.

How to make the accounting entries when shares are forfeited.

How to make the accounting entries when debentures are issued.

aMNWNDN

The accounting entries made on the issue of debentures are identical to the
accounting entries made on the issue of shares though, obviously, debenture
ledger accounts are used rather than share capital ledger accounts.
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Answers to activities

4.1 If a company is not performing very well and its share price has fallen below its nominal value, it
would find it very difficult to issue shares at par or above. Hence, it may wish to issue shares at a
discount. As companies are prohibited from doing so, it is common nowadays for shares to be given
very low nominal values and then issued, in the first instance, at a price considerably in excess of
their nominal value. This makes the likelihood of companies ever being in a position where they
would wish to issue shares at a discount extremely rare. In effect, by adopting very low nominal
values, companies make the restriction on their being able to issue shares at a discount irrelevant.

4.2 Companies normally make new share issues in order to obtain funds or in order to use the new
shares to purchase another business entity.

4.3 Issuing shares may not be appropriate because the current share price is low and it is felt that issu-
ing new shares at this time will enable investors to buy into the company too cheaply. That is, when
the share price rises, the new investors will make substantial profits on their investment. A company
may prefer to wait until the share price is higher before selling new shares. It may also be the case
that the share price is low because investors do not feel that the company is a good buy at present.
Selling new shares may be difficult. Debentures do not involve transference of rights of ownership.
Buyers of debentures receive interest, rather than a share of profit. If the company feels its profits
are going to grow, it may prefer to issue debentures so that existing shareholders receive the max-
imum long-term benefit of their investment in the company. That is, their share of future profits is
not diluted by the issue of new shares.

4.L \When shares are issued at a premium, the excess above the nominal value is put into a reserve (the
share premium account). Such a reserve can, in certain circumstances, be distributed or utilised. Doing
so has no effect upon the share capital account. If shares are issued with no nominal value, share cap-
ital in the balance sheet would represent the total amount received by a company when it issued
shares. The share premium account would no longer be readily identifiable. In fact, it would not and
could not exist (as no notion of par value would exist). By requiring shares to have a nominal value,
additional flexibility is granted to the company in how it uses the funds received when it issues shares.

Review questions

4.1 Pilot Ltd company has a nominal share capital of £200,000 comprising 200,000 ordinary
shares of £1 each. The whole of the capital was issued at par on the following terms:

Per share
Payable on application 15p
Payable on allotment 20p
First call 30p
Second call 35p

Applications were received for 250,000 shares and it was decided to allot the shares on the basis of
four for every five for which applications had been made. The balance of application monies was
applied to the allotment, no cash being refunded. The balance of allotment monies was paid by
the members.

The calls were made and paid in full by the members, with the exception of one who failed to
pay the first and second calls on the 1,000 shares allotted to him. A resolution was passed by the
directors to forfeit the shares. The forfeited shares were later issued to F Bell at £80p each.

Show the ledger accounts recording all the above transactions, and the relevant extracts from a
balance sheet after all the transactions had been completed.

4.2 Feliz Ltd has an authorised capital of £500,000 comprising 1 million ordinary shares of 50p
each. The 1 million shares were issued at par, payments being made as follows:

Per share
Payable on application 10p
Payable on allotment 25p
First call 35p
Second call 30p
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Applications were received for 1.28 million shares. It was decided to refund application monies
on 80,000 shares and to allot the shares on the basis of five for every six applied for. The excess
application monies sent by the successful applicants is not to be refunded but is to be held and so
reduce the amount payable on allotment.

The calls were made and paid in full with the exception of three members holding a combined
total of 6,000 shares who paid neither the first nor the second call and another member who did
not pay the second call on 2,000 shares. The shares were forfeited and reissued to C Lamb at a
price of 85p per share.

You are to draft the ledger accounts to record the transactions.

4.3 The authorised and issued share capital of Cosy Fires Ltd was £75,000 divided into 75,000
ordinary shares of £1 each, fully paid. On 2 January 20X7, the authorised capital was increased by a
further 85,000 ordinary shares of £1 each to £160,000. On the same date 40,000 ordinary shares of
£1 each were offered to the public at £1.25 per share payable as to £0.60 on application (including
the premium), £0.35 on allotment and £0.30 on 6 April 20X7.

The lists were closed on 10 January 20X7, and by that date applications for 65,000 shares had
been received. Applications for 5,000 shares received no allotment and the cash paid in respect of
such shares was returned. All shares were then allocated to the remaining applicants pro rata to
their original applications, the balance of the monies received on applications being applied to the
amounts due on allotment.

The balances due on allotment were received on 31 January 20X7, with the exception of one
allottee of 500 shares and these were declared forfeited on 4 April 20X7. These shares were reissued
as fully paid on 2 May 20X7, at £1.10 per share. The call due on 6 April 20X7 was duly paid by the
other shareholders.

You are required:

(a) To record the above-mentioned transactions in the appropriate ledger accounts; and

(b) To show how the balances on such accounts should appear in the company’s balance sheet as
on 31 May 20X7.

(Association of Chartered Certified Accountants)

4.LA During the year to 30 September 20X7, Kammer plc made a new offer of shares. The details
of the offer were as follows:

1 100,000 ordinary shares of £1 each were issued payable in instalments as follows:

Per share
£
On application at 1 November 20X6 0.65
On allotment (including the share premium of £0.50 per share) on
1 December 20X6 0.55
On first and final call on 1 June 20X7 0.30
£1.50

2 Applications for 200,000 shares were received, and it was decided to deal with them as follows:
(a) to return cheques for 75,000 shares;
(b) to accept in full applications for 25,000 shares; and
(c) to allot the remaining shares on the basis of three shares for every four shares applied for.

3 On the first and final call, one applicant who had been allotted 5,000 shares failed to pay the
due amount, and his shares were duly declared forfeited. They were then reissued to Amber Ltd
on 1 September 20X7 at a price of £0.80 per share fully paid.

Note: Kammer's issued share capital on 1 October 20X6 consisted of 500,000 ordinary shares of £1 each.

Required:
Record the above transactions in the following ledger accounts:

(a) ordinary share capital;
(b) share premium;
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(c) application and allotment;
(d) first and final call;

(e) forfeited shares; and

(f) Amber Ltd’s account.

(Association of Accounting Technicians)

4.5 M Limited has an authorised share capital of £1,500,000 divided into 1,500,000 ordinary
shares of £1 each. The issued share capital at 31 March 20X7 was £500,000 which was fully paid,
and had been issued at par. On 1 April 20X7, the directors, in accordance with the company’s
Articles, decided to increase the share capital of the company by offering a further 500,000
ordinary shares of £1 each at a price of £1.60 per share, payable as follows:

On application, including the premium £0.85 per share
On allotment £0.25 per share
On first and final call on 3 August 20X7 £0.50 per share

On 13 April 20X7, applications had been received for 750,000 shares and it was decided to allot the
shares to applicants for 625,000 shares, on the basis of four shares for every five shares for which
applications had been received. The balance of the money received on application was to be
applied to the amounts due on allotment. The shares were allotted on 1 May 20X7, the unsuccess-
ful applicants being repaid their cash on this date. The balance of the allotment money was
received in full by 15 May 20X7.

With the exception of one member who failed to pay the call on the 5,000 shares allotted to
him, the remainder of the call was paid in full within two weeks of the call being made.

The directors resolved to forfeit these shares on 1 September 20X7, after giving the required
notice. The forfeited shares were reissued on 30 September 20X7 to another member at £0.90 per
share.

You are required to write up the ledger accounts necessary to record these transactions in the
books of M Limited.

(Chartered Institute of Management Accountants)

4.6A Applications were invited by the directors of Grobigg Ltd for 150,000 of its £1 ordinary
shares at £1.15 per share payable as follows:

Per share
On application on 1 April 20X8 £0.75
On allotment on 30 April 20X8 (including the premium of £0.15 per share) £0.20
On first and final call on 31 May 20X8 £0.20

Applications were received for 180,000 shares and it was decided to deal with these as follows:

1 To refuse allotment to applicants for 8,000 shares.

2 To give full allotment to applicants for 22,000 shares.

3 To allot the remainder of the available shares pro rata among the other applicants.

4 To utilise the surplus received on applications in part payment of amounts due on allotment.

An applicant, to whom 400 shares had been allotted, failed to pay the amount due on the first
and final call and his shares were declared forfeit on 31 July 20X8. These shares were reissued on
3 September 20X8 as fully paid at £0.90 per share.

Show how the transactions would be recorded in the company’s books.

(Association of Chartered Certified Accountants)

You can find a range of additional self-test questions, as well as material to help you with
your studies, on the website that accompanies this book at www.pearsoned.co.uk/wood
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Companies purchasing and
redeeming their own shares
and debentures

Learning objectives

eeccccccccce

After you have studied this chapter, you should be able to:

® explain, in the context of shares and debentures, the difference between the
terms ‘purchasing’ and ‘redeeming’

® describe the alternative ways in which a company may purchase or redeem its
own shares and debentures

® explain the difference between the purchase/redemption opportunities available
to private companies, and those available to other companies

® record the accounting entries relating to the purchase and the redemption of
shares and debentures

Introduction

®eccccccccce

In this chapter, you'll learn the difference between the terms ‘redemption’ and ‘pur-
chase’ of a company’s own shares and debentures and the rules relating to com-
panies that do either of these things. You will learn how to record such activities in
the ledger accounts and of the effects of such activities upon the balance sheet.

@ Purchasing and redeeming own shares

70

In the context of shares and debentures, to all intents and purposes, the words ‘purchasing’ and
‘redeeming’ may appear to be identical and interchangeable. They both involve an outflow of
cash incurred by a company in getting back its own shares so that it may then cancel them.
However, legally, ‘redeeming’ means the buying back of shares which were originally issued as
‘redeemable shares’. That is, the company stated when they were issued that they would or could
be bought back at sometime in the future by the company. The actual terms of the redemption
are declared at the time when the shares are issued. In contrast, when shares issued are not stated
to be redeemable, if they are subsequently bought back by the company, the company is said to
be ‘purchasing’ its own shares rather than ‘redeeming’ them.

Until 1981, a company in the UK could not normally ‘purchase’ its own ordinary shares.
‘Redemption’ was limited to one type of share, redeemable preference shares. This had not been
the case in the USA and much of Europe where, for many years, companies had, with certain
restrictions, been allowed to buy back their own ordinary shares. The main reason why this was
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not allowed in the UK prior to 1981 was the fear that the interests of creditors could be
adversely affected if the company used its available cash to buy its own ordinary shares, thus
leaving less to satisfy the claims of the creditors in the event that the company had to be wound
up. The possibilities of abuse with preference shares was considered to be less than with ordinary
shares, thus it was possible to have redeemable preference shares.

Since 1981, under the Companies Acts, if authorised by its Articles of Association, a company
may:

(a) issue redeemable shares of any class (preference, ordinary, etc.). Redeemable shares include
those that are to be redeemed on a particular date as well as those that are merely liable to
be redeemed at the discretion of the shareholder or of the company. There is an important
proviso that a company can only issue redeemable shares if it has in issue shares that are not
redeemable. Without this restriction a company could issue only redeemable shares, then
later redeem all of its shares, and thus finish up without any shareholders;

(b) ‘purchase’ its own shares (i.e. shares that were not issued as being redeemable shares).
Again, the company must, after the purchase, have other shares in issue at least some of
which are not redeemable. This again prevents a company redeeming its whole share capital
and thus ceasing to have any shareholders.

Why do you think the rules concerning purchase and redemption were changed
in 1981?

Advantages to companies of being able to purchase and
redeem their own shares

There are many possible advantages to a company arising from its being able to buy back its
own shares. For public companies, the main advantage is that those with surplus cash resources
can return some of this surplus cash back to its shareholders by buying back some of their own
shares, rather than being pressurised to use such cash in other, less economic ways.

However, the greatest advantages are for private companies and relate to overcoming prob-
lems which occur when shareholders cannot sell their shares on the ‘open market’. This means
that:

1 They can help shareholders who have difficulties in selling their shares to realise their value
when needed.

2 People will be more willing to buy shares from private companies. The fear of not being able
to dispose of them previously led to finance being relatively difficult for private companies to
obtain from people other than the original main proprietors of the company.

3 In many ‘family’ companies, cash is needed to pay for taxes on the death of a shareholder.

4 Shareholders with grievances against the company can be bought out, thus contributing to the
more efficient management of the company.

5 Family-owned companies are helped in their desire to keep control of the company when a
family shareholder with a large number of shares dies or retires.

6 As with public companies, private companies can return unwanted cash resources to their
shareholders.

7 For both private companies, and for public companies whose shares are not listed on a stock
exchange, it may help boost share schemes for employees, as the employees would know that
they could dispose of the shares fairly easily.
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The accounting entries for the purchase and the redemption of shares are exactly the same,
except that the word ‘redeemable’ will appear as the first word in the title of the ledger accounts
for shares that are redeemable. The figures to be entered will naturally be affected by the terms
under which shares are redeemed or purchased, but the location of the debits and credits to be
made will be the same.

You will understand the rather complicated entries needed more easily if you understand the
reasoning behind the issuing of Companies Acts. The protection of the creditor was uppermost
in the minds of Parliament. The general idea is that capital should not be returned to the share-
holders, except under certain circumstances. If capital is returned to the shareholders, thus reducing
the cash and bank balances, then the creditors could lose out badly if there was not then suffi-
cient cash/bank balances to pay their claims. Thus the shareholders, seeing that things were not
progressing too well in the company, could get their money out leaving the creditors with nothing.

There are dividends which can quite legitimately be paid to the shareholders out of dis-
tributable profits but, in order to prevent shareholders withdrawing all their capital, included
under the general heading of ‘capital’ are reserves which cannot be used for the payment of cash
dividends.

There are exceptions to this, namely the reduction of capital by public companies (see
Chapter 9) and the special powers of a private company to purchase or redeem its own shares
out of capital (which you will learn about later in this chapter). However, apart from these spe-
cial cases, company law regulations are intended to ensure that capital does not decrease when
shares are redeemed or purchased. This is what lies behind the accounting entries which we will
now consider.

Rules for redemption or purchase

In all cases, shares can only be redeemed or purchased when they are fully paid.

Why do you think shares need to be fully paid before they can be redeemed or
purchased?

The safeguards for the protection of capital contained in the Companies Acts are summarised
in the next five sections.

Nominal value

In respect of the nominal value of shares redeemed or purchased, either (a) there must be a new
issue of shares to provide the funds for redemption or purchase or (b) sufficient distributable
profits must be available (i.e. a large enough credit balance on the appropriation account) which
could be diverted from being used up as dividends to being treated as used up for the purpose of
redeeming or purchasing the shares.

Therefore, when shares are redeemed or purchased other than by using the proceeds of a new
share issue, the amount of distributable profits treated as being used up to redeem or purchase the
nominal value of the shares redeemed or purchased is debited to the appropriation account and
credited to a capital redemption reserve. (Previously, this was called a ‘capital redemption
reserve fund’.)
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Thus, the old share capital amount is equal to the total of the new share capital plus the capital
redemption reserve. The capital redemption reserve is a ‘non-distributable’ reserve. It cannot be
transferred back to the credit of the appropriation account, and so increase the profits available
for distribution as cash dividends. The process of diverting profits from being usable for dividends
means that the non-payment of the dividends leaves more cash in the company against which
creditors could claim if necessary.

Note: In all the examples that follow, as the entries are the same, no attempt is made to indicate
whether or not the shares being redeemed/purchased are redeemable shares. In a real company,
the titles of the accounts would state which shares were redeemable.

In Exhibit 5.1, journal entries are shown first, followed by the changes in the balance sheet
amounts.

Note: In all these examples, the amounts involved are kept small so that you can follow more easily
the entries and changes that arise.

Exhibit 5.1

£2,000 preference shares are redeemed/purchased at par. In order to do so, a new issue is to be
made of £2,000 ordinary £1 shares at par. The journal entries are:

Dr Cr
£ f
(A1) Bank 2,000
(A2) Ordinary share applicants 2,000
Cash received from applicants
(B1) Ordinary share applicants 2,000
(B2) Ordinary share capital 2,000
Ordinary shares allotted
(C1) Preference share capital 2,000
(C2) Preference share purchase* 2,000
Shares to be redeemed/purchased
(D1) Preference share purchase* 2,000
(D2) Bank 2,000

Payment made to redeem/purchase shares

*To make it easier to follow, all these examples refer only to the redemption of preference shares.
The process is identical whatever the type of shares being redeemed or purchased, only the names
of the accounts to be used are different. When shares are redeemed, they are transferred to a
‘share redemption account'. If they are purchased, a ‘share purchase account’ is used instead.

Balances Effect Balances

before Dr Cr after

£ £ f f
Net assets (except bank) 7,500 7,500
Bank 2,500 (A1) 2,000 (D2) 2,000 2,500
10,000 10,000
Ordinary share capital 5,000 (B2) 2,000 7,000
Ordinary share applicants - (B1) 2,000 (A2) 2,000 -
Preference share capital 2,000 (c1) 2,000 -
Preference share purchase - (D1) 2,000 (C2) 2,000 -
7,000* 7,000
Profit and loss 3,000 3,000
10,000 10,000

*Total ‘capitals’ remain the same as the preference share capital has been replaced with additional
ordinary capital.
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Exhibit 5.2 shows the journal entries and the changes to the balance sheet amounts when
reserves are used to redeem or purchase shares.

Exhibit 5.2

£2,000 preference shares are redeemed/purchased at par, with no new issue of shares to provide
funds for the purpose. Therefore an amount equal to the nominal value of the shares redeemed
must be transferred from the profit and loss appropriation account to the credit of a capital

redemption reserve.

(A1) Preference share capital
(A2) Preference share purchase
Shares to be redeemed/purchased
(B1) Preference share purchase
(B2) Bank

Cash paid as purchase/redemption

(C1) Profit and loss appropriation
(C2) Capital redemption reserve

Transfer per Companies Act 1985, Section 45

Balances
before
£
Net assets (except bank) 7,500
Bank 2,500
10,000
Ordinary share capital 5,000
Preference share capital 2,000
Preference share purchase -
Capital redemption reserve -
7,000*
Profit and loss 3,000
10,000

(A1)
(B81)

(@)

Effect
Dr
f

(B2)

2,000
2,000 (A2)
(C2)

2,000

Dr
£
2,000

2,000

2,000

Cr

2,000

2,000
2,000

Cr
£

2,000

2,000

2,000

Balances
after

*The total ‘capitals’ (i.e. share capital + non-distributable reserves) remain the same at £7,000.

Exhibit 5.3 shows the journal entries and the changes to the balance sheet amounts when
both the Exhibit 5.1 and Exhibit 5.2 approaches are used.
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Exhibit 5.3

£2,000 preference shares are redeemed/purchased at par, being £1,200 from issue of ordinary
shares at par and partly by using the profit and loss appropriation account balance.

Dr
£
(A1) Bank 1,200
(A2) Ordinary share applicants
Cash received from applicants
(B1) Ordinary share applicants 1,200
(B2) Ordinary share capital
Ordinary shares allotted
(C1) Profit and loss appropriation 800
(C2) Capital redemption reserve
Part of redemption/purchase not covered by new issue, to
comply with Companies Act 1985
(D1) Preference share capital 2,000
(D2) Preference share purchase
Shares being redeemed/purchased
(E1) Preference share purchase 2,000
(E2) Bank
Payment made for redemption/purchase
Balances Effect
before Dr Cr
£ £ £
Net assets (except bank) 7,500
Bank 2,500 (A1) 1,200 (E2) 2,000
10,000
Ordinary share capital 5,000 (B2) 1,200
Ordinary share applicants - (B1) 1,200 (A2) 1,200
Preference share capital 2,000 (D1) 2,000
Preference share purchase - (E1) 2,000 (D2) 2,000
Capital redemption reserve - (C2) 800
7,000*
Profit and loss 3,000 (c1) 800
10,000

*Total ‘capitals’ remain the same.

Premiums

Cr
£

1,200

1,200

800

2,000

2,000

Balances
after
£
7,500
1,700
9,200

6,200

Another requirement of the Companies Acts is that when shares are being redeemed/purchased
at a premium, but they were not originally issued at a premium, then an amount equal to the
premium must be transferred from the profit and loss appropriation account to the credit of
the share purchase/redemption account. As before, this is required so as to maintain total capitals
by diverting profits from being distributable to being part of the non-distributable capital.
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Exhibit 5.4

£2,000 preference shares which were originally issued at par are redeemed/purchased at a premium
of 20 per cent. There is no new issue of shares for the purpose. The ordinary shares were issued at
a premium, thus the reason for the share premium account being in existence. However, as it is not
the ordinary shares which are being redeemed, the share premium cannot be used to source the
premium paid on the redemption/purchase.

(A1) Preference share capital
(A2) Preference share purchase
Shares being redeemed/purchased
(B1) Profit and loss appropriation
(B2) Preference share purchase
Premium on purchase/redemption of shares not previously issued
at premium
(C1) Profit and loss appropriation
(C2) Capital redemption reserve
Transfer because shares redeemed/purchased out of
distributable profits
(D1) Preference share purchase
(D2) Bank
Payment on purchase/redemption
Balances Effect
before Dr
f f
Net assets (except bank) 7,500
Bank 2,500 (D2)
10,000
Ordinary share capital 4,500
Preference share capital 2,000 (A1) 2,000
Preference share purchase - (D1) 2,400 (A2)
(B2)
Capital redemption reserve - (C2)
Share premium 500
7,000*
Profit and loss 3,000 (C1) 2,000
(B1) 400
10,000

*Once again, the total ‘capitals’ remain the same.

Dr
£
2,000

400

2,000

2,400

Cr

2,400

2,000
400
2,000

Cr
£

2,000

400

2,000

2,400

Balances
after
f
7,500
100
7,600

4,500

2,000
500
7,000*

600
7,600

Under the Companies Acts, when shares are being redeemed or purchased at a premium, and
they were originally issued at a premium, and a new issue of shares is being made for the pur-
pose, then the share premium account can have an amount calculated as follows transferred to
the credit of the share purchase/redemption account. This is shown as (E) below.
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Share Premium Account

£

Balance before new issue (A) XXX
Add Premium on new issue (B) XXX
Balance after new issue © XXX
Amount that may be transferred is the lesser of: (E)
Premiums that were received when it first issued the shares now being

redeemed/purchased (D) XXX

or

Balance after new issue (C) above XXX
Transfer to share purchase/redemption (E) (xxx)
New balance for balance sheet (could be nil) XXX

Where the amount being deducted (E) is less than the premium paid on the current redemp-
tion or purchase, then an amount equivalent to the difference must be transferred from the debit
of the profit and loss appropriation account to the credit of the share purchase/redemption
account. (An example of this is shown below in Exhibit 5.5.) This again diverts the appropriate
amount of profits away from being distributable.

Exhibit 5.5

£2,000 preference shares of three companies which were originally issued at a premium of 20 per
cent are now purchased/redeemed at a premium of 25 per cent. The changes to the share premium
account are shown below for the three companies.

® Company 1 issues 2,400 ordinary £1 shares at par.
® Company 2 issues 2,000 ordinary £1 shares at 20 per cent premium.
® Company 3 issues 1,600 ordinary £1 shares at 50 per cent premium.

Share Premium Account

Company 1 Company 2 Company 3
f f f

Balance before new issue (A) 150QNete @ 400 400
Premium on new issue o 400 800 (B)
Balance after new issue © 150 800 1,200
Amount transferable to share purchase/

redemption is therefore lower of (C)

or original premium on issue (£400) (150)Nete ® (400)Nete ® (_400)Nete®
New balance for balance sheet - 400 800

Note (a): In Company 1 it is assumed that, of the original £400 premium, the sum of £250 had
been used to issue bonus shares (see Chapter 9).

Note (b): As these figures are less than the premium of £500 now being paid, the differences
(Company 1 £350; Companies 2 and 3 £100 each) must be transferred from the debit of the profit
and loss appropriation account to the credit of the preference share/purchase redemption
account.
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=  Journal entries:

Company 1 Company 2 Company 3
Dr Cr Dr Cr Dr Cr
f f f f £ f

(A1) Bank 2,400 2,400 2,400

(A2) Ordinary share applicants 2,400 2,400 2,400
Cash received from applicants
(B1) Ordinary share applicants 2,400 2,400 2,400

(B2) Ordinary share capital 2,400 2,000 1,600

(B3) Share premium - 400 800
Ordinary shares allotted
(C1) Preference share capital 2,000 2,000 2,000

(C2) Preference share purchase 2,000 2,000 2,000
Shares being redeemed/purchased
(D1) Share premium account 150 400 400

(D2) Preference share purchase 150 400 400
Amount of share premium

account used for redemption/purchase
(E1) Profit and loss appropriation 350 100 100

(E2) Preference share purchase 350 100 100
Excess of premium payable over

amount of share premium

account usable for the purpose
(F1) Preference share purchase 2,500 2,500 2,500

(F2) Bank 2,500 2,500 2,500
Amount paid on redemption/purchase

Exhibit 5.6

The following balance sheets for the three companies in Exhibit 5.5 are given before the purchase/
redemption. The balance sheets are then shown after purchase/redemption.

Balance Sheets (before redemption/purchase)

Company 1 Company 2 Company 3
£ 2 £

Net assets (except bank) 7,500 7,500 7,500
Bank 2,500 2,500 2,500
10,000 10,000 10,000

Ordinary share capital 4,850 4,600 4,600
Preference share capital 2,000 2,000 2,000
Share premium 150 400 400
7,000 7,000 7,000

Profit and loss account 3,000 3,000 3,000
10,000 10,000 10,000
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Balance Sheets (after redemption/purchase)

Company 1 Company 2 Company 3
f f £
Net assets (except bank) 7,500 7,500 7,500
Bank 2,400 2,400 2,400
9,900 9,900 9,900
Ordinary share capital 7,250 6,600 6,200
Share premium - 400 800
7,250 7,000 7,000
Profit and loss account 2,650 2,900 2,900
9,900 9,900 9,900

Private companies: redemption or purchase of shares out
of capital

The Companies Act 1981 introduced a new power for a private company to redeem/purchase its
own shares where either it has insufficient distributable profits for the purpose or it cannot raise
the amount required by a new issue. Previously it would have had to apply to the court for capital
reduction (which you will learn about in Chapter 9). The 1981 legislation made it far easier to
achieve the same objectives, in terms of both time and expense.

The full details of the various matters which must be dealt with by private companies who

pursue this option are beyond the scope of this textbook. If you wish to go into this topic in
greater detail, you will need to consult a book on company law. For our purposes, a very brief
outline is as follows:

1

2

The private company must be authorised to redeem or purchase its own shares out of capital
by its Articles of Association.

Permissible capital payment is the amount by which the price of redemption or purchase
exceeds the aggregate of (a) the company’s distributable profits and () the proceeds of any new
issue. This means that a private company must use its available profits and any share proceeds
before making a payment out of capital. (This is dealt with in greater detail in the next section.)
Directors must certify that, after the permissible capital payment, the company will be able to
carry on as a going concern during the next twelve months, and be able to pay its debts imme-
diately after the payment and also during the next twelve months.

The company’s auditors make a satisfactory report.

Why do you think the rules are less restrictive for private companies?

Permissible capital payments

1

Where the permissible capital payment is less than the nominal value of shares redeemed/
purchased, the amount of the difference shall be transferred to the capital redemption reserve
from the profit and loss appropriation account (or from undistributed profits).

Where the permissible capital payment is greater than the nominal value of shares redeemed/
purchased, any non-distributable reserves (e.g. share premium account, capital redemption
reserve, revaluation reserve, etc.) or fully paid share capital can be reduced by the excess.
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This can best be illustrated by taking two companies, R and S, with similar account balances
before the purchase/redemption, but they are redeeming their shares on different terms:

(Note: To ensure maximum clarity, the values used have been kept unrealistically low.)

Exhibit 5.7

Before Dr Cr After
Company R £ £ £ f
Net assets (except bank) 2,500 2,500
Bank 7,500 (B2) 4,000 3,500

10,000 6,000
Ordinary shares 1,000 1,000
Preference shares 4,000 (A1) 4,000 -
Non-distributable reserves 2,000 2,000
Capital redemption reserve (C2) 3,000 3,000
Preference share purchase - (B1) 4,000 (A2) 4,000

7,000

Profit and loss 3,000 (C1) 3,000

10,000 6,000

The preference shares were redeemed at par, £4,000. No new issue was made.
(A1) and (A2) represent transfer of shares redeemed/purchased.
(B1) and (B2) represent payment to shareholders.

Therefore pay £4,000
Less Profit and loss account (3,000)
Permissible capital payment 1,000
Nominal amount of shares redeemed/purchased £4,000
Less Permissible capital payment (1,000)
Deficiency to transfer to capital redemption reserve (C1 and C2) 3,000
The steps taken were: Dr Cr
(A1) Preference shares 4,000
(A2) Preference share purchase 4,000
(B1) Preference share purchase 4,000
(B2) Bank 4,000
(C1) Profit and loss 3,000
(C2) Capital redemption reserve 3,000
Before Dr Cr After
Company S f f £ f
Net assets (except bank) 2,500 2,500
Bank 7,500 (D2) 7,200 300
10,000 2,800
Ordinary share capital 1,000 1,000
Preference shares 4,000 (A1) 4,000 -
Non-distributable reserves 2,000 (C1) 200 1,800
Capital redemption reserve - -
Preference share purchase (D1) 7,200 (A2) 4,000
(B2) 3,000
(C2) 200
7,000 2,800
Profit and loss 3,000 (B1) 3,000 -
10,000 2,800
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The preference shares were redeemed/purchased at a premium of 80%. No new issue was made.

(A1) and (A2) represent shares redeemed/purchased.
(B1) and (B2) are transfers to redemption/purchase account of part of source of funds.
(D1) and (D2) are payment to shareholders.

Therefore pay £7,200
Less Profit and loss account (3,000)
Permissible capital payment 4,200
Permissible capital payment £4,200
Less Nominal amount redeemed/purchased (4,000)
Excess from any of non-distributable reserves (or capital) (C1 and C2) 200
The steps taken were: Dr Cr
(A1) Preference shares 4,000
(A2) Preference share purchase 4,000
(B1) Profit and loss 3,000
(B2) Preference share purchase 3,000
(C1) Non-distributable reserves 200
(C2) Preference share purchase 200
(D1) Preference share purchase 7,200
(D2) Bank 7,200

Cancellation of shares purchased/redeemed

All shares purchased/redeemed must be cancelled immediately. They cannot be kept by the com-
pany and later traded.

Redemption of debentures

Unless they are stated to be irredeemable, debentures are redeemed according to the terms of the
issue. The necessary funds to finance the redemption may be from:

(a) an issue of shares or debentures for the purpose;
(b) the resources of the company.

As (a) resembles the redemption of redeemable preference shares, you won’t be surprised to
learn that no transfer of profits from the profit and loss appropriation account to a reserve
account is needed. However, when financed as in (b), it is good accounting practice, although
not legally necessary, to divert profits from being used as dividends by transferring an amount
equal to the nominal value redeemed from the debit of the profit and loss appropriation account
to the credit of a reserve account.

Redemption may be done in one of three ways:

(a) by annual transfers out of profits;

(b) by purchase in the open market when the price is favourable, i.e. when it is less than the
price which will have to be paid if the company waits until the last date by which redemp-
tion has to be carried out;

(¢) in a lump sum to be provided by the accumulation of a sinking fund.

These three approaches can now be examined in more detail.
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1 Redeemed by transfers out of profits

......................................................................

(a) When redeemed at a premium

In this case, the source of the funds with which the premium is paid should be taken to be (i) the
share premium account, or if this does not exist, or the premium paid is in excess of the balance
on the share premium account, then any part not covered by a share premium account is deemed
to come from (ii) the profit and loss appropriation account. Exhibit 5.8 shows the effect on a bal-
ance sheet where there is no share premium account, while Exhibit 5.9 illustrates the case when
a share premium account is in existence with a balance large enough to source the premium.

Exhibit 5.8

Starting with the before balance sheet, £400 of the debentures are redeemed at a premium of
20 per cent, i.e. £80.

(Note: As before, the values involved have been kept unrealistically low for greater clarity.)

Balance Sheets

Before +or— After
f £ £

Other assets 12,900 12,900

Bank 3,400 -480 (A) 2,920

16,300 15,820

Share capital 10,000 10,000

Debenture redemption reserve - +400 (B) 400

Debentures 2,000 -400 (A) 1,600
Profit and loss 4,300 -400 (B)

-80 (A) 3,820

16,300 15,820

Exhibit 5.9

Starting with the before balance sheet, £400 of the debentures are redeemed at a premium of
20 per cent, i.e. £80.

Balance Sheets

Before +or— After
£ £ £
Other assets 13,500 13,500
Bank 3,400 -480 (A) 2,920
16,900 16,420
Share capital 10,000 10,000
Share premium 600 -80 (A) 520
Debenture redemption reserve - +400 (B) 400
Debentures 2,000 -400 (A) 1,600
Profit and loss 4,300 -400 (B) 3,900
16,900 16,420

In both Exhibits 5.8 and 5.9 the balance on the debenture redemption reserve account is
increased by the nominal value of the debentures redeemed each year. Any element of the
redemption sourced by the share premium account is entered as a debit to that account and is
not included in the debenture redemption reserve.



Chapter 5 ® Companies purchasing and redeeming their own shares and debentures

When the whole issue of debentures has been redeemed, the balance on the debenture redemp-
tion reserve account is transferred to the credit of a general reserve account. It is, after all, an
accumulation of undistributed profits.

(b) When redeemed but originally issued at a discount

The discount was given in order to attract investors to buy the debentures and is, therefore, as
much a cost of borrowing as is debenture interest. The discount therefore needs to be written off
during the life of the debentures. It might be more rational to write it off to the profit and loss
account but accounting custom, as permitted by law, would first of all write it off against any
share premium account and, secondly, against the profit and loss appropriation account.

The amounts written off over the life of the debentures are:

(a) equal annual amounts over the life of the debentures, or
(b) in proportion to the debenture debt outstanding at the start of each year. Exhibit 5.10 shows
such a situation.

Exhibit 5.10

£30,000 debentures are issued at a discount of 5 per cent. They are repayable at par over five years
at the rate of £6,000 per annum.

Year Outstanding at start of each year Proportion written off Amount
£ f

1 30,000 /50 x £1,500 = 500

2 24,000 /90 x £1,500 = 400

3 18,000 "8/90 x £1,500 = 300

4 12,000 2/30 x £1,500 = 200

5 6,000 ¢/50 x £1,500 = 100
90,000 1,500

A sum equal to the cash actually paid on redemption is transferred from the debit of the profit
and loss appropriation account to the credit of the debenture redemption reserve account. The
sum actually paid will have been credited to the Cash Book and debited to the debentures
account.

Any discount (or profit) on purchase will be transferred to a reserve account. Any premium (or
loss) on purchase will be deemed to come out of such a reserve account, or if no such account
exists or if it is insufficient, then it will be deemed to come out of the share premium account.
Failing the existence of these accounts any loss must come out of the profit and loss appropriation
account. It may seem that purchase would not be opportune if the debentures had to be
redeemed at a premium. However, it would still be opportune if the premium paid was not as
high as the premium to be paid if the final date for redemption was awaited.

3 Redemption of debentures sourced from a sinking fund

Where debentures are issued which are redeemable (which most are) consideration should be
given to the availability of cash funds at the time.

This method involves the investment of cash outside the business. The aim is to make a regu-
lar investment of money which, together with the accumulated interest or dividends, is sufficient
to finance the redemption of the debentures at the requisite time.
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As each period’s interest (or dividend) from the investment is received, it is immediately rein-
vested to earn more interest. In addition, an equal amount is invested each period.

If, for example, the money is to be invested at 5 per cent per annum, and the debenture is
£500 to be redeemed in five years’ time, how much should be invested each year? If £100 were
invested at the start of each year for five years, the interest earned would mean that more than
£500 was set aside by the end of the five-year period. Therefore, an amount less than £100 per
annum is needed. The exact amount can be calculated by the use of the compound interest for-
mula. Chapter 45 illustrates how the amount needed can be calculated. As these calculations are
left until later in this book, a summarised set of tables is shown below in Exhibit 5.11.

Exhibit 5.11
Annual sinking fund instalments to provide £1

Years 3% 3% 4% 1'% 5%
3 0.323530 0.321933 0.320348 0.318773 0.317208
4 0.239028 0.237251 0.235490 0.233744 0.232012
5 0.188354 0.186481 0.184627 0.182792 0.180975
6 0.154597 0.152668 0.150761 0.148878 0.147017
7 0.130506 0.128544 0.126609 0.124701 0.122819
8 0.112456 0.110476 0.108527 0.106609 0.104721
9 0.098433 0.096446 0.094493 0.092574 0.090690

10 0.087230 0.085241 0.083291 0.081378 0.079504

The table gives the amount required to provide £1 at the end of the relevant number of years
at a given rate of interest. To provide £1,000 multiply by 1,000; to provide for £4,986 multiply
by 4,986; and so on.

Now, let’s look at the double entries required when a sinking fund is being used.

Double entries for a sinking fund

When the annual instalment has been found, the double entry needed each year is:

1 Annual instalment:
Dr Profit and loss appropriation
Cr Debenture redemption reserve
2 Investment of 1st instalment:
Dr Debenture sinking fund investment
Cr Bank
3 Interest/dividends on sinking fund investment:
Dr Bank
Cr Debenture redemption reserve
4 Investment of second and later instalments (these consist of equal annual instalment plus
interest/dividend just received):
Dr Debenture sinking fund investment
Cr Bank
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Exhibit 5.12

Debentures of £10,000 are issued on 1 January 20X1. They are redeemable five years later on
31 December 20X5 on identical terms (i.e. £10,000). The company therefore decides to set aside an
equal annual amount which, at an interest rate of 5 per cent, will provide £10,000 on 31 December
20X5. According to the table in Exhibit 5.11, £0.180975 invested annually at 5 per cent will provide
£1 in five years’ time. Therefore, £0.180975 x 10,000 will be needed annually = £1,809.75.

Profit and Loss Appropriation for years ended 31 December

(20X1) Debenture redemption reserve 1,809.75
(20X2) Debenture redemption reserve 1,809.75
(20X3) Debenture redemption reserve 1,809.75
(20X4) Debenture redemption reserve 1,809.75
(20X5) Debenture redemption reserve 1,809.75

Debenture Redemption Reserve

20X1 £ 20X1 £
Dec 31 Balance c/d 1,809.75 | Dec 31 Profit and loss 1,809.75
20X2 20X2
Dec 31 Balance c/d 3,709.99 | Jan 1 Balance b/d 1,809.75
Dec 31 Bank interest
(5% of £1,809.75) 90.49
Dec 31 Profit and loss 1,809.75
3,709.99 3,709.99
20X3 - | 20x3 -
Dec 31 Balance c/d 5,705.23 | Jan 1 Balance b/d 3,709.99
Dec 31 Bank interest
(5% of £3,709.99) 185.49
Dec 31 Profit and loss 1,809.75
5,705.23 5,705.23
20X4 | 20x4 -
Dec 31 Balance c/d 7,800.24 | Jan 1 Balance b/d 5,705.23
Dec 31 Bank interest
(5% of £5,705.23) 285.26
Dec 31 Profit and loss 1,809.75
7,800.24 7,800.24
20X5 | 20%5 -
Dec 31 Debentures now redeemed 10,000.00 | Jan 1 Balance b/d 7,800.24
Dec 31 Bank interest
(5% of £7,800.24) 390.01
Dec 31 Profit and loss 1,809.75
10,000.00 10,000.00

Debenture Sinking Fund Investment

20X1 £ £

Dec 31 Bank 1,809.75

20X2

Dec 31 BankMet® 1,900.24

20X3

Dec 31 Bank'°t® 1,995.24

20X4

Dec 31 BankMet© 2,095.01

25X5 20X5

Dec 31 Bank'°t@ 2,199.76 Dec 31 Bank 10,000.00
10,000.00 10,000.00

85

-



Part 2 ® Companies

= Notes:

86

Cash invested (a) (b) (c) (d)
£ f f £
The yearly instalment 1,809.75 1,809.75 1,809.75 1,809.75
Add interest received on sinking fund balance 90.49 185.49 285.26 309.01
1,900.24 1,995.24 2,095.01 2,199.76
Bank (extracts)
20X1 f 20X1 £
Jan 1 Debentures (issued) 10,000.00 Dec 31 Debenture sinking
fund investment 1,809.75
20X2 20X2
Dec 31 Debenture redemption Dec 31 Debenture sinking
reserve (interest on fund investment 1,900.24
investment) 90.49
20X3 20X3
Dec 31 Debenture redemption Dec 31 Debenture sinking
reserve (interest on fund investment 1,995.24
investment) 185.49
20X4 20X4
Dec 31 Debenture redemption Dec 31 Debenture sinking
reserve (interest on fund investment 2,095.01
investment) 285.26
20X5 20X5
Dec 31 Debenture redemption Dec 31 Debenture sinking fund 2,199.76
reserve (interest on 31 Debenture (redemption) 10,000.00
investment) 390.01
31 Debenture sinking fund  10,000.00
20,000.00 20,000.00
Debentures
20X5 f 20X1 £
Dec 31 Bank (redemption) 10,000.00 Jan 1 Bank 10,000.00

The final payment into the sinking fund of £2,199.76 would probably not physically happen
unless it was a condition of the investment that a fifth deposit was made before the amount
invested could be withdrawn. (There is no point in paying money out of the bank account into the
sinking fund and then, on the same day, withdrawing it from the sinking fund and redepositing it
in the bank account.) The entries are presented in this way so as to make it clear that the entire
£10,000 has been set aside over the five years. If no transfer was shown (of the £2,199.76), the
balance on the sinking fund would be £7,800.24 and this amount would be transferred to the bank
account. The amount available in the bank account would still be £10,000.

Sometimes debentures bought in the open market are not cancelled, but are kept ‘alive’ and are
treated as investments of the sinking fund. The annual appropriation of profits is credited to the
sinking fund account, while the amount expended on the purchase of the debentures is debited
to the sinking fund investment account. Interest on such debentures is debited to the profit and
loss account and credited to the sinking fund account, thus the interest, as far as the sinking fund
account is concerned, is treated in the same fashion as if it was cash actually received by the firm
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from an outside investment. The sum expended on investments will then be equal to the annual
appropriation + the interest on investments actually received + the interest on debentures kept
in hand.

Convertible loan stock

Particularly in periods of high inflation but at other times too, the attraction to lenders to pro-
vide funds at reasonable rates of interest is much reduced as they stand to lose significantly on
the real value of the funds lent, since the repayment of the loan is normally fixed at its original
cash value. One way of attracting lenders is to give them the right to convert their loan into
shares. The right can usually be exercised at a given rate of conversion from loan to shares, once
a year over a stated length of time. The value of the conversion right will depend on the perform-
ance of the shares in the market. If the shares increase in value significantly, the conversion value
will increase and attract the lender to opt into shares. If the shares do badly, the lender can retain
the loan stock with its higher levels of security.

The accounting entries are the same as those described in Section 5.10 for the redemption of
debentures. The value of the shares issued to meet the redemption will be fixed under the terms
of the original agreement by reference to their market prices at specified dates.

Learning outcomes

You should now have learnt:

1 The difference between the terms ‘redemption” and ‘purchase’ in the context of
shares and debentures.

2 How to make the accounting entries relating to the redemption or purchase by a
company of its own shares.

3 That the accounting entries made on the redemption by a company of its own
shares are the same as when it purchases its own shares, except that the word
‘redeemable’ will appear as the first word in the title of the accounts for shares
that are redeemed.

4 That in order to protect creditors, companies must still have irredeemable
shares in issue after undertaking any purchase or redemption of its own shares.

5 That a company cannot redeem or purchase its own shares unless they are fully
paid.

6 That the rules on reserves to use when purchasing or issuing their own shares at
a premium are less strict for private companies.

7 How to make the accounting entries relating to the redemption or purchase by a
company of its own debentures.

8 That debentures are redeemed according to the terms of their issue.
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Answers to activities

5.1

5.2

5.3

Apart from moving into line with the rest of Europe, the restriction that remained (of having one
member, i.e. shareholder) minimised the risk of abuse of creditors, which was the main reason for
having the rule preventing purchase and redemption in the first place.

If this occurred, it would suggest that the company issued them only to have free use of the funds
they realised for a short time. In effect, they were simply a form of interest-free loan. By requiring
that shares be fully paid before being redeemed or purchased back by the company, the possibility
that companies would engage in this form of sharp practice is minimised.

Private companies are much smaller than public ones. Their shares are often held by a far smaller
group of shareholders, often all known to each other. There is not, therefore, the same need to
protect shareholders, but there is often a greater need to assist shareholders wishing to reduce
their shareholdings. Private companies also tend to have far smaller and less extensive groups
of creditors in need of protection. If you refer back to the advantages listed in Section 5.2, you
can see why it is important that private companies have greater flexibility in this respect than

public ones.

Review questions
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5.1 Exercises (a) to (e) are based on the following balance sheet.
RSV Ltd
Balance Sheet
f
Net assets (except bank) 20,000
Bank 13,000
33,000
Preference share capital 5,000
Ordinary share capital 15,000
Share premium 2,000
22,000
Profit and loss 11,000
33,000
Note also that each of exercises (a) to (e) is independent of any other. The exercises are not cumulative.
Required:
(a) RSV Ltd redeems £5,000 preference shares at par, a new issue of £5,000 ordinary shares at par

(b)
(0

(d)

(e)

being made for the purpose. Show the balance sheet after completion of these transactions.
Workings are to be shown as journal entries.

RSV Ltd redeems £5,000 preference shares at par, with no new issue of shares to provide funds.
Show the balance sheet after completing the transaction. Workings: show journal entries.

RSV Ltd redeems £5,000 preference shares at par. To help finance this an issue of £1,500
ordinary shares at par is effected. Show the balance sheet after these transactions have been
completed; also show the necessary journal entries.

RSV Ltd redeems £5,000 preference shares at a premium of 25 per cent. There is no new issue
of shares for the purpose. In this question the share premium account is taken as being from
the issue of ordinary shares some years ago. Show the balance sheet after these transactions
have been completed, and the supporting journal entries.

RSV Ltd redeems £5,000 preference shares at a premium of 40 per cent. There is an issue of
£7,000 ordinary shares at par for the purpose. The preference shares had originally been issued
at a premium of 30 per cent. Show the balance sheet after these transactions have been com-
pleted, and also the supporting journal entries.
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5.2A Exercises (a) to (e) are based on the following balance sheet.

BAR Ltd
Balance Sheet

Net assets (except bank) 31,000
Bank 16,000
47,000
Preference share capital 8,000
Ordinary share capital 20,000
Share premium 4,000
32,000
Profit and loss 15,000
47,000

Note also that exercises (a) to (e) are independent of each other. They are not cumulative.

Required:

(a) BAR Ltd purchases £10,000 of its own ordinary share capital at par. To help finance this £7,000
preference shares are issued at par. Show the necessary journal entries and the balance sheet
after the transactions have been completed.

(b) BAR Ltd purchases £12,000 of its own ordinary shares at a premium of 20 per cent. No new
issue of shares is made for the purpose. It is assumed that the share premium account is in
respect of the issue of preference shares some years before. Show the balance sheet after the
transactions have been completed, and also the supporting journal entries.

(c) BAR Ltd purchases all the preference share capital at par. These shares were not originally
redeemable preference shares. There is no new issue of shares to provide funds. Show the requi-
site journal entries, and the closing balance sheet when the transaction has been completed.

(d) BAR Ltd purchases £12,000 of its own ordinary shares at par, a new issue of £12,000 preference
shares at par being made for the purpose. Show the journal entries needed and the balance
sheet after completing these transactions.

(e) BAR Ltd purchases £6,000 ordinary shares at a premium of 50 per cent. They had originally
been issued at a premium of 20 per cent. There is an issue of £10,000 preference shares at par
for the purpose. Show the amended balance sheet, together with the journal entries.

5.3 A company’s balance sheet appears as follows:

f
Net assets (except bank) 12,500
Bank 13,000
25,500
Preference share capital 5,000
Ordinary share capital 10,000
Non-distributable reserves 6,000
21,000
Profit and loss 4,500
25,500

Required:

(a) If £6,000 of the ordinary shares were purchased at par, there being no new issue of shares for the
purpose, show the journal entries to record the transactions and the amended balance sheet.

(b) If, instead of (a), £6,000 ordinary shares were purchased at a premium of 100 per cent, there
being no new issue of shares for the purpose, show the journal entries to record the trans-
actions and the amended balance sheet.
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5.4A Debentures of £30,000 are issued on 1 January 20X3. Redemption is to take place, on equal
terms, four years later. The company decides to put aside an equal amount to be invested at 5 per
cent which will provide £30,000 on maturity. Tables show that £0.232012 invested annually will
produce £1 in four years’ time.

You are required to show:

(a) debenture redemption reserve account

(b) debenture sinking fund investment account
(c) debentures account

(d) profit and loss account extracts.

5.5 Some years ago M plc had issued £375,000 of 10 per cent debentures 20X6/20X0 at par. The
terms of the issue allow the company the right to repurchase these debentures for cancellation
at or below par, with an option to redeem, at a premium of 1 per cent, on 30 September 20X6.
To exercise this option the company must give three months’ notice, which it duly did on 30 June
20X6 indicating its intention to redeem all the debentures outstanding at 30 September 20X6.

M plc had established a sinking fund designed to accumulate the sum of £378,750 by
30 September 20X6 and had appropriated profits annually and invested these, together with
the interest from such investments and the profits made on any realisations from time to time. A
special No. 2 bank account was established specifically to deal with the receipts and payments
relating to the debentures and the sinking fund.

By 30 June 20X6 annual contributions amounting to £334,485, together with the interest on the
sinking fund investments of £39,480, had all been invested except for £2,475 which remained in
the No. 2 bank account at that date.

The only investments sold, prior to 30 June 20X6, had cost £144,915 and realised £147,243. This
was used to repurchase debentures with a par value of £150,000.

Transactions occurring between 1 July and 30 September 20X6 were:

(/) interest received on the sinking fund investments:

7 July £1,756
13 September £1,455
(if) proceeds from the sale of investments:
2 August £73,215 (book value was £69,322)
25 September £160,238 (remaining investments)

(iii) redemption of all the debentures, on 30 September, with the exception of £15,000 held by
B Limited. The company had received notice of a garnishee order.*
(iv) M plc deposited with the W Bank plc the sum of £15,150 on 30 September 20X6.

You are to ignore debenture interest and income tax.

You are required, from the information given above, to prepare the ledger accounts (including the
No. 2 bank account) in the books of M plc for the period 30 June to 30 September 20X6, showing
the transfer of the final balances to the appropriate accounts.

*Note — Garnishee order
This order, issued by the court, instructs M plc not to release the money owing to B Limited until
directed by the court to do so.

(Chartered Institute of Management Accountants)
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5.6A The following information relates to White Rabbit Trading plc:

Summarised Balance Sheet as at 31 January 20X7

£000
Fixed assets 2,400
Investments 120
Net current assets 1,880
4,400
Financed by: £000
Capital and reserves
Ordinary shares of 50p each fully paid 2,000
Redeemable shares of £1 each (20X7/20X1) 500
Share premium 200
Revaluation surplus 400
Profit and loss account 900
4,000
Long-term liabilities
8% debentures (20X7/20X0) 400
4,400

On 1 February 20X7 the company closed the list of applications for 400,000 ordinary shares at a
premium of 50p. The shares were to be paid for as follows: 60p on application, 25p on allotment
and 15p on the first and final call, which was to be made on 1 May 20X7. A total of £1,320,000 was
received, the shares were allotted and £1,032,000 was returned to unsuccessful applicants. The call
money was received by 31 May from all shareholders, with the exception of two shareholders,
one of whom had been allotted 500 shares. The other subscriber for 100 shares still owed £25 for
allotment in addition to the call money. Eventually both lots of shares were forfeited and reissued
to an existing shareholder for a payment of £500 which was duly received.

At a board meeting on 15 February 20X7 the directors decided to make a fresh issue of 500,000
£1 redeemable shares at a premium of 60p, and to redeem all of the existing redeemable shares at
a premium of 40p. The shares had originally been issued for £1.20 each. All moneys due on application
were duly received by 31 March 20X7, and the redemption took place on 6 April 20X7.

In January 20X5 White Rabbit Trading plc had purchased, for cash, 80,000 25p ordinary shares in
March Hares Ltd for £25,000, and this is included in investments on the balance sheet at 31 January
20X7. On 1 April 20X7 the company purchased 400,000 out of a total issue of 500,000 25p ordinary
shares in March Hares Ltd, by exchanging 200,000 of its own ordinary shares.

The 8 per cent debentures were redeemed on 15 May 20X7 at a 10 per cent premium, and on
the same date £500,000 7 per cent debentures (20X0/20X3) were issued at a discount of 5 per cent.

Required:
Show the full journal entries to record the above events, including cash/bank transactions, in the
books of White Rabbit Trading plc.

(Association of Chartered Certified Accountants)

5.7 During the year to 30 September 20X9, Popham plc issued 100,000 £1 ordinary shares. The
terms of the offer were as follows:

20X9 f

31 March on application 0.30 (including the premium)
30 April on allotment 0.70

30 June first and final call 0.20

Applications were received for 200,000 shares. The directors decided to allot the shares on the basis
of 1 for every 2 shares applied for and apply the excess application money received against the
amount due on allotment.

VAl
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All amounts due on application and allotment were received on the due dates, with the exception
of one shareholder who had been allotted 10,000 shares, and who defaulted on the first and final
call. These shares were forfeited on 31 July 20X9, and reissued on 31 August 20X9 at a price of
£1.10 per share.

Required:

Write up the above details in the books of account of Popham plc using the following ledger
accounts:

(/) application and allotment

(if) first and final call

(iii) investment — own shares.

(Association of Accounting Technicians)
5.8A Alas plc has an authorised share capital of 150,000 ordinary shares of £10 each. Upon

incorporation, 50,000 shares were issued and fully paid. The company has decided to issue another
50,000 shares, the details of which are as follows:

Per share
Upon: f
Application 3
Allotment (including a premium of £5) 8
First call 2
Final call 2
15

Additional information:

1 Applications were received for 85,000 shares out of which 10,000 shares were rejected, the cash
being returned immediately to the applicants. The remaining applicants were allotted two
shares for every three shares applied for, and the surplus application money was carried forward
to the allotment stage.

2 The total amount due on allotment was duly received.

3 All cash due at the first call was received, but the final call resulted in 5,000 shares being forfeited.
These shares were subsequently reissued at a price of £13 per share.

Required:

Compile the following ledger accounts:

(a) ordinary share capital

(b) ordinary share applications

(c) ordinary share allotment

(d) share premium

(e) ordinary share first call

(f) ordinary share final call

(g) investments — own shares (originally known as the forfeited shares account).

5.9 The following information relates to Grigg plc:

1 On 1 April 20X8 the company had £100,000 10 per cent debentures in issue. The interest on these
debentures is paid on 30 September and 31 March.

2 The debenture redemption fund balance (relating to the redemption of these debentures) at
1 April 20X8 was £20,000. This fund is being built up by annual appropriations of £2,000.
The annual appropriation (along with any dividends or interest on the investments) is invested
on 31 March.

3 Debenture redemption fund investments can be realised at any time in order to purchase deben-
tures in the open market either at or below par value. Such debentures are then cancelled.

4 On 31 December 20X8 £10,000 of investments were sold for £11,400, and the proceeds were
used to purchase debentures with a par value of £12,000.
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5 Dividends and interest on redemption fund investments during the year to 31 March 20X9
amounted to £1,600.
6 The cost of dealing with the above matters and any taxation effects may be ignored.

Required:

Write up the following ledger accounts for the year to 31 March 20X9:
(a) 10 per cent debentures

(b) debenture redemption fund

(c) debenture redemption fund investments

(d) debenture redemption

(e) debenture interest.

Note: The debenture redemption fund is sometimes known as a sinking fund.

You can find a range of additional self-test questions, as well as material to help you with
your studies, on the website that accompanies this book at www.pearsoned.co.uk/wood
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Limited companies taking over
other businesses

Learning objectives

After you have studied this chapter, you should be able to:
® explain how goodwill may arise on the purchase of a business
® explain the difference between goodwill and negative goodwill

® record the accounting entries relating to a limited company taking over another
business

® describe the difference in the accounting treatment of takeovers by limited
companies of sole traders, partnerships and limited companies

® describe the two methods whereby a limited company may take over another
limited company

® deal with pre-incorporation profits and losses

Introduction

eeccccccccce

In this chapter, you'll learn about goodwill and negative goodwill and you will learn
how to record the purchase of a business in the books of the purchaser using a
variety of methods of paying for the purchase. You will also learn about how to deal
with pre-incorporation losses and profits.

Q Background

94

From time to time, limited companies take over other businesses which are in existence as going
concerns. The purchase may be: (i) in cash; (ii) by giving the company’s shares to the sellers;
(iii) by giving the company’s debentures; or (iv) by any combination of the three.

Never be mistaken into thinking that because the assets bought are shown in the selling entity’s
books at one value, the purchasing company must record the assets taken over in its own books
at the same value. The values shown in the purchasing company’s books are those values at which
the company is buying the assets (known as their ‘fair’ values), such values being frequently quite
different than those shown in the selling firm’s books.

For example, the selling entity may have bought premises many years earlier for £100,000
which are now worth £250,000. The company buying the premises will obviously have to pay
£250,000 for the premises and it is this value that is recorded in the buying company’s books.
Alternatively, if its value has fallen, the value at which it is recorded in the buying company’s
books would be less than that shown in the selling entity’s books.
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The recording of the transactions is the simple part. The negotiations that take place before
agreement is reached, and the various strategies undertaken by the various parties, are a study in
themselves. The accounting entries are, in effect, the tip of the iceberg, i.e. that part of the whole
affair which is seen by the eventual reader of the financial statements.

Where the total purchase consideration exceeds the total value of the identifiable assets as
recorded in the ledger of the purchasing company, the excess is the goodwill, and is entered as a
debit in a goodwill account in the purchasing company’s books.

Should the total purchase consideration be less than the values of the identifiable assets
recorded in the purchasing company’s ledger, the difference is known as negative goodwill and is
entered as a credit in the goodwill account. (Note: the goodwill amount is always shown in the
assets section of the balance sheet, even when it has a credit balance.)

Why do you think the amount paid for a business may be different from the total
value of its net assets as shown in its financial statements?

Let’s now look at how business takeovers are recorded in the accounting records of the purchaser.

Taking over a sole trader

We’ll start with the takeover of the simplest sort of business unit, that of a sole trader. Some of
the balance sheets shown will be deliberately simplified so that the principles involved are not
hidden behind a mass of complicated calculations.

Exhibit 6.1

Earl Ltd is to buy the business of M Kearney. The purchase consideration is to be £60,000 cash, the
company placing the following values on the assets taken over — machinery £30,000; stock £10,000.
The goodwill must therefore be £20,000, because the total price of £60,000 exceeds the sum of the
values of the machinery £30,000 and stock £10,000 by £20,000. The company’s balance sheets
before and after the takeover are shown below:

M Kearney
Balance Sheet
£
Machinery 30,000
Stock 10,000
40,000
Capital 40,000
Earl Ltd
Balance Sheets
Before +or— After
f £ £
Goodwill +20,000 20,000
Machinery 110,000 +30,000 140,000
Stock 50,000 +10,000 60,000
Bank 90,000 -60,000 30,000
250,000 250,000
Share capital 200,000 200,000
Profit and loss 50,000 50,000
250,000 250,000
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If shares had been issued to Kearney instead of cash, the new balance sheet of Earl Ltd would
be as above except that bank would be £90,000 and share capital would be £260,000, as shown
in Exhibit 6.2.

Exhibit 6.2
Earl Ltd
Balance Sheets
Before +or— After
£ £ £

Goodwill +20,000 20,000
Machinery 110,000 +30,000 140,000
Stock 50,000 +10,000 60,000
Bank 90,000 90,000
250,000 310,000
Share capital 200,000 +60,000 260,000
Profit and loss 50,000 50,000
250,000 310,000

Exhibit 6.3

If the purchase had been made by issuing 50,000 shares of £1 each at a premium of 50 per cent,
then the total consideration would have been worth £75,000 which, if the assets of £40,000 are
deducted, leaves goodwill of £35,000. The balance sheets would then be:

Earl Ltd
Balance Sheets
Before +or— After
£ £ £

Goodwill +35,000 35,000
Machinery 110,000 +30,000 140,000
Stocks 50,000 +10,000 60,000
Bank 90,000 90,000
250,000 325,000

Share capital 200,000 +50,000 250,000
Share premium +25,000 25,000
Profit and loss 50,000 50,000
250,000 325,000

You should now realise just how straightforward the balance sheet changes are. You simply
adjust the balance sheet for the assets (and liabilities) acquired and for the items used in order to
complete the purchase. Whatever the difference is between the two parts of the balance sheet,
must be the goodwill.

In each of Exhibits 6.1 to 6.4 it has been assumed that all transactions were started and com-
pleted at the same time. In reality, an intermediary account would first be created but then closed
almost immediately when the purchase consideration was handed over.

Taking Exhibit 6.3 as an example, a credit entry will be made in the share capital account and
another in the share premium account, plus debit entries in the goodwill, machinery and stock
accounts. Think about this. Shares cannot be issued to goodwill, machinery or stocks. They
have, in fact, been issued to M Kearney. This means that there should have been an account for
M Kearney involved in the double entries, but the balance on it was cancelled when the purchase
was completed. The actual accounts used for Exhibit 6.3 in the books of Earl Ltd were:
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If the purchase had been made by the issue of 10,000 shares of £1 each at a premium of 40 per
cent, £30,000 worth of 7 per cent debentures at par and £40,000 in cash, the total purchase consid-
eration would be ordinary shares valued at £14,000, debentures valued at £30,000 and £40,000 in
cash, making a total of £84,000. The assets are valued at £40,000, so the goodwill must be £44,000.

The balance sheets would be:

Earl Ltd
Balance Sheets
Before +or— After
f f f
Goodwill +44,000 44,000
Machinery 110,000 +30,000 140,000
Stocks 50,000 +10,000 60,000
Bank 90,000 -40,000 50,000
250,000 294,000
Less Debentures - +30,000 ( 30,000)
250,000 264,000
Share capital 200,000 +10,000 210,000
Share premium +4,000 4,000
Profit and loss 50,000 50,000
250,000 264,000
Share Premium
f
M Kearney 25,000
Share Capital
£ £
Balance c/d 250,000 Balance b/d 200,000
M Kearney 50,000
250,000 250,000
Balance b/d 250,000
Profit and Loss
f
Balance b/d 50,000
Goodwill
£
M Kearney 35,000
Machinery
£ f
Balance b/d 110,000 Balance ¢/d 140,000
M Kearney 30,000
140,000 140,000
Balance b/d 140,000
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Stock
£ £
Balance b/d 50,000 Balance c/d 60,000
M Kearney 10,000
60,000 60,000
Balance b/d 60,000

(The £10,000 may have been entered in the purchases account. However, Kearney’s £10,000 stock
obviously increased the actual amount of stock held after the takeover of Kearney’s business.)

Bank
f
Balance b/d 90,000
M Kearney
f f
Consideration passing: Assets taken over:
Share capital 50,000 Goodwill 35,000
Share premium 25,000 Machinery 30,000
Stock 10,000
75,000 75,000

Some accountants would have preferred to use a business purchase account instead of a per-
sonal account such as that of M Kearney.

Sometimes the company taking over the business of a sole trader pays for the assets and takes
over the creditors of the business acquired. Take the case of a sole trader with assets valued at
premises £50,000 and stock of £40,000. To gain control of these assets, a company is to pay the
sole trader £110,000 in cash. In addition, the company will pay off the creditors £10,000.
Goodwill is, therefore, £30,000:

Paid by the company to gain control of the sole trader’s assets: f
Cash to the sole trader 110,000
Cash to the sole trader’s creditors 10,000

120,000

The company receives assets: £
Premises 50,000
Stock 40,000

(_90,000)

Excess paid for goodwill 30,000

Taking over a partnership

The entries are virtually the same as those made when taking over a sole trader. The main differ-
ence is the distribution of the purchase consideration. In the case of a sole trader, the sole trader
gets all of it. In a partnership, it has to be divided between the partners.

This means that a partnership realisation account will have to be drawn up to calculate the
profit or loss on sale of the partnership business which is attributable to each partner. The profit
or loss on sale will then be shared between the partners in their profit/loss-sharing ratios.

The double entry needed in the partnership books is:

(A) Transfer assets being disposed of to the realisation account:
Dr Realisation
Cr Assets (various)
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(B) Transfer liabilities being disposed of to the realisation account:

Dr Liabilities (various)
Cr Realisation
(C) Enter purchase price:

Dr Limited company (purchaser)

Cr Realisation

(D) If profit on sale:
Dr Realisation

Cr Partners’ capitals (profit-sharing ratio)

(E) If loss on sale:

Dr Partners’ capitals (profit-sharing ratio)

Cr Realisation
(F) Receipt purchase price:

Dr Cash

Dr Shares (if any) in limited company
Dr Debentures (if any) in limited company
Cr Limited company (purchaser)
(G) Final settlement with partners:
Dr Partners’ capital and current accounts

Cr Cash

Cr Shares (if any) in limited company
Cr Debentures (if any) in limited company

Exhibit 6.5 shows how this is done.

Exhibit 6.5

Kay and Lee were in partnership, sharing profits and losses in the ratio 2:1 respectively. The following
was their balance sheet as at 31 December 20X4.

Kay and Lee
Balance Sheet as at 31 December 20X4

Fixed assets
Buildings
Motor vehicles

Current assets
Stock
Debtors
Bank

Current liabilities
Creditors

Capitals: Kay
Lee

Current accounts: Kay
Lee

80,000
60,000
10,000
150,000

(_50,000)

320,000
160,000

30,000
40,000

f
300,000
150,000
450,000
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e 2 On 1 January 20X5, Cayley Ltd took over the assets, other than bank. The purchase price is £800,000,
payable by £600,000 in £1 shares in Cayley Ltd at par, plus £200,000 cash. Kay and Lee will pay off
their own creditors. Shares are to be divided between the partners in their profit-sharing ratio.

First, let's look at the closing entries in the accounts of Kay and Lee. The only asset account
shown will be the bank account. The creditors’ accounts are also not shown. The letters in brackets
refer to the description of the double entry already given.

Books of Kay and Lee

Realisation
Assets taken over: f £
Buildings (A) 300,000 Cayley Ltd (@) 800,000
Motor vehicles (A) 150,000
Stock (A) 80,000
Debtors (A) 60,000
Profit on realisation:
Kay %/ (D) 140,000
Lee '/3 (D) 70,000 210,000
800,000 800,000
Cayley Ltd
f £
Realisation: sale price  (C) 800,000 Bank (F) 200,000
Shares in Cayley Ltd  (F) 600,000
800,000 800,000
Shares in Cayley Ltd
£ £
Cayley Ltd (F) 600,000 Capitals: Kay (GQ) 400,000
Lee (G) 200,000
600,000 600,000
Capitals
Kay Lee Kay Lee
f £ f f
Shares in Cayley (G) 400,000 | 200,000 Balances b/d 320,000 | 160,000
Bank (G) 60,000 | 30,000 Profit on realisation (D) | 140,000| 70,000
460,000 | 230,000 460,000 | 230,000
Current Accounts
Kay Lee Kay Lee
f £ f £
Bank (G) 30,000 | 40,000 Balances b/d 30,000 | 40,000
Bank
f £
Bank b/d 10,000 Creditors 50,000
Cayley Ltd (F) 200,000 Capitals: Kay 60,000
Lee 30,000
Current accounts: Kay 30,000
Lee 40,000
210,000 210,000
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Note: It would have been possible to transfer the balances of the current accounts to the capital
accounts before settlement.

Assuming that Cayley values the buildings at £410,000 and the stock at £70,000, its balance
sheet at 1 January 20XS5 would appear as in (B) below. The items shown under (A) were the bal-
ances before the takeover.

Balance Sheet(s)

(A) Before + - (B) After
£ £ £ £
Goodwill 110,000 110,000
Buildings 500,000 410,000 910,000
Motor vehicles 250,000 150,000 400,000
Stock 280,000 70,000 350,000
Debtors 170,000 60,000 230,000
Bank 300,000 200,000 100,000
1,500,000 800,000 200,000 2,100,000
Share capital (£1 shares) 1,000,000 600,000 1,600,000
Profit and loss 400,000 400,000
Creditors 100,000 100,000
1,500,000 600,000 2,100,000

The takeover of one company by another

There are two methods by which one company may take over another:

1 Buying all the assets of the other company with cash, shares or debentures. The selling com-
pany may afterwards be wound up: the liquidators may distribute the purchasing company’s
shares and debentures among the shareholders of the selling company, or the shares and
debentures of the buying company may be sold and the cash distributed instead.

2 Giving its own shares and debentures in exchange for the shares and debentures of the selling
company’s share and debenture holders.

The two methods are shown in Exhibit 6.6.

Exhibit 6.6
The following are the balance sheets of three companies as at the same date.

Balance Sheets

R Ltd SLtd T Ltd
£ £ £

Buildings 130,000 - 10,000
Machinery 40,000 20,000 10,000
Stock 30,000 10,000 20,000
Debtors 20,000 10,000 30,000
Bank 10,000 20,000 30,000
230,000 60,000 100,000

Share capital (£1 shares) 180,000 30,000 50,000
Profit and loss 20,000 10,000 40,000
Current liabilities 30,000 20,000 10,000

230,000 60,000 100,000
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R takes over S by exchanging with the shareholders of S two shares in R at a premium of 10 per
cent for every share they hold in S.

R takes over T by buying all the assets of T, the purchase consideration being 120,000 £1 shares
in R at a premium of 10 per cent, and R will pay off T's creditors. R values T's assets at buildings
£20,000; machinery £6,000; stock £14,000; debtors £25,000; and the bank is £30,000, a total of
£95,000.

R’s deal with the shareholders of S means that R now has complete control of S Ltd, so that S Ltd
becomes what is known as a subsidiary undertaking of R Ltd, and will be shown as an investment
in R’s balance sheet.

On the other hand, the deal with T has resulted in the ownership of the assets resting with R.
These must therefore be added to R’s assets in its own balance sheet. As R has given 120,000
£1 shares at a premium of 10 per cent plus taking over the responsibility for creditors £10,000,
the total purchase consideration for the assets taken over is £120,000 + £12,000 (10 per cent of
£120,000) + £10,000 = £142,000. Identifiable assets as already stated are valued at £95,000, there-
fore the goodwill is £142,000 — £95,000 = £47,000.

The distinction between the acquisition of the two going concerns can be seen to be a rather
fine one. With S, the shares are taken over, the possession of these in turn giving rise to the owner-
ship of the assets. In the books of R this is regarded as an investment. With T, the actual assets and
liabilities are taken over so that the assets now directly belong to R. In the books of R this is there-
fore regarded as the acquisition of additional assets and liabilities and not as an investment (using
the meaning of ‘investment’ which is used in the balance sheets of companies). The balance sheet
of R Ltd therefore becomes:

R Ltd
Balance Sheet
Before +or— After
£ {2 f

Goodwill +(T) 47,000 47,000
Buildings 130,000 +(T) 20,000 150,000
Machinery 40,000 +(T) 6,000 46,000
Investment in S at cost +(S) 66,000 66,000
Stock 30,000 +(T) 14,000 44,000
Debtors 20,000 +(T) 25,000 45,000
Bank 10,000 +(T) 30,000 40,000
230,000 438,000
Less Current liabilities (_30,000) +(T) 10,000 (_40,000)
200,000 398,000

Share capital 180,000 +(S) 60,000
+(T) 120,000 = 360,000

Share premium +(S) 6,000
+(T) 12,000 = 18,000
Profit and loss 20,000 20,000
200,000 398,000

No entry is necessary in the books of S Ltd, as it is merely the identity of the shareholders that has
changed. This would be duly recorded in the register of members, but this is not really an integral
part of the double entry accounting system.

If, however, T Ltd is now liquidated, then a realisation account must be drawn up and the
distribution of the shares (or cash if the shares are sold) to the shareholders of T Ltd must be
shown. Such accounts would appear as follows:
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Books of T Ltd
Realisation
£ £
Book values of assets disposed of: R Ltd: Total purchase
Buildings 10,000 consideration 142,000
Machinery 10,000
Stock 20,000
Debtors 30,000
Bank 30,000
Profit on realisation transferred
to sundry shareholders 42,000
142,000 142,000
Share Capital
£ f
Sundry shareholders 50,000 Balance b/d 50,000
Profit and Loss
f f
Sundry shareholders 40,000 Balance b/d 40,000
Creditors
f f
R Ltd — taken over 10,000 Balance b/d 10,000
R Ltd
f f
Realisation: Creditors 10,000
Total consideration 142,000 Sundry shareholders: 120,000
£1 shares received at premium
of 10 per cent 132,000
142,000 142,000
Sundry Shareholders
£ f
R Ltd: 120,000 £1 shares at premium Share capital 50,000
of 10 per cent 132,000 Profit and loss 40,000
Profit on realisation 42,000
132,000 132,000

It can be seen that the items possessed by the sundry shareholders have been transferred to an
account in their name. These are (a) the share capital which obviously belongs to them, () the
credit balance on the profit and loss account built up by withholding cash dividends from
the shareholders, and (c) the profit on realisation which they, as owners of the business, are
entitled to take. As there were 50,000 shares in T Ltd, and 120,000 shares have been given by
R Ltd, then each holder of 5 shares in T Ltd will now be given 12 shares in R Ltd to complete the

liquidation of the company.

The exchange of debentures

Sometimes the debentures in the company taking over are to be given in exchange for the debentures
of the company being taken over. This may be straightforward on the basis of £100 debentures
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in company A in exchange for £100 debentures in company B. However, when the exchange is in
terms of one or both sets of debentures being at a discount or at a premium, it becomes more
complex. This form of exchange may occur because:

1 There is a desire to persuade the debenture holders in company B to give up their debentures
but they need some form of inducement, such as letting them have A’s debentures at a dis-
count, even though they may well be worth their par value.

2 There may be a difference between the interest rates of the two debentures. For instance, a
person with a £100 7 per cent debenture would not normally gladly part with it in exchange
for a £100 6 per cent debenture in another company. The first debenture gives the investor £7
a year interest, the second one only £6 per year. Thus, the debenture in the second company
may be issued at a discount so that holders who switch to it continue to receive £7 a year for
each £100 they originally invested. As the amount of interest is only one factor — others
include the certainty of the debenture holder regaining his/her money if the business had to
close down — the precise terms of the exchange cannot be based merely on arithmetical calcu-
lations of interest rates, but it is one of the measures taken when negotiating the exchange of
debentures and is the most obvious.

Exhibit 6.7

1 D Ltd is to give the necessary debentures at a discount of 10 per cent required to redeem £9,000
debentures in J Ltd at a premium of 5 per cent. The problem here is to find exactly what amount
of debentures must be given by D Ltd.

Total nominal value of debentures Redeemable value of each £100 debenture of J Ltd

X
to be redeemed (exchanged) Issue value of each £100 debenture of D Ltd
=Total nominal value of D Ltd to be issued
=£9,000 x E

90
=£10,500

Thus, to satisfy the agreement, debentures of D Ltd of a total nominal value of £10,500 are
issued at a discount of 10 per cent to the debenture holder of J Ltd.

2 H Ltd is to give the necessary debentures at par to redeem £5,000 debentures in M Ltd at a
premium of 4 per cent.

£5,000 x % = Debentures of £5,200 nominal value are given by H Ltd at par

Now, let’s move on to a look at something that often happens when a company is first formed
— profits or losses have been earned prior to incorporation.

The treatment of profits (or losses) prior to incorporation

Quite frequently, companies are formed after the business has been in existence for some time
and profits or losses have been earned. For example, it could be that two people enter into busi-
ness and start trading with the intention of running the business as a limited company. However,
it takes more than a few days to attend to all the necessary formalities before the company can
be incorporated. The actual time taken depends on the speed with which the formation is pushed
through and the resolution of any problems which arise.
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When the company is incorporated, it may enter into a contract whereby it adopts all the
transactions retrospectively to the date that the firm (i.e. with two people, it was a partnership)
had started trading. This means that the company accepts all the benefits and disadvantages
which have flowed from the transactions which have occurred. The example used was that of
a new business; it could well have been an old, established business that was taken over from a
date predating incorporation of the company.

Legally, a company cannot earn profits before it comes into existence (i.e. incorporated).
Therefore, to decide what action to take, profits must be calculated. Any such profits are of a cap-
ital nature and must be transferred to a capital reserve account, normally titled Pre-incorporation
Profit Account or Profit Prior to Incorporation Account. That this should be done is obvious if
you realise that, even though the actual date from which the transactions have been adopted falls
before the date of incorporation, the price at which the business was taken over was influenced
by the values of the assets etc. at the date when the company was incorporated.

Let’s consider an example. Suppose that Doolin and Kershaw start a business on 1 January
20XS5 with £1,000 capital, and very shortly afterwards Davie and Parker become involved and
the four of them form a company in which they will all become directors — Davie and Parker to
start active work when the company is incorporated.

The company is incorporated on 1 May 20XS5 and the original owners of the business, Doolin
and Kershaw, are to be given shares in the new company to compensate them for handing over
the business. If they know, not necessarily with precision, that the original £1,000 assets have
grown to net assets of £6,000, then they would not part with the business to the company for
£1,000. Ignoring goodwill, they would want £6,000 of shares. Conversely, if the net assets have
shrunk to £400, would Davie and Parker be happy to see £1,000 of shares handed over? This
means that the price at which the business is taken over is dependent on the expected value at the
date of the company incorporation, and that value clearly includes profits or losses earned to
that date.

Taking the case where net assets have increased to £6,000, the £5,000 difference is made up
of profits. If these profits could be distributed as dividends, the capital payment of £6,000 in shares
is being partly used for dividend purposes. This is inappropriate and is in direct contradiction to
the normal accounting practice of keeping capital intact. The £5,000 profits must, therefore, be
regarded as not being available for dividends. They are a capital reserve.

Although pre-incorporation profit cannot be regarded as free for use as dividends, any pre-
incorporation loss can be used to restrict the dividends which could be paid out of the profits
made after incorporation. This is an example of application of the prudence concept and, if the
price paid on takeover was higher than was justified by the net worth of the business at that
time, and it was discovered later that a pre-incorporation loss had been made, then the restric-
tion of dividends leads to the capital lost being replaced by assets held back within the business.
Alternatively, the amount of the pre-incorporation loss could be charged to a goodwill account,
as this is also another way of stating that a higher price has been paid for the assets of the firm
than is represented by the value of the tangible assets taken over.

It is possible for the profits up to the date of incorporation to be calculated separately from
those earned after incorporation. However, the cost of doing so may not be worthwhile incur-
ring when there is no legal requirement to do so. (This is invariably the case in examination
questions.)

Therefore, when the financial statements for the full financial year are prepared, they will con-
sist of profits pre- and post-incorporation. The financial statements must, therefore, be split to
throw up the two sets of profit (or loss), so that distinction can be made between those profits
usable, and those not usable, for dividend purposes. There is no hard-and-fast rule as to how this
is done. Known facts must prevail and, where an arbitrary apportionment must be made, it
should meet the test of common sense in the particular case. Exhibit 6.8 shows an attempt to
determine the amount of pre- and post-incorporation profits.
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Exhibit 6.8

Slack and King are partners. Their business was taken over as from 1 January 20X4 by Monk Ltd
which is incorporated on 1 April 20X4. It was agreed that all profits made from 1 January 20X4
should belong to the company, and that Slack and King are entitled to interest on the purchase
price from 1 January to the date of payment.

The purchase price was paid on 30 April 20X4, including £1,600 interest. A profit and loss
account is drawn up for the year ended 31 December 20X4. This is shown as column (X). This is
then split into pre-incorporation, shown as column (Y), and post-incorporation as column (Z). The
methods used to apportion the particular items are shown after the profit and loss account, the
letters (A) to (1) against the items being references to notes below the profit and loss account.

These methods of apportionment must definitely not be used in all cases for similar expenses;
they are only an indication of different methods of apportionment. The facts and the peculiarities
of each business must be taken into account, and no method should be adopted simply because it
was used before.

Assume for this example that all calendar months are of equal length.

Monk Ltd
Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31 December 20X4
(X) (Y) (2)
Full year Pre-incorporation After
f £ £ f f £

Gross profit (A) 38,000 8,000 30,000
Less

Partnership salaries (B) 1,000 1,000

Employees’ remuneration (©) 12,000 3,000 9,000

General expenses © 800 200 600

Commission on sales (D) 1,700 200 1,500

Distribution expenses (E) 1,900 400 1,500

Bad debts (F) 100 20 80

Bank overdraft interest (G) 200 200

Directors’ remuneration (H) 5,000 5,000

Directors’ expenses (H) 400 400

Debenture interest (H) 500 500

Depreciation (@] 1,000 250 750

Interest paid to vendors n 1,600 1,200 400

(26,200) (6,270) (19,930)

Net profit 11,800
Transferred to capital reserves 1,730
Carried down to the appropriation account 10,070
Notes:

(A) For the three months to 31 March sales amounted to £40,000, and for the remaining nine
months they were £150,000. Gross profit is at a uniform rate of 20 per cent of selling price
throughout the year. Therefore the gross profit is apportioned (Y) 20 per cent of £40,000 =
£8,000, and (Z) 20 per cent of £150,000 = £30,000.

(B) The partnership salaries of the vendors, Slack and King, obviously belong to (Y), because that is
the period of the partnership.

(C) These expenses, in this particular case, have accrued evenly throughout the year and are there-
fore split on the time basis of (Y) three-twelfths, (Z) nine-twelfths.

(D) Commission to the salespeople was paid at the rate of '/2 per cent on sales up to 31 March, and
1 per cent thereafter. The commission figure is split:

(Y) 'z per cent of £40,000= 200
(2) 1 per cent of £150,000 = 1,500
1,700
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(E) In this particular case (but not always true in every case) the distribution expenses have varied
directly with the value of sales. They are therefore split:

() 5218 Evpenses = 22000 | £1900 = £ « £1,900 = £400
Total sales 190,000 19

2) —252185_ expenses = 122000 1900 = 12 & £1,900 = £1,500
Total sales 190,000 19

(F) The bad debts were two in number:
(/) inrespect of a sale in January, the debtor dying penniless in March, £20;
(if) in respect of a sale in June, the debtor being declared bankrupt in December, £80.

(G) The bank account was never overdrawn until June, so that the interest charged must be for
period (2).

(H) Only in companies are such expenses as directors’ salaries, directors’ expenses and debenture
interest to be found. These must naturally be shown in period (2).

(I) The interest paid to the vendors was due to the fact that the company was receiving all the
benefits from 1 January but did not in fact pay any cash for the business until 30 April. This is
therefore in effect loan interest which should be spread over the period it was borrowed, i.e.
three months to (Y) and 1 month to (Z).

Learning outcomes

You should now have learnt:
1 Why goodwill may arise when a business is taken over.
2 The difference between goodwill and negative goodwill.

3 The basic accounting entries are the same whether a limited company takes over
a sole trader or a partnership.

4 Limited companies may take over other limited companies either:
(a) by buying all the assets of the other company, or
(b) by giving its own shares and debentures in exchange for the shares and
debentures of the company being taken over.

5 How to record pre-incorporation losses and profits.
6 That pre-incorporation profits are not available for distribution.

Answer to activity

6.1 Apart from the obvious difference that may arise between the net book value of an individual asset
and its true worth (i.e. its fair value), such as in the example of the property given in the text, when
a business is sold, the purchaser may have to pay extra to cover the value of intangible assets that
do not appear in the balance sheet. Examples would include the reputation and customer base of
the business being purchased, neither of which can appear in a balance sheet.

It is also possible that less may be paid than the net worth of a business because some assets may
be considered as not being worth the amounts shown in the financial statements - it may be con-
sidered, for example, that debtors are likely to be overvalued or that individual assets are worth less
to the purchaser than the values shown in the financial statements.

Of course, buyers generally try to pay as little as possible for a business. If a seller is very keen to
sell, a price may be agreed that is below the net worth as shown in the balance sheet, even though
that value is correct. It all depends on how the transaction is negotiated by the purchaser and the seller.
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Review questions

6.1 Chess Ltd was incorporated on 1 September 20X4 and took over the business of Red and
Green on 1 June 20X4. It was agreed that all profits made from 1 June should belong to the com-
pany and that the vendors should be entitled to interest on the purchase price from 1 June to the
date of payment. The purchase price was paid on 31 October 20X4 including £3,300 interest.

The following is the profit and loss account for the year to 31 May 20X5:

£ £

Gross profit 56,000
Less: Expenses
Salaries of Red and Green 3,390
Wages and general expenses 17,280
Rent 1,720
Distribution expenses 3,360
Commission on sales 1,400
Bad debts 628
Interest paid to vendors 3,300
Directors’ remuneration 8,000
Directors’ expenses 1,030
Depreciation f

Vans 3,800

Machinery 1,150

4,950

Bank interest 336 (45,394)
Net profit 10,606

You are given the following information:

1 Sales amounted to £40,000 for the three months to 31 August 20X4 and £100,000 for the nine
months to 31 May 20X5. Gross profit is at a uniform rate of 40 per cent of selling price through-
out the year, and commission at a rate of 1 per cent is paid on all sales.

2 Salaries of £3,390 were paid to the partners for their assistance in running the business up to
31 August 20X4.

3 The bad debts written off are:

(a) a debt of £208 taken over from the vendors;
(b) a debt of £420 in respect of goods sold in November 20X4.

4 On 1 June 20X4, two vans were bought for £14,000 and machinery for £10,000. On 1 August
20X4 another van was bought for £6,000 and on 1 March 20X5, another machine was added for
£6,000. Depreciation has been written off vans at 20 per cent per annum, and machinery 10 per
cent per annum. Depreciation is written off for each month in which an asset is owned.

5 Wages and general expenses and rent all accrued at an even rate throughout the year.

6 The bank granted an overdraft facility in September 20X4.

Assuming all calendar months are of equal length:

(a) set out the profit and loss account in columnar form, so as to distinguish between the period
prior to the company’s incorporation and the period after incorporation;

(b) state how you would deal with the profit prior to incorporation;

(c) state how you would deal with the results prior to incorporation if they had turned out to be a
net loss.

6.2 0On 30 June 20X4 Smith and Sons Ltd acquired all the assets, except the investments, of Firefly
Ltd.

The following are the summaries of the profit and loss account of Firefly Ltd for the years end-
ing 30 June 20X2, 20X3 and 20X4:
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20X2  20X3  20X4 20X2  20X3  20X4
Motor expenses 9,400 9,900 10,300 Gross profit 164,800 178,200 177,400
Management salaries 32,000 35,000 36,000 Investment income 2,100 2,900 4,200
Depreciation of plant

and machinery 12,000 9,600 7,680 Rents received 7,800 3,300 -
Overdraft interest 440 1,120 1,360 Profit on sale of
Wrapping expenses 5010 5,730 6,120 property - 23,200 -
Preliminary expenses
written off - 4,400 -
Net profit 115,850 141,850 120,140
174,700 207,600 181,600 174,700 207,600 181,600

The purchase price is to be the amount on which an estimated maintainable profit would rep-
resent a return of 20 per cent per annum.

The maintainable profit is to be taken as the average of the profits of the three years 20X2,
20X3 and 20X4, after making any necessary adjustments.

You are given the following information:

(@) The cost of the plant and machinery was £60,000. It has been agreed that depreciation should
have been written off at the rate of 10 per cent per annum using the straight line method.

(b) A new type of wrapping material means that wrapping expenses will be halved in future.

(c) By switching to a contract supply basis on motor fuel and motor repairs, it is estimated that
motor expenses will fall by 25 per cent in future.

(d) Stock treated as valueless at 30 June 20X1 was sold for £4,700 in 20X3.

(e) The working capital of the new company is sound and it is felt that there will be no need for a
bank overdraft in the foreseeable future.

(f) Management salaries have been inadequate and will have to be increased by £35,000 a year in
future.

You are required to set out your calculation of the purchase price. All workings must be shown. In
fact, your managing director, who is not an accountant, should be able to decipher how the price
was calculated.

6.3 CJK Ltd was incorporated on 15 December 20X9 with an authorised capital of 200,000 ordin-
ary shares of £0.20 each to acquire as at 31 December 20X9 the business of CK, a sole trader, and
RP Ltd, a company.

From the following information you are required to prepare:

(@) the realisation and capital accounts in the books of CK and RP Ltd showing the winding up of
these two concerns;

(b) the journal entries to open the books of CJK Ltd, including cash transactions and the raising of
finance;

(c) the balance sheet of CJK Ltd after the transactions have been completed.

The balance sheet of CK as at 31 December 20X9 is as follows:

Balance Sheet

£

Freehold premises 8,000
Plant 4,000
Stock 2,000
Debtors 5,000
Cash 200

19,200
Capital 16,000
Creditors 3,200

19,200
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The assets (excluding cash) and the liabilities were taken over at the following values: freehold
premises £10,000, plant £3,500, stock £2,000, debtors £5,000 less a bad debts provision of £300,
goodwill £7,000, creditors £3,200 less a discount provision of £150. The purchase consideration,
based on these values, was settled by the issue of shares at par.

The balance sheet of RP Ltd as at 31 December 20X9 is as follows:

Balance Sheet

f

Freehold premises 4,500
Plant 2,000
Stock 1,600
Debtors 3,400

11,500
Share capital: 10,000 shares at £0.40 each 4,000
Revenue surplus 2,500
Creditors 1,500
Bank overdraft 3,500

11,500

The assets and liabilities were taken over at book value with the exception of the freehold
premises which were revalued at £5,500. The purchase consideration was a cash payment of £1 and
three shares in CJK Ltd at par in exchange for every two shares in RP Ltd.

Additional working capital and the funds required to complete the purchase of RP Ltd were
provided by the issue for cash of:

(/) 10,000 shares at a premium of £0.30 per share;
(ii) £8,000 7 per cent debenture stock at 98.

The expenses of incorporating CJK Ltd were paid, amounting to £1,200.

(Chartered Institute of Management Accountants)

6.4A The balance sheet of Hubble Ltd as at 31 May 20X0 is shown below.

Hubble Ltd
Fixed assets 3 e
Freehold premises at cost 375,000
Plant and machinery at cost
Less Depreciation £48,765 101,235
Motor vehicles at cost
Less Depreciation £1,695 6,775
Current assets 483,010
Stock-in-trade 102,550
Debtors 96,340
Cash in hand 105
198,995
682,005
Authorised share capital
650,000 ordinary shares of £1 each 650,000
Issued share capital
400,000 ordinary shares of £1 each fully paid 400,000
Profit and loss account 180,630
Current liabilities 580,630
Trade creditors 63,200
Bank overdraft 38,175
101,375
682,005
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Hubble Ltd agreed to purchase at this date the freehold premises, plant and machinery and stock
of A Bubble at agreed valuations of £100,000, £10,000 and £55,000, respectively. The purchase
price was to be fully settled by the issue to Bubble of 120,000 ordinary shares of £1 each in Hubble
Ltd, and a cash payment to Bubble of £25,000. Bubble was to collect his debts and to pay his
creditors.

Hubble Ltd sold one of its own premises prior to taking over Bubble for £75,000 (cost £55,000)
and revalued the remainder at £400,000 (excluding those acquired from Bubble).

You are required to:

(@) show the journal entries, including cash items, in the books of Hubble Ltd to give effect to the
above transactions; and

(b) show the balance sheet of Hubble Ltd after completing them.

(Association of Chartered Certified Accountants)

6.5A From the following information you are required to prepare a statement apportioning the
unappropriated profit between the pre-incorporation and post-incorporation periods, showing the
basis of apportionment:

VU Limited was incorporated on 1 July 20X9 with an authorised share capital of 60,000 ordinary
shares of £1 each, to take over the business of L and Sons as from 1 April 20X9.

The purchase consideration was agreed at £50,000 for the net tangible assets taken over, plus a
further £6,000 for goodwill.

Payment was satisfied by the issue of £30,000 8 per cent debentures and 26,000 ordinary shares
both at par, on 1 August 20X9. Interest at 10 per cent per annum on the purchase consideration
was paid up to this date.

The company raised a further £20,000 on 1 August 20X9 by the issue of ordinary shares at a
premium of £0.25 per share.

The abridged profit and loss account for the year to 31 March 20X0 was as follows:

f f
Sales:
1 April 20X9 to 30 June 20X9 30,000
1 July 20X9 to 31 March 19Y0 95,000
125,000
Cost of sales for the year 80,000
Depreciation 2,220
Directors’ fees 500
Administration salaries and expenses 8,840
Sales commission 4,375
Goodwill written off 1,000
Interest on purchase consideration, gross 1,867
Distribution costs (60 per cent variable) 6,250
Preliminary expenses written off 1,650
Debenture interest, gross 1,600
Proposed dividend on ordinary shares 7,560
115,862
Unappropriated profit carried forward 9,138

The company sells one product only, of which the unit selling price has remained constant during
the year, but due to improved buying the unit cost of sales was reduced by 10 per cent in the post-
incorporation period as compared with the pre-incorporation period.

Taxation is to be ignored.

(Chartered Institute of Management Accountants (part (a) of question only))

6.6A Rowlock Ltd was incorporated on 1 October 20X8 to acquire Rowlock’s mail order business,
with effect from 1 June 20X8.
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The purchase consideration was agreed at £35,000 to be satisfied by the issue on 1 December
20X8 to Rowlock or his nominee of 20,000 ordinary shares of £1 each, fully paid, and £15,000 7 per
cent debentures.

The entries relating to the transfer were not made in the books which were carried on without
a break until 31 May 20X9.

On 31 May 20X9 the trial balance extracted from the books is:

£ £
Sales 52,185
Purchases 38,829
Wrapping 840
Postage 441
Warehouse rent and rates 921
Packing expenses 1,890
Office expenses 627
Stock on 31 May 20X8 5,261
Director’s salary 1,000
Debenture interest (gross) 525
Fixed assets 25,000
Current assets (other than stock) 9,745
Current liabilities 4,162
Formation expenses 218
Capital account — Wysocka, 31 May 20X8 29,450
Drawings account — Wysocka, 31 May 20X8 500

85,797 85,797

You also ascertain the following:

1 Stock on 31 May 20X9 amounted to £4,946.

2 The average monthly sales for June, July and August were one-half of those for the remaining
months of the year. The gross profit margin was constant throughout the year.

3 Wrapping, postage and packing expenses varied in direct proportion to sales, whilst office
expenses were constant each month.

4 Formation expenses are to be written off.

You are required to prepare the trading and profit and loss account for the year ended 31 May
20X9 apportioned between the periods before and after incorporation, and the balance sheet as at
that date.

(Chartered Institute of Management Accountants)

You can find a range of additional self-test questions, as well as material to help you with
your studies, on the website that accompanies this book at www.pearsoned.co.uk/wood



Taxation in company financial
statements

Learning objectives

eeccccccccce

After you have studied this chapter, you should be able to:

® explain why profit per the profit and loss account is normally different from
assessable profit for corporation tax calculations

® explain how income tax on interest affects companies and individuals
® describe how the ‘imputation system’ operates
® describe how and why deferred tax is relevant to capital allowances

Introduction

eeccccccccce

In this chapter, you'll learn that in the UK depreciation is not allowed as an expense
for tax purposes and that something called a ‘capital allowance’ is granted instead.
You'll also learn that the result of replacing depreciation with capital allowances
when calculating tax is that taxable profit is very rarely the same amount as the
figure shown for net profit in the financial statements. You'll learn how to apportion
taxable profit across two tax periods, when corporation tax is payable, and the dif-
ferences between the UK tax system for companies compared with the one that
operates for sole traders and partnerships. Finally, you will learn about deferred tax
and how it is calculated and applied to avoid financial statements being misleading
in the way they present future tax liabilities in the balance sheet.

° Background

This chapter is concerned with the entries made in the financial statements of companies in
respect of taxation. It is not concerned with the actual calculation of the taxes as tax legislation
is extremely complex and contains too many exceptions to the general rules applicable to com-
panies for us to attempt to cover the entire subject in this book. It should be appreciated, there-
fore, that although the rules described in this chapter apply to the great majority of UK
companies, there are many for which more complex tax rules will apply.

Taxation that affects UK companies can be split between:

1 Value added tax (VAT). This was covered in Business Accounting 1.

2 Direct taxes, payable to the Inland Revenue, the government department responsible for the
calculation and collection of the taxes. For a company, the relevant taxes are corporation tax
and income tax. FRS 16: Current tax deals with the treatment of taxation in company finan-
cial statements and will be adhered to in this chapter.
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@ Limited companies: corporation tax and income tax

The principal tax paid by limited companies is corporation tax. Legally, it is an appropriation
of profits, not an expense. It is shown in the profit and loss appropriation account, i.e. after the
calculation of net profit.

A company’s profits are assessable to corporation tax. But, corporation tax is assessable on
the profit calculated after certain adjustments have been made to the net profit. These adjust-
ments are not made in the financial statements. They are done quite separately from the drafting
of financial statements and are not entered in the accounting books of the company.

Let’s look at an example of one of these adjustments. Suppose that K Ltd has the following

net profit:
K Ltd Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31 March 20X8
£ f
Gross profit 100,000
Less: General expenses 25,000
Depreciation of machinery 20,000
(_45,000)
Net profit 55,000

The depreciation provision for machinery is the accounting figure used for the financial state-
ments. It must be reversed when calculating the taxable profit and replaced by another deduc-
tion, capital allowances. These are the Inland Revenue’s equivalent of depreciation and are
calculated by rules which usually vary at one point or another from the methods applied by com-
panies in determining their depreciation provisions. As a result, taxable profit assessed in any year
is nomally not the same as the net profit for that year as shown in the profit and loss account.

Why do you think the rules for capital allowances are different from the rules for
depreciation?

In the case of K Ltd, assume that the capital allowances amount to £27,000 and that the rate
of corporation tax is 40 per cent on assessable profits. The calculation of the corporation tax

liability would be:
f
Net profit per the financial statements 55,000
Add Depreciation provision not allowed as a deduction for corporation tax purposes 20,000
75,000
Less Capital allowances (27,000)
Adjusted profits assessable to corporation tax 48,000

At a corporation tax rate of 40 per cent, the corporation tax liability will be £48,000 x 40 per
cent = £19,200.

In this example, taxable profits were higher than the net profit. Yet, over the life
of a fixed asset, the amount of profit assessed in total for tax will always equal
the total net profit for that period. Why?

As you might imagine, it is usually impossible to calculate the corporation tax payable by a
company from its net profit. In fact, in addition to depreciation, other items in the financial state-
ments often also need to be adjusted to find the assessable profits for corporation tax purposes.
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The rate of corporation tax

The rate of corporation tax covering the period from 1 April to 31 March of the following year
is fixed by the Chancellor of the Exchequer in the Budget, presented to Parliament each year.
This rate is applied to the assessable profits of companies earned during this period. A company
which has a financial year end other than 31 March spans two tax years, and apportions its tax-
able profits across the two periods.

Let’s look at an example of this in Exhibit 7.1.

Exhibit 7.1

Company T Ltd: adjusted profits for the year ended 31 December 20X8 = £160,000.

Rates of corporation tax:
For the tax year ended 31.3.20X8, 45 per cent.
For the tax year ended 31.3.20X9, 40 per cent.

3 months’ profit 1.1.20X8 to 31.3.20X8 f
3/12 months x £160,000 = £40,000 x 45 per cent 18,000
9 months’ profit 1.4.20X8 to 31.12.20X8

9/12 months x £160,000 = £120,000 x 40 per cent 48,000
Corporation tax payable on adjusted profits for the year ended 31 December 20X8 66,000

Corporation tax - when payable

All companies have a payment date of 9 months after the end of their accounting period. For
the rest of this chapter, although companies with relatively small profits can pay tax at a lower
rate than companies with greater profits, unless mentioned otherwise corporation tax will be
assumed to be 40 per cent.

Advance corporation tax (ACT)

In the past, when a company paid a dividend, a sum equal to a fraction of that figure had to be
paid to the Inland Revenue as advance corporation tax (ACT). When a company was due to pay
its corporation tax bill, it adjusted the amount it sent to the Inland Revenue by the amount of
ACT it had paid or reclaimed during the relevant period. FRS 16: Current tax changed the rules
relating to inclusion of dividends received to require them to be shown in the financial state-
ments net of any associated tax credit. ACT was repealed with effect from 1999 and is not
included in any of the examples or questions in this book.

Income tax

You’ve just learnt that companies do not pay income tax. They pay corporation tax. In the case
of a sole trader, income tax is not directly connected with the business, as the individual not the
business is liable to pay tax on the profits earned. Calculation of the tax due depends on many
factors including, for example, whether the sole trader has other taxable income. The income tax
paid by a sole trader should be treated as drawings if paid from the business bank account.
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If a sole trader has the same net profit each year as is earned by a small company,
all other things being equal, which business will show the greater accumulated
profits if

(a) the sole trader pays income tax out of the business bank account;
(b) the sole trader pays income tax out of a personal bank account and does not
draw any extra funds out of the business to cover the payment.

Why are these two answers different?

The income tax charged upon a partnership is also subject to the personal situation of the
partners. The actual apportionment of the tax between the partners must be performed by some-
one who has access to the personal tax computations. It is 7ot apportioned in the partners’ profit-
sharing ratios but on the basis of how much income tax each partner was required to pay. When
the apportionment has been made, each partner should have the relevant amount debited to his
drawings account. Remember, neither sole traders nor partnerships are liable to corporation tax.

In contrast, income tax does come into the financial statements of some companies. When a
company pays charges such as debenture interest or royalties, it deducts income tax from the
amount paid to the debenture holder or royalty owner. This figure of income tax is then payable
by the company to the Inland Revenue. In effect, the company is acting as a tax collector on
behalf of the Inland Revenue, similar to the position a company is in regarding VAT.

Let’s look at an example. Suppose a company has a thousand different debenture holders. It is
far easier for the Inland Revenue if the company pays only the net amount (i.e. the amount of
debenture interest less income tax) due to each debenture holder and then pays the income tax
deducted, in one figure, to the Inland Revenue. This saves the Inland Revenue having to trace a
thousand debenture holders and then collect the money from them. It obviously cuts down on
the bad debts that the Inland Revenue might suffer, and makes it more difficult to evade the
payment of income tax, plus it makes it cheaper for the Inland Revenue to administer the system.
This system is similar to the way PAYE on wages or salaries is operated, something you learnt
about in Business Accounting 1.

For clarity, throughout the rest of this chapter it will be assumed that the basic rate of income
tax is 25 per cent. The real rate will obviously differ from time to time. In addition, when some-
one has a relatively high or low income, the rate of income tax they pay may be higher or lower
than 25 per cent. However, even though individual debenture holders may have to pay income
tax at higher rates, or indeed pay lower rates or no income tax at all, companies deduct income
tax at the basic rate.

Thus, if a company has issued £100,000 of 8 per cent debentures, cheques amounting to a
total of £6,000 (8 per cent of £100,000 = £8,000 less 25 per cent income tax, £2,000 = £6,000)
will be paid to the debenture holders. A cheque for £2,000 will then be paid to the Inland
Revenue by the company.

Let’s consider some possible scenarios relating to this company’s debenture holders (Exhibit 7.2).

Exhibit 7.2

If debenture holder AB pays income tax at the rate of 25 per cent, and he received £75 net (i.e.
£100 gross less income tax £25), on his debenture of £1,250, then he has already suffered his right-
ful income tax by deduction at source. He will not get a further bill from the Inland Revenue for
£25 tax. The company has already paid the £25 income tax he owed as part of the total income tax
cheque it paid of £2,000.

On the other hand, debenture holder CD is not liable to income tax because his income is low.
He also has a debenture of £1,250 and so also receives a cheque for interest of £75. As he is not
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liable to income tax, but £25 of his money has been included in the total cheque paid by the com-
pany to the Inland Revenue of £2,000, he will be able to claim a refund of £25 from the Inland
Revenue. Such a claim is made direct to the Inland Revenue, not to the company.

A third debenture holder EF pays tax at a rate of 40 per cent on his income. If he also has a
debenture of £1,250, the company will pay a cheque to him of £75. But, he is really liable to pay
tax of £50, not £25. As £25 income tax has been taken from him and handed over by the company
in the total cheque of £2,000 income tax paid to the Inland Revenue, the Inland Revenue will send
an extra demand to him for income tax of £25. Once again, the company has nothing to do with
this extra demand.

Income tax on interest

Of course, a company may well have bought debentures or may own royalties, for example, in
another company. This may mean that the company not only pays charges, such as debenture
interest, but also receives similar items from other companies. The company will receive such
items net after income tax has been deducted. When the company both receives and pays such
items, it may set off the tax already suffered by it from such interest etc. received against the tax
collected by it from its own charges, and pay the resultant net figure of income tax to the Inland
Revenue. Again, this is similar to the treatment of VAT.

The figures of charges to be shown as being paid or received by the company in the company’s
own profit and loss account are the gross charges, i.e. the same as they would have been if
income tax had never been invented. Exhibit 7.3 illustrates this more clearly.

Exhibit 7.3

RST Ltd has 7 per cent debentures amounting to £100,000 and has bought a £40,000 debenture of
10 per cent in a private company, XYZ Ltd. During the year, cheques amounting to £5,250 (£7,000
less 25 per cent) have been paid to debenture holders, and a cheque for £3,000 (£4,000 less 25 per
cent) has been received from XYZ Ltd. Instead of paying over the £1,750 income tax deducted on
payment of debenture interest, RST Ltd waits until the cheque is received from XYZ Ltd and then
pays a cheque for £750 (£1,750 collected less £1,000 already suffered by deduction by XYZ Ltd) to
the Inland Revenue in settlement.

Debenture Interest Payable

£ £
Cash 5,250 Profit and loss 7,000
Income tax 1,750
7,000 7,000

Debenture Interest Receivable

£ £
Profit and loss 4,000 Cash 3,000
Income tax 1,000
4,000 4,000
Income Tax
£
Unquoted investment income 1,000 Debenture interest 1,750
Cash 750
1,750 1,750
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It may well have been the case that although the income tax had been deducted at source from
both the payment out of the company and the amount received, no cash has been paid specifically
to the Inland Revenue by the company by the balance sheet date. In this case, the balance of
£750 owing to the Inland Revenue will be carried down as a credit balance and will be shown
under current liabilities in the balance sheet.

Franked payments and franked investment income

When a dividend is paid by a company, this is done without any specific deduction of tax of any
kind from the dividend payment. Previously, when a company paid a dividend, it also incurred a
liability to pay ACT - see Section 7.5. The recipient received the dividend plus a tax credit, equal
to the ACT, which could then be set against the recipient’s income tax liability. When the
dividend was paid to another company, the total of the dividend paid plus the tax credit was
known as the franked payment. The total of the dividend received plus the tax credit was called
franked investment income. With the repeal of ACT in 1999, these two terms appear unlikely to
continue to be used.

IAS 12 (Income taxes) and current tax

The international accounting standard relevant to this topic is IAS 12. It differs from FRS 16 by
requiring:

® current tax to be shown separately on the balance sheet;
® tax on items charged or credited to equity to be treated in the same ways;
® tax on discontinued operations to be disclosed.

Deferred taxation

It was pointed out earlier in the chapter that profits per the financial statements and profits on
which tax is payable are often quite different from each other. The main reasons for this are as
follows:

1 The figure of depreciation shown in the profit and loss account may be far different from the
Inland Revenue’s figure for ‘capital allowances’, which is #heir way of calculating allowances
for depreciation.

2 Some items of expense charged in the profit and loss account will not be allowed by the
Inland Revenue as expenses. Examples are political donations, fines for illegal acts and
expenses for entertaining UK customers.

................................

In the case of capital allowances under (1) above, as you confirmed in Activity 7.2, the amount
of ‘depreciation’ charged for an asset over the years will eventually equal the amount allowed by
the Inland Revenue as ‘capital allowances’. Where the difference lies is in the periods when these
items will be taken into account.

For instance, take an asset which cost £4,800 and will be sold after three years for £2,025.
The depreciation rate is 33'/5 per cent straight line. Inland Revenue capital allowances are 25 per
cent reducing balance.



Chapter 7 ® Taxation in company financial statements

Years ended 5 April* 20X2 20X3 20X4 Overall
f f f f
Depreciation 925 925 925 2,775
Capital allowances 1,200 900 675 2,775
Timing differences +275 =25 -250 nil

*The Inland Revenue tax year actually ends on 5 April, not 31 March, though 31 March is used for
companies.

Why do you think the depreciation is £925 per year?

Thus, over the economic life of the asset, the same amount was deducted from profit for
depreciation as was allowed as a deduction in the form of capital allowances.

What about retained profits, are they the same too? If profits for each year after depreciation
were, instead, £1,000:

Years ended 5 April 20X2 20X3 20X4 Overall
£ £ £ £
Profits after depreciation 1,000 1,000 1,000 3,000
Profits for tax purposes 725 1,025 1,250 3,000
Differences =275 +25 +250 nil

As you can see, profits have in fact remained the same overall at £1,000. It is the difference in the
timing of the deduction of capital allowances compared to that for depreciation which causes
there to be different taxable profit figures each year compared to the net profit figures. These are
known as ‘timing differences’. Taking the point of view that profits of £1,000 per year give a
more sensible picture than the £725, £1,025 and £1,250 per the Inland Revenue calculations, the
company’s way of depreciating is probably more appropriate for individual companies than the
Inland Revenue’s method which does not vary between companies.

You may well be wondering if it matters what amount is deducted for depreciation. Analysts
and potential investors and shareholders themselves place a great reliance on something called
‘earnings per share after tax’. Suppose that corporation tax was 40 per cent for each of the three
years and that there were 1 million shares. This would give the following figures:

Tax based on net profit, i.e. the company’s calculations:

20X2 20X3 20X4
£000 £000 £000
Profit per financial statements before taxation 1,000 1,000 1,000
Less Corporation tax (40%) (_400) (_400) (_400)
Profit after tax 600 600 600
Earnings per share = Profit after tax + 1 million = 60p 60p 60p
Tax based on Inland Revenue calculations:
20X2 20X3 20X4
£000 £000 £000
Profit per financial statements before tax 1,000 1,000 1,000
Less Corporation tax:
40% of £725 ( 290)
40% of £1,025 ( 410)
40% of £1,250 (_500)
Profit after tax 710 590 500
Earnings per share = Profit after tax + 1 million = 71p 59p 50p

In truth, all of the years have been equally profitable — this is shown by the company’s
calculation of 60p earnings per share each year. On the other hand, if no adjustment is made, the
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financial statements when based on actual tax paid would show 71p, 59p and 50p. This could
confuse shareholders and would-be shareholders.

In order not to distort the picture given by financial statements, the concept of deferred taxa-
tion was brought in by accountants. There have been three UK accounting standards on this
topic. The latest, FRS 19: Deferred tax, was issued in December 2000.

FRS 19 requires that deferred tax is provided on timing differences relating to:

capital allowances and depreciation;

accruals for pension costs and other post-retirement benefits;

the elimination of unrealised intragroup profits;

unrelieved tax losses;

annual revaluations of assets where changes in fair value are taken to the profit and loss
account;

® other short-term timing differences.

The double entry is as follows:

1 In the years when taxation is lower than it would be on comparable accounting profits e.g.
£40 on £200 net profit instead of £80:

Dr Profit and loss appropriation account
Cr Deferred taxation account

with the amount of taxation understated.
Capital allowances etc. have reduced taxable profit this year but at some point in the
future, the reverse will occur.

2 In the years when taxation is higher than it would be on comparable accounting profits e.g.
£100 on £200 net profit instead of £80:

Dr Deferred taxation account
Cr Profit and loss appropriation account

with the amount of taxation overstated.

By making these adjustments, a ‘fair’ amount of tax has either been set aside or paid each
year. As a result, when the timing differences reverse, the retained profits will neither suddenly
fall nor suddenly rise.

Let’s now look at how the profit and loss appropriation account and deferred taxation account
would have been drawn up in the last example. We shall use the wording which applies to pub-
lished company financial statements. As a result, instead of ‘Profit per financial statements before
taxation’, we shall use ‘Profit on ordinary activities before taxation’.

Exhibit 7.4

Profit and Loss Appropriation Account for the years ended 5 April

20X2 20X3 20X4
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Profit on ordinary activities

before taxation 1,000 1,000 1,000
Tax on profit on ordinary activities:

Corporation tax 290 410 500

Deferred taxation 110 (_400) (_10) (_400) (100) (_400)
Profit on ordinary activities

after taxation _600 _600 _600
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For stakeholders, such as shareholders, stock exchange analysts, and would-be shareholders, the
profit after taxation figures on which earnings per share (EPS) would be calculated is £600,000 in
each of the three years. The timing difference distortion has thus been eliminated by inclusion of

the deferred tax adjustments.

Assuming that corporation tax is payable on 1 January following each accounting year end, the
ledger accounts for corporation tax and deferred tax would be as follows:

Corporation Tax

20X2 £000 20X2 £000
Apr 5 Balance c/d 290 Apr 5 Profit and loss appropriation 290
290 290
20X3 o 20X2 o
Jan 1 Bank 290 Apr 6 Balance b/d 290
20X3
Apr 5 Balance c/d 410 Apr 5 Profit and loss appropriation 410
700 700
20X4 o 20X3 o
Jan 1 Bank 410 Apr 6 Balance b/d 410
20X4
Apr 5 Balance c/d 500 Apr 5 Profit and loss appropriation 500
910 910
20X4
Apr 6 Balance b/d 500
Deferred Taxation
20X2 £000 20X2 £000
Apr 5 Balance c/d 110 Apr 5 Profit and loss appropriation 110
110 110
20X3 o 20X2 o
Apr 5 Profit and loss appropriation 10 Apr 6 Balance b/d 110
Apr 5 Balance c/d 100 o
110 110
20X4 o 20X3 o
Apr 5 Profit and loss appropriation 100 Apr 6 Balance b/d 100
100 100
The balance sheets would appear:
20X2 20X3 20X4
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year £000 £000 £000
Corporation tax 290 410 500
Provisions for liabilities and charges
Deferred taxation 110 100 -

Permanent differences

.........................................

No adjustments are made to the accounting profit for differences between it and the taxable
profit that arise because of non-tax-deductible items, such as political donations, and some

entertaining expenses.
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A fully worked example

Exhibit 7.5 shows the ledger accounts in which tax will be involved for the first year of a new
company, Harlow Ltd. Exhibit 7.6 shows the second year of that company. This should help
make your understanding of this topic clearer — to consider just one year very often leaves many
unanswered questions.

Exhibit 7.5

Harlow Ltd has just finished its first year of trading on 31 December 20X4. Corporation tax throughout
was 35 per cent, and income tax was 25 per cent. You are given the following information:

(A) Net trading profit for the year was £165,000, before adjustment for debenture interest.

(B) Debenture interest (net) of £12,000 was paid on 31 December 20X4 and (C) the income tax
deducted was paid on the same date.

(D) An ordinary interim dividend of 10 per cent on the 210,000 £1 ordinary shares was paid on
1 July 20X4.

(E) A proposed final ordinary dividend of 25 per cent for the year is to be accrued.

(F) Depreciation of £12,000 has been charged before arriving at net trading profit. Capital
allowances of £37,000 have been approved by the Inland Revenue. Account for timing differences.

(G) Corporation tax on the first year’s trading is expected to be £38,500.

You are required to:
(a) show double entry accounts (other than bank) to record the above;
(b) prepare extracts from the profit and loss account and balance sheet.

Debenture Interest

20X4 f 20X4 £
Dec 31 Bank (B) 12,000 Dec 31 Profit and loss 16,000
Dec 31 Income tax Q) 4,000
16,000 16,000
Income Tax
20X4 f 20X4 £
Dec 31 Bank (@] 4,000 Dec 31 Debenture interest (C) 4,000

Ordinary Dividends

20X4 f 20X4 £
Jul 1 Bank (D) 21,000 Dec 31 Profit and loss 73,500
Dec 31 Accrued c/d 52,500

73,500 73,500

Deferred Taxation

20X4 £ 20X4 £
Dec 31 Balance c/d 8,750 Dec 31 Profitand loss* (F) 8,750

*(F) allowed £37,000 but only charged £12,000 = £25,000 x 35% corporation tax deferred = £8,750.

Corporation Tax

20X4 £ 20X4 £
Dec 31 Balance c/d 38,500 Dec 31 Profit and loss (G) 38,500
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Profit and Loss Account (extracts) for the year ended 31 December 20X4

f f
Net trading profit (A) 165,000
Less Debenture interest (B) 16,000
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 149,000
Corporation tax (G) 38,500
Deferred taxation (F) 8,750
(.47,250)
Profit on ordinary activities after taxation 101,750
Less Dividends on ordinary shares:
Interim paid 10 per cent (D) 21,000
Proposed final dividend 25 per cent 52,500
( 73,500)
Balance Sheet (extracts) as at 31 December 20X4
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year £
Proposed ordinary dividend 52,500
Corporation tax 38,500
Deferred tax 8,750

Exhibit 7.6

Harlow Ltd, as per Exhibit 7.5, has now finished its second year of trading. From 20X4 there will be
three ledger account balances to be brought forward from Exhibit 7.5. These accounts are:

Proposed ordinary dividend (A) Cr £52,500
Corporation tax (B) Cr £38,500
Deferred taxation (© Cr £8,750

You are given the following information:

(D) The proposed ordinary dividend £52,500 was paid on 1 March 20X5.

(E) Corporation tax remains at 35 per cent and income tax remains at 25 per cent.

(F) Shares had been bought in STU Ltd and a dividend of £1,500 was received on 31 August 20X5.

(G) An interim dividend of 15 per cent on the 210,000 £1 ordinary shares was paid on 1 July 20X5.

(H) Debentures had been bought in RRR Ltd and interest (net) of £4,500 was received on
30 December 20X5.

(I) Harlow Ltd paid its own debenture interest (net) of £12,000 on 31 December 20X5, and (J) the
income tax account (net) was paid on the same date.

(K) The corporation tax due for 20X4 was paid on 30 September 20X5.

(L) A final ordinary dividend for the year of 30 per cent was proposed. This will be paid in March
20X6.

(M) Corporation tax for the year ended 31 December 20X5 is expected to be £41,300.

(N) Depreciation of £28,000 has been charged in the accounts, while capital allowances amounted
to £22,000.

(O) Net trading profit after deducting depreciation but before adjusting for the above was
£178,000.

To record these items, we open a tax on profit on ordinary activities account and transfer tax
items to it. After all entries have been made, the balance on the account is transferred to the profit
and loss account.
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Ordinary Dividends

20X5 £ 20X5 £
Mar 1 Bank (D) 52,500 Jan Balance b/d (M) 52,500
Jul 1 Bank interim (G) 31,500 Dec 31 Profit and loss 94,500
Dec 31 Accrued c/d (L) 63,000
147,000 147,000
Investment Income
20X5 £ 20X5 £
Dec 31 Profit and loss 1,500 Aug 31 Bank (F) 1,500
1,500 1,500
Debenture Interest Payable
20X5 f 20X5 £
Dec 31 Bank (1) 12,000 Dec 31 Profit and loss 16,000
Dec 31 Income tax 4,000
16,000 16,000
Debenture Interest Receivable
20X5 f 20X5 £
Dec 31 Profit and loss 6,000 Dec 30 Bank (H) 4,500
Dec 30 Income tax 1,500
6,000 6,000
Income Tax
20X5 f 20X5 £
Dec 30 Debenture interest Dec 31 Debenture interest
receivable 1,500 payable 4,000
Dec 31 Bank ) 2,500
4,000 4,000
Deferred Taxation
20X5 £ 20X5 £
Dec 31 Tax on profit on Jan 1 Balance b/d (@] 8,750
ordinary activities
(6,000 x 35%) (N) 2,100
Dec 31 Balance c/d 6,650
8,750 8,750
Corporation Tax
20X5 f 20X5 £
Sep 30 Bank (K) 38,500 Jan Balance b/d (B) 38,500
Dec 31 Accrued c/d 41,300 Dec 31 Taxon profit on
ordinary activities (M) 41,300
79,800 79,800
Tax on Profit on Ordinary Activities
20X5 £ 20X5 £
Dec 31 Corporation tax (M) 41,300 Dec 31 Deferred taxation (N) 2,100
Dec 31 Profit and loss 39,200
41,300 41,300
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Profit and Loss account (extracts) for the year ended 31 December 20X5

f f
Net trading profit (0) 178,000
Add Debenture interest received 6,000
Investment income 1,500
7,500
185,500
Less Debenture interest payable (_16,000)
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 169,500
Tax on profit on ordinary activities ( 39,200)
Profit on ordinary activities after taxation 129,700
Less Dividends on ordinary shares
Interim paid 15 per cent 31,500
Proposed final dividend 63,000
( 94,500)
Balance Sheet (extracts) as at 31 December 20X5
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year £
Proposed ordinary dividend 63,000
Corporation tax 41,300
Deferred tax 6,650

IAS 12 (Income taxes) and deferred tax

The international accounting standard in this area is also IAS 12. In contrast to FRS 19, it
requires deferred tax to be provided when assets are revalued and prohibits the discounting of
future tax liabilities. Any deferred tax liability must be recognised in full.

Learning outcomes

You should now have learnt:
1 Depreciation is not allowed as an expense when calculating tax liability.

2 Capital allowances are the equivalent of depreciation that the government allows
to be deducted when calculating tax Lliability.

3 The profit shown in the financial statements is normally different from
assessable profit for corporation tax calculations.

4 Deferred tax eliminates the differences that arise as a result of depreciation
being replaced by capital allowances when calculating corporation tax payable.

5 FRS 19: Deferred tax regulates the calculation of the figure for deferred tax that
appears in the balance sheet.

Answers to activities

7.1 To answer this question, you need to consider why each of these rules is in place. Depreciation is
governed by FRS 15: Tangible fixed assets. It is calculated so as to reflect the reduction in economic
value of an asset over an accounting period. In other words, it is intended to give a true and fair
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view of the true remaining value of an asset, subject to the effect of the basis upon which the base
value of the asset has been derived. For example, if historical cost is the base, the remaining
amount after depreciation has been deducted represents that proportion of the original value of
the asset that remains at the balance sheet date.

Capital allowances are the government’s assessment of how much of the historical cost of an
asset can legitimately be treated as an expense in a given year. In most cases, the rate and method
of calculation selected bear little relation to either the actual expected economic life of an individual
asset or to the extent to which use of an asset has reduced its future economic life.

In some cases, capital allowances are intended to encourage successful business by enabling tax-
able profits to be reduced significantly in one year so that tax is lower than it would otherwise be.
For example, capital allowances of 100% may be permitted for any company operating in economic-
ally depressed parts of the UK. The motivation for capital allowances is, therefore, very different
from the princples underlying depreciation provisions.

7.2 Capital allowances are allowed as a deduction against profit over the life of a fixed asset, as is
depreciation. Thus, although in any particular period the amount of capital allowance is usually dif-
ferent from the depreciation changed in the profit and loss account, by the end of the life of a
fixed asset, the amount granted in capital allowances will be the same as the total amount of
depreciation charged.

7.3 (a) Both businesses will have the same amount of accumulated profits.

(b) The sole trader’s business will have a greater amount of accumulated profits. It will, therefore,
appear more successful than the company, even though both businesses are making the same
annual profits. In fact, because the sole trader will have more assets in the business than the
company (due to the fact that less cash has been paid out), it can be argued that it is the com-
pany that is the more successful business.

The answers are different because the sole trader has chosen to accept a lower level of net annual

income than the owners of the company.

7.4 You will either have found this question simple, straightforward and obvious, or you will have
struggled to find the answer. Whichever position you were in, it is important that you remember
this question whenever you are thinking about depreciation and/or about deferred tax. The answer
is that depreciation is based on the difference between cost and the estimated disposal value of the
asset. This asset cost £4,800. It is to be used for three years and its disposal value is estimated at
£2,025. The amount to be depreciated over the three years is, therefore, £2,775. At 33'/3 per cent
per annum straight-line, the annual depreciation charge is £925.

Review questions
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Note: Questions 7.5 and 7.6 will be sufficient for those taking examinations with little tax content.

7.1 Camden Lock Ltd has just finished its first year of trading to 31 December 20X6. Corpora-
tion tax throughout was 40 per cent and income tax 20 per cent. You are given the following
information:

(i) Net trading profit, after adjustment for (ii) but before other adjustments, was £390,000.
(ii) Depreciation of £70,000 was charged. Capital allowances were £110,000.

(iii) An interim dividend of 4 per cent on 800,000 £1 ordinary shares was paid on 1 July 20X6.
(iv) Debenture interest of £14,000 (net) was paid on 31 December 20X6.

(v) Income tax deducted from debenture interest was paid on 31 January 20X7.

(vi) A final dividend of 6 per cent was proposed for the year.

(vii) Corporation tax for the year was estimated to be £145,000.

You are required to:
(a) draw up the double entry accounts recording the above (except bank);
(b) show the relevant extracts from the profit and loss account and the balance sheet.

Note that Question 7.2A is concerned with the second year of trading for Camden Lock Ltd.
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7.2A Camden Lock Ltd has just finished its second year of trading to 31 December 20X7. Balances
from Question 7.1 need to be brought forward into this question. Tax rates are the same as for
20X6.

The following information is available:

()  The proposed final dividend for 20X6 (see Review Question 7.1) was paid on 31 January
20X7.

(if)  Shares in Strand Ltd were bought on 1 January 20X7. A dividend of £4,200 was received on
30 September 20X7.

(iif) Debentures in Strand Ltd were bought on 1 July 20X7. Debenture interest of £8,400 (net) was
received on 31 December 20X7.

(iv) Debenture interest of £14,000 (net) was paid by Camden Lock Ltd on 31 December 20X7.

(v)  Income tax owing to the Inland Revenue for 20X7 was not paid until 20X8. The 20X6 income
tax was paid on 30 January 20X7.

(vi) An interim dividend of 5 per cent on 800,000 £1 ordinary shares was paid on 10 July 20X7.

(vii) A final dividend of 9 per cent was proposed for the year.

(viii) Depreciation of £90,000 was charged. Capital allowances were £120,000.

(ix)  Net trading profit (before taking into account (ii), (iii), and (iv)) was £540,000.

(x)  The corporation tax due for 20X6 was paid on 1 October 20X7. Corporation tax for the year
to 31 December 20X7 is expected to be £160,000.

You are required to:

(a) Draw up the double entry accounts recording the above (except bank).

(b) Show the relevant extracts from the profit and loss account for the year and balance sheet at
the year end.

Note: Question 7.3 is in the style of a typical professional accounting body’s examination ques-
tion. It is not easy. Remember to bring forward the balances from the previous year, some of
which will often have to be deduced. The letters (A) to (L) against the information will make it
easier for you to check your answer against the one at the back of the book.

To answer question of this type, first prepare all the T-accounts.

7.3 Corporation tax for the tax years 20X7, 20X8, and 20X9 was 40 per cent and income tax for
each year was 20 per cent.

(A) Skim Ltd’'s draft profit and loss account for the year ended 31 December 20X8 shows a net
trading profit from operations of £1.2 million. This figure is before taking into account (B) and
(C1) and (C2).

(B) Debenture interest paid on 5 December 20X8 (gross) was £200,000. Ignore accruals.

(C1) Fixed rate interest received is £60,000 (net). Date received 9 November 20X8. Ignore accruals.

(C2) A dividend of £2,000 was received from Beef Ltd on 1 October.

(D) Depreciation was £180,000. This compares with £260,000 capital allowances given by the
Inland Revenue. There is to be full provision for all timing differences for 20X8.

(E) The income tax bill (net) in respect of (B) and (C1) was paid on 19 December 20X8.

(F) Preference dividend paid on 6 July 20X8 £32,000.

(G) Ordinary interim dividend paid 8 August 20X8 £180,000.

(H) Proposed final ordinary dividend for 20X8 (paid in 20X9) was £300,000.

(I) Proposed final ordinary dividend for 20X7 (paid 10 March 20X8) was £240,000.

(J) There was a credit balance on deferred taxation account at 31 December 20X7 of £170,000.

(K) Tax for 20X7 had been provided for at £280,000 but was finally agreed at £272,000 (paid on
6 October 20X8).

(L) Corporation tax for 20X8 is estimated to be £340,000.

You are required to enter up the following accounts for the year ended 31 December 20X8 for Skim
Ltd: Deferred tax; Income tax; Interest receivable; Debenture interest; Investment income; Corpora-
tion tax; Tax on profit on ordinary activities; Preference dividends; Ordinary dividends; Profit and
loss account extract. Also prepare the relevant balance sheet extracts as at 31 December 20X8.
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7.4A Joytan Ltd has a trading profit, before dealing with any of the undermentioned items, for the
year ended 31 December 20X4 of £500,000. Prepare the profit and loss account for the year.

(@) The standard rate of income tax is 25 per cent.

(b) Joytan Ltd has bought £100,000 of 8 per cent debentures in another company. Joytan Ltd
receives its interest, less income tax, for the year on 6 November 20XA4.

(c) Joytan has issued £300,000 of 10 per cent debentures, and pays interest, less income tax for the
year on 22 December 20X4.

(d) No cheque has been paid to the Inland Revenue for income tax.

(e) Joytan Ltd has a liability for corporation tax, based on the year’s profits for 20X4, of £210,000.

(f) Joytan Ltd owns 90,000 ordinary shares of £1 each in Plax Ltd, and receives a cheque for the
dividend of 15 per cent in October 20X4. Plax Ltd is neither a subsidiary company nor a related
company of Joytan Ltd.

(9) Joytan Ltd proposed a dividend of 9 per cent on its 500,000 ordinary shares of £1 each, payable
out of the profits for 20X4.

(h) Transfer £50,000 to general reserve.

() Unappropriated profits brought forward from last year amounted to £122,000.

7.5 Sunset Ltd has an operating profit for the year ended 31 December 20X2, before dealing
with the following items, of £150,000. Complete the profit and loss account.

(a) The standard rate of income tax is 25 per cent.

(b) Sunset Ltd had issued £50,000 of 6 per cent debentures. It paid the interest for the year, less
income tax, on 31 December 20X2.

(c) Sunset Ltd owns £20,000 of 5 per cent debentures in another company. It received a year’s
interest, less income tax, on 27 December 20X2.

(d) No cheque has been paid to the Inland Revenue for income tax.

(e) Sunset Ltd has 30,000 ordinary shares of £1 each in Moonshine Ltd. Moonshine Ltd paid a divi-
dend to Sunset Ltd of 12 per cent on 24 November 20X2. Moonshine Ltd is a ‘related company’
of Sunset Ltd.

(f) Sunset Ltd had a liability for corporation tax, based on profits for 20X2, of £54,000.

(g) Sunset proposed a dividend of 10 per cent on its 200,000 ordinary shares of £1 each, out of the
profits for 20X2.

(h) Transfer £10,000 to general reserve.

(i) Unappropriated profits brought forward from last year amounted to £22,480.

7.6 The following information relates to Kemp plc for the year to 31 March 20X9:

£m
1 Dividends
Proposed final ordinary dividend for the year to 31 March 20X8
paid on 31 August 20X8 28
Interim ordinary dividend paid on 31 December 20X8 12
Proposed final ordinary dividend for the year 31 March 20X9 to be
paid on 31 July 20X9 36
2 Deferred taxation account
Credit balance at 1 April 20X8 3

During the year to 31 March 20X9 a transfer of £5 million was made from the
profit and loss account to the deferred taxation account.
3 Tax rates
Corporation tax 35 per cent
Income tax 25 per cent
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Required:
Write up the following accounts for the year to 31 March 20X9, being careful to insert the appro-
priate date for each entry and to bring down the balances as at 31 March 20X9:

(/) ordinary dividends;
(ii) deferred taxation.

(Association of Accounting Technicians)

7.7A The following figures appeared in W Ltd’s balance sheet at 31 March 20X2:
Current liability — corporation tax £600,000

Deferred taxation £300,000

During the year ended 31 March 20X3, W Ltd made a payment of £520,000 to the Collector of
Taxes in settlement of the company’s corporation tax for the year ended 31 March 20X2. Dividend
payments totalling £60,000 were made during the year ended 31 March 20X2 and a further dividend
of £200,000 had been proposed at the year end.

Two dividend payments were made during the year ended 31 March 20X3. A payment of
£200,000 was made for the final dividend for the year ended 31 March 20X2. An interim dividend
of £40,000 was paid for the year ended 31 March 20X3. These payments were made in May 20X2
and September 20X2 respectively. The directors have provided a final dividend of £240,000 for the
year ended 31 March 20X3.

W Ltd received a dividend of £12,000 from a UK quoted company. This was received in August
20X2.

W Ltd’s tax advisers believe that corporation tax of £740,000 will be charged on the company’s
profits for the year ended 31 March 20X3. This amount is net of the tax relief of £104,000 which
should be granted in respect of the exceptional loss which the company incurred during the year. It
has been assumed that corporation tax will be charged at a rate of 35%. The basic rate of income
tax was 25%.

It has been decided that the provision for deferred tax should be increased by £20,000. No provi-
sion is to be made in respect of timing differences of £400,000.

You are required:

(a) to prepare the note which will support the figure for the provision for corporation tax in
W Ltd’s published profit and loss account for the year ended 31 March 20X3;

(b) to calculate the liability for corporation tax which will appear in W Ltd’s published balance
sheet at 31 March 20X3;

(c) to prepare the deferred tax note which will support the figure for the liability which will
appear in W Ltd’s published balance sheet at 31 March 20X3.

(Chartered Institute of Management Accountants)

You can find a range of additional self-test questions, as well as material to help you with
your studies, on the website that accompanies this book at www.pearsoned.co.uk/wood
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Provisions, reserves and liabilities

Learning objectives

®eccccccccce

After you have studied this chapter, you should be able to:

® explain the difference between a provision and a liability

® explain the difference between revenue reserves and capital reserves
® describe how capital reserves may be used

® describe what normally comprises distributable profits

Introduction

eeccccccccce

In this chapter, you'll learn about the difference between provisions and liabilities
and about the difference between revenue reserves and capital reserves. You will
also learn about some of the restrictions on the use of reserves and learn more
about what is meant by ‘distributable profit’.

Provisions

A provision is an amount written off or retained in order to provide for renewals of, or diminu-
tion in value of assets, or retained to provide for any known liability of which the amount can-
not be determined with ‘substantial’ accuracy. This therefore covers such items as provisions for
depreciation and provisions for doubtful debts. A liability is an amount owing which can be deter-
mined with substantial accuracy.

Sometimes, therefore, the difference between a provision and a liability hinges around what is
meant by ‘substantial’ accuracy. Rent owing at the end of a financial year would normally be
known with precision, so would obviously be a liability. Legal charges for a court case which has
been heard, but for which the lawyers have not yet submitted their bill, would be a provision.

See Chapter 11 for a clarification of the need for the distinction between liabilities and provisions
when the requirements of the Companies Acts regarding disclosures in the financial statements
are examined.

Revenue reserves

A revenue reserve is an account to which an amount has been voluntarily transferred from the
profit and loss appropriation account, thus reducing the amount of profits left available for cash
dividend purposes and crediting the appropriate reserve account. The reserve may be for some
particular purpose, such as a foreign exchange reserve account created just in case the firm
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should ever meet a situation where it would suffer loss because of foreign currency exchange rate
movements; or it could be a general reserve account that could be used for any purpose.

See Section 8.3 for a further look at general reserves.

Such transfers are an indication to the shareholders that it would be unwise at the time of the
transfer to pay out all the available profits as dividends. The resources represented by this part of
the profits should be retained, at least for the time being. Revenue reserves can be called upon in
future years to help swell the profits shown in the profit and loss appropriation account as being
available for dividend purposes. This is effected quite simply by debiting the particular reserve
account and crediting the profit and loss appropriation account.

Activity

8.1 Why do you think special revenue reserves are used, rather than simply leaving
everything in the profit and loss account (which is, itself, a revenue reserve)?

@ General reserve

A general reserve is one that can be used for any purpose. For example, it may be needed because
of the effect of inflation: assume a company needs £4,000 working capital in 20X3 and that the
volume of trade remains the same for the next three years but that during that time, the general
level of prices increases by 25 per cent: the working capital requirement will now be £5,000. If
all the profits are distributed, the company will still have only £4,000 working capital which
cannot possibly finance the same volume of trade as it did in 20X3. Transferring annual
amounts of profits to a general reserve instead of paying them out as dividends is one way to
help overcome this problem.

Activity

8.2 In terms of the amount of working capital, what is the difference between doing

this and leaving the amount transferred in profit and loss?

On the other hand, it may just be the conservatism convention asserting itself, with a philo-
sophy of ‘it’s better to be safe than sorry’, in this case to restrict dividends because the funds they
would withdraw from the business may be needed in a moment of crisis. This is sometimes over-
done, with the result that a business has excessive amounts of liquid funds being inefficiently
used when, if they were paid out to the shareholders, who are, after all, the owners of the busi-
ness, the shareholders could put the funds to better use themselves.

This then leaves the question of the balance on the profit and loss appropriation account. If it
is a credit balance, is it a revenue reserve? Yes. If profits are not distributed by way of dividend,
they are revenue reserves until such time as they are converted into share capital or transfered to
other reserves.

@ Capital reserves

A capital reserve is a reserve which is zot available for transfer to the profit and loss appropri-
ation account to swell the profits shown as available for cash dividend purposes. Most capital
reserves can never be utilised for cash dividend purposes — notice the use of the word ‘cash’, as it
will be seen later that bonus shares may be issued as a ‘non-cash’ dividend.

Let us look at the ways in which capital reserves are created.
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Capital reserves created in accordance with the Companies Acts

..................................................................................................................

The Companies Acts state that the following are capital reserves and can never be utilised for the
declaration of dividends payable in cash:

1 Capital redemption reserve — see Chapter 5.

2 Share premium account — see Chapter 4.

3 Revaluation reserve — where an asset has been revalued, an increase is shown by a debit in the
requisite asset account and a credit in the revaluation account. The recording of a reduction in
value is shown by a credit in the asset account and a debit in the revaluation account.

Capital reserves created by case law

Distributable profits per the Companies Acts have been described earlier in this volume. The
definition includes the words ‘in accordance with principles generally accepted’. As accounting
develops and changes there will obviously be changes made in the ‘principles generally accepted’.

Quite a few law cases have been decided to establish exactly whether an item represents a dis-
tributable profit and, therefore, is available for cash dividend purposes. Where it is not, the item
that is not distributable should be transferred to a capital reserve account. These cases will have
to be studied at the more advanced stages of accounting, so will not be dealt with here.

Using capital reserves

These can only be used in accordance with the Companies Acts. The following description of the
actions which can be taken assumes that the Articles of Association are the same as Table A for
this purpose, and that therefore there are no provisions in the articles to prohibit such actions.

Capital redemption reserve (for creation see Chapter 5)

1 To be applied in paying up unissued shares of the company as fully paid shares. These are
commonly called bonus shares, and are dealt with in Chapter 9.

2 Can be reduced only in the manner as to reduction of share capital (see Chapter 9).

3 Can be reduced, in the case of a private company, where the permissible capital payment is
greater than the nominal value of shares redeemed/purchased (see Chapter 5).

Share premium account (for creation see Chapter 4)

1 The same provision referring to bonus shares as exists with the capital redemption reserve.

2 Writing off preliminary expenses.

3 Writing off expenses and commission paid on the issue of shares or debentures.

4 In writing off discounts on shares or debentures issued (for creation of these accounts, see
Chapter 4).

5 Providing any premium payable on redemption or purchases of shares or debentures.

Revaluation reserve

Where the directors are of the opinion that any amount standing to the credit of the revaluation
reserve is no longer necessary then the reserve must be reduced accordingly. An instance of this
would be where an increase in the value of an asset had been credited to the revaluation account,
and there had subsequently been a fall in the value of that asset.
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The revaluation reserve may also be reduced where the permissible capital payment exceeds
the nominal value of the shares redeemed/purchased.

Profits prior to incorporation (for creation see Chapter 6)

These can be used for the issuing of bonus shares, paying up partly paid shares, or alternatively
they may be used to write down goodwill or some such similar fixed asset.

Created by case law

....................................

These can be used in the issue of bonus shares or in the paying up of partly paid shares.

Distributable profits

Distributable profits have already been defined. Accounting standards will apply unless they
come into conflict with the Companies Acts themselves.

Normally the revenue reserves, including any credit balance on the profit and loss account,
would equal distributable profit.

Development costs

Under Section 269 of the Companies Act 19835, any development costs which have been cap-
italised have to be deducted from distributable profits, unless there are special circumstances
justifying the capitalisation. Normally this means that SSAP 13: Research and development
will apply.

Depreciation on revalued assets

There is a conflict here between FRS 15: Tangible fixed assets and the Companies Acts. The
Companies Acts require depreciation on revalued assets to be based on the revalued amounts.
However, the Companies Acts allow the extra depreciation because of the revaluation to be
added back when calculating distributable profit.

Distributions in kind

Where a company makes a non-cash distribution, for example by giving an investment, and that
item (i.e. in this case the investment) has been revalued, it could generally be said that part of the
distribution was unrealised profit locked into investment. However, the Companies Acts allow
this because the ‘unrealised’ profit is ‘realised’ by the distribution (from the company’s view-
point, anyway).

Distributions and auditors’ reports

The Companies Acts prohibit any particular distribution if the auditor’s report is qualified, with
one exception. The exception is that if the amount involved is not material and the auditor
agrees to this fact, then distribution of an item can take place.

If a distribution is unlawfully made, any member knowing it to be so could be made to repay
it. If the company could not recover such distributions then legal proceedings could be taken
against the directors.
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Learning outcomes

You should now have learnt:

1

Provisions involve uncertainty over the precise amount involved, it being
impossible to determine the amount with ‘substantial” accuracy.

Liabilities can be determined with ‘substantial” accuracy.

That there are two main categories of reserves:
(a) revenue reserves (can be freely distributed)
(b) capital reserves (subject to restrictions on their distribution).

That there is often no need to transfer amounts from profit and loss into a
revenue reserve. However, doing so does signal the likelihod of some future
event and so could improve the true and fair view of the financial statements.

Some of the uses that can be made of capital reserves.
What normally comprises distributable profits.

Answers to activities

8.1

8.2

There is no simple answer to this question. Reserves of this type were fairly common some years
ago, mainly because they signalled that the business was being prudent and preparing to meet
some future expense. Some people might suggest that some transfers of this type were made so as
to retain cash in the business and thus avoid the interest costs of borrowing funds. (Funds already
held by a business are the cheapest form of finance available.) It could be argued that transferring
reserves from the profit and loss account to a repairs reserve, for example, stops shareholders com-
plaining that they have not received a high enough dividend, thus enabling the company to use its
cash resources for other purposes.

However, nowadays, investors are more sophisticated than in the past and they are unlikely to
be confused by such a transfer between reserves. That is, the fact that reserves had been trans-
ferred into a repairs reserve would not prevent investors from complaining that they had not
received a high enough dividend. Also, nowadays, they would both wish to know why the transfer
had taken place and expect it to be used for the purpose indicated.

In reality, it matters not a bit whether businesses make reserve transfers of this type. They may
feel it is more informative to do so, but there is no need for such transfers to occur.

There is no difference. The cash has not been paid out so, in both cases, working capital increases
accordingly. Transferring the amount from profit and loss to a general reserve simply indicates that
some funds are being retained for an undefined purpose.

Review question

8.1 An extract from the draft accounts of Either Ltd at 30 November 20X5 shows the following
figures before allowing for any dividend which might be proposed:

£000

Ordinary shares of £1 each 400
6% preference shares of £1 each 150
Capital redemption reserve 300
Revaluation reserve 125
General reserve 80
Profit and loss account 13
1,068

Operating profit before taxation for the year 302
Taxation 145
157
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Additional information includes:

() The revaluation reserve consists of an increase in the value of freehold property following a
valuation in 20X3. The property concerned was one of three freehold properties owned by the
company and was subsequently sold at the revalued amount.

(i) It has been found that a number of stock items have been included at cost price, but were
being sold after the balance sheet date at prices well below cost. To allow for this, stock at
30 November 20X5 would need to be reduced by £35,000.

(iii) Provision for directors’ remuneration should be made in the sum of £43,000.

(iv) Included on the balance sheet is £250,000 of research and development expenditure carried
forward.

(v) No dividends have yet been paid on either ordinary or preference shares for the year to
30 November 20X5, but the directors wish to pay the maximum permissible dividends for the year.

(vi) Since the draft accounts were produced it has been reported that a major customer of Either
Ltd has gone into liquidation and is unlikely to be able to pay more than 50p in the £ to its
creditors. At 30 November 20X5 this customer owed £60,000 and this has since risen to £180,000.

(vii) 1t has been decided that the depreciation rates for plant and machinery are too low but the
effect of the new rates has not been taken into account in constructing the draft accounts.
The following information is available:

Plant and machinery £
Purchases at the commencement of the business on 1 December 20X 1 at cost 100,000
Later purchases were: 1 June 20X3 25,000
29 February 20X4 28,000
31 May 20X4 45,000
1 December 20X4 50,000

In the draft financial statements depreciation has been charged at the rate of 25 per cent using the
reducing balance method and charging a full year’s depreciation in the year of purchase. It has
been decided to change to the straight line method using the same percentage but charging only
an appropriate portion of the depreciation in the year of purchase. There have been no sales of
plant and machinery during the period.

Required:

(a) Calculate the maximum amount which the directors of Either Ltd may propose as a dividend to
be paid to the ordinary shareholders whilst observing the requirements of the Companies Acts.
Show all workings and state any assumptions made.

(b) Outline and discuss any differences which might have been made to your answer to (a) if the
company were a public limited company.

For the purposes of this question you may take it that corporation tax is levied at the rate of
50 per cent.

(Association of Chartered Certified Accountants)

You can find a range of additional self-test questions, as well as material to help you with
your studies, on the website that accompanies this book at www.pearsoned.co.uk/wood
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The increase and reduction of the
share capital of limited companies

Learning objectives

eeccccccccce

After you have studied this chapter, you should be able to:

® explain the various ways in which a limited company may alter its share capital
® describe the difference between a bonus issue and a rights issue of shares

® explain why a company may introduce a scheme for the reduction of its capital

® describe the effect upon the balance sheet of bonus issues, rights issues and
schemes for the reduction of capital

Introduction

eeccccccccce

Sometimes companies need to alter their issued share capital. In this chapter,
you'll learn about the alternatives available. You'll learn about the difference
between scrip issues and rights issues and how to record the appropriate ledger
account entries when either occurs. You will also learn that the nominal value of
share capital can be reduced, and how to do so.

e Alteration of capital

A limited company may, if authorised by its articles, and if the correct legal formalities are
observed, alter its share capital in any of the following ways:

136

1

2

Increase its share capital by issuing new shares, e.g. increase authorised share capital from
£500,000 to £1 million and then issue more shares.

Consolidate and divide all or any of its share capital into shares of a larger nominal value than its
existing shares, for instance convert 500,000 ordinary shares of £1 each into 100,000 ordinary
shares of £5 each.

Convert all or any of its paid-up shares into debentures, and reconvert those debentures into
shares of any denomination, e.g. convert 100,000 ordinary shares of £1 each into £100,000
debentures and then issue 200,000 ordinary shares of 50p each.

Subdivide all, or any, of its shares into shares of smaller denominations, e.g. convert 1 million
ordinary shares of £1 each into 2 million ordinary shares of £0.50 each, or 4 million ordinary
shares of 25p each.

Cancel shares which have not been taken up. This is known as ‘diminution of capital’, and is
not to be confused with ‘reduction of capital’, described later in the chapter. Thus, a company
with an authorised share capital of £200,000 and an issued share capital of £175,000 can
alter its share capital to authorised share capital of £175,000 and issued share capital of
£175,000.
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Why do you think a company would wish to change its share capital?

@ Bonus shares

These are shares issued to existing shareholders free of charge. An alternative name often used is
scrip issue.

If the articles give the power, and the requisite legal formalities are observed, the following
may be applied in the issuing of bonus shares:

1 The balance of the profit and loss appropriation account.
2 Any other revenue reserve.
3 Any capital reserve, e.g. share premium.

This thus comprises all of the reserves.
The reason why this should ever be needed can be illustrated by taking the somewhat exag-
gerated example shown in Exhibit 9.1.

Exhibit 9.1

When Better Price Ltd started in business 50 years ago, it issued 10,000 ordinary shares of £1 each
and deposited £10,000 in the bank. The company has constantly retained a proportion of its profits
to finance its operations, thus diverting them from being used for cash dividend purposes. This has
preserved an appropriate level of working capital.

The firm’s balance sheet as at 31 December 20X7 is shown as:

Better Price Ltd
Balance Sheet as at 31 December 20X7
(before bonus shares are issued)

£
Fixed assets 150,000
Current assets /ess current liabilities 150,000
300,000
Share capital 10,000
Reserves (including profit and loss balance) 290,000
300,000

If an annual profit of £45,000 was being earned (i.e. 15 per cent on capital employed) and
£10,000 were paid annually as cash dividends, then the dividend declared each year would be 100
per cent (i.e. a dividend of £10,000 on shares with a nominal value of £10,000).

It is obvious that the dividends and the share capital are out of step with one another.
Employees and trade unions could start complaining due to a lack of accounting knowledge (or
even misuse of it) because they believe that the company is making unduly excessive profits.
Customers may also be deluded into thinking that they are being charged excessive prices. Even
though this could be demonstrated not to be true because of the prices charged by competitors,
they may still have the feeling that they are somehow being duped.

In fact, an efficient company in this industry may only be achieving ‘average’ rewards for the
risks it has taken if it is making a profit of 15 per cent on capital employed. The figure of 100 per
cent for the dividend is due to the very misleading convention in accounting in the UK of calculat-
ing dividends in relationship to the nominal amount of the share capital, rather than the capital
employed.
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If it is felt that £80,000 of the reserves could not be used for dividend purposes, due to the fact
that the net assets should remain at a minimum of £90,000, made up of fixed assets £80,000 and
working capital of £10,000, then besides the £10,000 share capital which cannot be returned to the
shareholders there are also £80,000 of reserves which cannot be rationally returned to them.
Instead of this £80,000 being called reserves, it might as well be called capital, as it is needed by
the business on a permanent basis.

To remedy this position, as well as some other less obvious needs, the concept of bonus shares
was developed. The reserves are made non-returnable to the shareholders by being converted into
share capital. Each holder of one ordinary share of £1 each will receive eight bonus shares (in the
shape of eight ordinary shares) of £1 each. The balance sheet, if the bonus shares had been issued
immediately, would be:

Better Price Ltd
Balance sheet as at 31 December 20X7
(after bonus shares are issued)

£
Fixed assets 150,000
Current assets /ess current liabilities 150,000
300,000
Share capital (£10,000 + £80,000) 90,000
Reserves (£290,000 — £80,000) 210,000
300,000

When the annual dividends of £10,000 are declared in the future, they will represent:

£10,000 X m: a dividend of 11.1 per cent
£90,000 1
This will cause fewer problems in the minds of employees, trade unions and customers.

Of course the issue of bonus shares may be seen by any of the interested parties to be some
form of excessive generosity on the part of the company. To give eight shares of £1 each free for
one previously owned may be seen as unfair by employees and their trade unions. In fact, the
shareholders have gained nothing. Before the bonus issue there were 10,000 shareholders who
owned between them £300,000 of net assets. Therefore, assuming for this purpose that the book
‘value’ is the same as any other ‘value’, each share was worth £30. After the bonus issue, each
shareholder has nine shares for every one share held before. If a shareholder had owned one share
only, he now owns nine shares. He is therefore, the owner of %/s0,000 of the company. The ‘value’ of
the net assets is £300,000, and he owns %0000 of them, so his shares are worth £30. This is exactly
the same ‘value’ as that applying before the bonus issue was made.

It would be useful, in addition, to refer to other matters for comparison. Anyone who had
owned a £1 share 50 years ago, then worth £1, would now have nine £1 shares. A new house of a
certain type 50 years ago might have cost £x; it may now cost £9x. Price inflation affects different
items in different ways. The cost of a bottle of beer may now be y times greater than it was 50
years ago, a loaf of bread may cost z times more, and so on. But, at least the shareholders now
have some tangible increase in the nominal value of their investment. Of course, the company has
brought a lot of trouble on itself by waiting so many years to capitalise its reserves. It should have
been done in several stages over the years.

This is a very simplified example, but it is a situation many companies have had to face. There
is, also, no doubt that a misunderstanding of accounting and financial matters has caused a great
deal of unnecessary friction in the past and will probably still do so in the future. Yet another
very common misunderstanding is the assumption that the asset balance sheet values equal the
amount they could be sold for. Thus, a profit of £100,000 when the book value of the net assets
is £200,000 may appear to be excessive yet, if the realisable value of the net assets were used, the
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net worth of the company may be £2 million, making a profit of £100,000 appear perhaps a little
low, rather than appearing excessive.

The accounting entries when bonus shares are issued are to debit the reserve accounts utilised,
and to credit a bonus account. The shares are then issued and the entry required to record this is
to credit the share capital account and to debit the bonus account. The journal entries in our
example would be:

The Journal
Dr Cr
£ £
Reserve account(s) (show each account separately) 80,000
Bonus account 80,000
Transfer of an amount equal to the bonus payable in fully paid shares
Bonus account 80,000
Share capital account 80,000

Allotment and issue of 80,000 shares of £1 each, in satisfaction of the
bonus declared

Rights issue

You learnt in Chapter 4 that a company can also increase its issued share capital by making a
rights issue. This is the issue of shares to existing shareholders at a price lower than the ruling
market price of the shares. You will remember that the price is lower so as to compensate for the
reduction in value of shares held previously.

The price at which the shares of a very profitable company are quoted on the Stock Exchange
is usually higher than the nominal value of the shares. For instance, the market price of the
shares of a company might be quoted at £2.50 while the nominal value per share is only £1.00. If
the company has 800,000 shares of £1 each and declares a rights issue of one for every eight held
at a price of £1.50 per share, it is obvious that it will be cheaper for the existing shareholders
to buy the rights issue at this price instead of buying the same shares in the open market for
£2.50 per share. Assume that all the rights issue were taken up, then the number of shares taken
up will be 100,000 (i.e. 800,000 + 8), and the amount paid for them will be £150,000. The
journal entries will be:

The Journal
Dr Cr
f £
Cash 150,000
Share capital 100,000
Share premium 50,000

Being the rights issue of 1 for every 8 shares
held at a price of £1.50 nominal value being £1.00

As the nominal value of each share is £1.00 while £1.50 was paid, the extra 50p constitutes a
share premium to the company.

Notice also that the market value of the shares will be reduced or ‘diluted’ by the rights issue,
as was the case for bonus shares. Before the rights issue there were 800,000 shares at a price of
£2.50, giving a market capitalisation of £2 million. After the rights issue there are 900,000
shares and the assets have increased by £150,000. The market value may now be £2.39 [(£2
million + £150,000)/900,000], although the precise market price after the rights issue will be
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influenced by the information given surrounding the sale about the future prospects of the com-
pany and may not be exactly the £2.39 calculated above.

Reduction of capital

Any scheme for the reduction of capital needs to go through legal formalities via the shareholders
and other interested parties, and must receive the consent of the court.

Capital reduction means that the share capital — all of it if there is only one class such as
ordinary shares, or all or part of it if there is more than one class of shares — has been subjected to a
lessening of its nominal value, or of the called-up part of the nominal value. Thus:

(a) a £4 share might be converted into a £3 share;
(b) a £5 share might be converted into a £1 share;
(c) a £3 share, £2 called up, might be converted into a £1 share fully paid up;
(d) a £5 share, £3 called up, might be converted into a £3 share £1 called up;

plus any other variations.

Why should such action be necessary? The reasons are rather like the issue of bonus shares in
reverse. However, in this case, the share capital has fallen out of line with the assets, in that the
share capital is not fully represented by assets. For example, Robert Ltd may have a balance
sheet as follows:

Robert Ltd
Balance Sheet as at 31 December 20X7
£
Net assets 300,000
Ordinary share capital
100,000 ordinary shares of £5 each, fully paid 500,000
Less Profit and loss (debit balance) (200,000)
300,000

The net assets are shown at £300,000, and it is felt that the book value represents a true and
fair view of their actual value. The company will almost certainly be precluded from paying divi-
dends until the debit balance on the profit and loss account has been eradicated and replaced
with a credit balance. If profits remaining after taxation are now running at the rate of £30,000
per annum, it will be seven years before a dividend can be paid. One reason for buying shares is
to provide income (although there may well enter another reason, such as capital appreciation).
Consequently, the denial of income to the shareholders for this period of time could seriously
affect the company.

A solution would be to cancel, i.e. reduce, the capital which was no longer represented by
assets. In this case, £200,000 of the share capital can lay no claim to any assets. The share capital
should therefore be reduced by £200,000. This is done by converting the shares into £3 shares
fully paid instead of £5 shares. The balance sheet would become:

Robert Ltd
Balance Sheet as at 31 December 20X7
£
Net assets 300,000
300,000
Ordinary share capital 300,000
300,000
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Now that there is no debit balance on the profit and loss appropriation account, the £30,000
available profit next year can be distributed as dividends.

Of course, the Robert Ltd example has been simplified to make what is being explained easier
to understand. Often, both preference and ordinary shareholders are involved. Sometimes,
debenture holders as well. Even creditors occasionally sacrifice part of the amount owing to
them, the idea being that the increase in working capital so generated will help the firm
to achieve prosperity, in which case the creditors hope to once again enjoy the profitable contact
that they used to have with the company.

Capital reduction schemes are matters for negotiation between the various interested parties.
For instance, preference shareholders may be quite content for the nominal value of their shares
to be reduced if the rate of interest they receive is increased accordingly. As with any negotiation,
the various parties will put forward their points of view and discussions will take place until a
compromise solution is arrived at. When the court’s sanction has been obtained, the accounting
entries are:

1 For amounts written off assets:
Dr Capital reduction account
Cr Various asset accounts

2 For reduction in liabilities (e.g. creditors):
Dr Liability accounts
Cr Capital reduction account

3 The reduction in the share capital:
Dr Share capital accounts (each type)
Cr Capital reduction account

4 If a credit balance now exists on the capital reduction account:
Dr Capital reduction account (to close)
Cr Capital reserve

It is unlikely that there would ever be a debit balance on the capital reduction account, as the
court would rarely agree to any scheme which would bring this about.

Capital reduction schemes for private companies are used less frequently now than previ-
ously, thanks to companies having been granted the right to purchase their own shares.

Where some of the assets are no longer needed

.....................................................................................

Where some of the firm’s assets are no longer needed, probably due to a contraction in the firm’s
activities, a company may find itself with a surplus of liquid assets. Subject to the legal formalit-
ies being observed, in this case the reduction of capital is effected by returning cash to the share-
holders, i.e.:

1 Dr Share capital account (with amount returnable)
Cr Sundry shareholders

2 Dr Sundry shareholders
Cr Bank (amount actually paid)

Such a scheme could be objected to by the creditors if it affected their interests.
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Learning outcomes

You should now have learnt:

1

That a limited company may alter its share capital if it is authorised to do so by its
Articles of Association.

Alterations to share capital can be made by a limited company:

(a) issuing new shares;

(b) consolidating all or any of its share capital into shares of a higher nominal
value;

(c) converting paid-up shares into debentures and then reconverting the
debentures back into shares of another denomination;

(d) subdividing all or any of its share capital into shares of a lower nominal value;

(e) cancelling shares that have not been ‘taken up’ - the difference between the
‘authorised share capital’ and the ‘issued share capital’.

Some reasons why companies change their share capital.

That where share capital is overvalued in relation to assets, a capital reduction
scheme may be adopted in order to bring the share capital into line with the
underlying asset value of the business as reported in the balance sheet.

Answer to activity

9.1

As you will see later in this chapter, there are many possible reasons. It may be that the nominal
value of the share capital is significantly understated compared with current earnings. An increase
in nominal share capital would help redress this imbalance and make things like earnings per share
more intuitively meaningful. Alternatively, it may be that large reserves have been built up and the
company wishes to increase the amount of its share capital by converting the reserves into shares.
Another possibility is that the share price has risen significantly since the shares were first quoted
on the Stock Exchange and it now appears unreasonably high relative to comparable shares. By
splitting each share into a number of shares of a lower nominal value, the share price can be
brought back to an appropriate level. Don't forget, companies can both increase and reduce the
nominal value of their share capital.

Review questions
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9.1 The Merton Manufacturing Co Ltd has been in business for many years making fitted furni-
ture and chairs. During 20X4 and 20X5 substantial losses have been sustained on the manufacture
of chairs and the directors have decided to concentrate on the fitted furniture side of the business
which is expected to produce a profit of at least £22,500 per annum before interest charges and
taxation. A capital reduction scheme has been proposed under which:

(i)
(if)
(iii)

(iv)

a new ordinary share of 50p nominal value will be created;

the £1 ordinary shares will be written off and the shareholders will be offered one new ordin-
ary share for every six old shares held;

the £1 6 per cent redeemable preference shares will be cancelled and the holders will be
offered for every three existing preference shares, one new ordinary share and £1 of a new
8 per cent debenture;

the existing 11 per cent debenture will be exchanged for a new debenture yielding 8 per cent
and in addition existing debenture holders will be offered one new ordinary share for every
£4 of the old debenture held;
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(v) existing reserves will be written off;

(vi) goodwill is to be written off;

(vii) any remaining balance of write-off which is necessary is to be achieved by writing down
plant and equipment; and

(viii) existing ordinary shareholders will be invited to subscribe for two fully paid new ordinary
shares at par for every three old shares held.

The balance sheet of the Merton Manufacturing Co Ltd immediately prior to the capital reduction
is as follows:

£ i
Fixed intangible assets
Goodwill at cost less amounts written off 50,000
Fixed tangible assets
Freehold land and buildings at cost 95,000
Plant and equipment at cost 275,000
Less Depreciation to date (_89,500)
185,500
330,500
Current assets
Stocks 25,000
Debtors 50,000
75,000
Current liabilities £
Creditors 63,500
Bank overdraft 15,850
(79,350)
Excess of current liabilities (__4,350)
326,150
Long-term loan
11"/, per cent debenture, secured on the freehold
land and buildings (100,000)
226,150
f
Share capital and reserves
£1 ordinary shares fully paid 90,000
6 per cent £1 redeemable preference shares fully paid 150,000
Share premium account 25,000
Profit and loss account (_38,850)
226,150

On a liquidation, freehold land and buildings are expected to produce £120,000, plant and equip-
ment £40,000, stocks £15,000 and debtors £45,000. Goodwill has no value.
There are no termination costs associated with ceasing the manufacture of chairs.

Required:

(@) Assuming that the necessary approval is obtained and that the new share issue is successful,
produce a balance sheet of the company showing the position immediately after the scheme
has been put into effect.

(b) Show the effect of the scheme on the expected earnings of the old shareholders.

(c) Indicate the points which a preference shareholder should take into account before voting on
the scheme.

Corporation tax may be taken at 33"/ per cent.

(Association of Chartered Certified Accountants)
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9.2 Deflation Ltd, which had experienced trading difficulties, decided to reorganise its finances.
On 31 December 20X5 a final trial balance extracted from the books showed the following position:

f f
Share capital, authorised and issued:
150,000 6 per cent cumulative preference shares of £1 each 150,000
200,000 ordinary shares of £1 each 200,000
Share premium account 40,000
Profit and loss account 114,375
Preliminary expenses 7,250
Goodwill (at cost) 55,000
Trade creditors 43,500
Debtors 31,200
Bank overdraft 51,000
Leasehold property  (at cost) 80,000
(provision for depreciation) 30,000
Plant and machinery (at cost) 210,000
(provision for depreciation) 62,500
Stock in hand 79,175

577,000 577,000

Approval of the Court was obtained for the following scheme for reduction of capital:

1 The preference shares to be reduced to £0.75 per share.

2 The ordinary shares to be reduced to £0.125 per share.

3 One £0.125 ordinary share to be issued for each £1 of gross preference dividend arrears; the
preference dividend had not been paid for three years.

4 The balance on share premium account to be utilised.

5 Plant and machinery to be written down to £75,000.

6 The profit and loss account balance, and all intangible assets, to be written off.

At the same time as the resolution to reduce capital was passed, another resolution was approved
restoring the total authorised capital to £350,000, consisting of 150,000 6 per cent cumulative pref-
erence shares of £0.75 each and the balance in ordinary shares of £0.125 each. As soon as the
above resolutions had been passed 500,000 ordinary shares were issued at par, for cash, payable in
full upon application.

You are required:

(a) to show the journal entries necessary to record the above transactions in the company’s books;
and

(b) to prepare a balance sheet of the company, after completion of the scheme.

(Institute of Chartered Accountants)
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9.3 0On 31 March 20X2, the following was the balance sheet of Quality Yarns Ltd.

Balance Sheet

Fixed assets £ £ £
Goodwill and trade marks as valued 280,000
Plant and machinery (at cost /ess depreciation) 320,000
Furniture and fittings (at cost /ess depreciation) 8,400
608,400
Current assets
Stock 190,200
Sundry debtors 74,600
Cash 300
Less: Current liabilities 265,100
Sundry creditors 33,200
Bank overdraft 44,400 (_77,600)
187,500
795,900
Authorised capital
200,000 6 per cent preference shares of £1 each 200,000
3 million ordinary shares of 50p each 1,500,000
1,700,000
Issued and fully paid capital
100,000 6 per cent preference shares of £1 each 100,000
1,750,000 ordinary shares of 50p each 875,000
975,000
Capital reserve 60,000
Less: Profit and loss (239,100) (179,100)
795,900

The following scheme of capital reduction was sanctioned by the Court and agreed by the share-
holders:

(a) Preference shares were to be reduced to 80p each.

(b) Ordinary shares were to be reduced to 25p each.

(c) The capital reserve was to be eliminated.

(d) The reduced shares of both classes were to be consolidated into new ordinary shares of £1 each.

(e) An issue of £300,000 5 per cent debentures at par was to be made to provide fresh working capital.

(f) The sum written off the issued capital of the company and the capital reserve to be used to
write off the debit balance of the profit and loss account and to reduce fixed assets by the fol-
lowing amounts:

Goodwill and trade marks £250,000
Plant and machinery £22,200
Furniture and fittings £4,400

(g) The bank overdraft was to be paid off out of the proceeds of the debentures which were duly
issued and paid in full.

A further resolution was passed to reduce the authorised capital of the company to 1,750,000 ordin-
ary shares of £1 each.

Required:
Prepare journal entries (cash transactions to be journalised) to give effect to the above scheme and
draw up the balance sheet of the company after completion of the scheme.
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9.4A The balance sheet of Tatters Ltd on 31 December 20X8 was as follows:

Balance Sheet

f f
Goodwill 50,000
Fixed assets 190,000
240,000
Current assets
Stock 21,000
Work in progress 3,000
Debtors 25,000
Bank 18,000
67,000
Capital expenses
Formation expenses 3,000
310,000
Less: Current liabilities
Creditors ( 30,000)
280,000
Less: 5 per cent debentures (_60,000)
220,000
Issued share capital
200,000 ordinary shares of £1 each 200,000
100,000 4 per cent cumulative preference shares of £1 each 100,000
300,000
Less: Profit and loss (.80,000)
220,000

The dividend on the preference shares is £12,000 in arrears. A scheme of reconstruction was
accepted by all parties and was completed on 1 January 20X9.

A new company was formed, Rags Ltd, with an authorised share capital of £250,000, consisting
of 250,000 ordinary shares of £1 each. This company took over all the assets of Tatters Ltd. The pur-
chase consideration was satisfied partly in cash and partly by the issue, at par, of shares and 6 per
cent debentures by the new company in accordance with the following arrangements:

1 The creditors of the old company received, in settlement of each £10 due to them, £6 in cash and
four fully paid ordinary shares in the new company.

2 The holders of preference shares in the old company received nine fully paid ordinary shares in
the new company to every ten preference shares in the old company and four fully paid ordinary
shares in the new company for every £5 of arrears of dividend.

3 The ordinary shareholders in the old company received one fully paid share in the new company

for every four ordinary shares in the old company.

4 The holders of 5 per cent debentures in the old company received £50 in cash and £50 of 6 per

cent debentures issued at par for every £100 debenture held in the old company.

5 The balance of the authorised capital of the new company was issued at par for cash and was

fully paid on 1 January 20X9.

6 Goodwill was eliminated, the stock was valued at £15,000 and the other current assets were

brought into the new company’s books at the amounts at which they appeared in the old com-
pany’s balance sheet. The balance of the purchase consideration represented the agreed value of
the fixed assets.

You are required to show:
(a) the closing entries in the realisation account and the sundry shareholders account in the books

of Tatters Ltd.
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(b) your calculation of:
(i) the purchase consideration for the assets, and
(ii) the agreed value of the fixed assets;
(c) the summarised balance sheet of Rags Ltd as on 1 January 20X9.

9.5A The ledger balances of Tick Tick Ltd at 31 March 20X1 were as follows:

£
Freehold premises 90,000
Plant 300,000
Stock 82,000
Debtors 96,000
Development expenditure* 110,000
Cash at bank 11,000
Profit and loss (debit balance) 121,000
250,000 8 per cent preference shares of £1 each 250,000
500,000 ordinary shares of £1 each 500,000
Creditors 60,000

A capital reduction scheme has been sanctioned under which the 250,000 preference shares are to be
reduced to 80p each, fully paid; and the 500,000 ordinary shares are to be reduced to 20p each,
fully paid.

Development expenditure and the debit balance on profit and loss account are to be written
off, the balance remaining being used to reduce the book value of the plant.

Required:

Prepare the journal entries recording the reduction scheme and the balance sheet as it would
appear immediately after the reduction. Narrations are not required in connection with journal
entries.

*Development expenditure is a fixed asset.

You can find a range of additional self-test questions, as well as material to help you with
your studies, on the website that accompanies this book at www.pearsoned.co.uk/wood
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Learning objectives

eeccccccccce

After you have studied this chapter, you should be able to:

® explain the measures being taken by the Accounting Standards Board to develop
a framework for the preparation and presentation of financial statements

® describe the full range of UK accounting standards currently in issue, their aims
and objectives and identify the equivalent international accounting standards

Introduction

eeccccccccce

In this chapter, you'll learn about the background to the formation of the UK
Accounting Standards Board and of the range of UK accounting standards that have
been issued since 1971. At the same time, you will learn about the equivalent
accounting standards that have been issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board.

@ Why do we need accounting standards?

148

Accounting is used in every kind of business and organisation from large multinational organisa-
tions to your local shop, from sole traders to companies. It can cover activities as different as
breweries, charities, churches, dentists, doctors, lawyers, mines, oil wells, betting shops, banks,
cinemas, circuses, funeral undertakers, farms, waste disposal, deep-sea diving, airlines, estate
agents and so on.

Let’s assume that you have received a copy of the published financial statements of a com-
pany. You want to be sure that you can rely on the methods it selected to calculate its revenues,
expenditures and balance sheet values. Without this assurance you would not be able to have
any faith at all in the figures, and could not sensibly take any decision concerning your relation-
ship with the company.

It is the same for all investors. People invest in organisations of all types and they would all like
to have faith and trust in the figures reported in their financial statements. But this diversity of
type of business, and also of size, means that, while general principles can be laid down, detailed
regulations that it would make sense to apply to one company would be wholly inappropriate for
another company. It is, quite simply, impossible to provide 100 per cent assurance of the validity
of the financial statements of every conceivable organisation through the creation of a single set
of rules and procedures. There has to be some flexibility within the rules laid down.

If it isn’t feasible to produce a set of all-encompassing regulations, why bother with rules at
all? To understand why there was a move to regulation, we need to look back to what happened
in the 1960s.
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@ The background

In the late 1960s there was a general outcry that the methods used by different businesses were
showing vastly different profits on similar data. In the UK, a controversy had arisen following the
takeover of AEI Ltd by GEC Ltd. In fighting the takeover bid made by GEC, the AEI directors
had produced a forecast, in the tenth month of their financial year, that the profit before tax for
the year would be £10 million. After the takeover, the financial statements of AEI for that same
year showed a loss of £4.5 million. The difference was attributed to there being £5 million of
‘matters substantially of fact’ and £9.5 million of ‘adjustments which remain matters substan-
tially of judgement’.

The financial pages of the national press started demanding action, calling for the accounting
profession to lay down consistent principles for businesses to follow.

In December 1969, the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales issued a
Statement of Intent on Accounting Standards in the 1970s. The Institute set up the Accounting
Standards Steering Committee in 1970. Over the following six years, it was joined by the five
other UK and Irish accountancy bodies and, in 1976, the committee became the Accounting
Standards Committee (ASC). The six accountancy bodies formed the Consultative Committee of
Accountancy Bodies (CCAB).

Prior to the issue of any accounting standard by the ASC, a great deal of preparatory work was
done and an exposure draft (ED) was issued and copies were sent to those with a special interest
in the topic for comment. The journals of the CCAB (i.e. the official magazines of each of the six
accountancy bodies) also gave full details of the exposure drafts. After the period allowed for con-
sultation ended, it was seen to be desirable, and an accounting standard on the topic was issued.
The Standards issued by the ASC were called Statements of Standard Accounting Practice (SSAPs).

Because the ASC had to obtain approval from its six professional accountancy body mem-
bers, it did not appear to be as decisive and independent as was desired. In 1990, a new body,
the Accounting Standards Board (ASB), took over the functions of the ASC. The ASB is more
independent of the accounting bodies and can issue its recommendations, known as financial
reporting standards (FRSs), without approval from any other body. The ASB adopted the SSAPs
in force but many have since been replaced by FRSs and, as at December 2004, only 8 SSAPs remain
in force. As with the ASC, the ASB issues exposure drafts — FREDs — on which comments are
invited prior to the issue of a new standard.

In 1997, the ASB issued a third category of standard — the Financial Reporting Standard for
Smaller Entities (FRSSE). SSAPs and FRSs had generally been developed with the larger com-
pany in mind. The FRSSE was the ASB’s response to the view that smaller companies should not
have to apply all the cumbersome rules contained in the SSAPs and FRSs. It is, in effect, a collec-
tion of some of the rules from virtually all the other accounting standards. Small companies can
choose whether or not to apply the FRSSE or, as seems unlikely, continue to apply all the other
accounting standards.

In addition to the FRSs and the FRSSE, the ASB also issues Urgent Issues Task Force Abstracts
(UITFs). These are issued in response to an urgent need to regulate something pending the issue
of a new or amended FRS. They have the same status as an FRS but, due to the perceived urgent
need for them to be issued, no exposure drafts are issued.

While there is no general law compelling observation of the standards, accounting standards
have had statutory recognition since the Companies Act 1989 became law. As a result, apart from
entities exempted from certain standards or sections within standards — SSAPs 13 (Research and
development) and 25 (Segmental reporting), and FRS 1 (Cash flow statements), for example, all
contain exemption clauses based on company size — accounting standards must be complied with
by all entities when preparing financial statements intended to present a ‘true and fair view’. The
Companies Acts state that failure to comply with the requirements of an accounting standard
must be explained in the financial statements.
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Historically, the main method of ensuring compliance with the standards by their members
has always been through each professional body’s own disciplinary procedures on their mem-
bers. The ASB felt this was insufficient — such measures only seek to control individual account-
ants, not the organisations they work for. As a result, it created a Review Panel with power to
prosecute companies under civil law where their financial statements contain a major breach of
the standards.

This book deals in outline with all UK accounting standards issued and still in force up to
December 2004. It does not deal with all the many detailed points contained in the standards
and exposure drafts. It would be a far larger book if this was attempted. Students at the later
stages of their professional examinations will need to get full copies of all standards and study
them thoroughly (see also G Black, Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards and | Blake,
Accounting Standards).

The remainder of this chapter deals with all the current UK and international accounting stand-
ards and related documents which are not covered in detail elsewhere in this book. The reason
for its focusing upon both sets of standards is due to the requirement that, from 2005, all
European listed companies must adopt and comply with international accounting standards
when preparing their consolidated financial statements. All other organisations have the option
to do so and it is only a question of time before all UK and Irish organisations do so as well.

It is, however, unclear just when all organisations will be using international standards. There
is, for example, no international equivalent of the FRSSE (though the IASB is currently looking
at whether to produce a series of accounting standards purely for use by smaller enterprises.)

This clearly creates problems for students and authors alike. Be guided by your teachers and
lecturers and, most importantly, by the syllabus you are to be examined upon. It is likely that
most exam bodies will continue to focus upon UK standards, at least in the short term. This is not
to say that they are likely to ignore international standards. Far from it. They are likely to start
examining aspects of international standards but it is difficult to foresee their doing so when
examining topics other than company financial statements. One obvious topic they are likely to
target is the Cash flow statement, which is much simpler under IAS7 Cash flow statements than
under the UK accounting standard of the same name, FRS1. Chapter 14 of this book has been
revised in order to include the IAS7 requirements, so that you will be able to prepare a cash flow
statement under either IAS7 or FRS1.

During this transition period, this book will continue to focus on UK accounting standards.
However, reference to the equivalent international standard(s) will be made and the manner in
which the requirements of the equivalent international standard(s) differ on specific topics will
also be shown.

The next section presents an overview of international accounting standards.

International accounting standards

The Accounting Standards Board issues accounting standards for adoption in the UK and
Ireland. Other countries also have their own accounting standards boards — for example, the
FASB (Financial Accounting Standards Board) operates in the USA and Australia has the AASB
(Australian Accounting Standards Board). However, many smaller countries could not justify
the creation of their own accounting standards but needed some form of regulation over
the financial statements produced. This led, in 1973, to the setting up of the International
Accounting Standards Committee (IASC). The IASC was replaced in 2001 by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB). At that time, like the ASB, the IASB adopted all the
International Accounting Standards (IASs) that the IASC had issued. All new standards issued by
the TASB are called International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

The work of the IASB is overseen by 19 trustees, six from Europe, six from the USA, and four
from Asia/Pacific. The remaining three can be from anywhere so long as geographical balance is
retained. The IASB has 12 full-time members and two part-time members. Of the 14, at least five
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must have been auditors, three financial statement preparers, three users of financial statements
and one an academic.

When the IASC was founded, it had no formal authority and the IASs were entirely voluntary
and initially intended for use in countries that did not have their own accounting standards or
which had considerable logistical difficulty in establishing and maintaining the infrastructure
necessary to sustain a national accounting standards board.

Apart from providing standards for use in countries that do not issue their own accounting
standards, the need today for the IASB is mainly due to:

1 The considerable growth in international investment, which means it is desirable to have sim-
ilar methods the world over so that investment decisions are more compatible.

2 The growth in multinational firms which have to produce financial statements covering a
large number of countries. Standardisation between countries makes the accounting work
easier, and reduces costs.

3 It is desirable that the activities and efforts of the various national standard-setting bodies be
harmonised.

Up until 2005, SSAPs and FRSs had precedence over international accounting standards in
the UK and Ireland. However, as the ASB has been at pains to ensure that most of the provisions
of the relevant international standards are incorporated in existing SSAPs or FRSs, the difference
in the information required or in the manner of its presentation is often minimal. To this end,
each FRS indicates the level of compliance with the relevant international standard(s), making it
easier for companies to determine the potential impact on their financial statements should they
adopt international standards instead of SSAPs and FRSs.

Why do you think this switch in the UK and Ireland towards international
accounting standards has occurred?

Let’s look at the principles that underpin accounting standards, not just in the UK and
Ireland, but internationally as well.

Statement of Principles

In 1999, the Accounting Standards Board issued its Statement of Principles. The objective of this
document is to assist the ASB, and all other users of financial statements (see Chapter 27), by
clarifying the concepts that underlie its work and so, therefore, underpin the rules issued by the
ASB relating to the preparation and presentation of financial statements. The Statement of
Principles is not, however, an accounting standard. It does not contain any requirements on how
financial statements should be prepared and does not override any standard.

When the ASB first started developing the Statement of Principles, it drew heavily upon the
IASC’s Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements. The Statement
of Principles is very similar in content to the framework documents issued by the accounting
standard-setters in Australia, Canada, New Zealand and the USA, so aiding the move towards
internationalisation of accounting standards and harmonisation of accounting practice.

Objectives

‘The objective of Financial Statements is to provide information about the financial position,
performance and financial adaptability of an enterprise, that is useful to a wide range of users in
making economic decisions.’
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Information

The Statement of Principles emphasises that a key characteristic of the information contained in
financial statements is that it be useful. A diagram was included in an early draft of the Statement
of Principles which shows how these characteristics related to each other. The diagram is shown
in Exhibit 10.1.

Qualitative characteristics of financial information

Financial statements should contain information that is ‘useful’. Information is useful if it is
relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable. The four terms are defined by the ASB as
follows:

1 Relevant. Information is relevant if it has the ability to influence the economic decisions of
users and is provided in time to influence those decisions.

2 Reliable. Information is reliable if:

(a) it can be depended upon to represent faithfully what it either purports to represent or
could reasonably be expected to represent, and therefore reflects the substance of the
transactions and other events that have taken place;

(b) it is complete and is free from deliberate or systematic bias and material error; and

(c) in its preparation under conditions of uncertainty, a degree of caution has been applied in
exercising the necessary judgements.

3 Comparable. Information is comparable if it enables users to discern and evaluate similarities
in, and differences between, the nature and effects of transactions and other events over time
and across different reporting entities.

4 Understandable. Information is understandable if its significance can be perceived by users that
have a reasonable knowledge of business and economic activities and accounting and a will-
ingness to study with reasonable diligence the information provided.

Where there is a conflict between these four characteristics, the objectives of financial statements
must be met by arriving at a trade-off. For example, relevance is considered to be more important
than reliability.

Notes indicated by the numbers in brackets in Exhibit 10.1 give further insights into these
four characteristics.

Note 1

An item of information is material to the financial statements if its omission or mis-statement
might influence an economic decision of a user of the financial statements. It follows that informa-
tion which is not material is not useful and is therefore beyond the threshold for inclusion in the
financial statements.

Note 2

To be useful, information must be relevant to the decision-taking needs of users. Relevance
relates to the influence of the information on the user’s evaluation of events — past, present or
future. This evaluation can be influenced by the way items in financial statements are presented.

Note 3

As you saw earlier, reliability means information free from material error and bias and which
can be relied on by users to conform with descriptions given.

It is clear that information may be very relevant but unreliable — e.g. a betting tip at a horse
race. Reliability may not ensure relevance, e.g. reliable analysis of last year’s performance may
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Exhibit 10.1 The qualitative characteristics of accounting information

WHAT MAKES ACCOUNTING
INFORMATION USEFUL?

Threshold Materiality (1) - = = = == = = = = =g - - - - Information which is not
quality material cannot be useful
: more of one
Primary L
characteristic Relevance (2) <«—— may mean less —>>| Reliability (3)
of another

WHAT INFORMATION IS WHAT INFORMATION IS
RELEVANT? RELIABLE?

Information which influences decisions Information which is free from error or bias

Predictive Confirmatory
value (4) value (4)
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Choice of
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Valid description

Neutrality (9
and measurement (7) el ()
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RELEVANT INFORMATION ———> USEFUL INFORMATION <——— RELIABLE INFORMATION

Secondary
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WHICH QUALITIES, IF LACKING,
WOULD LIMIT THE USEFULNESS
OF THE INFORMATION?

Comparability

Understandability
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Disclosure, e.g.

accounting policies and
corresponding figures

Compliance with
accounting standards

Trade-offs
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RELEVANCE AND RELIABILITY?
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Presentation

Balance between
characteristics

Timeliness

Benefit : Cost

Reproduced with the permission of the Accounting Standards Board from Accounting Standards Board Statement of

Principles 1991
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exclude important indicators of future potential, such as new management in position. Relevance
and reliability are primary characteristics of accounting information.
They are broken down into further characteristics as follows.

Notes on relevance

®ecesccesesesesssscssscscscscsene

Note 4

Predictive value means using an analysis of current or past performance to predict a future out-
come. The same information can be used to confirm whether predictions in past periods have
come true. Confirmatory value is this second part, i.e. checking past predictions.

Note 5

The term ‘choice of aspect” implies that there may be significant choice for the preparer of
accounts as to which aspects of transactions to represent. For example, a business might acquire
a new building in a good position for trading and on which it owns the freehold. Another relev-
ant piece of information is that the property is in an area proposed for a new motorway and
could well be the subject of a compulsory purchase order. To be relevant to a user who wishes to
value the business for future prospects, both aspects of the information are relevant. Note that a
simple statement that the property was owned and showing its purchase price would be a valid
description and measurement and therefore reliable — so far as it went.

Notes on reliability

eecesecesecscscscsesesesesscsnsed

Note 6

Substance indicates that information should represent the events it purports to represent.
Sometimes complex legal arrangements may be entered into to obscure the ownership of assets.
To be reliable, the true operation and ownership of the assets with respect to the substance
must be reflected in the financial statements. Artificial legal transactions should not obscure the
substance.

Note 7

Although the title indicates the intention, it is important to relate this aspect of reliability to
Note 5 “choice of aspect’. “Valid description and measurement’ needs to be applied to the appro-
priate aspects of events.

Note 8

This indicates that incomplete information may make it false or misleading and thus not relevant.

Note 9

Neutrality implies freedom from bias. This indicates that financial statements should not be pre-
pared with the intention of influencing decisions in any particular way.

Note 10

Prudence implies a degree of caution (anticipating losses) in the valuation of assets. In many
cases this is subjective as it relates to the future, e.g. in predicting doubtful debts. This aspect
should not be used to overestimate potential losses and thus misrepresent the affairs of an
organisation.

In the second part of the chart, secondary characteristics which, if lacking, would limit the
usefulness of the information are shown. Comparability and understandability have already
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been covered above. The other items shown are self-explanatory and are not discussed further in
this text.

Why do you think there is such an emphasis on the ‘qualitative’ aspects of
information in the Statement of Principles?

We’ll now look at each of the current UK accounting standards, in number order. However,
because it underpins every other UK accounting standard, we’ll start by looking at FRS 18:
Accounting policies.

FRS 18: Accounting policies

Users of financial statements issued by organisations want to analyse and evaluate the figures
contained within them. They cannot do this effectively unless they know which accounting pol-
icies have been used when preparing such statements. This FRS was issued to help continue the
improvement in the quality of financial reporting that had been started in 1971 by the account-
ing standard it replaced, SSAP 2.

The FRS focuses upon accounting policies and considers the estimation techniques used in
implementing them. It also looks in detail at the various accounting concepts.

These are defined in FRS 18 as:

those principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices applied by an entity that specify how the
effects of transactions and other events are to be reflected in its financial statements through:

(i) recognising,

(ii) selecting measurement basis for, and

(i11) presenting

assets, liabilities, gains, losses and changes to sharebolders’ funds.

In other words, accounting policies define the processes whereby transactions and other events are
reflected in the financial statements. The accounting policies selected should enable the financial
statements to give a true and fair view and should be consistent with accounting standards,
UITFs and company legislation.

When selecting an accounting policy, its appropriateness should be considered in the context of
the four ‘objectives’ (or characteristics of information) you met when you learnt about the
Statement of Principles:

1 Relevance — Does the accounting policy produce information that is useful for assessing stew-
ardship and for making economic decisions?

2 Reliability — Does it reflect the substance of the transaction and other events that have
occurred? Is it free of bias, i.e. neutral? Is it free of material error? If produced under uncer-
tainty, has prudence been exercised?

3 Comparability — Can it be compared with similar information about the entity for some other
period or point in time?

4 Understandability — Is it capable of being understood by users who have a reasonable know-
ledge of business and economic activities and accounting?
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Estimation techniques

These are the methods adopted in order to arrive at estimated monetary amounts for items that
appear in the financial statements.

Examples of accounting policies

1 The treatment of gains and losses on disposals of fixed assets — they could be applied to adjust
the depreciation charge for the period, or they may appear as separate items in the financial
statements.

2 The classification of overheads in the financial statements — for example, some indirect costs
may be included in the trading account, or they may be included in administration costs in the
profit and loss account.

3 The treatment of interest costs incurred in connection with the construction of fixed assets —
these could be charged to profit and loss as a finance cost, or they could be capitalised and
added to the other costs of creating the fixed assets — this is allowed by FRS 15: Tangible fixed
assets.

The equivalent IASs to FRS 18 are IAS 1 (Presentation of financial statements) and IAS 8 (Net
profit or loss for the period). The differences in the requirements of these two standards and
FRS 18 are minimal.

SSAP 4: Accounting for government grants

Many different types of grant are or have been obtainable from government departments. Where
these relate to revenue expenditure, e.g. subsidies on wages, they should be credited to revenue in
the period when the revenue is incurred. The principle is that the grants should be recognised
in the profit and loss account so as to match the expenditure to which they are intended to
contribute.

Where there are grants relating to capital expenditure, then SSAP 4 states that they should be
credited to revenue over the expected useful economic life of the asset. This may be achieved by
treating the amount of the grant as a deferred income, a portion of which is credited to the profit
and loss account annually, over the life of the asset, on a basis consistent with depreciation. The
amount of the deferred credit should, if material, be shown separately. It should not be shown as
part of shareholders’ funds.

The same effect as treating the grant as deferred income would be achieved by crediting
the grant to the fixed asset account and depreciating only the net balance of the cost of the asset
over its lifetime (depreciation is thus reduced by the grant). However, although this method is
acceptable in principle, it is considered to be illegal under the Companies Act 1985 Schedule 4
para. 17, which requires the balance sheet value of a fixed asset to be its purchase price or
production cost.

The equivalent IAS is IAS 20 (Accounting for government grants and disclosure of gov-
ernment assistance). There are no major differences between the requirements of SSAP 4 and
IAS 20.

SSAP 5: Accounting for value added tax

All that needs to be noted here is that Business Accounting 1 deals with SSAP 5. There is no need
here to go into further detail at this stage of your studies. There is no equivalent international
standard.
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@ SSAP 9: Stocks and long-term contracts

Due to the many varying kinds of businesses and conditions in companies, there simply cannot
be one system of valuation for stocks and long-term contracts. All that the standard can do is to
narrow down the different methods that could be used. It does so, initially, by dealing with them
as separate and distinct items.

Stocks

Stocks should be stated at the total of the lower of cost and net realisable value of the separate
items of stock or of groups of similar items. Profit should not, except in the case of long-term
contracts, be recognised in advance, but immediate account should be made for anticipated
losses.

In the balance sheet (or in the notes), stocks should be sub-classified so as to indicate the
amounts held in each of the main categories in the standard balance sheet formats (as adapted
where appropriate) of the Companies Act 1985. (These categories are raw materials and consum-
ables, work in progress, finished goods and goods for resale, and payments on account.)

Net realisable value consists of the expected selling price less any expenses necessary to sell
the product. This may be below cost because of obsolescence, deterioration and similar factors.
SSAP 9 also defines ‘cost’” and certainly in the case of a manufacturing business it will also include
overhead expenses, so that prime cost could not be used. Cost is defined in SSAP 9 in relation to
the different categories of stocks and work in progress as being:

that expenditure which has been incurred in the normal course of business in bringing the product
or service to its present location and condition. This expenditure should include, in addition to cost
of purchase |as defined later| such costs of conversion [as defined later] as are appropriate to that
location and condition.

Cost of purchase comprises purchase price including import duties, transport and handling costs
and any other directly attributable costs, less trade discounts, rebates and subsidies.
Cost of conversion comprises:

(a) costs which are specifically attributable to units of production, i.e. direct labour, direct
expenses and subcontracted work;

(b) production overheads (as defined later);

(c) other overheads, if any, attributable in the particular circumstances of the business to bring-
ing the product or service to its present location and condition.

Production overheads based on the normal level of activity and including fixed production
overheads, taking one year with another, should all be included. Obviously, neither selling nor
general administration costs should be included in cost.

Notice that abnormal costs should not be included, as they should not have the effect of
increasing stock valuation.

The last in, first out (LIFO) and base stock methods should not be used, as they do not pro-
vide an up-to-date valuation. Although LIFO is not accepted by the SSAP, the Companies Act
1985 accepts its use.

The standard does accept that replacement cost may, in certain circumstances, be acceptable.
As a result, the lower of replacement cost or net realisation value may be used. Again, this is in
accord with the Companies Act 19835.

The equivalent international standard is IAS 2 (Inventories). There is no significant difference
between the two standards.
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Long-term contracts

.....................................

Chapter 15 of this book deals with long-term contracts. The equivalent TASs are TAS 11
(Construction contracts) and 1AS 18 (Revenue). As with TAS 2, there is no significant difference
between the requirements of SSAP 9 and those of the international standards.

SSAP 13: Accounting for research and development

SSAP 13 divides research and development expenditure under three headings, except for the
location or exploitation of oil, gas or mineral deposits, or where all expenditure will be reim-
bursed by a third party. The three headings are:

1 Pure (or basic) research. Experimental or theoretical work undertaken primarily to acquire
new scientific or technical knowledge for its own sake rather than directed towards any
specific aim or application.

2 Applied research. Original or critical investigation undertaken in order to gain new scientific or
technical knowledge and directed towards a specific practical aim or objective.

3 Development. Use of scientific or technical knowledge in order to produce new or substan-
tially improved materials, devices, products or services, to install new processes or systems
prior to the commencement of commercial production or commercial applications, or to
improve substantially those already produced or installed.

Expenditure incurred on pure and applied research can be regarded as part of a continuing
operation required to maintain a company’s business and its competitive position. In general, one
particular period rather than another will not be expected to benefit and therefore it is appropri-
ate that these costs should be written off as they are incurred.

The development of new and improved products is, however, distinguishable from pure and
applied research. Expenditure on such development is normally undertaken with a reasonable
expectation of specific commercial success and of future benefits arising from the work, either
from increased revenue and related profits or from reduced costs. However, development expend-
iture should be written off in the year of expenditure, except in the following circumstances when
it may be deferred to future periods:

(a) there is a clearly defined project; and
(b) the related expenditure is separately identifiable; and
(c) the outcome of such a project has been assessed with reasonable certainty as to:

(¢) its technical feasibility; and

(¢i) its ultimate commercial viability considered in the light of factors such as:
— likely market conditions (including competing products)

— public opinion
— consumer and environmental legislation
(d) furthermore, a project will be of value only if:

(i) the aggregate of the deferred development cost and any further development costs to be
incurred on the same project together with related production, selling and administra-
tion costs is reasonably expected to be exceeded by related future revenues; and

(i) adequate resources exist, or are reasonably expected to be available, to enable the pro-
ject to be completed and to provide any consequential increases in working capital.

The elements of uncertainty inherent in the considerations set out in points (a) to (d) are
considerable. There will be a need for different persons having differing levels of judgement to be
involved in assessing the technical, commercial and financial viability of the project. Combinations
of the possible different assessments which they might validly make can produce widely differing
assessments of the existence and amounts of future benefits.
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If these uncertainties are viewed in the context of the concept of prudence, the future benefits
of most development projects would be too uncertain to justify carrying the expenditure forward.
Nevertheless, in certain industries it is considered that there are numbers of major development
projects that satisfy the stringent criteria set out above.

The standard says that if the criteria are satisfied then expenditure may be deferred to the
extent that its recovery can reasonably be regarded as assured. It is also required that where this
policy is adopted, all projects meeting the criteria should be included.

If development costs are deferred, they should be amortised over the period of sale or use of
the product.

At each accounting date the unamortised balance of development expenditure should be
examined project by project to ensure that it still fulfils the criteria. Where any doubt exists as to
the continuation of those circumstances the balance should be written off.

Fixed assets may be acquired or constructed to provide facilities for research and/or develop-
ment activities. The use of such fixed assets will usually extend over a number of accounting
periods and accordingly they should be capitalised and written off over their usual life.

The standard requires that accounting policy on research and development expenditure
should be stated and explained. The total amount of research and development expendit-
ure charged in the profit and loss account should be disclosed, analysed between the current
year’s expenditure and amounts amortised from deferred expenditure. Movement on deferred
expenditure and the amount carried forward at the beginning and end of the period should be
disclosed. Deferred development expenditure should be disclosed under intangible fixed assets in
the balance sheet.

The equivalent international standard is IAS 38 (Intangible assets). Under the 1AS, develop-
ment costs must be capitalised.

SSAP 16: Current cost accounting

See Chapter 30 for an outline of this outdated and suspended SSAP.

SSAP 19: Accounting for investment properties

Under the accounting requirements of FRS 15: Tangible fixed assets, tangible fixed assets are
generally subject to annual depreciation charges to reflect on a systematic basis the wearing out,
consumption or other loss of value whether arising from use, effluxion of time or obsolescence
through technology and market changes. Under those requirements it is also accepted that an
increase in the value of such a fixed asset does not generally remove the necessity to charge
depreciation to reflect on a systematic basis the consumption of the asset.

A different treatment is, however, required where a significant proportion of the fixed assets
of an enterprise is held not for consumption in the business operations but as investments, the
disposal of which would not materially affect any manufacturing or trading operations of
the enterprise. In such cases, the current value of these investments and changes in that cur-
rent value are of prime importance rather than a calculation of systematic annual depreciation.
Consequently, for the proper appreciation of the financial position, a different accounting treat-
ment is considered appropriate for fixed assets held as investments (called, in this standard,
‘investment properties’).

Investment properties may be held by a company which holds investments as part of its busi-
ness such as an investment trust or a property investment company. Investment properties may
also be held by a company whose main business is not the holding of such investments.
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Where an investment property is held on a lease with a relatively short unexpired term, it is
necessary to recognise the annual depreciation in the financial statements to avoid the situation
whereby a short lease is amortised against the investment revaluation reserve while the rentals
are taken to the profit and loss account.

This statement requires investment properties to be included in the balance sheet at open mar-
ket value. The statement does not require the valuation to be made by qualified or independent
valuers, but calls for disclosure of the names or qualifications of the valuers, the bases used by
them and whether the person making the valuation is an employee or officer of the company.
However, where investment properties represent a substantial proportion of the total assets of a
major enterprise (e.g. a listed company) the valuation thereof would normally be carried out:

(@) annually by persons holding a recognised professional qualification and having recent post-
qualification experience in the location and category of the properties concerned, and
(b) at least every five years by an external valuer.

The equivalent TAS is IAS 40 (Investment property). The main difference concerns the value
used in the balance sheet. SSAP 19 requires annual revaluation. IAS 40 allows either revaluation
or depreciation of net book value. Also, where revaluation is used, SSAP 19 gains or losses are
recognised in the statement of total gains and losses. Only permanent deficits appear in the profit
and loss account. TAS 40 recognises all gains and losses on revaluation in the profit and loss
account.

SSAP 20: Foreign currency translation

The rules of SSAP 20 were shown in Chapter 1 of this book. There is only need here for a few
extra comments.

If there is hyperinflation the methods described in Chapter 1 may not give a fair view of the
results. In these cases it may first of all be necessary to produce accounts adjusted for inflation.
However, no guidance is provided in the standard as to how to define a ‘high rate’ of inflation or
how to perform the adjustment to current price. UITF 9: Accounting for operations in hyper-
inflationary economies was issued in June 1993 to clarify this area.

UITF 9 confirmed that adjustments are required when the hyperinflationary impact will affect
the true and fair view. It also states that adjustments are required where the cumulative inflation
rate over three years is approaching or exceeds 100 per cent — effectively a rule-of-thumb defini-
tion of the term ‘hyperinflation’.

It suggested two methods that could be adopted in order to eliminate the distortions caused
by hyperinflation. (If neither was deemed suitable, the reasons should be stated and another
method should be adopted.) Either the local currency financial statements should be adjusted
to reflect current price levels before being translated, or a relatively stable currency (e.g. the US
dollar or sterling) should be used as the currency of measurement (the functional currency) for the
relevant foreign operations. In the latter case, the functional currency would effectively be
the local currency as defined in SSAP 20; and, if the transactions are not initially recorded in the
functional currency, they must be measured in that currency by applying the temporal method
based on the functional currency.

Hedging against exchange losses

...........................................................

Losses incurred may be set off against profits made in the computation of exchange dealings.
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Disclosure

The method used to translate currencies should be disclosed. Net profits/net losses on translation
must be disclosed, irrespective of whether they are shown in the profit and loss account or as a
movement of reserves.

The equivalent international accounting standards are IAS 21 (The effects of changes in for-
eign exchange rates) and 1AS 29 (Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies). They do
not allow use of closing rate for profit and loss account items. Instead, average rate must be
used. The other main difference concerns goodwill, which must be translated at closing rate.
When hyperinflation is involved, IAS 29 requires use of appropriate indices to restate the finan-
cial statements, rather than use of a stable currency.

SSAP 21: Accounting for leases and hire purchase contracts

Details of SSAP 21 were given in Chapter 2. The equivalent international standard is IAS 17
(Leases). There are some differences in the classification criteria of these two standards.

SSAP 25: Segmental reporting

This standard was introduced to help interpret the requirement of the Companies Act 1985 that
the information in the financial statements should be broken down (segmented) in two principal
ways: by class of business and geographically. A class of business is a distinguishable component
of an entity that provides a separate product or service. A geographical segment is an area com-
prising an individual country or group of countries in which an entity operates.

The main provisions of the standard can be summarised as follows. If an entity has two or
more classes of business and operates in two or more geographical segments, then it should
report for each class and segment:

(a) turnover — split between that to external activities and that to other segments;
(b) result, i.e. profit before taxation, minority interest and extraordinary items;
(c) net assets.

The equivalent international standard is IAS 14 (Segment reporting). SSAP 25 exempts com-
panies from disclosure if prejudicial to the company. IAS 14 requires disclosure. Also, while
SSAP 25 requires disclosure of net assets, [AS 14 requires that assets and liabilities be disclosed.

Statements of Recommended Practice and UITF Consensus
Pronouncements

In 1986 the Accounting Standards Committee (ASC) issued the first statement of recommended
practice (SORP). It is important to note that SORPs are different from accounting standards.
Provisions in standards must be carried out, unless there is sufficient and adequate evidence to
prove otherwise and, in addition, any non-compliance must be clearly stated. A SORP simply
sets out what is considered to be the best practice on a particular topic in respect of which it is
not considered suitable to issue a standard at that time. Companies are simply encouraged to use
the SORP. No action will be taken by the accounting bodies if a SORP is not followed.

A sub-category of SORPs was introduced, called ‘franked SORPs’. Generally these refer to
topics which are of limited application for a specific industry and they are not included in this
text.
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The ASB does not issue SORPs. In the event that the ASB’s authority is required to standardise
practice within a specialised industry, the ASB will issue an industry standard if the issue cannot
be resolved under the existing accounting standards.

In 1991, the ASB set up a committee known as the Urgent Issues Task Force (UITF). This
committee assists the ASB in areas where an accounting standard or Companies Act provision
exists but where unsatisfactory or conflicting interpretations have developed or seem likely to
do so. In these circumstances, the UITF issues a ‘consensus pronouncement’ (or ‘abstract’). The
ASB considers that compliance with consensus pronouncements forms an important element in
deciding whether financial statements give a true and fair view. Consequently, they have the
same status as accounting standards and must be observed. As of December 2004, 37 UITF
abstracts had been issued, of which 27 were still in force. Wherever appropriate, UITFs are
included in this book when the topic to which they relate is being discussed.

There is no IASB equivalent of the UITFs.

FRS 1: Cash flow statements

See Chapter 14. The equivalent international standard is IAS 7 (Cash flow statements).

FRS 2: Accounting for subsidiary undertakings

See Chapter 26. The equivalent international standards are IAS 27 (Consolidated and separate
financial statements) and IFRS 3 (Business combinations).

FRS 3: Reporting financial performance

See Chapter 11. The equivalent international standards are IAS 1 (Presentation of financial state-
ments), IAS 8 (Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors) and IFRS §
(Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued).

FRS 4: Capital instruments

FRS 4 is concerned with accounting for capital instruments by the entities that issue them. A
capital instrument is anything issued to raise finance. This includes shares, debentures, loans and
debt instruments, and options and warrants that give the holder the right to subscribe for or
obtain capital instruments. The term includes those issued by subsidiaries, except when held by
another member of the group. Leases, warrants issued under employee share schemes, and
equity shares issued as part of a business combination that is accounted for as a merger are not
covered by FRS 4, nor are investments in capital instruments issued by other entities.

The objective of FRS 4 is to ensure that financial statements provide a clear, coherent and
consistent treatment of capital instruments, in particular in relation to:

(a) the classification of capital instruments;

(b) treating the costs associated with capital instruments in a manner consistent with their
classification (and allocated to accounting periods on a fair basis over the period the instru-
ment is in issue, in the case of redeemable instruments);

(c) ensuring that financial statements provide relevant information concerning the nature and
amount of the entity’s sources of finance and the associated costs, commitments and potential
commitments.



Chapter 10 ® Accounting standards and related documents

All capital instruments should be accounted for in the balance sheet within one of the follow-
ing categories:

(a) shareholders’ funds;
(b) liabilities; or, for consolidated financial statements,
(¢) minority interests.

Shareholders’ funds

Shares and warrants should be reported as part of shareholders’ funds. When issued, the net pro-
ceeds should be reported in the reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds. When repur-
chased or redeemed, shareholders’ funds should be reduced by the value of the consideration given.
The balance sheet should show the total amount of shareholders’ funds, analysed between the
amount attributable to non-equity interests (i.e. the aggregate of amounts relating to all classes
of non-equity shares and warrants for non-equity shares) and the amount attributable to equity
interests (i.e. the difference between total shareholders’ funds and the total amount attributable
to non-equity interests). When the entitlement to dividends in respect of non-equity shares is cal-
culated by reference to time, the dividends should be reported as appropriations of profit and
accounted for on an accruals basis except when ultimate payment is remote (for example, when
profits are insufficient to justify a dividend and the dividend rights are non-cumulative). Where
the finance costs of non-equity shares are not equal to the dividends, the difference should be
accounted for in the profit and loss account as an appropriation of profit. The finance costs for
non-equity shares should be calculated on the same basis as the finance costs for debt.

Liabilities

All capital instruments other than shares should be classified as liabilities if they contain an obli-
gation to transfer economic benefits. Otherwise, they should be reported within shareholders’
funds. Convertible debt should be reported within liabilities separately from non-convertible
debt. Debt should be analysed on the basis of its maturity distinguishing between debt with up to
one year, one to five years, and five or more years to maturity, maturity being determined on the
basis of the earliest date on which the lender can require payment.

The finance cost of convertible debt should be calculated on the basis that the debt will never
be converted. When converted, the amount recognised in shareholders’ funds in respect of the
shares issued should be the amount at which the liability for the debt is stated at the date of con-
version, and therefore no gain or loss should be recognised.

When issued, debt should be stated at the amount of the net proceeds and its finance cost
should be allocated over the term of the debt at a constant rate on the carrying amount, charged
in the profit and loss account (unless the entity is an investment company, in which case it may
be included in the statement of total gains and losses to the extent that it relates to capital). The
carrying amount of debt should be increased by the finance cost in respect of the reporting
period and reduced by payments made in respect of the debt in that period. Accrued finance
costs may be included in accruals (rather than in the carrying amount of debt) to the extent that
the period costs have accrued in one period and will be paid in cash in the next. However, in the
event that the debt is repurchased or settled early, any such accrual should be included in the car-
rying amount of the debt for the purposes of calculating finance costs and gains and losses on the
transaction, and any such gains or losses should be recognised in the profit and loss account in
the period during which the transaction occurs.

Minority interests

Where subsidiaries have issued shares outside the group, those shares should be reported as
minority interests, unless the group as a whole has an obligation to transfer economic benefit in

163



Part 2 ® Companies

164

connection with the shares. In such cases, they should be accounted for as liabilities within the
consolidated financial statements. The amount of minority interests in the balance sheet should
be split between the amounts attributable to equity and non-equity interests, the calculation of
the amounts attributed to non-equity minority interests (and their associated finance costs) being
calculated in the same way as those for non-equity shares. The finance costs associated with such
interests should be included in minority interests in the profit and loss account.

The ASB is currently (late 2004) trying to adopt both 1AS 32 (Financial instruments: disclos-
ure and presentation) and 1AS 39 (Financial instruments: recognition and measurement) in place
of FRS 4 and FRS 13 (see Section 10.28). While it is yet unclear if any differences will exist
between the two international standards and the equivalent FRSs, it seems likely that any such
differences will be minimal.

FRS 5: Reporting the substance of transactions

The purpose of FRS 5 is to ensure that the substance of an entity’s transactions is reported in its
financial statements. The commercial effect of the entity’s transactions, and any resulting assets,
liabilities, gains or losses, should be faithfully represented in its financial statements.

The standard does not apply to:

(a) forward contracts and futures;

(b) foreign exchange and interest rate swaps;

(¢) contracts where a net amount will be paid or received based on a movement in a price or an
index;

(d) expenditure commitments and orders placed, until the earlier of delivery or payment;

(e) employment contracts.

S

QL

In determining the substance of a transaction, all its aspects and implications should be
identified and greater weight given to those more likely to have a commercial effect in practice.
Where a group or series of transactions achieves, or is intended to achieve, an overall commer-
cial effect, the transactions should be viewed as a whole, not as individual transactions.

The substance of a transaction depends upon whether it has given rise to new assets or liabilit-
ies for the reporting entity and whether it has changed the entity’s existing assets and liabilities.
An entity has rights or other access to benefits (and therefore has an asset) if the entity is exposed
to the risks inherent in the benefits, taking into account the likelihood of those risks having a
commercial effect. Evidence that an obligation to transfer benefits (i.e. a liability) exists is shown
if there is some circumstance in which the entity cannot avoid, legally or commercially, an
outflow of benefits.

Where an asset or a liability results from a transaction, it should be recognised in the balance
sheet if there is sufficient evidence of its existence (including, where relevant, any future inflow or
outflow of benefit), and if it can be measured at a monetary amount with sufficient reliability.

Where transactions have no significant effect upon either the entity’s rights or other access to
benefits arising from a previously recognised asset, or to the entity’s exposure to the risks inher-
ent in those benefits, the entire asset should continue to be recognised. When the transactions
transfer all the significant rights or other access to benefits and all the significant exposure to
risk, the entire asset should cease to be recognised. Where a stage between nil and full effect is
found, and it is a significant change, the description or monetary amounts relating to an asset
should be changed and a liability recognised for any obligations to transfer benefits that are
assumed. However, the standard also states that this partial case arises in only three situations:

(a) atransfer of only part of the item;

(b) a transfer of all of the item for only part of its life;

(¢) atransfer of all of the item for all of its life but where the entity retains some significant right
to benefits or exposure to risk.
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Where a transaction is in substance a financing of a recognised asset (whether previously
recognised or not), the finance should be shown deducted from the gross amount of the item it
finances on the face of the balance sheet within a single asset caption of ‘linked presentation’.
The gross amounts of both the item and the finance should be shown on the face of the balance
sheet. Profit on a linked presentation should be recognised on entering into the arrangement only
to the extent that the non-returnable proceeds received exceed the previous carrying value of the
item. Thereafter, any profit or loss arising should be recognised in the period in which it arises,
both in the profit and loss account and in the notes.

Assets and liabilities should not be offset, except where they do not constitute separate assets
and liabilities.

Where an entity has a quasi-subsidiary (i.e. a company, trust, partnership or other vehicle
that is directly or indirectly controlled by the reporting entity, but that is not a subsidiary, and
which gives rise to benefits for the reporting entity that are in substance no different from those
that would arise were the vehicle a subsidiary), the substance of the transactions entered into by
the quasi-subsidiary should be reported in the consolidated statements. The fact that a quasi-
subsidiary has been included in the consolidated financial statements should be disclosed and a
summary of the financial statements of the quasi-subsidiary should be provided in the notes.

Disclosure of a transaction in the financial statements should be sufficient to enable the user
of those statements to understand its commercial effect. Where a transaction has resulted in the
recognition of assets or liabilities whose nature differs from that of items usually included under
the relevant balance sheet heading, the differences should be explained.

There is no directly equivalent international standard, though IAS 1 and IAS 39, for example,
cover some of the issues contained in FRS 5.

FRS 6: Acquisitions and mergers

See Chapter 25. IFRS 3 (Business combinations) is the international standard which deals with
this subject.

FRS 7: Fair values in acquisition accounting

See Chapter 22. IFRS 3 (Business combinations) is the international standard which deals with
this subject.

FRS 8: Related party disclosures

This FRS requires disclosure of all material related party transactions. The FRS extends the dis-
closure requirements contained in the Companies Acts, thus providing guidance in an area that
had previously not been covered adequately by either statute or the Stock Exchange Rules.

The equivalent international standard is IAS 24 (Related party disclosures). There are no
major differences between the two standards other than that FRS 8 requires the controlling party
to be named.

FRS 9: Associates and joint ventures
See Chapter 26. IAS 28 (Investments in associates) is the equivalent international standard on

associates and IAS 31 (Financial reporting of interests in joint ventures) is the equivalent one
dealing with joint ventures.
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Although written with a focus upon goodwill arising from the acquisition of a subsidiary under-
taking by a parent company that prepares consolidated accounts, the standard also applies to
reporting entities acquiring a business or an investment that is accounted for using the equity
method (see Section 29.8).

9]

10

11

12

13

A brief summary of the FRS is as follows:

Positive purchased goodwill should be capitalised as an asset on the balance sheet.

Internally generated goodwill should not be capitalised.

An intangible asset acquired as part of the acquisition of a business should be capitalised
separately from goodwill, initially at its fair value. Unless the asset has a readily ascertain-
able market value, the fair value should be limited to an amount that does not create or
increase any negative goodwill arising on the acquisition.

An intangible asset acquired as part of the acquisition of a business whose fair value cannot
be measured reliably should be included within the amount of the purchase price attributed
to goodwill.

An intangible asset purchased separately should be capitalised at cost.

An internally developed intangible asset may be capitalised only if it has a readily ascertain-
able market value.

Where goodwill and intangible assets are regarded as having limited useful economic lives,
they should be amortised on a systematic basis over those lives.

Where goodwill and intangible assets are regarded as having indefinite useful economic lives,
they should #ot be amortised. A life of longer than 20 years can only be used if the durability
of the acquired business or intangible asset can be demonstrated and the goodwill or intan-
gible asset is capable of continued measurement over the period selected. Companies legisla-
tion requires goodwill to be amortised over a finite period. When no amortisation occurs,
this departure from the legislation must be justified as being required in order to provide a
true and fair view.

The useful economic lives of goodwill and intangible assets should be reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and revised if necessary.

The straight line method of amortisation should be adopted, unless another method can be
demonstrated to better reflect the expected pattern of depletion of the goodwill or intangible
asset.

Intangible assets may be revalued but, if one is, all others of the same class must also be
revalued. Any revalued intangible assets must be subject to sufficiently frequent further
revaluations to ensure that the carrying value does not differ materially from the market
value at the balance sheet date.

Goodwill should not be revalued, except when previous adjustments for impairment losses
(that arose, for example, when part of an acquired business was held to have a lower value
than had been adopted at the time of acquisition) are reversed and it causes the recoverable
amount of the goodwill to rise above its current carrying value. (The same impairment-
derived adjustment rules apply to intangible assets.)

When the fair value of the assets acquired exceed the fair value of the consideration given,
the resulting negative goodwill should be recognised and separately disclosed on the face
of the balance sheet immediately below the goodwill heading, followed by a sub-total show-
ing the net amount of positive and negative goodwill.

Note: In the chapters dealing with consolidated financial statements, a figure for goodwill will
often be calculated. It must be borne in mind that this is subject to the contents of FRS 10 just as
much as for a company simply buying the business of a sole trader or partnership.
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There are two equivalent international standards, IAS 38 (Intangible assets) and the relevant

disclosure requirements contained in IFRS 3 (Business combinations). There are only minor differ-
ences between FRS 10 and IFRS 3 — FRS 10 permits use of one indefinite life; IAS 38 does not.
IFRS 3 specifies disclosure requirements for business combinations and goodwill.

FRS 11: Impairment of fixed assets and goodwill

This FRS applies to all fixed assets and purchased goodwill that is recognised in the balance
sheet except:

of

fixed assets within the scope of any FRS addressing disclosures of derivatives and other
financial instruments (this is covered by FRS 13: Derivatives and other financial instruments:
disclosures — see Section 10.28 below);

investment properties (see Section 10.11 above);

an entity’s own shares held by an ESOP (employee share ownership plan) and shown as a
fixed asset in the balance sheet under UITF 13: Accounting for ESOP trusts; and

costs capitalised while a field is being appraised under the Oil Industry Accounting Com-
mittee’s SORP, Accounting for oil and gas exploration and development activities.

Investments in subsidiary undertakings, associates, and joint ventures do fall within the scope
FRS 11. However, smaller entities applying the FRSSE are exempt from the FRS.
A brief summary of the FRS is as follows:

An impairment review should be carried out if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of a fixed asset or of goodwill may not be recoverable.

Impairment is measured by comparing the carrying value of an asset with its recoverable
amount (the higher of its net realisable value and its value in use).

Impairment losses are recognised in the profit and loss account except that impairment losses
on revalued fixed assets are shown in the statement of total recognised gains and losses.
Impairments on both unrevalued and revalued assets below the depreciated historical cost are
recognised in the profit and loss account.

If the recoverable amount of a previously impaired asset or investment increases because of a
change in economic conditions or in the expected use of the asset, the resulting reversal of the
impairment loss should be recognised in the current period to the extent that it increases
the carrying amount up to the amount that it would have been had the original impairment
not occurred. The reversal should be recognised in the profit and loss account unless it arises
on a previously revalued fixed asset, in which case it should be recognised in the profit and loss
account to the extent that the previous impairment loss (adjusted for subsequent depreciation)
was recognised in the profit and loss account, any remaining impairment reversal balance
being recognised in the statement of total recognised gains and losses.

IAS 36 (Impairment of assets) is the equivalent international standard. There is no significant

difference between the requirements of the two standards.

FRS 12: Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent
assets

FRS 12 defines a provision as:

a liability that is of uncertain timing or amount, to be settled by the transfer of economic benefits.
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A provision should be recognised only when it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits
will have to occur and a reasonable estimate can be made of the amount involved.
It defines a contingent liability as:

either a possible obligation arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the entity’s control; or a pre-
sent obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because it is not probable that a
transfer of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation or because the amount of the
obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

It defines a contingent asset as:

a possible asset arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence
of one or more uncertain events not wholly within the entity’s control.

Neither contingent liabilities nor contingent assets should be recognised.

Smaller entities applying the FRSSE are exempt from FRS 12.

The equivalent IAS is TIAS 37 (Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets). There
are no significant differences between the two standards.

FRS 13: Derivatives and other financial instruments:
disclosures

A derivative is defined in the standard as:

a financial instrument that derives its value from the price or rate of some underlying item.
Underlying items include equities, bonds, commodities, interest rates, exchange rates, and stock
market and other indices.

The disclosures required by the standard focus mainly upon the risks that arise in connection
with financial instruments and how they have been managed. It requires a range of information
to be presented concerning the risks arising from the entity’s financial instruments, and its atti-
tude and response to those risks. In effect, entities are required to publish in summary form
details of their loans, investments and hedging transactions.

Smaller entities applying the FRSSE are exempt from FRS 13.

As with FRS 4, 1AS 32 (Financial instruments: disclosure and presentations) is set to replace
FRS 13. The requirements of FRS 13 are virtually the same as the equivalent requirements of
IAS 32. TAS 39 (Financial instruments: recognition and measurement) is also relevant to the
issues covered by FRS 13.

FRS 14: Earnings per share

The figure for earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit or loss attributable to
ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during
the period.

The FRS prescribes how to adjust the average number of shares when events occur to change
the number of ordinary shares, such as bonus issues, share splits, and share consolidations.
Students taking examinations which cover FRS 14 in detail should read the actual standard. It
contains many examples concerning how the adjustment to the denominator should be made.

Earnings per share (EPS) is a widely used stock market measure. The FRS tries to bring about
a more consistent method to aid comparability and reduce misunderstandings.
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Basically, EPS is the profit per ordinary share calculated as follows:

£ f
Profit on ordinary activities after taxation XXXX
Extraordinary activities (less tax) XXXX
XXXX
Less Minority interest (see chapters on group accounts) XXXX
Preference dividends XXXX
(XXXX)
Profit available to equity shareholders XXXX

Profit available to equity shareholders

EPS = = EPS in pence

Number of ordinary shares

As you will see later, minority interest exists only where the company controls another undertak-
ing, and outsiders own part of that undertaking.
The equivalent international standard is IAS 33 (Earnings per share).

FRS 15: Tangible fixed assets

This FRS applies to all tangible fixed assets except investment properties (see Section 10.11 above).
First, some definitions:

® Depreciation. The measure of the cost or revalued amount of the economic benefits of the
tangible fixed asset that have been consumed during the period. Consumption includes
the wearing out, using up or other reduction in the useful economic life of a tangible fixed
asset whether arising from use, effluxion of time or obsolescence through either technology
or demand for the goods and services produced by the asset.

® Useful economic life. The period over which the entity expects to derive economic benefit
from that asset.

® Residual value. The net realisable value of an asset at the end of its economic life. Residual
values are based on prices prevailing at the date of the acquisition (or revaluation) of the asset
and do not take account of expected future price changes.

® Recoverable amount. The higher of net realisable value and the amount recoverable from its
further use.

Depreciation should be provided in respect of all tangible fixed assets which have a finite
useful economic life. It should be provided by allocating the cost (or revalued amount) less net
realisable value over the periods expected to benefit from the use of the asset being depreciated.
No depreciation method is prescribed, but the method selected should be that which produces
the most appropriate allocation of depreciation to each period in relation to the benefit being
received in that period through use of the asset. The depreciation should be calculated on the
value as shown on the balance sheet and not on any other figure. It must be charged against
the profit and loss account, not against reserves.

When the useful economic life of an asset is longer than 50 years, impairment reviews must be
performed so as to ensure that the carrying amount of the asset is not overstated.

Useful economic lives should be reviewed at the end of every reporting period. If it is revised,
the carrying amount at the date of the revision should be depreciated over the revised remaining
useful economic life of the asset.

The depreciation method may be changed only when to do so will give a fairer presentation
of the results and of the financial position. A change in depreciation method does not constitute
a change in accounting policy. When the method is changed, the carrying amount should be
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depreciated over the remaining useful economic life of the asset, commencing with the period
when the change occurred. Where a change of method occurs, the effect, if material, should be
shown as a note attached to the financial statements.

UITF Abstract 5, issued in July 1992, introduced rules relating to situations where current
assets are included in the balance sheet at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Specifically,
it addressed the question of an appropriate transfer value when a current asset becomes a fixed
asset through its being retained for use on a continuing basis. (This could arise, for example,
when a motor dealer removes a second-hand car from sale and provides it as a company car
to the company secretary.) To avoid entities being able to effect transfers from current assets to
fixed assets at above net realisable value and subsequently to write down the value through a
debit to a revaluation reserve, UITF 5 requires that all such transfers are done at the lower of
cost and net realisable value, with any diminution in value at that point being charged in the
profit and loss account.

Asset revaluatioq
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Asset revaluation is permitted and, if a policy of revaluation is adopted, the valuations should be
kept up to date. If one asset is revalued, all the assets of that class (i.e. those with a similar
nature, function or use) must be revalued.

Revaluation losses caused by use of the asset should be recognised in the profit and loss
account. Other revaluation losses should be recognised in the statement of total recognised gains
and losses until the carrying amount of the asset is less than the amount the asset would be car-
ried at had depreciated historical cost been adopted rather than asset revaluation.

For example, imagine an asset is revalued from a carrying amount of £20,000 down to
£6,000 because the asset had become obsolete. Had it never been revalued, its carrying amount
would have been £11,000. The carrying amount of the asset (£6,000) is, therefore, below
£11,000 and so the loss on revaluation of £14,000 would be split with £9,000 being recog-
nised in the statement of total recognised gains and losses and £5,000 being recognised in profit
and loss.

Revaluation gains should be recognised in the statement of total recognised gains and losses
unless they relate to an asset that had previously had revaluation losses charged to the profit
and loss acount. Where that is the case, the revaluation gain should also be charged to profit and
loss, after adjusting for depreciation since the revaluation loss was recognised.

Depreciation should be charged irrespective of when the asset was revalued. An increased
value arising from a revaluation does not mean that depreciation should not be charged. The
new value is the one on which future depreciation should be based. Depreciation charged before
revaluation should not be credited back to profit and loss.

According to paragraph 21 of FRS 3: Reporting financial performance, the profit or loss on
the disposal of an asset should be accounted for in the profit and loss account of the period in
which the disposal occurs as the difference between the net sale proceeds and the net carrying
amount, whether carried at historical cost (less any provisions made) or at a valuation.

Land and buildings

®esesecscscscsssscscscsesscscssse e

Freehold land

As this normally lasts for ever there is no need to depreciate, unless subject to depletion or loss of
value for reasons which may be applicable in certain circumstances, such as desirability of loca-
tion, land erosion, extraction of minerals, dumping of toxic waste, etc.

It is rare to encounter circumstances under which freehold land should be subject to depreci-
ation. The problem that most often occurs is the distinction between the cost/value of freehold
land and the cost/value of the buildings upon it. FRS 135 states that the distinction should be
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made as only the buildings have a limited useful economic life and should be depreciated. Land
has an unlimited life and should not be depreciated. Failure to separate the two elements of the
cost/value will result in non-compliance with the standard.

Buildings
These have finite lives and should be depreciated.

Notes to the financial statements

cee

The FRS requires that the following should be disclosed:
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Methods of depreciation used.

Useful economic lives or the depreciation rates in use.

Total depreciation charged for the period.

Where material, the financial effect of a change in either useful economic lives or estimates of
residual values.

The cost or revalued amount at both the start and end of the accounting period.

The cumulative amount of provisions for depreciation or impairment at the beginning and
end of the financial period.

A reconciliation of the movements, separately disclosing additions, disposals, revaluations,
transfers, depreciation, impairment losses, and reversals of past impairment losses written back
in the period.

The net carrying amount at the beginning and end of the financial period.

The equivalent IASs are IAS 16 (Property plant and equipment) and 1AS 23 (Borrowing

costs). Differences between the requirements of FRS 15 and these standards are minimal. IFRS 5
(Non-current assets beld for sale and discontinued operations) introduced new rules which the
ASB are considering adopting for these two special cases.

FRS 16: Current tax

In brief, the FRS requires that:

1

Current tax for the period is recognised in the profit and loss account. The only exception is
tax on gains and losses that have been recognised in the statement of total recognised gains
and losses. Any such tax should be recognised in that statement, not in the profit and loss
account.

Dividends received from UK companies are reported at the net amount received. Dividends
received from other countries are reported gross only to the extent that they have suffered a
withholding tax.

Income and expenses subject to non-standard rates of tax (or exempt from tax) should be
included in the pre-tax results on the basis of the income or expenses actually receivable or
payable, without any adjustment to reflect a notional amount of tax that would have been
paid or relieved in respect of the transaction if it had been taxable, or allowable for tax pur-
poses, on a different basis.

Current tax should be measured using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substant-
ively enacted by the balance sheet date.

IAS 12 (Income taxes) is the equivalent international standard. The main differences between

them are that IAS 12 makes no reference to tax on dividends but it does require any tax expense
on discontinuing operations to be disclosed and it does require that current tax be presented
separately in the balance sheet.
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FRS 17: Retirement benefits

The objective of FRS 17 is that the employer should recognise the expected cost of providing
pensions on a ‘systematic and rational basis’ over the period during which he/she derives benefit
from the employees’ services. The main requirements are as follows:

1 Pension scheme assets are measured using market values.

2 Pension scheme liabilities are measured using a projected unit method and discounted at an
AA corporate bond rate.

3 The pension scheme surplus (to the extent it can be recovered) or deficit is recognised in full
on the balance sheet.

4 The movement in the scheme surplus/deficit is analysed into:
(a) the current service cost and any past service costs; these are recognised in operating profit
(b) the interest cost and expected return on assets; these are recognised as other finance costs
(c) actuarial gains and losses; these are recognised in the statement of total recognised gains

and losses.

IAS 19 (Employee benefits) is the equivalent international standard. The ASB are currently
(December 2004) considering whether to adopt its requirements, which differ significantly in
some aspects.

FRS 18: Accounting policies

This standard was covered in Section 10.5 above.

FRS 19: Deferred tax

This FRS is covered in Chapter 7. The equivalent international standard is IAS 12 (Income
taxes), which is also the equivalent international standard for FRS 16. IAS 12 differs from FRS
19 by requiring deferred tax to be provided when assets are revalued and prohibiting the dis-
counting of future deferred tax liabilities.

FRS 20: Share-based payment

This standard was issued in April 2004, replacing UITF 17. Its requirements are identical to
those of IFRS 2 (Share-based payment), except that FRS 20 includes an exemption for entities
applying the FRSSE.

Under FRS 20, share-based payments must be recognised as an expense, measured at fair
value which should be based on market prices and should take into account the terms and condi-
tions upon which the instruments were granted. The standard gives the accounting treatment to
be adopted and disclosures to be made by entities making such payments.

FRS 20 identifies three types of share-based payment transaction:

(a) equity-settled share-based payment transactions. These are transactions in which the entity
receives goods or services as consideration for equity instruments of the entity;

(b) cash-settled share-based payment transactions. These are transactions in which the entity
acquires goods or services by incurring liabilities to the supplier of those goods or services
for amounts that are based on the price (or value) of the entity’s equity instruments;
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(¢) transactions in which the entity receives or acquires goods or services and the terms of the
arrangement provide one or other of the parties to the transaction with a choice as to
whether the transaction is settled in cash or by issuing equity instruments.

Examples of share-based payments include:

(a) all types of executive share option and share purchase plans and employee share option and
share purchase schemes, including Save-As-You-Earn (SAYE) plans and similar arrange-
ments;

(b) arrangements such as share appreciation rights, where a cash payment is made, the amount
of which depends on the share price; and

(¢) transactions with suppliers of goods or non-employee services that involve share-based pay-
ments being made in exchange for those goods or services.

FRS 21: Events after the balance sheet date

This standard was issued in May 2004, replacing SSAP 17. Its requirements are identical to those
of 1AS 10 (Events after the balance sheet date), except that FRS 21 includes an exemption for
entities applying the FRSSE.

Obviously, any event which occurred during a financial period will have been taken into
account when the financial statements were prepared. Generally, once financial statements have
been approved and authorised for issue, it becomes impossible to alter them. However, during
the period between the balance sheet date and the date when the financial statements are author-
ised for issue, events may arise which throw some light upon the valuation of assets or amounts
of liabilities in those financial statements. FRS 21 directs its attention to such events during this
period.

To clarify the period involved, entities must report the date on which their financial state-
ments were authorised for issue. For companies, this is not the date when they are presented to
the shareholders at the AGM. Rather, it is the date on which the directors authorised the finan-
cial statements to be issued.

Two terms are of particular importance in applying the requirements of FRS 21: ‘adjusting
events’ and ‘non-adjusting events’.

These are events which provide evidence of conditions that existed at the balance sheet date for
which the entity shall adjust the amounts recognised in its financial statements or recognise items
that were not previously recognised. Examples include:

® The settlement after the balance sheet date of a court case that confirms the liability of the
entity at the balance sheet date.
® The discovery after the balance sheet date of errors or frauds which show that the financial
statements were incorrect.
® Information received after the balance sheet date that indicates that the value of an asset was
impaired (i.e. less than previously believed) at the balance sheet date. The could arise in many
ways, for example:
(a) Fixed assets. The subsequent determination of the purchase price or of the proceeds of
sale of assets purchased or sold before the year end.
(b) Property. A valuation which provides evidence of a permanent diminution in value.
(c) Investments. The receipt of a copy of the financial statements or other information in
respect of an unlisted company which provides evidence of a permanent diminution in the
value of a long-term investment.

173



Part 2 ® Companies

174

(d) Stocks and work in progress:
(i) the receipt of proceeds of sales after the balance sheet date or other evidence concern-
ing the net realisable value of stocks;
(#i) the receipt of evidence that the previous estimate of accrued profit on a long-term
contract was materially inaccurate.
(e) Debtors. The renegotiation of amounts owing by debtors, or the insolvency of a debtor.

Non-adjusting events

R S R P P L R RN

These are events which arise after the balance sheet date and concern conditions which did not
exist at that time. Consequently they do not result in changes in amounts in financial statements.
They may, however, be of such materiality that their disclosure is required by way of notes to
ensure that the financial statements are not misleading. Such disclosure should describe the
nature of the event and an estimate of its financial effect (or a statement that it is not possible to
do so).

Examples of non-adjusting events given in IAS 10 which may require disclosure include:

® a decline in market value of investments between the balance sheet date and the date when the
financial statements are authorised for issue;

® a major business combination after the balance sheet date or disposing of a major subsidiary;

® announcing a plan to discontinue an operation, disposing of assets or settling liabilities

attributable to a discontinuing operation or entering into binding agreements to sell such

assets or settle such liabilities;

major purchases and disposals of assets, or expropriation of major assets by government;

the destruction of a major production plant by a fire after the balance sheet date;

announcing, or commencing the implementation of, a major restructuring;

major ordinary share transactions and potential ordinary share transactions after the balance

sheet date;

abnormally large changes after the balance sheet date in asset prices or foreign exchange rates;

changes in tax rates or tax laws enacted or announced after the balance sheet date that have a

significant effect on current and deferred tax assets and liabilities;

® entering into significant commitments or contingent liabilities, for example, by issuing
significant guarantees;

® commencing major litigation arising solely out of events that occurred after the balance sheet
date.

The standard makes it clear that dividends proposed or declared after the balance sheet date
are not to be treated as a liability in the balance sheet. Rather, they are to be disclosed in a note
to the financial statements.

FRSSE: Financial Reporting Standard for Smaller Entities

The FRSSE was first issued in November 1997 and has been updated regularly thereafter. It may
be applied to all financial statements intended to give a true and fair view of the financial position
and profit or loss (or income and expenditure) of all entities that are small companies or groups
or entities (other than building societies) that would be classified as such were they incorporated
under companies legislation.

Small companies are defined in the FRSSE according to the definition contained in sections
247 and 247A of the Companies Act 1985 as being those that in a year satisfy at least two of the
following:
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1 Turnover no greater than £2.8 million.
2 A balance sheet total no greater than £1.4 million.
3 An average of no more than 50 employees.

Other than in the case of newly incorporated companies, the condition must have been
satisfied in two of the last three years. For small groups, the threshold limits are aggregate
turnover not exceeding £2.8 million ‘net’ (i.e. after set-offs and other adjustments required by
Schedule 4A of the Companies Act 1985) or £3.6 million ‘gross’ (i.e. before the set-offs and
adjustments); aggregate balance sheet total not exceeding £1.4 million net, £1.68 million gross;
and aggregate number of employees not exceeding 50. (Companies Act 1985, Sections 248 and 249.)

Application of the FRSSE is voluntary — reporting entities may choose instead to apply all the
other accounting standards and UITFs. Those that do apply it are exempt from complying with
the other accounting standards and UITFs.

The FRSSE contains a simplified, but lengthy, set of requirements derived from those included
in all the other standards and UITFs. It would not be appropriate to describe these in detail here.
For information concerning the precise contents of the FRSSE, reference should be made to the
FRSSE itself or to a book specialising in accounting standards.

There is no equivalent international standard as of December 2004. However, the IASB is cur-
rently considering the introduction of a standard in this area. At present, it is considering;:

(a) using a ‘lack of public accountability’ rather than size of organisation to determine whether
an entity may use it;

(b) a suite of special standards, one for each IFRS/IAS rather than one global FRSSE;

(c) mandatory use of full standards when an issue is not addressed in the relevant small entity
standard — the FRSSE recommends but does not prescribe such an action;

(d) the choice between use of each small entity standard and the full IFRS/IAS, meaning that
entities could use a mixture of the two types of standards — the FRSSE has to be either
adopted in its entirety or not.

@ Equivalent international standards

Exhibit 10.2

UK standard International standard

SSAP 4 - Accounting for government grants IAS 20 - Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of
Government Assistance

SSAP 5 - Accounting for value added tax none

SSAP 9 - Stocks and long-term contracts IAS 11 - Construction Contracts and IAS 18 Revenue

SSAP 13 - Accounting for research and development IAS 38 - Intangible Assets

SSAP 19 — Accounting for investment properties IAS 40 - Investment Property

SSAP 20 - Foreign currency translation IAS 21 - The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates and
IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies

SSAP 21 - Accounting for leases and hire purchase IAS 17 — Leases

contracts

SSAP 25 - Segmental reporting IAS 14 - Segment Reporting

FRS 1 — Cash Flow Statements IAS 7 - Cash Flow Statements

FRS 2 — Accounting for Subsidiary Undertakings IAS 27 - Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and
IFRS 3 Business Combinations

FRS 3 - Reporting Financial Performance IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements

FRS 4 - Capital Instruments IAS 32 - Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation and
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

FRS 5 — Reporting the Substance of Transactions IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, and others 9
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UK standard

FRS 6 - Acquisitions and Mergers

FRS 7 - Fair Values in Acquisition Accounting

FRS 8 - Related Party Disclosures

FRS 9 - Associates and Joint Ventures

FRS 10 — Goodwill and Intangible Assets

FRS 11 — Impairment of Fixed Assets and Goodwill

FRS 12 - Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets

FRS 13 - Derivatives and other Financial Instruments:

Disclosures
FRS 14 — Earnings per Share
FRS 15 — Tangible Fixed Assets

FRS 16 — Current Tax
FRS 17 — Retirement Benefits
FRS 18 — Accounting Policies

FRS 19 — Deferred Tax
FRS 20 - Share-based Payment
FRS 21 - Events after the Balance Sheet Date

FRSSE - Financial Reporting Standard for Smaller
Entities

International standard

IFRS 3 - Business Combinations

IFRS 3 — Business Combinations

IAS 24 — Related Party Disclosures

IAS 28 — Investments in Associates and IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures
IAS 38 — Intangible Assets and IFRS 3 Business Combinations

IAS 36 — Impairment of Assets

IAS 37 — Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

IAS 32 - Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation

IAS 33 - Earnings per Share

IAS 16 — Property, Plant and Equipment, IAS 23 Borrowing Costs, and
IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations

IAS 12 — Income Taxes

IAS 19 — Employee Benefits

IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8 Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors

IAS 12 — Income Taxes

IFRS 2 - Share-based Payment

IAS 10 — Events After the Balance Sheet Date

none

Information on the latest developments in UK and international standards can be found in the ASB’s quarterly publication,
Inside Trade. It can be found at www.asb.co.uk/asb/publications. The IASB website is www.iasb.org.

Learning outcomes

You should now have learnt:

1 That accounting standards have statutory recognition and must, therefore, be
complied with when preparing financial statements intended to present a true

and fair view.

2 That the Statement of Principles provides details of the concepts that underpin

accounting standards.

3 That as of December 2004, there were 30 accounting standards (8 SSAPs,
21 FRSs and 1 FRSSE), 27 UITF abstracts and 36 international standards

(5 IFRSs and 31 IASs) in force.

4 About the main requirements of a range of accounting standards.

5 Which international standards address the issues contained in the UK accounting

standards.

Answers to activities

10.1 Apart from the legal requirement that certain companies switch to international standards, inter-
national accounting standards are becoming increasingly adopted across the world. At the same
time, there is an increasing internationalisation of business and a need for greater international
uniformity in the regulations underpinning the preparation of company financial statements, par-

ticularly for multinational companies.
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10.2 Most non-accountants assume that the information in financial statements is accurate, correct and
free of bias. They believe this to be the case because they assume that all such information is
based on firm facts — for example, what something cost is shown in the invoice and confirmed by
the amount paid for it as shown in the bank statement. They do not realise that many of the
figures shown are based on estimates and subject to the subjective interpretation of a situation by
the person preparing the financial statements. They are unaware that accountants have many
choices to make, so much so that it is unlikely that two accountants would ever produce identical
financial statements for any but the smallest of organisations.

By placing an emphasis on the qualitative aspects of information, the Statement of Principles
seeks to restrict diversity in the range of options open to the preparers of financial statements and
so guide them towards a more uniform interpretation of the options available to them, thereby
increasing the level of faith that users of those statements may have in the information they
contain.

Review questions

10.1

In preparing its accounts for the year to 31 May 20X7, Whiting plc had been faced with a

number of accounting problems, the details of which were as follows:

(i) The company had closed down its entire American operations which represented a significant
part of Whiting plc’s business.

(i) The corporation tax for the year to 31 May 20X6 had been over-provided by £5,000.

(iiif) Land and buildings had been revalued at an amount well in excess of the historic cost (note:
the current value is to be adjusted in the financial statements).

(iv) A trade debtor had gone into liquidation owing Whiting plc an amount equivalent to 20 per cent
of Whiting'’s turnover for the year. It is highly unlikely that any of this debt will ever be repaid.

(v) During the year, the company changed its method of valuing stock. If the same method had
been adopted in the previous year, the profits for that year would have been considerably less
than had previously been reported.

Required:

(a) Being careful to give your reasons, explain how each of the above matters should be treated in
the financial statements of Whiting plc for the year to 31 May 20X7 if the company follows the
requirements of FRS 3.

(b) Outline the provisions of FRS 10 (Goodwill and intangible assets) for the treatment of both
non-purchased and purchased goodwill in the balance sheets of companies and groups of
companies.

(Association of Accounting Technicians)
10.2 The directors are preparing the published accounts of Dorman plc for the year to 31

October 20X5. The following information is provided for certain of the items which are to be
included in the final accounts.

(i)  Stocks of raw material, monolite:

£
Cost 26,500
Replacement cost 48,100

(i) Stocks of finished goods:

Paramite Paraton

£ f
Direct costs 72,600 10,200
Proportion of fixed factory overhead 15,300 4,600
Proportion of selling expenses 6,870 1,800
Net realisable value 123,500 9,520
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(iii)  Plant and machinery. An item of plant was shown in the 20X4 accounts at a net book value
of £90,000 (£160,000 cost less accumulated depreciation £70,000). The plant was purchased
on 1 November 20X2 and has been depreciated at 25 per cent reducing balance. The direc-
tors now consider the straight line basis to be more appropriate: they have estimated that at
1 November 20X4 the plant had a remaining useful life of six years and will possess zero
residual value at the end of that period.

(iv)  Freehold property. The company purchased a freehold property for £250,000 11 years ago,
and it is estimated that the land element was worth £50,000 at that date.

The company has never charged depreciation on the property but the directors now
feel that it should have done so; the building is expected to have a total useful life of
40 years.

(v)  Research expenditure incurred in an attempt to discover a substitute for raw materials cur-
rently purchased from a politically sensitive area of the world amounted to £17,500 during
the year.

(vi) Development expenditure on Tercil, which is nearly ready for production, amounted to
£30,000. Demand for Tercil is expected significantly to exceed supply for at least the next
four years.

(vii) Accident. On 1 December 20X5 there was a fire in the warehouse which damaged stocks,
other than the items referred to in (/) and (ii) above. The book value of these stocks was
£92,000. The company has discovered that it was underinsured and only expects to recover
£71,000 from the insurers.

(viii) Investments. Dorman purchased 30,000 ordinary shares in Lilleshall Ltd on 1 November 20X4
for £96,000, and immediately succeeded in appointing two of its directors to Lilleshall’s
board. The issued share capital of Lilleshall consists of 100,000 ordinary shares of £1 each. The
profits of Lilleshall for the year to 31 October 20X5 amounted to £40,000. (Ignore taxation.)

Required:
Explain how each of the above items should be dealt with in the published financial statements of
Dorman plc.

(Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators)

10.3A In preparing the published financial statements of a company, briefly state the significant
accounting/disclosure requirements you would have in mind in ensuring that the financial state-
ments comply with best accounting practice as embodied in accounting standards concerning:

(a) Value added tax.

(b) Earnings per share.

(c) The disclosure requirements of each major class of depreciable assets.

(d) Research expenditure.

(e) Capital-based grants relating to fixed assets.

(f) Goodwill on consolidation.

(g) The disclosure requirements relating to generally accepted fundamental accounting concepts.
(h) The accounts of a subsidiary undertaking having similar activities to that of the parent undertaking.

(Association of Accounting Technicians)

10.4A oOldfield Enterprises Limited was formed on 1 January 20X5 to manufacture and sell a
new type of lawn mower. The bookkeeping staff of the company have produced monthly figures
for the first ten months to 31 October 20X5 and from these figures together with estimates for the
remaining two months, Barry Lamb, the managing director, has drawn up a forecast profit and loss
account for the year to 31 December 20X5 and a balance sheet as at that date.

These statements together with the notes are submitted to the board for comment. During
the board meeting discussion centres on the treatment given to the various assets. The various
opinions are summarised by Barry Lamb who brings them, with the draft accounts, to you as the
company'’s financial adviser.
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Oldfield Enterprises Ltd
Draft Profit and Loss Account for the year to 31 December 20X5

£000 £000
Sales 3,000
Cost of sales 1,750
Gross profit 1,250
Administration overheads 350
Selling and distribution overheads 530
880
Net profit before taxation 370
Draft Balance Sheet at 31 December 20X5
Depreciation
and
Fixed assets — tangible Cost amortisation Net
£000 £000 £000
Leasehold land and buildings 375 125 250
Freehold land and buildings 350 - 350
Plant and machinery 1,312 197 1,115
2,037 322 1,715
Fixed assets — intangible T
Research and development 375
Current assets
Stock 375
Debtors 780
1,155
Current liabilities
Creditors 250
Bank overdraft 125 375
780

Share capital
Net profit for year

) )
0 (w U [0
SN SN
olo Sllo

Notes:

(a) Administration overheads include £50,000 written-off research and development.

(b) The lease is for 15 years and cost £75,000. Buildings have been put up on the leasehold land at
a cost of £300,000. Plant and machinery has been depreciated at 15 per cent. Both depreciation
and amortisation are included in cost of sales.

Opinions put forward
Leasehold land and buildings:
The works director thinks that although the lease provides for a rent review after three years the
buildings have a 50-year life. The buildings should therefore be depreciated over 50 years and the
cost of the lease should be amortised over the period of the lease.

The managing director thinks that because of the rent review clause the whole of the cost
should be depreciated over three years.

The sales director thinks it is a good idea to charge as much as the profits will allow in order to
reduce the tax bill.

Freehold land and buildings:
The works director thinks that as the value of the property is going up with inflation no depreci-
ation is necessary.
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The sales director’s opinion is the same as for leasehold property.
The managing director states that he has heard that if a property is always kept in good repair
no depreciation is necessary. This should apply in the case of his company.

Plant and machinery:
The managing director agrees with the 15 per cent for depreciation and proposes to use the reduc-
ing balance method.

The works director wants to charge 25 per cent straight line.

Research and development:
The total spent in the year will be £425,000. Of this £250,000 is for research into the cutting character-
istics of different types of grass, £100,000 is for the development of an improved drive system for
lawn mowers and £75,000 is for market research to determine the ideal lawn mower characteristics
for the average garden.

The managing director thinks that a small amount should be charged as an expense each year.

The works director wants to write off all the market research and ‘all this nonsense of the cutting
characteristics of grass’.

The sales director thinks that, as the company has only just started, all research and develop-
ment expenditure relates to future sales so all this year’s expenditure should be carried forward.

Stock:
Both the managing director and the works director are of the opinion that stock should be shown
at prime cost.

The sales director’s view is that stocks should be shown at sales price as the stock is virtually all
sold within a very short period.

Required:

(a) You are asked to comment on each opinion stating what factors should be taken into account
to determine suitable depreciation and write-off amounts.

(b) Indicate what amounts should, in your opinion, be charged to profit and loss and show the
adjusted profit produced by your recommendations, stating clearly any assumptions you may
make.

(Association of Chartered Certified Accountants)

10.5 The accountant of Hook, Line and Sinker, a partnership of seven people, has asked your
advice in dealing with the following items in the partnership accounts for the year to 31 May 20X7.

(@) (7)) Included in invoices prepared and dated in June 20X7 were £60,000 of goods despatched

during the second half of May 20X7.

(ii) Stocks of components at 31 May 20X7 include parts no longer used in production. These
components originally cost £50,000 but have been written down for purposes of the
accounts to £25,000. Scrap value of these items is estimated to be £1,000. Another user has
expressed interest in buying these parts for £40,000.

(b) After May 20X7 a customer who accounts for 50 per cent of Hook, Line and Sinker sales suf-
fered a serious fire which has disrupted his organisation. Payments for supplies are becoming
slow and Hook, Line and Sinker sales for the current year are likely to be substantially lower
than previously. This customer owed £80,000 to Hook, Line and Sinker at 31 May 20X7.

(c) During the year to 31 May, Hook, Line and Sinker commenced a new advertising campaign
using television and expensive magazine advertising for the first time. Sales during the year were
not much higher than previous years as the partners consider that the effects of advertising
will be seen in future years.

Expenditure on advertising during the year is made up of:

£
Television 50,000
Advertisements in magazines 60,000
Advertisements in local papers 25,000
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All the expenditure has been treated as expense in the accounts but the partners wish to carry
forward three-quarters of the television and magazine costs as it is expected that this cost will
benefit future years’ profits and because this year’s profits will compare unfavourably with pre-
vious years if all the expenditure is charged in the accounts.

(d) Three projects for the construction of sinkers have the following cost and revenue characteristics:

Project A Project B Project C
Degree of completion 75% 50% 15%
£ £ £
Direct costs to date 30,000 25,000 6,000
Sales price of complete project 55,000 50,000 57,500
Overheads allocated to date 4,000 2,000 500
Costs to complete — Direct 10,000 25,000 40,000
— Overheads 2,000 2,000 3,000

No profits or losses have been included in the accounts.
(e) After considerable discussion with management, the sales of a newly developed special pur-
pose hook have been given the following probabilities:

First year of production

Sales Probability
£
15,000 0.2
30,000 0.5
40,000 0.3
Second year of production
Increase over first year Probability
f
10,000 0.1
20,000 0.5
30,000 0.4

Second year sales may be assumed independent of first year levels.
Cost-volume-profit analysis shows that the breakeven point is £50,000.

Production of the special purpose hook started prior to the end of the accounting year and
stocks of the finished product are included at cost amounting to £20,000. It has been decided
that if there is less than 0.7 probability of breakeven being reached in the second year then
stocks should be written down by 25 per cent.

(f) During the year it was discovered that some stock sheets had been omitted from the calcula-
tions at the previous year end. The effect is that opening stock for the current year, shown as
£35,000, should be £42,000. No adjustment has yet been made.

Required:

Discuss the treatment of each item with reference to relevant accounting standards and accounting
concepts and conventions. Recommend the appropriate treatment for each item showing the
profit effect of each recommendation made.

(Association of Chartered Certified Accountants)
10.6 The chief accountant of Uncertain Ltd is not sure of the appropriate accounting treatment
for a number of events occurring during the year 20X5/6.

(/) Asignificant number of employees have been made redundant, giving rise to redundancy pay-
ments of £100,000 which have been included in manufacturing cost of sales.

(i) One of Uncertain Ltd’s three factories has been closed down. Closure costs amounted to
£575,000. This amount has been deducted from reserves in the balance sheet.
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(iif) The directors have changed the basis of charging depreciation on delivery vehicles. The differ-
ence between the old and new methods amounts to £258,800. This has been charged as a
prior period adjustment.

(iv) During October 20X6 a fire occurred in one of the remaining factories belonging to Uncertain
Ltd and caused an estimated £350,000 of additional expenses. This amount has been included
in manufacturing cost of sales.

(v) It was discovered on 31 October 20X6 that a customer was unable to pay his debt to the com-
pany of £125,000. The £125,000 was made up of sales in the period July to September 20X6.
No adjustment has been made in the draft accounts for this item.

Uncertain Ltd
Draft Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 30 September 20X6

f £
Sales 5,450,490
Manufacturing cost of sales 3,284,500
Gross profit 2,165,990
Administration expenses 785,420
Selling expenses 629,800
(1,415,220)
750,770
Corporation tax (50%) (375,385)
375,385
Proposed dividend on ordinary shares (125,000)
250,385
Prior period adjustment 258,800
Corporation tax (129,400)
(129,400)
120,985

Required:

(a) Write a report to the chief accountant of Uncertain Ltd with suggestions for appropriate treat-
ment for each of the items (i) to (iv), with explanations for your proposals.

(b) Amend the draft profit and loss account to take account of your proposals.

(Association of Chartered Certified Accountants)

10.7 with reference to FRS 21: Events after the balance sheet date and FRS 12: Provisions, con-
tingent liabilities and contingent assets:

(a) define the following terms:

(i) post-balance sheet events

(if) adjusting events

(iif) non-adjusting events

(iv) contingent asset/liability;
(b) give FOUR examples of adjusting events, and FOUR examples of non-adjusting events; and
(c) state how

() a material contingent liability, and

(i) material contingent assets should be accounted for in financial statements.

You can find a range of additional self-test questions, as well as material to help you with
your studies, on the website that accompanies this book at www.pearsoned.co.uk/wood



The financial statements of limited
companies: profit and loss accounts,
related statements and notes

Learning objectives
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After you have studied this chapter, you should be able to:
® state how the Companies Act defines company size

® explain the alternative presentation formats available under the Companies Acts
that must be used when preparing profit and loss accounts for external reporting
purposes

® explain how to present financial information under the most commonly used
Companies Act format

® describe the differences between the most commonly used statutory financial
statement format and the formats generally adopted for internal use

® describe the FRS 3 requirements that relate to the profit and loss account
concerning:
- continuing operations
- acquisitions
- discontinued operations
- sale or termination of an operation
- reorganisation and restructuring costs
- profits and losses on disposal of fixed assets
- exceptional and extraordinary items
- prior period adjustments

® describe the impact of FRS 3 upon the Companies Act format
® describe the format of the statement of total recognised gains and losses
® describe the format of the note of historical cost profits and losses

Introduction

eeccccccccce

In this chapter, you'll learn about the way in which accounting standards and the
Companies Acts govern the presentation of information in published company
financial statements.
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When a company draws up its own financial statements, purely for internal use by directors and
the management, it can adopt any format it wishes. It can, for example, switch the order of items
in the balance sheet, combine items that are never combined when official formats are used, and
use its own terminology in place of normal accounting terminology. There are no rules which
must be followed when preparing accounting information for internal use. Drawing up a trading
and profit and loss account and balance sheet for a company’s own use is not, therefore, neces-
sarily the same as drawing up such financial statements for other purposes.

If an organisation wishes to charge something in the trading account that, in theory, ought to
be shown in the profit and loss account, there is nothing to prevent it from doing so. On the
other hand, students sitting an exam and accountants preparing financial statements for publica-
tion must base their work on accounting theory and accounting rules and regulations, zot on the
internal reporting practices of an organisation.

When it comes to publication, i.e. when the financial statements are sent to the shareholders
or to the Registrar of Companies, the Companies Acts lay down the information which must be
shown, and also how it should be shown. Prior to 1981, provided the necessary information
was shown, it was up to each company to decide how it wanted to present it. The provisions of
the 1981 Act brought the UK into line with the Fourth Directive of the EC, and the freedom previ-
ously available to companies on how to show the information was removed. There are, however,
some advantages to be gained from such standardisation.

What do you think these advantages may be?

Financial statement formats

The Companies Acts give companies the choice of two alternative formats (layouts) for balance
sheets, and four alternative formats for profit and loss accounts. We are going to focus on the
most commonly used of these formats. If you need to know the layouts prescribed by the other
formats, they are readily available in the Companies Acts themselves.

We are going to approach this topic, first, by presenting you with a profit and loss account
produced for use within a company (an ‘internal’ profit and loss account) which can easily be
adapted to cover publication requirements under the Companies Acts, along with an ‘intemal’
balance sheet.

The reason for taking this approach ought to be fairly obvious. What do you
think it is?

All companies, even the smallest, have to produce financial statements for their shareholders that
adhere to the requirements of the Companies Acts. ‘Small’ and ‘medium-sized’ companies can,
however, file summarised financial statements with the Registrar of Companies, but they must
still prepare a full set of financial statements for their shareholders. In addition, listed companies
may send their shareholders summary financial statements in place of the full version, but each
shareholder has the right to request a full version and, typically, many do.

The Companies Act definition of ‘small-> and ‘medium-sized’ companies is that, for the finan-
cial year in question and the previous year, the company is defined as ‘small-> or ‘medium-sized’
if it lies within the limits of at least two of the following three criteria:
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Small Medium-sized
Turnover not more than £2.8 million £11.2 million
Balance sheet total not more than £1.4 million £5.6 million
Employees not more than 50 250

Of the four Companies Act formats which could be used, the format we will use in this book
for the published profit and loss account is called Format 1.

Format 1
The Companies Acts show Format 1 as in Exhibit 11.1.

Exhibit 11.1

Profit and loss account — Format 1

Turnover

Cost of sales

Gross profit or loss

Distribution costs

Administrative expenses

Other operating income

Income from shares in group undertakings
Income from participating interests

Income from other fixed asset investments
Other interest receivable and similar income
Amounts written off investments

Interest payable and similar charges

Tax on profit or loss on ordinary activities
Profit or loss on ordinary activities after taxation
Extraordinary income

Extraordinary charges

Extraordinary profit or loss

Tax on extraordinary profit or loss

Other taxes not shown under the above items
Profit or loss for the financial year

WCoOoONOOUTDh WN =

N = = 3
cwoo~NOOUTDh WN = O

It is presented as a list and does not show where subtotals should be placed. The important
point is that items 1 to 20 have to be displayed in that order. If some items do not exist for the com-
pany in a given year, then those headings are omitted from the published profit and loss account.
Thus, if the company has no investments, items 7, 8, 9, 10 and 11 will not appear in its published
profit and loss account, and item 6 will be followed by item 12. The category reference numbers
on the left-hand side of items are normally omitted from the published profit and loss account.

Financial statements for internal use

Exhibit 11.2 shows a trading and profit and loss account drawn up for internal use by a com-
pany. As mentioned earlier, there are no statutory rules concerning how financial statements are
drawn up for internal use. However, as you learnt in Activity 11.2, if the internal financial state-
ments were drawn up in a completely different fashion from those needed for publication, then
there would be quite a lot of work needed in order to reassemble the figures into a profit and loss
account for publication.
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Exhibit 11.2 Financial statements for internal use

Block plc

Trading and Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31 December 20X6

(1)

(2)
(3)

@

(5)

(6)

(7)
(8)
(9)

Turnover

Less Cost of sales:
Stock 1 January 20X6
Add Purchases

Less Stock 31 December 20X6

Gross profit
Distribution costs
Salaries and wages
Motor vehicle costs: Distribution
General distribution expenses
Depreciation: Motors
Machinery

Administrative expenses
Salaries and wages
Motor vehicle costs: Administration
General administration expenses
Auditors’ remuneration
Depreciation: Motors
Machinery

Other operating income

Income from shares in group undertakings
Income from participating interests
Income from shares from non-related companies

(10) Other interest receivable

(11) Amounts written off investments

(12)

Interest payable
Loans repayable within five years
Loans repayable in ten years

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation

(13) Tax on profit on ordinary activities
(14) (20) Profit on ordinary activities after taxation

Retained profits brought forward from last year

Transfer to general reserve
Proposed ordinary dividend

Retained profits carried forward to next year

£000 £000

100

525

625

(125)

30
20
5)
3
2

60
25
2
7
2
3
R

_40

20

10

5)

_15

4
10
6

16

40

100

£000

800

(500)
300

(100)
200
30
230

50
280
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In Exhibit 11.2, the internal profit and loss account has been prepared using a format which
makes it much easier to get the figures for the published profit and loss account. Examination
questions on this topic sometimes ask for both (@) internal and (b) published financial state-
ments. You should find things are easier if the internal and published financial statements follow
a similar format.

To help you see how this internal format follows the one for publication, the line numbers
from the Companies Act format are shown in brackets. Do not include these numbers when
preparing ‘intemal’ financial statements.

Financial statements for publication

Note that there are no items in Exhibit 11.2 that would appear under items 15 to 19 in Com-
panies Act Format 1 and that, as a result, items 14 and 20 are represented by the same figure.
Exhibit 11.3 redrafts Exhibit 11.2 into a form suitable for publication according to Format 1.
However, as before, the category reference numbers to the left-hand side of Exhibit 11.3 are for
your benefit only; they do not have to be included. You will see that the main difference between
the two exhibits is that the detail between each entry has been removed. Such detail could, of
course, be included as notes to the published financial statement.

Exhibit 11.3 Financial statements for publication presented according to

Format 1
Block plc
Profit and Loss Account for the year ending 31 December 20X6
£000 £000
1 Turnover 800
2 Cost of sales (500)
3 Gross profit 300
4 Distribution costs 60
5 Administrative expenses 40
(100)
200
6 Other operating income 30
230
7 Income from shares in group undertakings 20
8 Income from participating interests 10
9 Income from other fixed asset investments 5
10 Other interest receivable and similar income 15
50
280
11 Amounts written off investments 4
12 Interest payable and similar charges 16
(_20)
Profit or loss on ordinary activities before taxation 260
13 Tax on profit or loss on ordinary activities (.95
14 Profit or loss on ordinary activities after taxation 165
Transfer to reserves 40
Dividends paid and proposed 100
(140)
Retained profits for the period 25

Note: The retained profit from the previous year is not shown. It would normally appear in a note
to the financial statements concerning movements on the reserves.
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When internal financial statements are prepared in the format shown in Exhibit 11.2, they
could be published just as they are, because all the items are shown in the correct order. The
Companies Act does not force companies to publish detailed financial statements (for example,
such as shown in Exhibit 11.2). Rather, it states the minimum information which must be dis-
closed. A company can show more than the minimum if it wants to but normally, as above, com-
panies prefer to do so in notes to the financial statement, if at all.

Why would most companies not want to publish detailed financial statements?

Now, let’s look at Format 1 in more detail.

Definition of items in Format 1

Format item 1

..........................

Turnover is defined as the amounts derived from the provision of goods and services falling
within the company’s ordinary activities, net after deduction of VAT and trade discounts.

Format items 2, 4 and 5

..........................................

The figures for cost of sales, distribution costs and administrative expenses must include any
depreciation charges connected with these functions. For example, in the case of Block plc, depre-
ciation charges are included in both distribution costs and administration expenses, but not in
cost of sales.

Format item 6

..........................

This is operating income which does not fall under item 1. Such items as rents receivable or
royalties receivable might be found under this heading.

Format item 7

..........................

In Chapter 19, you will be introduced to the concept of parent and subsidiary undertakings.
A parent is able to exert a dominant influence over (i.e. control) the activities of the subsidiary
usually but, not necessarily, as a result of its owning a majority of the voting rights in the sub-
sidiary. Together, the parent company and all its subsidiaries are a ‘group’. Any dividends
received by a company from its investments in shares in any member of the group have to be
shown separately.

Why do you think dividends of this kind must be shown separately?

Format item 8

The term ‘participating interest’ means one where the parent company has a long-term holding
of shares or their equivalent in an undertaking for the purpose of securing a contribution to the
investor’s own activities by the exercise of control or influence arising from or related to that
interest. Where the equity stake exceeds 20 per cent, there is a presumption of such influence
unless the contrary is shown.
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..........................

This includes bank interest on loans and overdrafts, debenture interest, etc.

The profit and loss account produced will not appear precisely as presented in Exhibit 11.1. As
can be seen in Exhibit 11.3, the published profit and loss account for Block plc contains no items
in categories 15, 16, 17, 18, 19 or (although the amount it represents is shown under item 14)
20. In addition, after item 14, there are several more lines that must be included where they have
values, those of transfer to reserves and proposed dividends. Although not included in Format 1,
they are required according to the detailed rules accompanying the format. This also applies to
line 20, ‘Profit or loss for the financial year’ shown in Exhibit 11.1, when that line is included.

It would also have been possible to amalgamate items, for instance 4 and 5 could have been
shown together as ‘Net operating expenses £100,000’. In this case, included in the notes
appended to the financial statements would be an item showing the composition of the figure of
£100,000.

In the notes attached to the profit and loss account, the Companies Acts require that the fol-
lowing be shown separately:

1 Interest on bank loans, overdrafts and other loans:

(a) repayable within 5 years from the end of the accounting period;

(b) finally repayable after 5 years from the end of the accounting period.
Amounts set aside for redemption of share capital and for redemption of loans.
Rents from land, if material.

Costs of hire of plant and machinery.

Auditors’ remuneration, including expenses.

[SLF SNROS Y ]

Where a company carries on business of two or more classes differing substantially from each
other, a note is required of the amount of turnover for each class of business, and the division of
the profit and loss before taxation between each class. Information also has to be given of the
turnover between geographical markets.

Notes are also required concerning numbers of employees, wages and salaries, social security
costs, and pension costs.

Three further disclosure requirements of the Companies Act are expanded by FRS 3:

1 The effect must be stated of any amount relating to any preceding financial year included in

any item in the profit and loss account.

Particulars must be given of any extraordinary income or charges arising in the financial year.

3 The effect of any transaction of exceptional size or incidence that falls within the ordinary
activities of the company must be stated.

[\S]

Layout of the profit and loss account

If Block plc had items relevant to the other Format 1 categories, the profit and loss account
would have been presented as shown in Exhibit 11.4. Note that the lines added have been
included simply to show what the statement would look like. Where a category has no value, it
would normally be omitted from the statement, as was the case in Exhibit 11.3. In addition,
Exhibit 11.4 shows the extra lines that must be included but are not included in Format 1 in the
Companies Act. It is also worthwhile noting that the four lines in Format 1 that relate to extra-
ordinary items are virtually eliminated as a result of the definition of the term that was intro-
duced in FRS 3: Reporting financial performance. As a result of its issuing FRS 3, the Accounting
Standards Board does not expect any company to identify an item as ‘extraordinary’ in its financial
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statements and so items 15 to 18 are unlikely to be seen in any future published profit and loss
accounts.

See Section 11.11 for more on FRS 3 and extraordinary items.

Exhibit 11.4
Block plc
Profit and Loss Account for the year ending 31 December 20X6
£000 £000
1 Turnover 800
2 Cost of sales (500)
3 Gross profit 300
4 Distribution costs 60
5 Administrative expenses 40
(100)
200
6 Other operating income 30
230
7 Income from shares in group undertakings 20
8 Income from participating interests 10
9 Income from fixed asset investments 5
10 Other interest receivable and similar income 15
50
280
11 Amounts written off investments 4
12 Interest payable and similar charges 16
(_20)
Profit or loss on ordinary activities before taxation 260
13 Tax on profit or loss on ordinary activities (_95)
14 Profit or loss on ordinary activities after taxation 165
15 Extraordinary income 0
16 Extraordinary charges 0
17 Extraordinary profit or loss 0
18 Tax on extraordinary profit or loss 0
0
165
19 Other taxes not shown under the above items )
20 Profit or loss for the financial year 165
Transfer to reserves 40
Dividends paid and proposed 100
(140)
Retained profits for the year 25

Allocation of expenses

It will be obvious under which heading most expenses will be shown, whether they are:

(a)
()

cost of sales;

a
(b) distribution costs; or

administrative expenses.
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However, as the Companies Acts do not define these terms, some items are not so easy to
allocate with certainty. Some companies may choose one heading for a particular item, while
another company will choose another. These items can now be examined.

1 Discounts received. These are for prompt payment of amounts owing by us. Where they are
for payments to suppliers of goods they could be regarded either as a reduction in the cost of
goods or, alternatively, as a financial recompense, i.e. the reward for paying money on time.
If regarded in the first way they would be deducted from cost of sales, whereas the alternative
approach would be to deduct them from administrative expenses. However, these discounts
are also deducted when paying bills in respect of distribution costs or administrative expenses,
and it would also be necessary to deduct from these headings if the cost of sales deduction
approach is used. As this raises complications in the original recording of discounts received,
it would be more suitable in this book if all cash discounts received are deducted in arriving at
the figure of administrative expenses.

2 Discounts allowed. To be consistent in dealing with discounts, this should be included in
administrative expenses.

3 Bad debts. These could be regarded as an expense connected with sales: after all, they are
sales which are not paid for. The other point of view is that for a debt to become bad, at least
part of the blame must be because the proper administrative procedures in checking on
customers’ creditworthiness has not been thorough enough. In this book all bad debts will be
taken as being part of administrative expenses.

FRS 3: Reporting financial performance

Accounting is not a static subject. Changes occur over the years as they are seen to be necessary,
and also get general agreement as to their usefulness. Since the advent of SSAPs and FRSs the
number of changes that practitioners and students have had to learn has increased at a very fast
rate. A prime example of this is the introduction of FRS 3, which necessitates changes to the for-
mats of profit and loss accounts when certain events have occurred.

This standard replaced SSAP 6: Extraordinary items and prior year adjustments, tem-
porarily amended SSAP 3: Earnings per share (FRS 14: Earnings per share was issued five years
after FRS 3), and also made changes as a result to various other accounting standards.

Suppose that you are considering the affairs of a business over the years. The business has not
changed significantly, there have been no acquisitions, no discontinued operations, no funda-
mental reorganisation or restructuring of the business, nor have there been any extraordinary
items affecting the financial statements. In these circumstances, when comparing the financial
statements over the years, you are comparing like with like, subject to the problem of the effect
of inflation or deflation.

On the other hand, suppose that some of the things mentioned have occurred. When trying to
see what the future might hold for the company, simply basing your opinions on what has hap-
pened in the past can be very confusing.

To help you to distinguish the past and the future, and to give you some idea as to what
changes have occurred, FRS 3 requires that the following are highlighted in the profit and loss
account if the amounts involved are material:

1 What the results of continuing operations are, including the results of acquisitions. Obviously
acquisitions affect future results, and are therefore included in continuing operations.

2 What the results have been of discontinued operations. This should help distinguish the past
from the future.

3 The profits or losses on the sale or termination of an operation, the costs of fundamental
reorganisation or restructuring and the profits and losses on the disposal of fixed assets. The
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profits and losses concerning these matters are not going to happen again, and so this also
helps us distinguish the past from the future.

You can see how FRS 3 requires these items to be shown on the face of the profit and loss
account in Exhibit 11.5. Not only is the turnover split to show the figures relevant to continuing
operations, acquisitions, and discontinued operations, the operating profit is split along the same
lines. In addition, any profit or loss on the disposal of the discontinued operations is also shown.
Exhibit 11.5 is restricted to the first six categories of Format 1 as this is the part of the statement
affected by these FRS 3 requirements. Once again, we will use Block plc for the example.

Exhibit 11.5

Block plc
Profit and Loss Account for the year ending 31 December 20X6 (extract)
£000 £000
1 Turnover
Continuing operations 520
Acquisitions 110
630
Discontinued operations 170
800
2 Cost of sales (500)
3 Gross profit 300
4 Distribution costs 60
5 Administrative expenses _40
(100)
Operating profit
Continuing operations 160
Acquisitions _60
220
Discontinued operations (loss) (_20)
200
Profit on disposal of discontinued operations (a) 10
210
6 Other operating income 20
Profit or loss on ordinary activities before interest 230

The item marked (a) can be described as an exceptional item. It is material in amount, falls
within the ordinary activities of the firm, and needs to be shown so that the financial statements
will give a ‘true and fair view’.

It is exceptional in that it is not the ordinary daily occurrence, but remember that it falls
within the ordinary activities of the company. FRS 3 requires that three categories of exceptional
items be shown separately on the face of the profit and loss account after operating profit
and before interest, and included under the appropriate heading of continued or discontinued
operations:

1 Profits or losses on the sale or termination of an operation.

2 Costs of a fundamental reorganisation or restructuring having a material effect on the nature
and focus of the reporting entity’s operations.

3 Profits or losses on the disposal of fixed assets.
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Other exceptional items should be credited or charged in arriving at the profit or loss on
ordinary activities by inclusion under the heading to which they relate. The amount of each
exceptional item should be disclosed in a note, or on the face of the profit and loss account, if
necessary in order to give a true and fair view.

Other statements and notes required by FRS 3

Statement of total recognised gains and losses

..................................................................................

The statement of total recognised gains and losses is one of two new primary statements intro-
duced by FRS 3. It shows the extent to which shareholders’ funds have increased or decreased
from all the various gains and losses recognised in the period, and enables users to consider all
recognised gains and losses of a reporting entity in assessing its overall performance; an example
of what would be included in the statement would be unrealised gains on fixed asset revalua-
tions. Exhibit 11.6 presents an example of the statement using the data from Block ple.

Exhibit 11.6
Block plc
Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses

20X6
£000
Profit for the financial year* 165
Unrealised surplus on revaluation of properties 12
Unrealised (loss)/gain on trade investment (8
169
Currency translation differences on foreign currency investments (5
Total recognised gains and losses relating to the year 164
Prior period adjustment (_19)
Total gains and losses recognised since last annual report 145

*See Exhibit 11.4.
Note: Only the profit figure can be found in the profit and loss account. The others have been

inserted to demonstrate what the statement looks like. Also, as with all these statements, includ-
ing the profit and loss account, comparative figures would also be shown.

Note of historical cost profits and losses

Where assets have been revalued, which obviously affects depreciation, the revalued figures may
have a material effect upon the results shown in the financial statements. If this is the case, FRS 3
requires that there should also be shown as a note what the profit and loss account would have
been if the account had been shown using historical (i.e. not revalued) figures.

The note should also show how the reported profit on ordinary activities (using revalued
assets) can be reconciled with that calculated using historical figures, and should also show the
retained profit figure for the financial year reported on the historical cost basis. The note should
be presented immediately following the profit and loss account or the statement of total recog-
nised gains and losses. An example of the note is presented in Exhibit 11.7.
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Exhibit 11.7
Block plc
Note of Historical Cost Profits and Losses
20X6
£000
Reported profit on ordinary activities before taxation®™et " 260
Realisation of property revaluation gains of previous years 12
Difference between a historical cost depreciation charge and the
actual depreciation charge of the year calculated on the revalued amount 1
Historical cost profit on ordinary activities before taxation 273
Historical cost profit for the year retained after taxation, minority interests,
extraordinary items and dividends (273 - 95 — 100) _78
Notes:

(1) See Exhibit 11.4.
(2) As with the statement of total recognised gains and losses, only the profit figure can be
identified in the profit and loss account. Also, comparative figures should be shown.

Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds

The profit and loss account and the statement of total recognised gains and losses reflect the per-
formance of a reporting entity in a period, but there are other changes that can occur in share-
holders’ funds that these two statements do not disclose, and which can be important in
understanding the change in the financial position of the entity — for example, a new share issue
or goodwill written off. For this reason, FRS 3 also gave the reconciliation of movements in
sharebolders’ funds the status of a primary statement, its purpose being to highlight these other
changes in the financial position. When shown as a primary statement (there is an option to
show it as a note), the reconciliation should be shown separately from the statement of total
recognised gains and losses. Exhibit 11.8 presents an example of the statement.

Exhibit 11.8
Block plc
Reconciliation of Movements in Shareholders’ Funds
20X6
£000
Profit for the financial yeart" 165
Dividends (100)
65
Other recognised gains and losses relating to the year (net) (@)
New share capital subscribed 20
Goodwill written off (25)
Net addition to shareholders’ funds 59
Opening shareholders’ funds (originally £321,000 before deducting
prior period adjustment of £19,000) 302
Closing shareholders’ funds 361

Notes:

(1) See Exhibit 11.4.

(2) The figures can be found in the other statements except for the new share capital, the good-
will written off and the opening shareholders’ funds amounts. As before, comparative figures
should also be presented.
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@ FRS 3 and extraordinary items

You have just seen that FRS 3 requires that some of the exceptional items are highlighted on the
face of the profit and loss account, whilst others can be put under appropriate headings with
notes giving more detail attached to the financial statements.

In Exhibit 11.3 all of these exceptional items will have been dealt with by the time that item 14,
‘Profit for the year on ordinary activities after taxation’, has been reached. Any extraordinary
items are shown as items 15, 16, 17 and 18.

Before FRS 3, the distinction between what was an exceptional item and what was an
extraordinary item was not as well defined as it could have been. This led to directors of com-
panies sometimes manipulating the figures for their own ends while keeping within the necessary
legal boundaries.

They did this because the profit per item 14 was widely used to assess how well a company
was being managed. It was a vital part of calculating the earnings per share (EPS) which is a
main indicator to many people of the company’s performance. If a favourable item could be
called an ‘exceptional item’ it would increase the size of the profit as shown by item 14. On the
other hand, should an item be unfavourable, and therefore lower the figure of profit shown by
item 14, then perhaps it could be (and it often was) included instead as an ‘extraordinary item’.
In this way, the profit per item 14 could be shown at a higher figure than was really justified.
Such actions could and did affect the Stock Exchange value of companies’ shares.

FRS 3 put an end to this by being more strict about what is, or is not, an extraordinary item,
and thus to be shown after item 14 in the profit and loss account. Extraordinary items:

(a) should be material items possessing a high degree of abnormality which arise from events or
transactions that fall outside the ordinary activities of the business; and

(b) are not expected to recur;

(¢) do not include exceptional items; and

(d) do not include items relating to a prior period merely because they relate to a prior period.

-

Extraordinary items fall outside the ‘ordinary’ activities of a company, whereas exceptional
items fall within them. ‘Ordinary activities’ are any activities undertaken by a reporting entity as
part of its business and such related activities in which the reporting entity engages in further-
ance of, incidental to or arising from these activities. Ordinary activities include the effects on
the reporting entity of any event in the various environments in which it operates. It is little won-
der that the ASB did not believe that anything could ever be categorised as an extraordinary item
after the introduction of FRS 3.

@ FRS 3 and prior period adjustments

Prior period adjustments are material adjustments applicable to prior periods arising from
changes in accounting policies or from the correction of fundamental errors. They do not include
normal recurring adjustments or corrections of accounting estimates (such as, for example, the
estimated scrap value of a fixed asset) made in prior periods.

Prior period adjustments are accounted for by restating the comparative figures (i.e. the equival-
ent figures for the previous accounting period) for the preceding period in the primary statements
and notes and adjusting the opening balance of reserves for the cumulative effect. The cumulative
effect of the adjustments is also noted at the foot of the statement of total recognised gains and
losses of the current period (see Exhibit 11.6). Where practicable, the effect of prior period
adjustments on the results for the preceding period is disclosed.
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Comparative figures should be shown for all items in the primary statements and the notes to the
statements required by FRS 3. The comparative figures in the ‘continuing operations’ category of
the profit and loss account should include only the results of those operations included in the

current period’s ‘continuing operations’ category.

IAS 1: Presentation of financial statements

While there are differences between FRS 3 and IAS 1 — there is no intemational equivalent of the
statement of realised gains and losses, for example — the presentation of information under both

standards is virtually identical.

Learning outcomes

You should now have learnt:

1
2
3

7

How the Companies Act defines company size.
There are set formats for the preparation of published financial statements.

Financial statements prepared for internal use need not comply with these set
formats but are often based upon them.

FRS 3: Reporting financial performance amended the Companies Act format for the
profit and loss account by requiring further details to be disclosed concerning:
(a) continuing and discontinued operations;

(b) restructuring; and

(c) disposal of fixed assets.

In addition, by defining extraordinary items out of existence, FRS 3 effectively
made obsolete a number of the categories contained in the Companies Act profit
and loss accounts format relating to extraordinary items.
FRS 3 introduced two additional primary financial statements:
(a) the statement of total recognised gains and losses;
(b) the reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds (may be shown as

a note).

It also introduced a new note - the note of historical cost profits and losses.

Answers to activities

11.1

Combined with the regulations enshrined in accounting standards that govern how data will be
processed and selected for inclusion as information in the financial statements, the standardisation
brought about by the Companies Act 1981 makes meaningful comparison between the financial

statements of different companies feasible.

For the same reason that many small companies use the percentage rates provided by the tax rules
relating to capital allowances when setting their depreciation rates - it saves them redoing the
calculation — many small companies use the Companies Act formats as the basis for their intermal

financial statements, adding more detail when they feel it is appropriate to do so.

Because doing so may give their competitors information which would lead to the company losing

some of its competitive advantage.
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11.4 The parent company can decide how much it wishes to receive as dividends from its subsidiaries.
Unless this amount is shown separately, the total amount received from all investments by way of
dividends may mislead anyone who does not know where they came from.

Advice: It is important for you to know that the published profit and loss account of a company
must show certain items in a given order.

The contents of FRS 3 are likely to attract quite a lot of exam questions. In particular the
definition of extraordinary items per FRS 3. Some may come in the form of the directors of a com-
pany wanting to classify something as extraordinary, and therefore shown after item 14, ‘Profit or
loss on ordinary activities after taxation’.

Review questions

11.1 From the following selected balances of Filo plc as at 31 March 20X5 draw up (i) a
detailed trading and profit and loss account for internal use, and (ii) a profit and loss account for

publication.
£
Profit and loss account as at 31 March 20X4 102,000
Stock 1 April 20X4 84,000
Purchases 1,462,000
Sales 2,456,000
Returns inwards 108,000
Returns outwards 37,000
Carriage inwards 14,700
Wages and salaries (see Note (b)) 136,000
Rent and business rates (see Note (c)) 14,000
General distribution expenses 28,000
General administrative expenses 24,000
Discounts allowed 36,000
Bad debts 5,000
Debenture interest 12,000
Motor expenses (see Note (d)) 16,000
Interest received on bank deposit 6,000
Income from shares in undertakings in which the company has a participating interest 3,000
Motor vehicles at cost: Administrative 54,000
Distribution 92,000
Equipment at cost: Administrative 15,000
Distribution 12,000
Royalties receivable 4,000
Dividends paid 120,000
Notes:

(a) Stock at 31 March 20X5 £102,000.

(b) Wages and salaries are to be apportioned: Distribution costs '/, Administrative expenses */a.

() Rent and business rates are to be apportioned: Distribution costs 55 per cent, Administrative
expenses 45 per cent.

(d) Apportion motor expenses in the proportions 2:3 between distribution costs and administrative
expenses.

(e) Depreciate motor vehicles 20 per cent and equipment 10 per cent on cost.

(f) Accrue auditors’ remuneration of £11,000.

(g) Accrue corporation tax for the year on ordinary activity profits £364,000.

(h) A sum of £20,000 is to be transferred to general reserve.
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11.2 From the following selected balances of State plc as at 31 December 20X8, prepare (i) a
detailed trading and profit and loss account for the year ended 31 December 20X8 for internal use

and (ii) a profit and loss account for the same period for publication.

Stock 1 January 20X8
Sales
Purchases
Carriage inwards
Returns inwards
Returns outwards
Discounts allowed
Discounts received
Wages (putting goods into saleable condition)
Salaries and wages: Sales and distribution staff
Salaries and wages: Administrative staff
Motor expenses (see Note (c))
Rent and business rates (see Note (d))
Investments in undertakings in which the company has a participating interest
(market value £74,000)
Income from shares in undertakings in which the company has a participating interest
General distribution expenses
General administrative expenses
Bad debts
Interest from government securities
Haulage costs: Distribution
Debenture interest payable
Profit and loss account: 31 December 20X7
Motor vehicles at cost: Distribution and sales
Administrative
Plant and machinery at cost: Distribution and sales
Administrative
Production
Directors’ remuneration
Dividends paid

Notes:

(a) The production department puts goods bought into a saleable condition.
(b) Stock at 31 December 20X8 £160,000.

(c) Apportion motor expenses: distribution %1, administrative "/a.

£
140,000
1,860,000
1,140,000
8,000
9,000
5,000
11,000
14,000
88,000
62,000
74,000
24,000
28,000

100,000
5,000
12,000
6,000
2,000
3,000
4,000
2,000
94,000
60,000
26,000
50,000
30,000
60,000
36,000
60,000

(d) Apportion rent and business rates: distribution 40 per cent, administrative 60 per cent.
(e) Write £26,000 off the value of investments in undertakings in which the company has a particip-

ating interest.

(f) Depreciate motor vehicles 25 per cent on cost, plant and machinery 15 per cent on cost.

(g9) Accrue auditors’ remuneration £14,000.
(h) Accrue corporation tax on ordinary activity profits £104,000.
(i) A sum of £25,000 is to be transferred to debenture redemption reserve.
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11.3 The following information has been extracted from the books of account of Rufford plc for
the year to 31 March 20X6:

Dr Cr
£000 £000

Administration expenses 97

Deferred taxation 24

Depreciation on office machinery (for the year to 31 March 20X6) 8

Depreciation on delivery vans (for the year to 31 March 20X6) 19

Distribution costs 33

Dividends received (from a UK listed company on 31 July 20X5) 14

Factory closure expenses (closed on 1 April 20X5) 12

Interest payable on bank overdraft (repayable within five years) 6

Interim dividend (paid on 30 September 20X5) 21

Interest receivable 25

Purchases 401

Retained profit at 31 March 20X5 160

Sales (net of VAT) 642

Stock at 1 April 20X5 60

Additional information:

1 Administrative expenses include the following items: £000
Auditors’ remuneration 20
Directors’ emoluments 45
Travelling expenses 1
Research expenditure 11
Hire of plant and machinery 12

2 It is assumed that the following tax rates are applicable for the year to 31 March 20X6:
Corporation tax 50%

Income tax 30%

3 There was an overprovision for corporation tax of £3,000 relating to the year to 31 March 20X5.

4 Corporation tax payable for the year to 31 March 20X6 (based on the profits for that year) is
estimated to be £38,000. The company, in addition, intends to transfer a further £9,000 to its
deferred taxation account.

5 A final dividend of £42,000 for the year to 31 March 20X6 is expected to be paid on 2 June 20X6.

6 Stock at 31 March 20X6 was valued at £71,000.

7 As a result of a change in accounting policy, a prior period charge of £15,000 (net of tax) is to be
made.

8 The company'’s share capital consists of 420,000 ordinary shares of £1 each. There are no prefer-
ence shares, and no change had been made to the company’s issued share capital for some years.

Required:

(a) In so far as the information permits, prepare the company’s published profit and loss account
for the year to 31 March 20X6 in the vertical format in accordance with the Companies Act and
with related accounting standards.

(NB: A statement of the company’s accounting policies is not required.)

(b) Prepare balance sheet extracts in order to illustrate the balances still remaining in the follow-

ing accounts at 31 March 20X6:

(i) corporation tax;

(ii) proposed dividend; and

(iif) deferred taxation.

(NB: A detailed balance sheet is not required.)

(Association of Accounting Technicians)
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11.4A The following balances have been extracted from the books of Mitchell plc on 31 July
20X2. From them draw up (/) a detailed trading and profit and loss account for internal use, for the
year ended 31 July 20X2, also (ii) a profit and loss account for publication for the year to that date.

Purchases

Sales

Returns inwards

Returns outwards

Carriage inwards

Wages — productive

Discounts allowed

Discounts received

Stock 31 July 20X1

Wages and salaries: Sales and distribution

Wages and salaries: Administrative

Motor expenses: Sales and distribution

Motor expenses: Administrative

General distribution expenses

General administrative expenses

Rent and business rates (see Note (c))

Directors’ remuneration

Profit and loss account: 31 July 20X1

Advertising

Bad debts

Hire of plant and machinery (see Note (b))

Motor vehicles at cost: Sales and distribution
Administrative

Plant and machinery: Distribution

Debenture interest payable

Income from shares in group undertakings

Income from shares in undertakings in which the company has a participating interest

Preference dividend paid

Profit on disposal of investments

Tax on profit on disposal of investments
Ordinary dividend paid

Notes:
(a) Stock at 31 July 20X2 £303,000.

f
1,310,000
1,790,000

29,000
57,000
10,000
109,000
11,000
15,000
317,000
41,000
62,000
26,000
8,000
7,000
6,000
17,000
35,000
141,000
19,000
3,000
14,000
45,000
18,000
13,000
7,000
8,000
5,000
20,000
14,000
3,000
110,000

(b) The hire of plant and machinery is to be apportioned: productive £12,000, administrative

£2,000.

(c) Rent and business rates to be apportioned: distribution %1, administrative "/a.

(d) Motors are to be depreciated at 33'/3 per cent on cost; plant and machinery to be depreciated

at 10 per cent on cost.

(e) Auditors’ remuneration of £15,000 to be accrued.

(f) Corporation tax on profit from ordinary activities for the year is estimated at £29,000, excluding

tax on disposal of investments.
(g) Transfer £50,000 to general reserve.
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11.5A From the following balances in the books of Breaker plc you are to draw up (i) a detailed
trading and profit and loss account for the year ended 31 March 20X4 for internal use, and (ii) a
profit and loss account for publication:

£

Plant and machinery, at cost (see Note (c)) 105,000
Bank interest receivable 3,000
Discounts allowed 7,000
Discounts received 6,000
Hire of motor vehicles: Sales and distribution 14,000
Hire of motor vehicles: Administrative 5,000
Licence fees receivable 13,000
General distribution expenses 26,000
General administrative expenses 19,000
Wages and salaries: Sales and distribution 177,000

Administrative 98,000
Directors’ remuneration 41,000
Motor expenses (see Note (e)) 11,000
Ordinary dividend paid 80,000
Stock 31 March 20X3 208,000
Sales 1,450,000
Purchases 700,000
Returns outwards 22,000
Returns inwards 29,000
Profit and loss account as at 31 March 20X3 88,000

Notes:

(a) Stock at 31 March 20X4 £230,000.

(b) Accrue auditor’s remuneration £8,000.

(c) Of the plant and machinery, £70,000 is distributive in nature, while £35,000 is for administration.
(d) Depreciate plant and machinery 25 per cent on cost.

(e) Of the motor expenses, /s is for sales and distribution and /s for administration.

(f) Corporation tax on ordinary profits is estimated at £143,000.

(g) A sum of £25,000 is to be transferred to general reserve.
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11.6A Bunker plc is a trading company; it does not carry out any manufacturing operations.
The following information has been extracted from the books of account for the year to 31 March
20XO0:

£000
Auditors’ remuneration 30
Corporation tax: based on the accounting profit for the year to 31 March 20X0 7,200
overprovision for the year to 31 March 20X9 200
United Kingdom corporation tax relief on
overseas operations: closure costs 30
Delivery expenses 1,200
Dividends: final (proposed — to be paid 1 August 20X0) 200
interim (paid on 1 October 20X9) 100
Fixed assets at cost:
Delivery vans 200
Office cars 40
Stores plant and equipment 5,000
Investment income (amount received from listed companies) 1,600
Office expenses 800
Overseas operations: closure costs of entire operations on 1 April 20X9 350
Purchases (net of value added tax) 24,000
Sales (net of value added tax) 35,000
Stocks at cost:
at 1 April 20X9 5,000
at 31 March 20X0 6,000
Storeroom costs 1,000
Wages and salaries:
Delivery staff 700
Directors’ emoluments 300
Office staff 100
Storeroom staff 400

Additional information:

1 Depreciation policy:
Depreciation is provided at the following annual rates on a straight line basis: delivery vans
20 per cent; office cars 7.5 per cent; stores plant and equipment 10 per cent.

2 The following taxation rates may be assumed:
corporation tax 35 per cent; income tax 25 per cent; value added tax 15 per cent.

3 The investment income arises from investments held in fixed asset investments.

4 It has been decided to transfer an amount of £150,000 to the deferred taxation account.

5 There were 1,000,000 ordinary shares of £1 each in issue during the year to 31 March 20X0.
There were no preference shares in issue.

Required:

In so far as the information permits, prepare Bunker plc’s published profit and loss account for the
year to 31 March 20X0 in accordance with the minimum requirements of the Companies Act 1985
and related accounting standards.

Note: A statement of accounting policies is NOT required, but where appropriate, other formal
notes SHOULD be attached to your profit and loss account. Detailed workings should also be
submitted with your answer.

(Association of Accounting Technicians)



Chapter 11 The financial statements of limited companies

11.7A Fresno Group plc have prepared their financial statements for the year ended 31 January
20X4. However, the financial accountant of Fresno Group plc had difficulty in preparing the state-
ments required by FRS 3: Reporting financial performance, and approached you for help in prepar-
ing those statements. The financial accountant furnished you with the following information:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Fresno Group plc
Profit and Loss Account extract for year ended 31 January 20X4

£ million
Operating profit — continuing operations 290
Profit on sale of property in continuing operations 10
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 300
Tax on ordinary activities (_90)
Profit after taxation 210
Dividends (_15)
Retained profit for year 195

The financial accountant did not provide for the loss on any discontinued operations in the
profit and loss account. (However, you may assume that the taxation provision incorporated
the effects of any provision for discontinued operations.)

The shareholders’ funds at the beginning of the financial year were as follows:

£ million
Share capital — £1 ordinary shares 350
Merger reserve 55
Revaluation reserve 215
Profit and loss reserve 775
1,395

Fresno Group plc regularly revalues its fixed assets and at 31 January 20X4, a revaluation
surplus of £375 million had been credited to revaluation reserve. During the financial year, a
property had been sold on which a revaluation surplus of £54 million had been credited to
reserves. Further, if the company had charged depreciation on a historical cost basis rather
than the revalued amounts, the depreciation charge in the profit and loss account for fixed
assets would have been £7 million. The current year’s charge for depreciation was £16 million.
The group has a policy of writing off goodwill on the acquisition of subsidiaries directly
against a merger reserve. The goodwill for the period amounted to £250 million. In order to
facilitate the purchase of subsidiaries, the company had issued £1 ordinary shares of nominal
value £150 million and share premium of £450 million. The premium had been taken to the
merger reserve. All subsidiaries are currently 100 per cent owned by the group.

During the financial year to 31 January 20X4, the company had made a decision to close a 100
per cent owned subsidiary, Reno plc. However, the closure did not take place until May 20X4.
Fresno Group plc estimated that as at 31 January 20X4 the operating loss for the period
1 February 20X4 to 31 May 20X4 would be £30 million and that in addition redundancy costs,
stock and plant write-downs would amount to £15 million. In the event, the operating loss for
the period 1 February 20X4 to 31 May 20X4 was £65 million, but the redundancy costs, stock
and plant write-downs only amounted to £12 million.

The following information relates to Reno plc for the period 1 February 20X4 to 31 May 20X4.

Reno plc
£ million

Turnover 175

Cost of sales (195)
Gross loss (20)
Administrative expenses (15)
Selling expenses (30)
Operating loss before taxation (65)
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Required:
(a) Prepare the following statements in accordance with current statutory requirements and FRS 3:
Reporting financial performance for Fresno Group plc for the year ending 31 January 20X4:
(/) statement of total recognised gains and losses;
(if) reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds;
(iii) analysis of movements on reserves;
(iv) note of historical cost profits and losses.

(b) Explain to the financial accountant:
(/) how the decision to close the subsidiary, Reno plc, affects the financial statements of
Fresno Group plc for the year ended 31 January 20X4;
(if) how the subsidiary, Reno plc, should be dealt with in the financial statements of Fresno
Group plc for the year ended 31 January 20X5.

(Association of Chartered Certified Accountants)

You can find a range of additional self-test questions, as well as material to help you with
your studies, on the website that accompanies this book at www.pearsoned.co.uk/wood



The financial statements of limited
companies: balance sheets

Learning objectives

eeccccccccce

After you have studied this chapter, you should be able to:

® describe the most commonly used format available under the Companies Acts
that may be used when preparing balance sheets for external reporting purposes

® present information under the most commonly used of the Companies Acts
formats

® describe the differences between the statutory format and formats generally
adopted for internal use

® describe the exemption of some ‘small’ companies from having their financial
statements audited

® describe the exemptions available to small and medium-sized companies in
respect of filing modified financial statements

® describe the option available to public limited companies to send members a
summary financial statement

Introduction

eeccccccccce

In this chapter, you'll learn about the format normally adopted for balance sheets
prepared for publication. You will also be reminded of the fundamental accounting
concepts that you covered in Business Accounting 1 and introduced to the rules
relating to the preparation of modified financial statements for small and medium-
sized companies.

@ Balance sheet formats

The Companies Acts set out two formats for the balance sheet. The method we will follow is
that contained in Format 1, because this is the one used by most UK companies.

Format 1 is shown in Exhibit 12.1. Monetary amounts have been included to make it easier to
follow and understand.
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Exhibit 12.1
Balance Sheet - Format 1
£000 £000 £000
A CALLED-UP SHARE CAPITAL NOT PAID* 10
B FIXED ASSETS
I Intangible assets
1 Development costs 20
2 Concessions, patents, licences, trade marks
and similar rights and assets 30
3 Goodwill 80
4 Payments on account 5
135
Il Tangible assets
1 Land and buildings 300
2 Plant and machinery 500
3 Fixtures, fittings, tools and equipment 60
4 Payments on account and assets in course
of construction 20
880
Il Investments
1 Shares in group undertakings 15
2 Loans to group undertakings 10
3 Participating interests 20
4 Loans to undertakings in which the company has
a participating interest 5
5 Other investments other than loans 30
6 Other loans 16
7 Own shares 4
100
1,115
C CURRENT ASSETS
I Stock
1 Raw materials and consumables 60
2 Work in progress 15
3 Finished goods and goods for resale 120
4 Payments on account 5
200
Il Debtors
1 Trade debtors 200
2 Amounts owed by group undertakings 20
3 Amounts owed by undertakings in which the
company has a participating interest 10
4 Other debtors 4
5 Called-up share capital not paid* -
6 Prepayments and accrued incomet =
234
Il Investments
1 Shares in group undertakings 40
2 Own shares 5
3 Other investments 30
75
IV Cash at bank and in hand 26
535
D PREPAYMENTS AND ACCRUED INCOMET _15
550

206



Chapter 12 ® The financial statements of limited companies: balance sheets

£000 £000 £000
E CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR
1 Debenture loans 5
2 Bank loans and overdrafts 10
3 Payments received on account 20
4 Trade creditors 50
5 Bills of exchange payable 2
6 Amounts owed to group undertakings 15
7 Amounts owed to undertakings in which the
company has a participating interest 6
8 Other creditors including taxation and social security 54
9 Accruals and deferred income# =
(162)
F NET CURRENT ASSETS (LIABILITIES) _ 388
G TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,513
H CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE
THAN ONE YEAR
1 Debenture loans 20
2 Bank loans and overdrafts 15
3 Payments received on account 5
4 Trade creditors 25
5 Bills of exchange payable 4
6 Amounts owed to group undertakings 10
7 Amounts owed to undertakings in which the
company has a participating interest 5
8 Other creditors including taxation and social security 32
9 Accruals and deferred income# =
116
| PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES
1 Pensions and similar obligations 20
2 Taxation, including deferred taxation 40
3 Other provisions 4
64
J ACCRUALS AND DEFERRED INCOME#* _20
(_200)
1313
K CAPITAL AND RESERVES o
| Called-up share capital 1,000
Il Share premium account 100
Il Revaluation reserve 20
IV Other reserves:
1 Capital redemption reserve 40
2 Reserve for own shares 10
3 Reserves provided for by the articles of association 20
4 Other reserves 13
83
V Profit and loss account 110
1,313

*11 These items may be shown in any of the positions indicated.
It should be noted that various items can be shown in alternative places, i.e.:

(a) called-up share capital not paid, either in position A or position CII 5;
(b) prepayments and accrued income, either CII 6 or as D;
(¢) accruals and deferred income, either E9 or H9, or in total as .
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Items preceded by letters or roman numerals 7ust be disclosed on the face of the balance sheet,
e.g. B Fixed assets, KII Share premium account, whereas those shown with arabic numerals (1, 2,
3, 4, etc.) may be combined where they are not material or when the combination facilitates
assessment of the company’s affairs. Where they are combined, the details of each item should be
shown in the notes accompanying the financial statements. The actual letters, roman numerals
or arabic numbers do not have to be shown on the face of the published balance sheets and, in
virtually all cases, they are not.

Further details for Format 1

The following also apply to balance sheets prepared according to the Format 1 layout.

BI Intangible assets are assets not having a ‘physical’ existence compared with tangible assets
which do have a physical existence. For instance, you can see and touch the tangible assets, such
as land and buildings, plant and machinery, etc., but you cannot touch goodwill.

For each of the fixed assets, whether it is an intangible asset, tangible asset, or investment, full
details must be given in the notes accompanying the financial statements of (a) cost, at beginning
and end of financial year, (b) any effect on that item of acquisitions, disposals, revaluations, etc.
during the year, and (c) full details of depreciation, i.e. accumulated depreciation at start of year,
depreciation for year, effect of disposals on depreciation in the year and any other adjustments.

All fixed assets, including property and goodwill, must be depreciated over the period of the
useful economic life of each asset. Prior to this, many companies had not depreciated property
because of rising money values of the asset. Costs of research must not be treated as an asset,
and development costs may be capitalised only in special cases. Any hire purchase owing must
not be deducted from the assets concerned. Only goodwill which has been purchased can be
shown as an asset; internally generated goodwill must not be capitalised.

See Chapter 17 for further information on goodwill in consolidated financial statements.

Where an asset is revalued, normally this will be fixed assets being shown at market value
instead of cost. Any difference on revaluation must be debited or credited to a revaluation
reserve — see KIII in Format 1.

Investments shown as CIII will be in respect of those not held for the long term.

Two items which could previously be shown as assets — (a) preliminary expenses (these are the
legal expenses etc. in forming the company), and (b) expenses of and commission on any issue of
shares or debentures — must not now be shown as assets. They can be written off against any share
premium account balance; alternatively they should be written off to the profit and loss account.

Full details of each class of share capital, and of authorised capital, will be shown in notes
accompanying the balance sheet.

Choice of formats

The Acts leave the choice of a particular format for the balance sheet and the profit and loss
account to the directors. Once adopted, the choice must be adhered to in subsequent years
except in the case that there are special reasons for the change. If a change is made, then full
reasons for the change must be stated in the notes attached to the financial statements.

Fundamental accounting principles

The Companies Acts set out the accounting principles (or ‘valuation rules’ as they are called in
the Fourth Directive of the EC) to be followed when preparing company financial statements.
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The following principles are stated in the Acts. The reader is referred to Chapter 10 of Business
Accounting 1 for a fuller discussion of some of them.

A company is presumed to be a going concern.

Accounting policies must be applied consistently from year to year.

The prudence concept must be followed.

The accruals concept must be observed.

Each component item of assets and liabilities must be valued separately. As an instance of
this, if a company has five different types of stock, each type must be valued separately at the
lower of cost and net realisable value, rather than be valued on an aggregate basis.

6 Amounts in respect of items representing assets or income may #not be set off against items
representing liabilities or expenditure. Thus an amount owing on a hire purchase contract
cannot be deducted from the value of the asset in the balance sheet.

@ True and fair view

If complying with the requirements of the Companies Acts would cause the financial statements
not to be ‘true and fair’ then the directors must set aside such requirements. This should not be
done lightly, and it would not be common to find such instances.

DN b W=

@ Small and medium-sized company reporting requirements

Small and medium-sized companies (for a definition, see Section 11.2) do not have to file a full
set of financial statements with the Registrar of Companies. If they wish, they can send a full set
of financial statements, but what they have to file is a minimum of ‘modified financial state-
ments’. They still have to send a full set to their own shareholders who request them — the
modified financial statements refer only to those filed with the Registrar.

In addition, there is no longer an audit requirement for small companies with a turnover of not
more than £1 million and a balance sheet total of not more than £1.4 million, unless 10 per cent or
more of shareholders sign a formal notice requesting an audit and lodge this at the registered office.

Why do you think these small companies are exempted from having their
financial statements audited?

@ Modified financial statements of small companies

1 Neither a profit and loss account nor a directors’ report has to be filed with the Registrar.

2 A modified balance sheet showing only those items to which a letter or roman numeral are
attached (see Format 1, Exhibit 12.1) has to be filed. As a result, for example, the total for CI
Stock has to be shown but not the figures for each of the individual items comprising this total.

@ Modified financial statements of medium-sized companies

1 The profit and loss account per Format 1 does not have to show item 1 (Turnover), item 2
(Cost of sales) or item 6 (Other operating income). It will therefore begin with the figure of
gross profit or loss.
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The analyses of turnover and profit normally required as notes to the financial statements
need not be given.
The balance sheet, however, must be given in full.

Note: Review questions on published company financial statements including notes required by
law are at the end of Chapter 13.

Summary financial statements

A public limited company (plc) may send a summary financial statement to members in place of
the full statements, but any member who requests the full statements must be sent them. The
summary statement must:

(a) state that it is only a summary of information in the company’s financial statements and the

directors’ report;

(b) contain a statement by the company’s auditors of their opinion as to whether the summary

financial statement is consistent with those financial statements and that report and complies
with the requirements of the section in the Companies Act (CA 85 Section 251) that permits
the distribution of this summary financial statement and the regulations made under it;

state whether the auditors’ report on the financial statements was unqualified or qualified,
and if it was qualified set out the report in full together with any further material needed to
understand the qualification;

(d) state whether the auditors’ report on the annual accounts contained a statement under either:

(7)) CA 85 Section 237(2) — accounting records or returns inadequate or financial statements
not agreeing with records or returns; or

(ii) CA 85 Section 237(3) — failure to obtain necessary information and explanations and, if
s0, set out the statement in full.

Why do you think companies are allowed to send their shareholders summary
financial statements rather than the full statements?

Learning outcomes

eecccccccccccoe

You should now have learnt:
1 There are set formats for the preparation of published financial statements.
2 Financial statements for internal use need not comply with these set formats.

3 Accounting standards have statutory recognition and must, therefore, be
complied with when preparing financial statements intended to present a true
and fair view.

4 Some small companies are exempted from having their financial statements
audited.

5 Small and medium-sized companies may file modified financial statements with
the Registrar if they wish.

6 Public limited companies may send a summary financial statement to members
in place of the full statements, but any member who requests the full statements
must be sent them.
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Answers to activities

12.1 Having financial statements audited is estimated as costing an average of £1,200. While this
appears a small amount of money, it can be relatively expensive for small companies, particularly
when they are newly formed and are making little or no profit. However, although this is a good
reason for such companies not incurring the expense of having an audit, as the sole reason for not
having an audit it goes against the principles upon which the need for an audit was based. A far
more realistic explanation is that errors and misleading items in the financial statements of small
companies have far less of an impact than in the case of larger organisations and, on a purely
cost/benefit basis, it is unlikely that the costs of having an audit will be sufficiently offset by any
amendments or clarifications that an audit may bring.

12.2 Many shareholders are not accountants and have no understanding of many of the items in full
financial statements. Rather than sending them information they will not understand, shareholders
may be sent simplified information containing those parts of the financial statements that they are
both more likely to understand and more likely to be interested in having. This saves the companies
(and their shareholders) money which, in itself, is a good thing. It also increases the possibility that
shareholders will look at the financial statements in the first place.

Review questions

12.1 The following balances remained in the books of Polk Ltd on 31 March 20X4, after the
profit and loss account and appropriation account had been drawn up. You are to draft the bal-
ance sheet as at 31 March 20X4 in accordance with the Companies Acts.

Dr Cr
f f
Ordinary share capital: £1 shares 250,000
Preference share capital: 50p shares 100,000
Calls account (ordinary shares) 1,000
Development costs 32,000
Goodwill 104,000
Land and buildings — at cost 250,000
Plant and machinery — at cost 75,000
Provision for depreciation: Buildings 20,000
Provision for depreciation: Plant and machinery 30,000
Shares in undertakings in which the company has a participating interest 70,000
Stock: Raw materials 6,000
Stock: Finished goods 36,000
Debtors: Trade 24,000
Amounts owed by undertakings in which the company has a participating
interest 10,000
Prepayments 2,000
Debentures (see Note 1) 50,000
Bank overdraft (repayable on demand) 16,000
Creditors: Trade (payable within 1 year) 17,000
Bills payable (see Note 2) 4,000
Share premium 50,000
Capital redemption reserve 10,000
General reserve 20,000
Profit and loss account 43,000

610,000 610,000
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Notes:

1 Of the debentures, £20,000 is repayable in 5 months’ time, while the other £30,000 is repayable

in 4 years' time.

2 Of the bills payable, £3,000 is in respect of a bill to be paid in 8 months’ time and £1,000 for a

bill payable in 14 months’ time.

3 The depreciation charged for the year was: Building £5,000, Plant and machinery £7,500.

12.2 After the profit and loss appropriation account has been prepared for the year ended
30 April 20X7, the following balances remain in the books of Tickers plc. Prepare up a balance sheet

in accordance with the Companies Acts.

Ordinary share capital

Share premium

Revaluation reserve

General reserve

Foreign exchange reserve

Profit and loss

Patents, trade marks and licences

Goodwill

Land and buildings

Provision for depreciation: Land and buildings
Plant and machinery

Provision for depreciation: Plant and machinery
Stock of raw materials: 30 April 20X7

Work in progress: 30 April 20X7

Finished goods: 30 April 20X7

Debtors: Trade

Debtors: Other

Prepayments and accrued income
Debentures (redeemable in 6 months’ time)
Debentures (redeemable in 4'/2 years' time)
Bank overdraft (repayable in 3 months)
Trade creditors (payable in next 12 months)
Trade creditors (payable after 12 months)
Bills of exchange (payable within 12 months)
Corporation tax (payable in 9 months’ time)
National insurance (payable in next month)
Pensions contribution owing

Deferred taxation

f f

100,000

60,000

23,000

30,000

7,000

35,000
6,000
42,000
280,000

80,000
90,000

47,000
24,000
9,000
21,000
84,000
3,000
2,000

50,000

40,000

3,000

26,000

2,000

5,000

38,000

1,000

8,000

6,000

561,000 561,000
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12.3 The following trial balance has been extracted from the books of Baganza plc as at
30 September 20X7:

£000 £000
Administrative expenses 400
Called up share capital (1,200,000 ordinary shares of £1 each) 1,200
Cash at bank and in hand 60
Corporation tax (overpayment for the year to 30 September 20X6) 20
Deferred taxation (at 1 October 20X6) 460
Distribution costs 600
Dividends received (on 31 March 20X7) 249
Extraordinary item (net of tax) 1,500
Freehold property:
at cost 2,700
accumulated depreciation (at 1 October 20X6) 260
Interim dividend (paid on June 20X7) 36
Investments in United Kingdom companies 2,000
Plant and machinery:
at cost 5,200
accumulated depreciation (at 1 October 20X6) 3,600
Profit and loss account (at 1 October 20X6) 2,022
Purchases 16,000
Research expenditure 75
Stock (at 1 October 20X6) 2,300
Tax on extraordinary item 360
Trade creditors 2,900
Trade debtors 2,700
Turnover 19,500
£32,071 £32,071

Additional information:
1 The stock at 30 September 20X7 was valued at £3,600,000.
2 Depreciation for the year to 30 September 20X7 is to be charged on the historic cost of the fixed
assets as follows:
Freehold property: 5 per cent
Plant and machinery: 15 per cent
3 The basic rate of income tax is assumed to be 27 per cent.
4 The directors propose a final dividend of 60p per share.
5 The company was incorporated in 20X0.
6 Corporation tax based on the profits for the year at a rate of 35 per cent is estimated to be
£850,000.
7 A transfer of £40,000 is to be made to the deferred taxation account.

Required:
In so far as the information permits, prepare Baganza plc’s profit and loss account for the year to
30 September 20X7, and a balance sheet as at that date in accordance with the Companies Act
1985 and appropriate accounting standards.

However, formal notes to the accounts are not required, although detailed workings should be
submitted with your answer, which should include your calculation of earnings per share.

(Association of Accounting Technicians)
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12.4A The trial balance of Jeremina plc as at 31 March 20X2 is as follows:

Dr Cr

£ £
Preference share capital: 50p shares 200,000
Ordinary share capital: £1 shares 300,000
General reserve 25,000
Exchange reserve 15,000
Profit and loss as on 31 March 20X1 21,000
Stock 31 March 20X1 184,000
Sales 1,320,000
Returns inwards 34,000
Purchases 620,000
Carriage inwards 6,000
Wages (putting goods into a saleable condition) 104,000
Wages: Warehouse staff 40,000
Wages and salaries: Sales staff 67,000
Wages and salaries: Administrative staff 59,000
Motor expenses (see note (ii)) 29,000
General distribution expenses 17,000
General administrative expenses 12,000
Debenture interest 2,000
Royalties receivable 5,000
Directors’ remuneration 84,000
Bad debts 10,000
Discounts allowed 14,000
Discounts received 11,000
Plant and machinery at cost (see note (iii)) 240,000
Provision for depreciation: Plant and machinery (see note (iv)) 72,000
Motor vehicles at cost (see note (ii)) 120,000
Provision for depreciation: Motors (see note (iv)) 48,000
Goodwill 200,000
Development costs 24,000
Trade debtors 188,000
Trade creditors 45,000
Bank overdraft (repayable on demand) 7,000
Bills of exchange payable (all due within 1 year) 7,000
Debentures (redeemable in 3 years’ time) 30,000
Preference dividend 12,000
Ordinary dividend 40,000

2,106,000 2,106,000

Notes:

(i) Stock of finished goods on 31 March 20X2 £163,000.

(if) Motor expenses and depreciation on motors to be apportioned: Distribution /s, Adminis-
trative 's.

(iii) Plant and machinery depreciation to be apportioned: Cost of sales /1, Distribution /5, Adminis-
trative 'ho.

(iv) Depreciate the following fixed assets on cost: Motor vehicles 20 per cent, Plant and machinery
15 per cent.

(v) Accrue corporation tax on profits of the year £38,000. This is payable on 31 December 20X2.

You are to draw up:

(a) a detailed trading and profit and loss account for the year ended 31 March 20X2 for internal
use, and

(b) a profit and loss account for publication, also a balance sheet as at 31 March 20X2.
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12.5A You are presented with the following information relating to Plott plc for the year to
31 March 20X1:

£000

Bank overdraft 500
Called-up share capital (issued and fully paid) 2,100
Corporation tax (based on the profit for the year to 31 March 20X1) 900
Creditors 300
Debtors 200
Deferred taxation (credit) 80
Fixed assets: at cost 3,800
accumulated depreciation (at 31 March 20X1) 1,400

Fixed asset investments: at cost 100
Profit and loss account (at 1 April 20XO0: credit) 1,200
Proposed dividend 420
Retained profit (for the year to 31 March 20X1) 585
Share premium account 315
Stocks: at cost (at 31 March 20X1) 400
Trade creditors 2,000
Trade debtors 5,300

Additional information:

1 The above information has been obtained after the compilation of the company'’s profit and loss
account for the year to 31 March 20X1.

2 Details of fixed assets for the year to 31 March 20X1 are as follows:

£000
(a) At cost
At 1 April 20X0 3,400
Additions 600
Disposals 200
(b) Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 20X0 1,200
Additions 500
Disposals 300

3 The market value of the fixed asset investments at 31 March 20X1 was £110,000. There were no
purchases or sales of fixed asset investments during the year.

4 Stocks comprise finished goods. The replacement cost of these goods is similar to the value
indicated in the balance sheet.

5 Assume that the basic rate of income tax is 25 per cent.

6 The authorised share capital of the company consists of 2,500,000 ordinary shares of £1 each.

Required:
In so far as the information permits, prepare Plott plc's balance sheet as at 31 March 20X1 in accord-
ance with the minimum requirements of the Companies Act 1985 and related accounting standards.

Notes:
1 Where appropriate, formal notes must be attached to your balance sheet; and
2 Detailed working should be submitted with your answer.

(Association of Accounting Technicians)
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12.6A The following information has been extracted from the books of Quire plc as at 30 Sep-
tember 20X1.

£000 £000
Bank overdraft 2,400
Called-up share capital (ordinary shares of £1 each) 4,000
Deferred taxation 200
Delivery expenses 2,800
Fixed assets: at cost 3,500
accumulated depreciation (at 1 October 20X0) 1,100
Debentures held 100
Debenture interest (net) 40
Interest payable 400
Interim dividend paid 60
Office expenses 3,000
Other creditors 180
Other debtors 160
Profit and loss account (at 1 October 20X0) 820
Purchases 12,000
Sales 19,000
Stocks (at 1 October 20X0) 500
Trade creditors 100
Trade debtors 5,320

£27,840 £27,840

The following additional information is to be taken into account:

1 Stocks at 30 September 20X1 were valued at £400,000.

2 All items in the above trial balance are shown net of value added tax.

3 At 30 September 20X1, £130,000 was outstanding for office expenses, and £50,000 had been
paid in advance for delivery van licences.

4 Depreciation at a rate of 50 per cent is to be charged on the historic cost of the tangible fixed
assets using the reducing balance method: it is to be apportioned as follows:

%

Cost of sales 60
Distribution 30
Administration 10

100

There were no purchases or sales of fixed assets during the year to 30 September 20X1.
5 The following rates of taxation are to be assumed:

%

Corporation tax 35
Income tax 25
Value added tax 17.5

The corporation tax payable based on the profits for the year to 30 September 20X1 has been
estimated at £80,000.

6 A transfer of £60,000 is to be made from the deferred taxation account.

7 The directors propose to pay a final ordinary dividend of 3p per share.

Required:

In so far as the information permits, prepare Quire plc’s profit and loss account for the year to
30 September 20X1, and a balance sheet as at that date in accordance with the MINIMUM require-
ments of the Companies Act 1985 and related accounting standards.

Note: Formal notes to the accounts are NOT required, but detailed workings should be submitted
with your answer.

(Association of Accounting Technicians)
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12.7A The following trial balance has been extracted from the books of Patt plc as at 31 March
20X0:

Dr Cr

£000 £000

Bank overdraft 25

Called-up share capital (ordinary shares of £1 each) 1,440

Creditors 55
Debtors 50
Fixed assets: at cost 300

accumulated depreciation (at 1 April 20X9) 120
Marketing expenses 100
Office expenses 200

Profit and loss account (at 1 April 20X9) 200
Production expenses 2,230
Purchases (net of VAT) 3,700

Sales (amounts invoiced, net of VAT) 7,000
Stocks (at 1 April 20X9) 130

Trade creditors 160
Trade debtors 2,290

£9,000 £9,000

Additional information:
1 Following the preparation of the above trial balance, the following additional matters need to
be taken into account:
(a) stock at 31 March 20X0 was valued at £170,000;
(b) at 31 March 20X0, £20,000 was owing for office expenses, and £15,000 had been paid in
advance for marketing expenses;
(c) a customer had gone into liquidation owing the company £290,000; the company does not
expect to recover any of this debt;
(d) the company decides to set up a provision for doubtful debts amounting to 5 per cent of the
outstanding trade debtors as at the end of each financial year; and
(e) depreciation is to be charged on the fixed assets at a rate of 20 per cent on cost; it is to be
apportioned as follows:

%

Marketing 20
Office 10
Production _70

100

Note: There were no acquisitions or disposals of fixed assets during the year to 31 March 20X0.

2 Corporation tax (based on the accounting profit for the year at a rate of 35 per cent) is estimated
to be £160,000. The basic rate of income tax is assumed to be 25 per cent.
3 The directors are to recommend the payment of a dividend of 10p per ordinary share.

Required:

In so far as the information permits, prepare Patt plc’s profit and loss account for the year to
31 March 20X0, and a balance sheet as at that date in accordance with the Companies Act 1985
and related accounting standards.

Notes:

(i) Where appropriate, formal notes should be attached to your profit and loss account and
balance sheet. However, a statement of accounting policies is NOT required.

(ii) Detailed workings should also be submitted with your solution. They should be clearly
designated as such, and they must not form part of your formal notes.

(Association of Accounting Technicians)

217



Published financial statements
of limited companies:
accompanying notes

Learning objectives

After you have studied this chapter, you should be able to:

® describe the additional notes to published financial statements that are required
by the Companies Acts

® describe the requirement to include a directors’ report with the published
financial statements

Introduction

In this chapter, you'll learn about the notes that must be included when company
financial statements are published and about the report that must be prepared by
the directors to accompany the financial statements.

@ Notes to accompany the balance sheet

Companies may include as many notes as they wish when they publish their financial statements.
However, there are some notes that the Companies Acts require them to include:

1 Particulars of turnover

.............................................

An analysis of turnover is required into:

(a) each class of business and by
(b) geographical markets. In addition, the amount of profit or loss before taxation, in the opinion
of the directors, attributable to each class of business must be shown.

Such disclosure does not have to be made if it would be prejudicial to the business of the com-
pany. The fact of non-disclosure would have to be stated. An example of such a note might be as
in Exhibit 13.1:
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Exhibit 13.1
Analysis of Turnover

Turnover Net Profit

f f
Motor vehicles 26,550,000 2,310,000
Aircraft 58,915,000 4,116,000
85,465,000 6,426,000

The geographical division of turnover is: £
UK 31,150,000
The Americas 43,025,000
Rest of the World 10,290,000
84,465,000

It should be noted that these requirements were extended by SSAP 25: Segmental reporting,
but only for:

(a) plcs or parent undertakings that have one or more plcs as a subsidiary;

(b) banking and insurance companies or groups;

(c) private companies and other entities that exceed the criteria, multiplied in each case by ten,
for defining a medium-sized company under Section 247 of the Companies Act 1985.

See Section 11.2 for a table of these criteria.

The Acts require that for each segment, turnover (analysed between sales to external customers
and sales between segments), results and net assets should be disclosed. Geographical segmental
analysis should, in the first instance, be on the basis of source (i.e. the geographical location of
the supplying segment). In addition, turnover to third parties should be segmentally reported
on the basis of destination (i.e. the geographical location of the receiving segment).

Where associated undertakings account for at least 20 per cent of the total results or net
assets of the reporting entity, additional disclosure should be made in aggregate for all asso-
ciated undertakings. This comprises segmental disclosure of the reporting entity’s share of the
aggregate profits or losses before tax, minority interests and extraordinary items of the asso-
ciated undertakings, and the reporting entity’s share of the net assets of the associated under-
takings (including goodwill to the extent that it has not been written off) after attributing, where
possible, fair values to the net assets at the date of acquisition of the interest in each associated
undertaking.

2 Particulars of staff

1 Average number employed by the company (or by group in consolidated accounts), divided
between categories of workers, e.g. between manufacturing and administration.

2 (a) Wages and salaries paid to staff.
(b) Social security costs of staff.
(c) Other pension costs for employees.

3 Number of employees (excluding those working wholly or mainly overseas) earning over
£30,000 must be analysed in blocks of £5,000. Pension contributions, however, are not to be
included.

Exhibit 13.2 is an example of a note concerning employees earning over £30,000.
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Exhibit 13.2

The number of employees earning over £30,000 was 28, analysed as follows:

Gross salaries Number of employees

£30,001-35,000 16
£35,001-40,000
£40,001-45,000

18] o

Note how these requirements have become less material during the 20 years or so since they were
included in the Companies Act. The equivalent threshold nowadays would be at least double the
£30,000 cited in the Act.

3 Directors’ emoluments

1 Aggregate amounts of:

(a) emoluments, including pension contributions and benefits in kind. Distinction to be made
between those emoluments as fees and those for executive duties;

(b) pensions for past directors;
(c) compensation for loss of office.

2 The chairman’s emoluments and those of the highest-paid director, if paid more than the
chairman. In both cases, pension contributions are to be excluded.

3 Number of directors whose emoluments, excluding pension contributions, fall within each
bracket of £5,000.

4 Total amounts waived by directors and the number concerned.

The disclosures under 2 and 3 above are not needed for a company being neither a parent nor
subsidiary undertaking where its directors’ emoluments under 1 do not exceed £60,000. The dis-
closures under 2 and 3 are also not necessary for directors working wholly or mainly overseas.

An illustration is now given in Exhibit 13.3.

Exhibit 13.3
Name Fee Remuneration Pension
(as directors) (as executives) contributions

A (Chairman) £5,000 £85,000 £20,000
B £2,500 £95,000 £30,000
C £2,500 £55,000 £15,000
D £1,500 £54,000 £12,500
E £1,500 £30,000 £10,000

Note to accounts:
Directors’ remuneration: the amounts paid to directors were as follows:

Fees as directors £13,000
Other emoluments, including pension contributions £406,500

Emoluments of the Chairman — excluding pension contributions — amounted to £90,000, and those
of the highest-paid director to £97,500. Other directors’ emoluments were in the following ranges:

£30,001 - £35,000 1
£55,001 - £60,000 2
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4 Various charges to be shown as notes

1 Auditors’ remuneration, including expenses.
2 Hire of plant and machinery.
3 Interest payable on:
(a) bank loans, overdrafts and other loans repayable by instalments or otherwise within five
years;
(b) loans of any other kind.
4 Depreciation:
(a) amounts of provisions for both tangible and intangible assets;
(b) effect on depreciation of change of depreciation method;
(c) effect on depreciation of revaluation of assets.

5 Income from listed investments

.............................................................

....................................................................................................

1 Tax charges split between:

(a) UK corporation tax, and basis of computation;

(b) UK income tax, and basis of computation;

(c) irrecoverable VAT;

(d) tax attributable to franked investment income.

If relevant, split between tax on ordinary and tax on extraordinary activities.
Show, as component part, charge for deferred tax.

4 Any other special circumstances affecting tax liability.

W N

8 Extraordinary and exceptional items and prior period adjustments

........................................................................................................................

See FRS 3: Reporting financial performance, which is dealt with in Chapter 11.

9 Redemption of shares and loans

..............................................................

Show amounts set aside for these purposes.

10 Earnings per share (listed companies only]

.................................................................................

See FRS 14: Earnings per share, which is dealt with in Section 10.29.

11 Statement showing movements on reserves

....................................................................................

Why do you think these notes are required rather than leaving it up to
companies to provide the information they believe to be worthwhile including?
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When they request a full set of financial statements, in addition to the financial statements,
the shareholders must also receive a directors’ report. The contents of the report are given in the
Companies Acts, but no formal layout is given. Such a report is additional to the notes, which
have to be attached to the financial statements; the directors’ report does not replace such notes.

1 A fair review of the development of the business of the company (and its subsidiaries) during
the financial year and of the position at the end of the year. The dividends proposed and
transfers to reserves should be given.
Principal activities of the company and any changes therein.
3 Post-balance sheet events, i.e. details of important events affecting the company (and its sub-
sidiaries) since the end of the year.
Likely future developments in the business.
5 An indication of research and development carried on.
6 Significant changes in fixed assets. In the case of land, the difference between book and mar-
ket values, if significant.
7 Political and charitable contributions; if, taken together, these exceed £200 there must be
shown:
(a) separate totals for each classification;
(b) where political contributions exceeding £200 have been made, the names of recipients
and amounts.
Details of any of the company’s own shares which it has purchased.
9 Employees:
(a) statement concerning health, safety and welfare at work of company’s employees;
(b) for companies with average workforce exceeding 250, details of employment of disabled
people.
10 Directors:
(a) names of all persons who had been directors during any part of the financial year;
(b) their interests in contracts;
(c) for each director, the name; also:
(i) the number of shares held at the start of the year;
(i1) the number of shares held at the end of the year;
(iii) for each director elected in the year there shall also be shown shares held when
elected;
(iv) all the above to show nil amounts where appropriate.

(9]

A

e}

Note: Under the Companies Acts, the directors’ report is considered during the external audit. If
the external auditors’ judgement is that the directors’ report is inconsistent with the audited
financial statements, this must be stated in the auditors’ report.

Why do you think the directors’ report is audited?

Let’s look at how all these requirements are enacted by working through two examples.
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@ Illustrative company financial statements: worked example 1

F Clarke Ltd are specialist wholesalers. This is their trial balance at 31 December 20X4.

Dr Cr

£ £
Ordinary share capital: £1 shares 1,000,000
Share premium 120,000
General reserve 48,000
Profit and loss account as at 31.12.20X3 139,750
Stock: 31.12.20X3 336,720
Sales 5,090,370
Purchases 2,475,910
Returns outwards 121,220
Returns inwards 136,200
Carriage inwards 6,340
Carriage outwards 43,790
Warehouse wages (average number of workers 59) 410,240
Salespeople’s salaries (average number of workers 21) 305,110
Administrative wages and salaries 277,190
Plant and machinery 610,000
Motor vehicle hire 84,770
Provisions for depreciation: plant and machinery 216,290
General distribution expenses 27,130
General administrative expenses 47,990
Directors’ remuneration 195,140
Ordinary dividend 375,000
Rents receivable 37,150
Trade debtors 1,623,570
Cash at bank and in hand 179,250
Trade creditors (payable before 31.3.20X5) 304,570
Bills of exchange payable (payable 28.2.20X5) 57,000

7,134,350 7,134,350

Notes:

(a) Stock at 31.12.20X4: £412,780, consists of goods for resale.

(b) Plant and machinery is apportioned: distributive 60 per cent; administrative 40 per cent.

(c) Accrue auditors’ remuneration: £71,000.

(d) Depreciate plant and machinery: 20 per cent on cost.

(e) Of the motor hire, £55,000 is for distributive purposes.

(f) Corporation tax on profits, at a rate of 35 per cent, is estimated at £238,500, and is payable on
1.10.20X5.

(g) All of the sales are of one type of goods. Net sales of £3,620,000 have been made in the UK
with the remainder in Europe, and are shown net of VAT.

(h) Pension contributions for staff amounted to £42,550 and social security contributions to
£80,120. These figures are included in wages and salaries in the trial balance. No employee
earned over £30,000.

(i) Plant of £75,000 had been bought during the year.

(j) Directors’ remuneration has been as follows:

f
Chairman 46,640
Managing Director 51,500
Finance Director 46,000
Marketing Director 43,000
187,140
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In addition each of them drew £2,000 as directors’ fees. Pensions are the personal responsibility of

directors.

Required:

Subject to the limits of the information given you, draw up a profit and loss account for the year
ended 31 December 20X4, and a balance sheet as at that date. They should be in published form
and accompanied by the necessary notes prescribed by statute.

Workings
£ f £
Turnover: Sales 5,090,370  Cost of sales:
Less Returns in (_136,200) Opening stock 336,720
4,954,170  Add Purchases 2,475,910
" LessReturns out (_121,220)
2,354,690
Add Carriage in 6,340 2,361,030
2,697,750
Less Closing stock (_412,780)
2,284,970
Distribution costs: Administrative expenses:
Warehouse wages 410,240 Wages and salaries 277,190
Salespeople’s salaries 305,110 Motor hire 29,770
Carriage out 43,790 General expenses 47,990
General expenses 27,130 Directors’ remuneration 150,140
Motor hire 55,000 Auditors’ remuneration 71,000
Depreciation: plant 73,200 Depreciation: plant 48,800
624,890
Marketing Director’s remuneration 45,000
959,470
F Clarke Ltd
Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31 December 20X4
£ £
Turnover 4,954,170
Cost of sales (2,284,970)
Gross profit 2,669,200
Distribution costs 959,470
Administrative expenses 624,890
(1,584,360)
1,084,840
Other operating income 37,150
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 1,121,990
Tax on profit on ordinary activities (238,500)
Profit on ordinary activities after taxation 883,490
Ordinary dividend (375,000)
Retained profits for the year 508,490
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F Clarke Ltd
Balance Sheet as at 31 December 20X4

Fixed assets

Tangible assets: Plant and machinery
Current assets

Stock: Finished goods and goods for resale
Debtors: Trade debtors

Cash at bank and in hand

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Trade creditors

Bills of exchange payable

Other creditors including taxation and social security

Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities

Capital and reserves
Called-up share capital
Share premium account
Other reserves:
General reserve
Profit and loss

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

1 Turnover

£

304,570
57,000
309,500

412,780
1,623,570
179,250
2,215,600

(671,070)

£
271,710

(1,544,530)
1,816,240

£
1,000,000
120,000

48,000
648,240
1,816,240

This is the value, net of VAT, of goods of a single class of business. Turnover may be analysed as

follows:

UK
Europe

2 Employees
Average number of workers was:

Warehousing
Sales

Remuneration of employees was:

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Pension contributions

£
3,977,547
976,623
4,954,170

59
21

80

f
869,870
80,120
42,550
992,540
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3 Directors’ remuneration
The amounts paid to directors were as follows:

£
Fees as directors 8,000
Other emoluments 187,140

Emoluments of the Chairman amounted to £46,640, and those of the highest-paid director
£51,500. Other directors’ emoluments were in the following ranges:

£40,001-45,000 1
£45,001-50,000 1

4 Operating profit is shown after charging

£
Auditors’ remuneration 71,000
Hire of motors 84,770
5 Fixed assets
Plant and machinery £ £
Cost at 1.1.20X4 535,000
Additions 75,000
610,000
Depreciation to 31.12.20X3 216,290
Charge for the year 122,000
(338,290)
271,710
6 Other creditors including taxation
£ £
Auditors’ remuneration 71,000
Corporation tax 238,500
309,500
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@ Illustrative company financial statements: worked example 2

The trial balance of Quartz plc on 31 December 20X3 was as follows:

Dr Cr
£000 £000
Preference share capital: £1 shares 200
Ordinary share capital: £1 shares 1,000
Exchange reserve 75
General reserve 150
Profit and loss account 31.12.20X2 215
Sales 5,095
Purchases 2,196
Carriage inwards 38
Stock 31.12.20X2 902
Wages (adding value to goods) 35
Wages: warehousing 380
Wages and salaries: administrative 120
Wages and salaries: sales 197
Motor expenses 164
Bad debts 31
Debenture interest 40
Preference dividend 20
Ordinary dividend 500
Bank overdraft interest 19
General distribution expenses 81
General administrative expenses 73
Directors’ remuneration 210
Investments in undertakings in which the company has
a participating interest 340
Income from shares in undertakings in which the company has
a participating interest 36
Discounts allowed and received 55 39
Buildings: at cost 1,200
Plant and machinery: at cost 330
Motor vehicles: at cost 480
Provisions for depreciation:
Land and buildings 375
Plant and machinery 195
Motors 160
Goodwill 40
Patents, licences and trade marks 38
Trade debtors and creditors 864 392
Bank overdraft (repayable any time) 21
Debentures 10 per cent 400
8,353 8,353
Notes:

(a) Stock at 31.12.20X3: £1,103,000 at cost.

(b) Motor expenses and depreciation on motors to be apportioned: distribution 75 per cent;
administrative 25 per cent.

(c) Depreciation on buildings and plant and machinery to be apportioned: distribution 50 per
cent; administrative 50 per cent.

(d) Depreciate on cost: motor vehicles 25 per cent; plant and machinery 20 per cent.

(e) Accrued corporation tax on profits of the year £266,000. This is payable 1 October 20X4.

(f) During the year new vehicles were purchased at a cost of £60,000.
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(g) During June 20X3 one of the buildings, which had originally cost £130,000, and which had a
written-down value at the date of the sale of £80,000, was sold for £180,000. Depreciation on
buildings to be charged against the year’s profits £60,000. The buildings are revalued by B &
Co., Chartered Surveyors, at £1,500,000 at 31.12.20X3 (and this figure is to be included in the
financial statements).

(h) Directors’ remuneration was as follows:

£
Marketing 42,000
Chairman 37,000
Managing 61,000
Finance 50,000
190,000

In addition each director drew £5,000 fees.

(i) Of the goodwill, 50 per cent is to be written off during this year, and 50 per cent in the follow-
ing year.

(j) The debentures are to be redeemed in five equal annual instalments, starting in the following
year 20X4.

(k) The investments are in listed companies with a market value at 31 December 20X3 of £438,000.

(I) Accrue auditors’ remuneration, including expenses, £7,000.

You are required to prepare a balance sheet as at 31 December 20X3. It should:

(a) conform to the requirements of the Companies Act 1985;
(b) conform to the relevant accounting standards;
(c) give the notes necessary to the accounts.

Workings
Dist. Admin.
£000 £000 £000
Cost of sales: Wages 577 120
Opening stock 902 Motor expenses 123 41
Add Purchases 2,196 General 81 73
Add Carriage in 38 Depreciation: plant 33 33
3,136 motors 920 30
Less Closing stock (1,103) buildings 30 30
2,033 Directors 47 163
Wages (added value) 35 Auditors’ remuneration 7
2,068 Discounts (net) 55-39 16
o Bad debts o 31
981 544
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Quartz plc
Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31 December 20X4
£000 £000
Turnover 5,095
Cost of sales (2,068)
Gross profit 3,027
Distribution costs 981
Administrative expenses 544
(1,525)
1,502
Income from shares in undertakings in which the company has
a participating interest 36
1,538
Interest payable and similar charges (59
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 1,479
Tax on profit on ordinary activities (_266)
Profit for the year on ordinary activities after taxation 1,213
Goodwill written off 20
Dividends paid 520
(540)
Retained profits for the year 673
Quartz plc
Balance Sheet as at 31 December 20X3
Fixed assets £000 £000 £000
Intangible assets
Patents, licences and trade marks 38
Goodwill 20
58
Tangible assets
Buildings 1,500
Plant and machinery 69
Vehicles 200
1,769
Investments
Shares in undertakings in which the company has
a participating interest 340
2,167
Current assets
Stock 1,103
Trade debtors 864
1,967
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Debenture loans 80
Bank overdraft 21
Trade creditors 392
Other creditors 273
(766)
Net current assets 1,201
3,368
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
Debenture loans (_320)
3,048
Capital and reserves
Called-up share capital 1,200
Revaluation reserve 735
Profit and loss account 888
Other reserves 225
3,048
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

1 Share capital called up

£
200,000 10 per cent preference shares of £1 each 200,000
1,000,000 ordinary shares of £1 each 1,000,000
1,200,000

2 Accounting policies
Goodwill has been written off £20,000 against this year. The directors intend to write off the
remaining £20,000 against next year’s profits.

3 Tangible assets

Buildings Plant Vehicles

£000 £000 £000

Cost at 1.1.20X4 1,330 330 480
Disposals (at cost) ( 130) - -
Adjustment for revaluation 735 o -
1,935 330 480

Depreciation at 1.1.20X4 425 195 160
Provided in year 60 66 120
Disposals ( 50) o -
435 261 280

Net book values 1,500 69 200

4 Investments
The market value of investments at 31 December 20X3 was £438,000.

5 Ten per cent debenture loans
These are redeemable in five equal annual instalments, starting next year. Interest of £40,000 is
charged in this year’s accounts.

6 Other creditors including taxation

£
Auditors’ remuneration 7,000
Corporation tax based on year’s profits 266,000
273,000
7 Other reserves
£
Exchange reserve 75,000
General reserve 150,000
225,000
8 Directors’ remuneration
The amounts paid to directors were as follows:
£ £
Fees as directors 20,000
Other emoluments 190,000 210,000

Emoluments of the chairman amounted to £42,000 and those of the highest-paid director £66,000.
Other directors’ emoluments were in the following ranges:

£45,001-£50,000 1
£50,001-£55,000 1

9 Operating profit is shown after charging

f
Auditors’ remuneration 7,000
Bank overdraft interest 19,000
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Learning outcomes

You should now have learnt:

1

The Companies Acts require that additional notes be prepared and included with
the published financial statements.

In some cases, the contents of these notes have been extended through the
issuing of an accounting standard. For example, SSAP 25: Segmental reporting
extended the disclosure required of many entities concerning segmental
performance.

Along with the notes to the financial statements, a directors’ report must be
presented which summarises the activities and performance of the entity, along
with specific details on a number of matters, including directors” shareholdings
and information concerning significant changes in fixed assets.

The notes to the financial statements and the directors’ report are both audited
and the views of the auditors on their content are included in the auditors’ report
which is attached to companies’ published annual reports.

Answers to activities

13.1

13.2

These items are all of a type considered to be important and likely to influence the economic
decisions of the users of financial statements. They are subject to review by the auditors of the
company in the same way as the financial statements.

The directors’ report contains a review of the company’s performance, activities and future inten-
tions. It also contains many other qualitative and quantitative items of information considered
likely to influence the economic decisions of the users of financial statements. The audit report
indicates whether, in the opinion of the auditors, the directors’ report presents a true and fair view
of the items contained within it. If the directors’ report was not audited, unscrupulous directors
could paint pictures concerning the company that gave an overly favourable impression of its per-
formance, so biasing the judgement of those taking economic decisions based on its content.
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Review questions
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13.1 The following trial balance of X Limited, a non-listed company, has been extracted from
the books after the preparation of the profit and loss and appropriation accounts for the year
ended 31 March 20X7.

£000 £000

Ordinary share capital — authorised, allotted and

called-up fully paid shares of £1 each 1,000
12% debentures (repayable in 9 years) 500
Deferred taxation 128
Provisions for depreciation:

Plant and machinery at 31 March 20X7 650

Freehold properties at 31 March 20X7 52

Vehicles at 31 March 20X7 135
Investments (listed), at cost 200
Trade debtors and prepayments 825
Corporation tax 270
Proposed final dividend 280
Tangible fixed assets:

Freehold properties at 31 March 20X7 1,092

Plant and machinery at 31 March 20X7 1,500

Vehicles at 31 March 20X7 420
Profit and loss account — balance at 31 March 20X7 356
Share premium account 150
Trade creditors and accruals 878
Research and development costs 35
Stocks:

Raw materials 200

Work in progress 50

Finished goods 250
Bank balance 439
Revaluation reserve on freehold properties 612

5,011 5,011

You are also provided with the following information:

1 Investments
The listed investments consist of shares in W plc quoted on the Stock Exchange at £180,000 on
31 March 20X7. This is not considered to be a permanent fall in the value of this asset.

2 Trade debtors and prepayments
The company received notice, during April 20X7, that one of its major customers, Z Limited, had
gone into liquidation. The amount included in trade debtors and prepayments is £225,000 and it
is estimated that a dividend of 24p in the £ will be paid to unsecured creditors.

3 Taxation
(a) Corporation tax
The figure in the trial balance is made up as follows:

£000

Based on profits for the year 174
Tax on exceptional item (see Note 4) 96
270

(b) Deferred taxation
A transfer of £50,000 was made from the profit and loss account during the year ended 31
March 20X7.
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4 Tangible fixed assets

(a) In arriving at the profit for the year, depreciation of £242,000 was charged, made up of
freehold properties £12,000, plant and machinery £150,000 and vehicles £80,000.

(b) During the year to 31 March 20X7, new vehicles were purchased at a cost of £200,000.

(c) During March 20X7, the directors sold one of the freehold properties which had originally
cost £320,000 and which had a written-down value at the date of the sale of £280,000. A
profit of £320,000 on the sale, which was regarded as exceptional, has already been dealt
with in arriving at the profit for the year. The estimated corporation tax liability in respect of
the capital gain will be £96,000, as shown in Note 3. After this sale, the directors decided to
have the remaining freehold properties revalued, for the first time, by Messrs V & Co,
Chartered Surveyors and to include the revalued figure of £1,040,000 in the 20X7 accounts.

5 Research and development costs
The company carries out research and development and accounts for it in accordance with the
relevant accounting standard. The amount shown in the trial balance relates to development
expenditure on a new product scheduled to be launched in April 20X7. Management is
confident that this new product will earn substantial profits for the company in the coming
years.

6 Stocks
The replacement cost of the finished goods, if valued at 31 March 20X7, would amount to
£342,000.

You are required to prepare a balance sheet at 31 March 20X7 to conform to the requirements of
the Companies Acts and relevant accounting standards in so far as the information given allows.
The vertical format must be used.

The notes necessary to accompany this statement should also be prepared.

Workings should be shown, but comparative figures are not required.

(Chartered Institute of Management Accountants)

13.2 The following information has been extracted from the books of account of Billinge plc as
at 30 June 20X6:

Dr Cr
£000 £000
Administration expenses 242
Cash at bank and in hand 157
Cash received on sale of fittings 3
Corporation tax (over-provision for the previous year) 10
Deferred taxation 60
Depreciation on fixtures, fittings, tools and equipment (1 July 20X5) 132
Distribution costs 55
Factory closure costs 30
Fixtures, fittings, tools and equipment at cost 340
Profit and loss account (at 1 July 20X5) 40
Purchase of equipment 60
Purchases of goods for resale 855
Sales (net of VAT) 1,500
Share capital (500,000 authorised, issued and
fully paid ordinary shares of £1 each) 500
Stock (at 1 July 20X5) 70
Trade creditors 64
Trade debtors 500

£2,309 £2,309
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Additional information:

1 The company was incorporated in 20X0.

2 The stock at 30 June 20X6 (valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value) was estimated to
be worth £100,000.

3 Fixtures, fittings, tools and equipment all related to administrative expenses. Depreciation is
charged on them at a rate of 20 per cent per annum on cost. A full year’s depreciation is charged
in the year of acquisition, but no depreciation is charged in the year of disposal.

4 During the year to 30 June 20X6, the company purchased £60,000 of equipment. It also sold
some fittings (which had originally cost £20,000) for £3,000 and for which depreciation of
£15,000 had been set aside.

5 The corporation tax based on the profits for the year at a rate of 35 per cent is estimated to be
£100,000. A transfer of £40,000 is to be made to the deferred taxation account.

6 The company proposes to pay a dividend of 20p per ordinary share.

7 The standard rate of income tax is 30 per cent.

Required:

In so far as the information permits, prepare Billinge plc’s profit and loss account for the year to
30 June 20X6, and a balance sheet as at that date in accordance with the Companies Acts and
appropriate accounting standards.

(Association of Accounting Technicians)

13.3A Cosnett Ltd is a company principally involved in the manufacture of aluminium acces-
sories for camping enthusiasts. Its trial balance at 30 September 20X5 was:

£ £

Issued ordinary share capital (£1 shares) 600,000
Retained profit at 1 October 20X4 625,700
Debentures redeemable 20X9 150,000
Bank loan 25,000
Plant and machinery at cost 1,475,800
Accumulated depreciation to 30 September 20X5 291,500
Investments in UK companies at cost 20,000
Turnover 3,058,000
Dividends from investments 2,800
Loss arising on factory closure 86,100
Cost of sales 2,083,500
Political and charitable contributions 750
Distribution costs 82,190
Salaries of office staff 42,100
Directors’ emoluments 63,000
Rent and rates of offices 82,180
Hire of plant and machinery 6,700
Travel and entertainment expenses 4,350
General expenses 221,400
Trade debtors 396,100
Trade creditors and accruals 245,820
Stocks 421,440
Bank 17,950
Interim dividend paid 21,000
Interest charged 19,360
Provision for deferred taxation 45,100

5,043,920 5,043,920
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You are provided with the following additional information:

(@) The company’s shares are owned, equally, by three brothers: John, Peter and Henry Phillips;
they are also the directors.

(b) The bank loan is repayable by five annual instalments of £5,000 commencing 31 December
20X5.

(c) The investments were acquired with cash, surplus to existing operating requirements, which
will be needed to pay for additional plant the directors plan to acquire early in 20X6.

(d) On 1 January 20X5 the company closed a factory which had previously contributed approxim-
ately 20 per cent of the company’s total production requirements.

(e) Trade debtors include £80,000 due from a customer who went into liquidation on 1 September
20X5; the directors estimate that a dividend of 20p in the £ will eventually be received.

(f) Trade creditors and accruals include:
(i) £50,000 due to a supplier of plant, of which £20,000 is payable on 1 January 20X6 and the

remainder at the end of the year;

(ii) accruals totalling £3,260.

(g) The mainstream corporation tax liability for the year is estimated at £120,000.

(h) The directors propose to pay a final dividend of 10.5p per share and to transfer £26,500 to the
deferred tax account.

Required:

The profit and loss account of Cosnett Ltd for the year to 30 September 20X5 and balance sheet at
that date together with relevant notes attached thereto. The accounts should comply with the
minimum requirements of the Companies Acts and accounting standards so far as the information
permits.

(Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators)

13.4A The following trial balance has been extracted from the books of Arran plc as at 31 March
20X7:

£000 £000
Administrative expenses 95
Called-up share capital (all ordinary shares of £1 each) 200
Cash at bank and in hand 25
Debtors 230
Deferred taxation (at 1 April 20X6) 60
Distribution costs 500
Fixed asset investments 280
Income from fixed asset investments 12
Interim dividend paid 21
Overprovision of last year’s corporation tax 5
Land and buildings at cost 200
Land and buildings: accumulated depreciation at 1 April 20X6 30
Plant and machinery at cost 400
Plant and machinery: accumulated depreciation at 1 April 20X6 170
Profit and loss account (at 1 April 20X6) 229
Profit on exceptional item 50
Purchases 1,210
Sales 2,215
Stocks at 1 April 20X6 140
Trade creditors 130
£3,101 £3,101
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Additional information:

1 Stocks at 31 March 20X7 were valued at £150,000.

2 Depreciation for the year to 31 March 20X7 is to be charged against administrative expenses as
follows:

£000
Land and buildings 5
Plant and machinery 40

3 Assume that the basic rate of income tax is 30 per cent.

4 Corporation tax of £180,000 is to be charged against profits on ordinary activities for the year to
31 March 20X7.

5 £4,000 is to be transferred to the deferred taxation account.

6 The company proposes to pay a final ordinary dividend of 30p per share.

Required:

In so far as the information permits, prepare the company’s profit and loss account for the year to
31 March 20X7 and a balance sheet as at that date in accordance with the Companies Acts and
related accounting standards. (Note: Profit and loss account and balance sheet notes are not
required, but you should show the basis and computation of earnings per share at the foot of the
profit and loss account, and your workings should be submitted.)

(Association of Accounting Technicians)

13.5A The following trial balance has been extracted from the books of account of Greet plc as
at 31 March 20X8

Dr Cr
£000 £000
Administrative expenses 210
Called-up share capital (ordinary shares of £1 fully paid) 600
Debtors 470
Cash at bank and in hand 40
Corporation tax (overprovision in 20X7) 25
Deferred taxation (at 1 April 20X7) 180
Distribution costs 420
Exceptional item 60
Fixed asset investments 560
Investment income 72
Plant and machinery: at cost 750
accumulated depreciation (at 31 March 20X8) 220
Profit and loss (at 1 April 20X7) 182
Purchases 960
Stock (at 1 April 20X7) 140
Trade creditors 261
Turnover 1,950

£3,550 £3,550

Additional information:
1 Stock at 31 March 20X8 was valued at £150,000.
2 The following items are already included in the balances listed in the above trial balance:

Distribution Administrative
costs expenses
£000 £000

Depreciation (for the year to 31 March 20X8) 27 5
Hire of plant and machinery 20 15
Auditors’ remuneration - 30
Directors’ emoluments - 45
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3 The following rates of taxation are to be assumed:

%
Corporation tax 35
Income tax 27

4 The corporation tax charge based on the profits for the year is estimated to be £52,000.

5 A transfer of £16,000 is to be made to the credit of the deferred taxation account.

The exceptional item relates to the profit made on the disposal of a factory in Belgium follow-
ing the closure of the company’s entire operations in that country.

The company’s authorised share capital consists of 1,000,000 ordinary shares of £1 each.

A final ordinary payment of 50p per share is proposed.

There were no purchases or disposals of fixed assets during the year.

The market value of the fixed assets investments as at 31 March 20X8 was £580,000. There were
no purchases or sales of such investments during the year.

[=)]

-
o VW o

Required:
In so far as the information permits, prepare the company’s published profit and loss account for
the year to 31 March 20X8 and a balance sheet as at that date in accordance with the Companies
Acts and with related accounting standards.

Relevant notes to the profit and loss account and balance sheet and detailed workings should
be submitted with your answer, but a statement of the company’s accounting policies is not
required.

(Association of Accounting Technicians)
13.6 The accountant of Scampion plc, a retailing company listed on the London Stock Exchange,

has produced the following draft financial statements for the company for the year to 31 May
20X7.

Profit and Loss Account for year to 31 May 20X2

£000 £000
Sales 3,489
Income from investments 15
3,504
Purchases of goods and services 1,929
Value added tax paid on sales 257
Wages and salaries including pension scheme 330
Depreciation 51
Interest on loans 18
General administration expenses
- Shops 595
- Head office 25
3,205
Net profit for year 299
Corporation tax at 40% 120
Profit after tax for year 179
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Companies
Balance Sheet at 31 May 20X2
£000 £000
Fixed assets
Land and buildings 1,178
Fixtures, fittings, equipment and motor vehicles 194
Investments 167
1,539
Current assets
Stock 230
Debtors 67
Cash at bank and in hand 84
381
Current liabilities
Creditors 487
(_106)
1,433
Ordinary share capital (£1 shares) 660
Reserves 703
Loans 70
1,433
You discover the following further information:
(/)  Fixed assets details are as follows:
Cost Depreciation Net
£000 £000 £000
Freehold land and buildings 1,212 34 1,178
Fixtures, fittings and equipment 181 56 125
Motor vehicles 137 68 69

(if)
(iii)

(iv)

(v)
(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Purchases of fixed assets during the year were freehold land and buildings £50,000, fixtures,
fittings and equipment £40,000, motor vehicles £20,000. The only fixed asset disposal during
the year is referred to in note (x). Depreciation charged during the year was £5,000 for free-
hold buildings, £18,000 for fixtures, fittings and equipment and £28,000 for motor vehicles.
Straight-line depreciation method is used assuming the following lives: Freehold buildings
40 years, fixtures, fittings and equipment 10 years and motor vehicles 5 years.

A dividend of 10 pence per share is proposed.

A valuation by Bloggs & Co Surveyors shows the freehold land and buildings to have a mar-
ket value of £1,350,000.

Loans are:

£20,000 bank loan with a variable rate of interest repayable by 30 September 20X2;

£50,000 12 per cent debenture repayable 20X6;

£100,000 11 per cent debenture repaid during the year.

There were no other loans during the year.

The income from investments is derived from fixed asset investments (shares in related com-
panies) £5,000 and current asset investment (government securities) £10,000.

At the balance sheet date the shares in related companies (cost £64,000) are valued by the
directors at £60,000. The market value of the government securities is £115,000 (cost
£103,000).

After the balance sheet date but before the financial statements are finalised there is a very
substantial fall in share and security prices. The market value of the government securities
had fallen to £50,000 by the time the directors signed the accounts. No adjustment has been
made for this item in the accounts.

Within two weeks of the balance sheet date a notice of liquidation was received by Scampion
plc concerning one of the company’s debtors. £45,000 is included in the balance sheet for this
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debtor and enquiries reveal that nothing is likely to be paid to any unsecured creditor. No
adjustment has been made for this item in the accounts.

(ix) The corporation tax charge is based on the accounts for the year and there are no other
amounts of tax owing by the company.

(x)  Reserves at 31 May 20X1 were:

£
Revaluation reserve 150,000
Share premium account 225,000
Profit and loss account 149,000

The revaluation reserve represents the after-tax surplus on a property which was valued in
last year’s balance sheet at £400,000 and sold during the current year at book value.

Required:

A profit and loss account for the year to 31 May 20X2 and a balance sheet at that date for

Scampion plc complying with the Companies Acts in so far as the information given will allow.
Ignore advance corporation tax.

(Association of Chartered Certified Accountants)
13.7A The Companies Acts and accounting standards require a great deal of information to be
disclosed in a company’s annual report and accounts.

Required:

List the disclosure requirements for the following items:
(a) employees;

(b) directors’ emoluments; and

(c) fixed assets.

(Association of Accounting Technicians)

You can find a range of additional self-test questions, as well as material to help you with
your studies, on the website that accompanies this book at www.pearsoned.co.uk/wood
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Cash flow statements

Learning objectives

After you have studied this chapter, you should be able to:

® explain the purpose of cash flow information

® explain the difference between cash flow and profit

® prepare a cash flow statement for a company following the format given in FRS 1
® explain the differences between the requirements of FRS1 and IAS 7

® prepare a cash flow statement for a company following the format given in IAS 7

Introduction

In this chapter, you'll build on what you learnt in Business Accounting 1 relating to
cash flow statements. You will learn more about the nine standard headings within a
cash flow statement prepared on the basis of FRS 1 and be reminded of the layouts
as given in FRS 1 and shown how to use them in practice. You'll also be reminded of
the layout of a cash flow statement prepared on the basis of IAS 7.

@ Background

240

Business Accounting 1 introduced cash flow statements and this chapter moves on to consider in
more detail the two accounting standards relating to these statements — FRS 1: Cash flow state-
ments and the equivalent informational accounting standard, IAS 7: Cash flow statements. We
will look first at FRS 1.

FRS 1 requires that a cash flow statement be prepared according to prescribed formats for all
companies other than those exempt from doing so, either because they are ‘small’, as defined by
the Companies Act (see Section 11.2), or because they are subsidiary undertakings and the group
they belong to is publishing group financial statements in the European Union. The standard
requires that the statement be included as a primary statement within the fin